

The Austrian Carbon Balance Model (ACBM) Final Proiect Report Annex

Ernst Gebetsroither (ed.)

With articles from: Ernst Gebetsroither Friederike Strebl Hannes Schwaiger Ulrich Jäkel Gerfried Jungmeier Lorenza Canella Josef Spitzer Gerhard Hintermeier Andreas Windsperger Francois Schneider Matthias Jonas

> Jänner 2001 Exemplar Nummer OEFZS--S-0112







AUSTRIAN RESEARCH CENTERS

The Austrian Carbon Balance Model (ACBM) Final Project Report Annex

Ernst Gebetsroither ¹⁾ Friederike Strebl ²⁾ Hannes Schwaiger ³⁾ Ulrich Jäkel ³⁾ Gerfried Jungmeier ³⁾ Lorenza Canella ³⁾ Josef Spitzer ³⁾ Gerhard Hintermeier ⁴⁾ Andreas Windsperger ⁴⁾ Francois Schneider ⁴⁾ Matthias Jonas ⁵⁾

 Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf Systems Research Environmental Planning
Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf Life Sciences Environmental Research
Joanneum Research Graz Institute for Energy Research
Institute for Industrial Ecology 5) IIASA Laxenburg

Limited Distribution

ABSTRACT

This report is the Annex of the Austrian Carbon Balance Model (ACBM) project final report. It serves as supplementary material. It contains the documentation about the nomenclature (Annex 1), supplementary information to the five ACBM modules (Annex 2-6), a description and a instruction manual of the model (Annex 7) and information about the Austrian Carbon Database project (ACDb) (Annex 8).

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Dieser Bericht ist der Annex zum Austrian Carbon Balance Model (ACBM) Projekt Endbericht. Der Bericht dient als ergänzendes Material. Er beinhaltet die Dokumentation der verwendeten Nomenklatur (Annex 1), ergänzende Informationen zu den einzelnen Modulen des Models (Annex 2-6), eine Beschreibung der Models und Bedienungsanleitung (Annex 7) und beinhaltet Informationen über das Projekt Austrian Carbon Database (ACDb) (Annex 8).

Table of Contents

Annex 1: ACBM Nomenclature Annex 2: ACBM Modul AGRO Annex 3: ACBM Modul ENERGY Annex 4: ACBM Modul FOREST Annex 5: ACBM Modul PROD Annex 6: ACBM Modul WASTE Annex 7: ACBM Model Description Annex 8: +IIASA ACBM Database

Annex 1

Nomenclature

Ernst Gebetsroither

Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf Systems Research Environmental Planning ernst.gebetsroither@arcs.ac.at

Table of Contents

Α	1-1 Modules	. 1
	A 1-1.1 Pools	1
	A 1-1.2 Flows	. 1
	A 1-1.3 Processes	2
	A 1-1.4 Control Variables	2
	A 1-1.5 Dispatchers	2

Annex 1 ACBM Nomenclature

In order to ensure homogeneous work among the three project partners, a strict nomenclature has been agreed upon. The ACBM nomenclature serves as a "common language" and ensures a smooth exchange of model concepts and equations between the project partners. This nomenclature contains the following model elements.

A 1-1 Modules

Modules are identified with a short word in capitals in brackets. For all model elements (such as flows and pools) the relevant modules are abbreviated with a one capital letter followed by an underscore (Table A 1-1).

Table A 1-1: Basic module nomenclature

Carbon subsystem	Module	Abbreviation
Agriculture	{AGRO}	Α_
Energy Transformation and Use	{ENERGY}	E_
Forestry	{FOREST}	F_
Production and Consumption	{PROD}	P_
Waste	{WASTE}	W_
Atmosphere	{ATMO}	Т_
Lithosphere	{LITHO}	L_
Import/Export of Goods	{IMPEXP}	Χ_

A 1-1.1 Pools

A pool is a carbon storage. It is non-dynamic in a sense that it has a certain value at any given time. Pools are identified in the diagrams as rectangles. Pool names consist of the respective module abbreviation, and the pool name in capital letters. Standard units for pools are Megatons Carbon (MtC).

Example: "A_GRASSLAND" is the pool of carbon biomass in grassland vegetation biomass on in the module {AGRO}.



A 1-1.2 Flows

Flows are the central element of the dynamic model. They are transfers of carbon between pools over time. Flows are dynamic in nature, i.e. with $\Delta t=0$ all flows become zero. Flows are identified in the diagrams as arrows. Flows can occur within a module or between modules. Flow names consist of the abbreviation of the origin and the destination modules and the name of the flow in small letters. Flows within a module have a double module abbreviation. Standard units for flows are Megatons Carbon per year (MtC.yr⁻¹).

Example: "AA_harvest from house gardens" is a flow that occurs within the {AGRO} module ("AA_"). It refers to the flow of carbon from the housegarden vegetation (A_HOUSEGARDEN) to the dispatcher (see below) "A_plants for self consumption".

AE biomass

A 1-1.3 Processes

Processes are model elements in which a carbon input is transformed into different carbon outputs (such as during composting of biogenic materials). The nature of the output is determined by the kind and duration of the process. A process has no storage of carbon. Processes are identified in the diagrams as ellipses. Process names consist of the abbreviation of the module and the process name in small letters. Standard units for processes are Megatons Carbon per year (MtC.a-1).

Example: "A_producing compost" is a process in the module {AGRO} in which carbon from domestic biowaste (the flow "AA_waste from self consumption") is transformed into CO_2 and CH_4 that is then released into the atmosphere (i.e. the flow "AT_ CO_2 and CH_4 from compost") and into compost that is used for soil amendment (AA_compost).



A 1-1.4 Control Variables

Control variables contain information that is important for the control of flows. Control variables do not refer to any carbon "currency", but they are needed to determine or quantify carbon flows. Processes are identified in the diagrams as dotted arrows. Control variable names consist of the abbreviation of the origin and the destination modules and the name of the control variable in small letters in brackets. As control variables might refer to a variety of parameters, there are no standard units. However, all units will refer to yearly rates of the relevant parameters.

Example: "(AE_energy demand for agriculture)" contains information about the energy demand (in PJ per year) of agriculture in the {AGRO} module that has to be satisfied from the energy supply in the {ENERGY} module.

(AE energy demand for agriculture)

A 1-1.5 Dispatchers

Dispatchers are auxiliary elements that are used for summarizing carbon inflows and to relate them to carbon outflows. Its function is similar to a traffic node where incoming and outgoing flows are distributed and balanced; in- and outputs have to be equal. Dispatchers are identified in the diagrams as hexagons. Dispatchers do not "contain" carbon pools but are usually summarized in order to validate the flows. The standard units of dispatchers are Megatons Carbon in one year (MtC.a-1). Dispatcher names consist of the module abbreviation and the name in small letters.

Example: "A_harvest plants" is a dispatcher in the {AGRO} module that summarizes carbon inputs from harvested plant biomass (the flow "AA_harvest from cereals, crops and fruits") and dispatches it into an output of energy biomass (the flow "AE_biomass for heating"), raw materials for production ("AP_harvest from plants") and usage for feed and bedding ("AA_feed and bedding from harvest").



Annex 2

ACBM Modul AGRO

Ernst Gebetsroither ¹⁾ Friederike Strebl ²⁾

1) Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf Systems Research Environmental Planning ernst.gebetsroither@arcs.ac.at

2) Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf Life Sciences Environmental Research friederike.strebl@arcs.ac.at

Table of Contents

A 2-1 Introduction	1
Vegetation	1
Husbandry	2
Soil	2
A 2-2 Methodology	3
A 2-2.1 Data availability	3
A 2-2.1.1 Agricultural production data	3
Soil carbon data	6
A 2-2.2 Data and knowledge gaps	9
A 2-2.3 Model design	9
A 2-2.4 Scenarios	13
A 2-2.5 Model Formulation	15
Model	15
A 2-3 Results	17
A 2-3.1 Dynamic model behavior	17
A 2-3.2 Scenario: No Major Changes (NMC)	19
A 2-3.3 Scenario: Towards sustainability	23
A 2-3.4 Sensitivities and Uncertainties	25
A 2-3.4.1 Sensitivity Analysis	25
A 2-3.4.2 Uncertainties	26
A 2-4 Discussion and Conclusions	27
A 2-4.1 Discussion	27
A 2-4.2 Applicability of results	28
A 2-4.3 Priorities for future work	28
A 2-5 References	29

A 2-1 Introduction

In real-world systems, many parameters need to be assessed. This requires tools for the enhancement of user-friendliness in data collection and organization.

"Data can become information if we know the process involved. Information can become knowledge if we see the system that is operating. But knowledge only becomes wisdom when we can see how any system must change, and can deal with that reality" (Allen 1994).

To build a model which gives a transparent view of the "real-world" is a difficult task. If you build the model independently, without an eye on the available data, it would hardly become a sophisticated tool for prediction into the future. Such a prediction of a mathematical model, which works with statistical data can be no better than the data used (*Fearn and Smith 1986*). Statistical data about Austria's agricultural production are very carefully maintained and evaluated. Therefore they can serve as a solid basis for model calculations. Due to these reasons our modeling concept is based both on a search for available data and on a study of the interaction between different compartments. Another crucial point is to build a model as simple as possible and as complex as needed, because the number of variables and parameters must be manageable and the behavior of the model must be capable of being fully explored at any point in time (*Grimm 1994*). To reach this goal we have agreed that only flows exceeding 0.1 Megatons Carbon per year (MtC/yr) are taken into account. Nevertheless, if available, not only aggregated model input data, but the original marginal subclasses combined within them are recorded in the background, e.g. the very detailed data set about all varieties of agricultural plant production.

The module {AGRO} is subdivided into three main parts, the VEGETATION, the HUSBANDRY and the SOIL system.

Vegetation

Within the VEGETATION part of the module five categories are represented:

- extensively cultivated grassland
- intensively cultivated grassland
- cereals, crops, fruits, vineyards
- house gardens
- other vegetation (e.g. wind protection belts, tree nurseries).

Distinguishing between the different types of vegetation allows to simulate the influence of changes in the cropping systems and land-use change on carbon dynamics. This strategy facilitates, for example, to analyze the influence of a conversion from intensive to extensive agricultural policy. Biomass removed from arable land (*AA_harvest from cereals, crops, fruits and others*) is guided into *A_harvest plants*, a dispatcher with a bookkeeping function of carbon removals and their distribution inside the vegetation system. At the interface point to {PROD} we divide the harvested plants into five flows. The raw materials for cereals and feed, the raw materials for fats and oils, the raw materials for fruits, the vegetables and the raw materials for sugar and products. This was necessary to facilitate a correct allocation of raw materials in the {PROD} module and to harmonize data from different statistical sources - agricultural harvest statistics with foreign trade and industry/trade production statistics used by {PROD}.

The analogue dispatcher *A_harvest animals* serves for the bookkeeping of the carbon within and out from husbandry. The harvest from living animals (e.g. milk, eggs) and the harvest from dead animals (e.g. meat) is sent to {PROD} in separate flows.

As they are directly linked to other modules like {ENERGY} and {PROD}, these two dispatchers show high relevance for the total carbon modeling system and allow a control of model consistency.

Husbandry

Husbandry is subdivided into cattle, pigs, poultry and others. The partitioning between these types of animals was made because each type has its own manure management and the relative importance of stock size to annual meat production is different. A development that changes only the contribution of one animal species to the living carbon pool, not the total carbon amount, could anyhow cause a different carbon release from the produced manure into the atmosphere as a consequence of differences in manure management. The C-CH₄ production per head and year from the enteric fermentation of cattle is more than fifty times higher as the production from swine. This example shows, that it is necessary to distinguish between the different animal species especially for scenario assumptions (s. also under A 2-2.4)

These two main parts of living biomass are in permanent interaction with other compartments like the soil or the atmosphere. The module is connected with the other modules either through interface flows, for example the flow *AP_harvest* from plants to the module {PROD} or with information flows about the demand, for example the demand of energy for agriculture (*AE_energy demand for agriculture*) see also Figure A1-1. This information flow causes a carbon flow in one of the other modules, in the example given inside the module {ENERGY}.

Soil

Soils, like in many other ecological contexts act as an important sink. A huge amount, namely about 55 MtC in agricultural and 190 MtC in meadow soils (*Dersch & Böhm 1997*) are stored within Austria's agricultural topsoils. A linear first order estimation indicates that 1990 carbon losses from soil humus due to arable land-use practices and organic matter decomposition are possibly more than twice as large as carbon emissions from domestic livestock (*Jonas 1997*). Many authors (*e.g. Schlesinger 1999*) stress the potential storage capacity of cultivated soils for the reduction of carbon dioxide emission to the atmosphere. Consequently special attention is paid to the precise estimation of soil carbon stocks, the modeling of soil carbon turnover and to the description of carbon sequestration or release in and from soil, respectively.

A compartment modeling approach as shown in <u>Figure A1-3</u> was chosen by exploration of the SOMNET database (*Smith et al. 1997, 1999*). The used three-compartment soil model is based on well established concepts (Jenkinson and Rainer 1977; Paustian et al. 1992; Parton and Rasmussen 1994; Van Dam et al. 1997) and adapted to the data availability for Austrian soils.

This agricultural soil model is coherent to that one used in the module {FOREST}, allowing the representation of land-use changes without difficulties. Consequently different litter qualities (e.g. "wooden litter") can be considered in the modeling concept. In forest soils resistant plant inputs lead to the accumulation of a discrete litter layer covering the mineral forest soil compartment below, while in {AGRO} a considerable part of input plant residues is quite labile and decomposes to CO_2 in the respective year of its arrival at the soil surface ("labile litter").

An important change in the carbon pools is expected to be due to land use change between the module {FOREST} and {AGRO}. These changes occur in both directions but with different

implications for carbon storage (*Oberländer 1992*). Nevertheless, both legal restrictions and statistical data of the last decade point out the main direction of land-use change leading to an extension of forest land on former agricultural land due to afforestation and natural tree growth on abandoned meadows. Because of the parallel soil model for {FOREST} and {AGRO} modules it is possible to simulate this development and its effect (sequestration or release of carbon) on the carbon balance.

The hydrosphere is not represented as a separate module (like the atmosphere). It was decided to consider the hydrosphere as a pool in {AGRO} receiving inflows from all other modules. This decision was made because a first estimation resulted in marginal carbon fluxes (< 0.1 MtC/yr) from/into the hydrosphere.

A 2-2 Methodology

A 2-2.1 Data availability

A 2-2.1.1 Agricultural production data

Data availability and relevant literature sources of the ACBM agricultural database are listed in <u>Table A 2-1</u>. Recently the "Electronic data handbook" was made available for public access by the Austrian Institute for Agro-Economics (*Handschur 1998; AWI 2000*). This compilation includes the annual statistical data (starting in 1981) of Austria's agricultural production (both meat and vegetation) and the figures of living animal stocks and import/export relevant quantities of Austria's agriculture. Additionally figures of the farmers economic status, land use changes and financial support payments are listed on an annual basis.

Necessary input data, not available from official statistics were derived from primary data, or – if impossible – estimations based on literature values were used for the implementation within the ACBM model.

Table A 2-1: Data availability and integration in the {AGRO} module

EDH: electronic data handbook (*Handschur et al. 1998*) based on reports of the Central Bureau of Statistics

OK: data available and implemented

DERIVED: data not available but derived from other data sources

Type of data	Data source	Status of integration
Annual plant harvest	EDH	OK
Annual grassland harvest	EDH	ОК
Annual plant production from other land-use	Estimated (Körner et al. 1993;	ОК
(wind-protection belts etc.)	Erb 1999)	
Annual soil inputs from plant production	DERIVED (from harvest data)	OK
Annual C-input to hydrosphere	DERIVED (Maringer & Ramer 1998; WWK/UBA 1998)	(marginal)
Biomass for heating purposes	{ENERGY}	OK
Import/Export of agricultural products	EDH, {PRODUCTION}	see {PRODUCTION}
Annual production of living animals	EDH	OK
Living animals	EDH	OK
Annual production of meat and by-products	EDH	OK
Annual import/export of living animals	EDH	OK
Annual C-output due to fermentation of	DERIVED (IPCC 1996)	OK
manure and respiration of living animals		
Annual biogas production	Estimated (Amon, 1998)	OK
Annual soil inputs from animal manure	DERIVED (IPCC 1996)	OK
Annual production of compost from house- garden wastes	Estimated (Amlinger 1993)	ОК
NPP grassland	Estimated (based on harvest data from EDH; <i>Ellenberg</i> 1996; Haberl 1995)	ОК
NPP croplands	DERIVED (sum of harvested biomass + residues)	
Annual energy demand for agricultural production	DERIVED, {ENERGY}	OK
Soil carbon	BORIS <i>(FEA 1999)</i>	ОК
Daily Feed demand of animals	ESTIMATED (Kirchgessner	ОК
	1997; NRC 1994, 1998)	

For the conversion of harvest data to dry matter of plant material and finally to harvested carbon and byproducts, respectively, expansion and conversion factors, as listed in Table A2-2, were used.

cereals	fresh to dry	fraction of	ratio har	rvest product	to harvest	
(from Schidler 1998, pa	artly adapted: ^a	: KARLSON 1	988)			
Table A 2-2: Conversi	on factors fror	n fresh harves	t material to	o dry matter	and carbon	content

Cereals	meshiloury			product to harvest
	matter	matter	basis: C-content	of residue = 45%
wheat	0.86	0.45	0.817	straw : seed
rve	0.86	0.45	1 29	straw : seed
barley	0.86	0.40	0.903	straw : seed
oats	0.00	0.45	1 032	straw : seed
maize	0.85	0.45	1.002	straw : seed
crops	0.00	0.40	1.105	3114W . 3000
notato	0.22	0.42	0.088	leaves : tuber
polato	0.22	0.42	0.008	food
beans)	0.00	0.45	0	leeu
clover hey	0.87	0.45	0	feed
silo-maize	0.22	0.45	0	feed
sugar beet	0.23	0.40	0.184	leaves : beet
feed beet	0.13	0.40	0	feed
sunflower (plant)	0.15	0.45	0	feed
green rape (feeding)	0.15	0.45	0	feed
oil seeds				
sunflower (seeds)	0.91	0.73 ^a	3.731	straw : seed
rape	0.91	0.73 ^a	1.729	straw : seed
oil pumpkin	0.91	0.73 ^a	75	pulp : seed
vegetables/fruit				
cabbage, pepper, onion	0.12	0.45	0.1	residue left on field
lattuce, spinach	0.08	0.45	0.1	"
carrots	0.16	0.45	0.1	"
red beet, peas, beans	0.22	0.45	0.1	"
tomato, cucumber	0.06	0.45	0.1	"
walnuts	0.86	0.45		
apples/pears	0.22	0.40		
other fruit from trees	0.2	0.40		
wine	0.02	0.40		
animal products				
meat	0.30	0.54		
eggs	0.26	0.59		
milk	0.13	0.53		

cattle	0.57	Bittermann & Paller 1999
pigs	0.75	Frickh et al. 1998; Lettner et al. 1998
poultry	0.78	Leitgeb et al. 1998

Table A 2-3: Conversion factors from living animals to slaughter weight

<u>Table A 2-4:</u> Assumed body weight and daily intake of living animal *stocks (from Kirchgessner* 1997; *Nat. Council of Nutrition.1994, 1998)*

Animal category	daily intake
	(kg dry matter / d)
juvenile cattle < 2 a	7
bulls/oxen/cattle fat stock > 2 a	16
milk cows	16
foals < 1 a	7
young horses 1-3 a	13
adult horses 3 a and older	11
piglets to 20 kg	0.8
young pigs 20-50 kg	1.8
pig fat stock >50 kg	2.4
breeding sows > 50 kg	3
boar > 50 kg	2.9
sheep	1.5
goats	1.2
chicks and young chicken < 0.5a	0.06
laying hens	0.12
cocks	0.12
broiler chicken	8 kg in lifetime (< 1 a)
goose	0.20
ducks	0.18
turkey	0.29

Soil carbon data

In 1994 the Austrian Federal Environment Agency (UBA) has started a project aimed to the development of a data key for the harmonized soil data registration in Austria. Existing soil data have been collected for different purposes. Consequently, these soil data are based on different sampling methods adapted to the studied issues, spatial scopes of the respective investigations, and different methods of analysis. This, together with different electronic data processing formats render a comprehensive data interpretation all over Austria difficult (*Schwarz et al. 1999*). Since several years at FEA a database named BORIS was developed for unification and integration of existing Austrian soil analyses data. It is available for application since March 1999. At the moment BORIS contains already more than 300.000 single entries of more than 5000 locations in Austria (*FEA 1999*), including soil survey data of Burgenland, Upper Austria, Styria, and the Tyrol. As investigations carried out in the framework of the

Austrian Soil Survey ("Bodenzustandsinventur", BZI) are conducted by Austria's federal country administrations, the resulting soil data are managed by the respective regional administrative bodies, and permission for the usage of the existing data sets has to be gained from each federal country contributing to the database before a data query and retrieval from the joint data bank is possible.

To derive carbon stocks of agricultural soils from the available soil data, which report carbon as % weight or % humus (weight) in fine soil (< 2 mm sieved), some assumptions and calculations were made:

soil density: data were available from Soil Survey Upper Austria. For all other cropland soil data the relation reported by *Körschens & Waldschmidt (1995)* was used, where soil density is defined to be 1.5 g cm⁻³, reduced by 0.007 g cm⁻³ per each 0.1 % C_{org}. (e.g. a soil with 2.2 % C_{org} would have a soil density of 1.5 – 0.007 * 22 = 1.346). The equation gave good agreement with the Upper Austrian cropland soil density values (± 10%), and thus was applied for derivation in all other cases.

For grassland soils in the Upper Austrian Soil Survey a graphic regression was reported between soil density and organic matter content of surface soils (*BZI OÖ 1993*). This relation was generally applied for grassland soils of other federal countries.

 skeleton content: measured data were not available, and therefore had to be derived from literature values (e.g. Gerzabek et al. 1991). Quantification of the skeleton content is necessary for carbon stock derivation, because soil density normally is reported for undisturbed soil, while organic matter analysis is performed with sieved (< 2 mm) soil samples. Therefore, if skeleton (i.e. gravel and coarse sand), which consists of solid minerals without any organic matter, is neglected, carbon stock would be significantly overestimated.

The chosen assumptions are listed in Table A 2-5. As extensive grasslands often are located in mountainous areas with shallow soils, an average soil depth of only 40 cm is considered.

	cropland soil	int. grassland soil	ext. grassland soil *
0-20 cm	0 %	10 %	20 %
20-50 cm (20-40 cm*)	20 %	30%	40%

<u>Table A 2-5:</u> Fraction of skeleton content (% weight of sand/gravel > 2 mm) in different agricultural soils and soil depths

- carbon content: from the BORIS database values are available for Burgenland, Upper Austria, Styria and for the Tyrol. For Lower Austria and Salzburg published data from printed reports were used. If necessary, humus content was recalculated to organic C content by multiplication with 1.724 (according to Blum 1996). For Vienna C-values of Lower Austria, for Carynthia values from Styria and for Vorarlberg C-values of the Tyrol were used.
- Methods of carbon determination: There are several methods available for the determination of organic carbon in soil samples. Wet oxidation with dichromate solution (ÖNORM L1081) in soils containing more than 5% humus tends to yield systematically too low values, because of incomplete disintegration of organic compounds. This is especially problematic in the analysis of forest soils, but also for grassland soils the total oxidation in O-

atmosphere is highly recommended (ÖNORM L1080) (Mutsch, personal communication). An improvement of the wet oxidation method can be achieved by external heat application during the analysis.Derived from an intercomparison study (Mutsch 1994) and some additional soil enquete data (ALVA 1998, 1997, 1996), a relation was set up, to correct wet oxidation carbon data. The resulting relation is given in Figure A 2-1. According to this relation the following correction factors were applied to wet oxidation carbon data: up to 3% C_{org} : 1.13; 3-7% C_{org} : 1.2; 7-8.99% C_{org} : 1.24; 9-11.9% C_{org} : 1.3; 12-14.9% C_{org} : 1.35; 15% and more C_{org} : 1.4

<u>Figure A 2-1:</u> Relation between wet oxidation (ÖNORM 1081) and total oxidation (ÖNORM 1080) carbon data in soil samples (Data from ALVA 1998, 1997, 1996, Mutsch 1994)



- Statistics: A data analysis showed, that most classes of carbon data follow a log-normal distribution. Therefore, geometric means and geometric standard deviations were calculated for data description and carbon stock estimation.
- temporal trends: Sampling for the soil surveys from the respective federal countries covered several years and the reference date for most data is around 1990. In the Tyrol a repeated sampling was performed in 1996 (*BZI Tirol 1996*). Unfortunately the carbon analysis method was changed between the two survey dates, therefore a comparison is very difficult and results could not be considered for ACBM. In absence of other information's it had to be defined (*in accordance with Dersch & Böhm 1997a*) that carbon content as determined in the 1990ies are in equilibrium after carbon losses due to intensification of agriculture during 1960 1980.
- regional integration: for the estimation of representative mean values, the results of land use classes of federal countries were weighted according to their proportionate area within the total area of the respective land-use class. Regional differentiation of land uses are very pronounced, e.g. 77% of extensive grasslands are located on the area of Tyrol, Vorarlberg, Salzburg and Carinthia, while 82% of croplands are present within Lower Austria, Burgenland and Upper Austria.

The results of the described calculation procedure are listed in Table A 2-6 for different land-use classes. Average carbon contents in cropland and vineyard soils are destinctly lower than values for grassland or housegardens. Under extensive grassland soil carbon storage is considerable.

landuse category on agricultural areas of Austria	0-20 cm depth t C ha⁻¹	20-50 cm depth t C ha ⁻¹
cropland	41.33	18.24
intensive used grassland	60.47	20.52
extensive used grassland	91.82	27.19
vineyards	39.31	18.26
orchards	56.92	16.77
house gardens	57.77	25.25
tree nursery	93.02	19.91
abandoned grassland	68.90	29.80

<u>Table A 2-6:</u> Derived average soil carbon stocks (tons C per ha) in Austrian agricultural soils (weighted averages of federal country results)

A 2-2.2 Data and knowledge gaps

Regionalisation and the influence of management practice met considerable problems, due to the lack of a spatially explicit modelling approach. In the case of the question, how crop rotation can influence the carbon storage in soils, this lack prohibits a consideration. For management practice it turned out, that only few specific data relevant for Austria are available in published form.

The representation of organic farming within ACBM is not possible in full detail at the current (necessary) level of aggregation. So it was decided to *focus (in accordance with Freyer 2000, personal communication)* on less complex management modifications, namely ÖPUL-actions (extensivation), where it was assumed, that harvest decline is very moderate *(in accordance to Pirringer 1997; Kirner & Schneeberger 1999)*: up to 15% on croplands and 15% on grassland and housegardens compared with the traditionally cultivated areas in Austria.

It should be mentioned that the benefit of organic farming for reducing greenhouse gas emissions to a large extent is due to a reduction of nitrogen-containing emissions (which are not taken into account in ACBM) and the reduction of fossil fuel based emissions (herbicides, tractor fuel, energy demand for mineral fertilizers).

A 2-2.3 Model design

Different problems need different modeling approaches. The objective or purpose of each study will determine whether a largely empirical or statistical model will suffice, or whether a more mechanistic model is needed. Resource implications (time, staff and funds) will impinge on the final decision; at the same time it is essential that an adequate level of scientific rigor is maintained. Our aim was to build a model that could help policy makers within their decisions. To fulfill this demand we have developed our module from two different viewing points. Policy

makers want to know how a decision would influence official statistical data because these are the data they have to report to international organizations. Within a Bottom up approach we used official national data to determine carbon fluxes in Austria. As it is not possible to understand the complex structure of the carbon cycle only from census data we combined the Bottom up with a Top down approach. The Top down approach looks at the overall structure of the carbon cycle. Through this combination we developed a modular carbon system, which is based on official data, thus the results for the years 2000 to 2010 from the simulation can be compared with the collected data for these years in the future.

Hence it is possible to retune the module with data collected in the following years which represents an essential benefit of such a data based module. Some data of the model is very uncertain e.g. methane emissions per capita caused by cattle, or how much feed a cow needs per year. Biological systems in particular due to natural fluctuations show a high level of variability. In such cases a retrospective retuning of the ACBM model (with newly available census data e.g. for the year 2000) will help to improve the accuracy of model predictions in the future.

The model structure is illustrated in Figure A2-2. While the two sub-modules of Vegetation and Husbandry are driven by statistical data and outputs mainly are derived by expansion factors (see Tables A2-1 and A2-2), the modeling of the soil compartment and linked outputs due to a lack of measured informations was based on a more process-oriented approach.

As many of the models presented in SOMNET need input data on a monthly or even daily time scale to provide the representation of seasonal variations in C and N dynamics in soils, only a minor number of models turned out to be suitable for our context of annual time steps. The four compartments included in the current ACBM soil model (see Figure A 2-3: 3 soil compartments plus organic inputs to the soil surface) are seen as a minimum to facilitate all functionalities needed for soil carbon dynamics estimations and the modifications of these processes by changing agricultural practice and addition of organic amendments.

Accordingly, to minimize parameters, no differentiation of organic matter decomposition between soil horizons/soil depth is taken into account. For agricultural soils most inventory data are available for the plough layer (0-20 cm depth), in grassland soils the reference depth is fixed to 0-20 cm, too, although most data refer to the main rooting depth of meadow vegetation only (0-10 cm). The huge carbon pool situated below these depths is estimated to a depth of 50 cm but not subjected to dynamic soil modeling.



Figure A 2-2: {AGRO} model structure



Figure A 2-3: Soil sub-model within module {AGRO} and {FOREST}

Carbon inputs into agricultural soils are considered separately according to their organic matter quality determining the fraction of "labile organic inputs" with a residence time of less than one year (represented as a direct CO₂ emission to the atmosphere). Resistant organic soil inputs are distributed to the three considered Soil Organic Matter (SOM) pools: the "active" SOM pool represents microbial biomass and readily decomposable products with fast turnover leading to residence times of a few years. Resistant plant residues or physically protected organic matter remains in the "stabilized" SOM pool. Residence times in this compartment typically last for decades. The "inert" SOM pool contains material chemically and physically protected against decomposition, here residence times are extended over centuries and therefore, in the time period considered in the current context, changes within this pool can be neglected. Nevertheless this pool contains a huge amount of carbon.

As pointed out above, ACBM is based on statistical data. These data are extracted from different sources and therefore have to be checked for consistency and, if necessary, have to be balanced and unified. In a co-operation with IIASA/Laxenburg this evaluation is carried out to create a coherent data basis for the whole model and the different modules, respectively.

Another great problem is how a change of one parameter influences all the others? In a statistical model such as the ACBM a direct influence cannot be insinuated easily. For this reason coefficients were used that determine the outflow of a pool in dependence of the pool size itself. Consequently, a time delay between the pool and the corresponding flow within the respective time step, corresponding to one year, exists. It is assumed that a given carbon flow (in- and outflow) for example from 1990 determines the pool size of 1991. As in agricultural production the harvest takes place within a few days at the end of the growing season, and therefore the assumption of a single time event seems to be an acceptable simplification.

A 2-2.4 Scenarios

Quantification of current trends was based on literature values were available:

In the "No Major Change" scenario (NMC) we tried to derive current trends from the years 1990 to 1998 and project them unmodified till 2010.

In the "Towards Sustainability" scenario (TS) more or less realistic (i.e. mostly small) modifications of NMC trends were defined into direction of a more sustainable development to avoid unacceptable influences on economic and social systems, which cannot be assessed within the framework of ACBM. The increase of the number of vegetarians in Austria seems relatively high (see Table A 2-7). Nevertheless, in the years 1990 to 1998 a considerable decrease of the beef consume was observed in reaction to the "BSE Scandal. Moreover an analysis of age structure in food preferences (*Elmadfa & Burger 1998*) shows that 6% within the group of young people (< 20 years old) stated to live vegetarian as compared to the group of adult Austrians, from whom only 2 % consume a meat-less diet. Under the assumption that half of today's youth will keep their nutrition habits at adult age, an increase of vegetarian consumers can be expected.

The current land use change (*Brandstetter & Wenzel 1997*) and the assumption of the land use change for the years 2000 to 2010 was chosen in accordance with M. Jonas (2000 personal communication).

Assumptions for the realization of extensivation in agriculture were based on investigations carried out by the Federal Institute of Agriculture Economics and other qualitative statistical reports (*Kirner & Schneeberger 1999*; for the two scenarios have been made because of the results in other studies (*Pirringer 1997a*).

The use of new energy sources, in particular a trend of increased biomass use for energy production was quantified on the basis of expert projections (see also Annex A-3).

The basic assumptions for scenario definitions and quantification of driving parameters in {AGRO} are summarized in Table A 2-7.

For the module {AGRO} economic development is expressed by alterations in land use demand, life style trends lead to a shift of nutrition patterns towards less meat consume. Technical achievements are realized in an improved and increased use of biogenic energy sources (e.g. space heating). Moreover changes due to legislation measures (municipal waste dump legislation, agreements for the fulfillment of Kyoto-Protocol) are taken into account.

	TOWARDS SUSTAINABILITY (2000-2010)	Economic development will be around growth rates of 2% GNP p.a. Contribution of agriculture to GNP will remain the same. Growth rates will mainly come from services and leisure tourism. Production will shift from primary to secondary products, with more products from renewable raw materials.	Increase of land use change by 4% p.a.(i.e. 6240 ha in 2001)	Economy will shift from primary to tertiary sector. Increase of IT-based economy. Consumption of goods will increase. In energy sector shift from coal/oil to gas. Slowly increasing use of renewable energy sources. 4 % increase per year of the area for extensive agriculture. Agricultural output has an slight decrease due to the extensivation of agriculture.	Increase of extensive Agriculture 5 % p.a.	Continuation of 1990-2000 trends, but less vehicle use (decrease in annual vehicle mileage by 5 % until 2010), more environmental awareness, more vegetarians. Increase of natural forests and changes of forest management strategies	Decrease in meat consume under current trends.	100 % efficiency of municipal solid waste dump regulation, achievement of Kyoto goals.	Increase of land use change to 2% p.a. (in addition to DF land use demand).	Increased efficiencies above current trends	Increase of 2 $\%$ above current trends for heating materials and 4 $\%$ for biogas
	NO MAJOR CHANGES (REFERENCE) (2000-2010)	Economic development will be around growth rates of 2,5 % GNP p.a. Contribution of agriculture to GNP will slightly decrease. Growth rates will mainly come from services and leisure tourism. Production will shift from primary to secondary products.	Continue of present land use change from AGRO to FOREST (6000 ha/yr)	Economy will shift from primary to tertiary sector. Increase of IT-based economy. Consumption of goods will increase. In energy sector shift from coal/oil to gas. 2 % increase per year of the area for extensive agriculture. Agricultural output remains the same. Cheaper world prices for electricity & increased imports of primary products, food, and feed.	Increase of extensive Agriculture 3 % p.a.	Continuation of 1990-2000 rates of single households, environmental awareness, nutrition patterns, vehicle mileage's. Increasing vehicle use for "fun" matches decreasing commuting because of teleworking.	Continuation of current trends in meat consume	80 % efficiency of municipal solid waste dump regulation; Kyoto goals not met	Increase of present land use change from AGRO to FOREST (6000 ha/yr) by 1% p.a.	Continuation of current trends	Continuation of current trends (Increase by 2% p.a.)
scenarios		DB ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT	DF Land use demand	DB ECONOMIC STRUCTURAL CHANGES	DF Agricultural development	DB LIFESTYLE	DF Nutrition patterns	DB POLICY	DF Kyoto protocol: C- sink establishment	DB TECHNICAL DEVELOPMENT	DF New energy sources (=biomass)

Table A 2-7: Relevant driving bags and their translation to specific driving forces influencing the future development of agriculture according to the two

A 2-2.5 Model Formulation

Model

For the implementation of our model we decided to use EXCEL and Visual Basic. In the first step we have started the modeling for several parts of the model like HUSBANDRY or VEGETATION and simulated these parts separately. In this simulation the parameters were chosen in a way, to leave the pools (levels) of the model stay in an equilibrium state. In the next step of model-construction existing parts of the model were interconnected. After the connection of the steady state sub-models the resulting connected model was checked to remain in a steady state condition as well. Due to this model building procedure the model structure and behavior remained controllable at every step and system inherent errors were detected easily. Our model is a discrete model with a simulation time step of one year in general (with few exceptions e.g. inside the soil system, because of the partly faster decomposition-rates of labile material).

As mentioned above besides transparency considerations the model structure was chosen according to data availability. In particular statistical data from 1990 to 1997 are used to derive a transfer rate for each flow. These rate coefficients determine the outflow in relation to the pool level itself. For the years 1998 to 2010 or further these rates are used to estimate the flows. To find realistic rate coefficients is therefore a crucial point of the whole model development. It had to be decided for each flow whether calculation of a mean value of the years 1990 to 1997 or regression functions were used as most appropriate derivation methods. Figure A 2-4 shows that agricultural production of crops and animal products have a considerable variation over the past years and only some products show consistent trends.



Figure A 2-4: Time dependent fluctuations of Austria's annual agricultural production

In the year 1992 agricultural production was significantly lower than in average years because of bad weather conditions during the growing season. Here it should be said that our model does not deal with climatic changes, but annual weather events are implicitly accounted for by not correcting extraordinary yearly data. We took the values of the production over the time period 1990-1997. From annual harvest values coefficients for the production as a function of the cultivated area (t per ha) were calculated as arithmetic means. As illustrated in Figure A 2-4 in most harvest products mean values across the whole observation period turned out to be an appropriate descriptor of temporal development. These coefficients were used to simulate the production for the years from 2000 to 2010 or 2020.

Although model validation cannot be performed with the existing data set (because this data set was used for parameter derivation), a test of consistency and correctness in model structure can be performed, using the derived rate coefficients to simulate the carbon status for the years 1990 to 1997, the period with measured data available. In the case of errors in the modeling structure, detectable deviations of modeled values from measured data are expected to occur. Only after this test of constancy the linking of ACBM modules was carried out stepwise with further checks of consistency. Finally, prior to interconnecting the ACBM modules together, the boundaries of each module and connecting interfaces have been defined and cross-checked (see example from interface list in Table A2-8) to assure that transboundary carbon flows are corresponding. In this way disturbances of established intra-module balances can be avoided and all flows are traced from origin to destination minimizing the danger of unintentional losses from the overall carbon balance. Because all these precautions have been met, a robust carbon model was achieved assuring a consolidated modeling base for scenario calculations.

Destination	Name of Flow or Pool	Unit	Comments	1990
E_domestic	(AE_energy demand for agriculture)	PJ/yr		24.00
E_biomass	(AE_biomass)	PJ/yr	energy from agricultural biomass	4.34
E_biomass	AE_biomass	MtC/yr	biomass for energy production	0.12
{FOREST}	(AF_land use change: Area)	ha/yr		6000
{FOREST}	(AF_land use change: C_Content)	MtC/yr	carbon stocks 0-50 cm soil depth	0.40
P_food and feed industry	AP_harvest living animal	MtC/yr	milk	0.17
P_food and feed industry	AP_harvest dead animal	MtC/yr	slaughtered animals (living weight)	0.18
P_food and feed	AP_raw materials fats and oils	MtC/yr		0.120
P_food and feed	AP_raw materials cereals and feed	MtC/yr		2.22
P_food and feed	AP_raw materials fruits and vegetables	MtC/yr		0.07
P_food and feed	AP_raw materials sugar and products	MtC/yr		0.23
P_CONSUMPTION	AP_human and pets metabolism	MtC/yr		0.03
A_husbandry	PA_feed for animal	MtC/yr		1.14

Table A 2-8: Detail from the interface list: {AGRO} related trans-module flows (atmosphere excluded)

It has to be pointed out that predicting the future is only possible with a certain probability. To estimate the uncertainty of our predictions we have to take into account uncertainties within the collected data sets. It would be very though to find the uncertainty from all data involved, therefore, in the first step sensitivity analyses were carried out within each module to identify parameters with great influence on module behavior. For these selected parameters we have quantified data uncertainties. Finally with these uncertainties the uncertainty of our modeling results was calculated by use of the EXCEL software extension @Risk, which is designed for such purposes.

Both scenarios (No Major Changes, Towards Sustainability) have been analyzed. The cornerstones of the two scenarios are discussed in chapter (A2-2.4). For both scenarios driving force parameters have been defined and their influence on the whole model was investigated. A limited number of important driving forces for {AGRO} was identified and by sensitivity analysis their relative impact on modeling output results was calculated. By this restrictive procedure taking into account only important "key" parameters, it was possible to control the extent of system output changes if individual model parameters were modified.

A 2-3 Results

A 2-3.1 Dynamic model behavior

As mentioned above we used official census data in a Bottom up approach.

Although if census data is "weak" due to possible shortcomings in precision and consistency, knowing where it is so, i.e. find out uncertainties can make it much more valuable than using any other numbers instead. Fortunately, in Austria annual reporting on agricultural production has a tradition of already 40 years. Moreover the quality of reported values is continuously assessed and improved, where necessary.

Through the two different approaches, Bottom up and Top down, {AGRO} was compiled with a modular architecture at a certain aggregation level, as simple as possible and as detailed as necessary to reach our aim. To understand such a complex model like a national carbon cycle it seems important not to go too deep into detail because otherwise a lot of model assumptions have to be made and error propagation can soon lead to a level of uncertainty which obscures modeling results. Finally the insight into the system behavior would be less than in a "simpler" model (*Bossel 1994, Bossel 1986*).

This process of model building can be compared with the difficulty to choose the right simulation time step. With too big timesteps the dynamical behavior could not be shown, but if the time steps are too small then the intrinsic calculation uncertainty could become very large. But there is the momentous difference that normally it is very easy to change the time step, whereas to change the structure of the model needs considerable effort. A modular building approach shrinks this effort.

The module {AGRO} has many feedback loops, for example between the plant production, which supplies the husbandry with feed and the husbandry itself which supplies the soil with manure. If a smaller amount of the plant production is used for feed in husbandry, then there will be less manure, except the missing feed would be imported. This results in less manure spread on the soil and consequently the plant production would be reduced if not the missing plant nutrients would not be compensated by mineral fertilizer application. So there exists a positive feedback in this circle, which is illustrated in the following picture (see Figure A 2-5):



Figure A 2-5: Positive Feedback loop of Plant production and Husbandry

Many such loops can be found in the whole {AGRO} system (see Figure A 2-6 below). Causal loop diagrams (CLD) help to understand the system behavior in a better way and allow to explore the system dynamics within the investigated system. They are also very helpful for developing the model structure: it is often the best way to start with such causal loop diagrams before going into the definition of stocks and flows.

Additional complication of the system can occur because the above shown positive feedback loop facultatively turns into a negative feedback loop if e.g. the manure flow to the soil is very large and therefore negatively influences plant growth conditions. Then further enhancement of the manure flow causes a decrease in the harvested biomass. Many ecological systems are characterized by such a kind of limited carrying capacity which dominates the system dynamics. Therefore, within the {AGRO} Module we only assume moderate changes of the current situation in order to avoid system instability. With the chosen assumptions it is not useful to simulate until 2020 because boundary conditions may not be valid for such a long long time period. Future developments as translated in the formulated scenarios to define boundaries of the agricultural system can be estimated for decades, but then the probability for at present unforeseeable technological developments increases. Another modeling constraint, we have adopted, namely the exclusion of climatic changes due to global change phenomena would become less valid, if the prospection time frame is extended.



Figure A 2-6: Internal recursive carbon flows in the {AGRO} module:

A 2-3.2 Scenario: No Major Changes (NMC)

In Figure A 2-7 carbon fixation from atmosphere in the phytobiomass of intensive and extensive grasslands and croplands is compared with fluxes to the atmosphere originating from soil carbon decomposition, labile litter decomposition and CO_2 emissions from husbandry: fixation of approximately 17 MtC/yr slightly exceeds emissions of app. 15 MtC. Nevertheless carbon stock in AGRO is not increasing, because part of the produced biomass is directed to other modules (e.g. AP_raw materials; AE_biomass for heating – not shown in Figure A 2-7), and causes CO_2 emissions in the target module.

Figure A 2-7: Fluxes from and to the Atmosphere associated with the {AGRO} module - Scenario "No Major Changes" (NMC)



AGRO Development

The temporal development in the NMC Scenario does not show dramatic changes of carbon flows and stocks. Nevertheless in comparison with grassland, cropland NPP shows more pronounced fluctuations for the period 1990-1998, were carbon flows are derived from measured data (see Figure A 2-8).



Figure A 2-8: Annual fluctuation of harvested demands for different cereal crops
Figure A 2-8 illustrates the large fluctuations of harvested amounts for different cereal crops: while summer drought in 1992 depressed wheat and barley harvests only moderately, maize harvest was severely reduced. In 1993 spring drought influenced wheat and barley production even worse, but for maize production weather conditions were favorable and led to an increase of harvest by 36% in comparison with the previous year. In reaction to poor harvest figures, extended imports of Durum wheat and brewing barley were initiated (*BMLF 1994*). The reduced harvest of 1992 and 1993 to some extent is also reflected in the time course of the flow of raw materials to {PROD} (AP_raw materials cereals/feed).

In the case of grassland such disastrous weather events are less harmful, because harvest date can be postponed and biomass growth is more continuous than in annual field crops.

During the modelled time frame (1990 – 2010) both emissions to the atmosphere and NPPcaused CO_2 fixation slightly decrease. This decrease is caused by land use change between {AGRO} and {FOREST}. In ACBM land use change is realized by a shift of area from donor to target module. If the area of agricultural land is reduced, less biomass is available for NPP within this module. In reality on the respective area, now dedicated to forest production, NPP will stay at the same level or even slowly increase with growing forest trees. So, the decrease of carbon fixation is not a real life phenomenon but only a model calculation item at module level. This artifact disappears if integrated ACBM results (not on module level) are considered, where e.g. NPP of all modules is summed up.

In reaction to economic trends, namely the reduction of profit margins and competition within the European agro-marketplace husbandry continuously decreased in Austria during the last decades. In parallel a slight reduction in the beef consume can be detected from the the available data of the last decade (*Elmadfa & Burger 1998*). This decrease in the living stock of cattle primarily causes a decrease in respiratory CO₂ emissions from husbandry from 3.5 to 3 MtC/yr, and additionally a reduction in the demand of feed from {PROD}, the flow PA_feed for animal (see Figure A 2-7) takes place. As the plant production remains constant, more harvested plants can be used as human food (AP_raw materials cereals/feed) or for the production of biomass and guided to {ENERGY} (see below, Figure A 2-9).

Figure A 2-9: Minor Carbon flows from {AGRO} to other modules in Scenario "No Major Changes"



Minor carbon outflows from {AGRO} are shown in Figure A 2-9. They consist of several disaggregated raw material flows into {PROD} (fats and oils, fruit and vegetables, sugar and sugarproducts) and the harvest of dead (meat) and living animals (milk, eggs). For the interpretation of data fluctuations between 1990 and 1998 the scale of the figure and the absolute smallness of carbon flows should be considered. For oils seeds production (AP_materials fat and oils) data variability is intensified by short term changes in the financial support policy for alternative crops before and after Austria's entry into EU. This led to the dramatic peak of harvested amounts in 1994 and 1995, while in 1996 agricultural area cropped with rape and other oilseeds was reduced by app. 30% (BMLF 1996). Although high uncertainty of derived modeling coefficients for the calculation of future trends in those small flows is the result of the observed data fluctuations, the validity of the coefficients was assured by a crosschecking of modeling results with the {PROD} module, where future raw material needs e.g. for oil and fats of plant origin are derived independently from production statistics. Both calculations yielded corresponding results.

For the future (1999 to 2010) agricultural production is predicted to remain quite constant. Methane emissions from husbandry show a decreasing trend in accordance with the reduction of cattle stocks as described above.

The flow AX carbon into the hydrosphere (i.e. the sum of carbon emissions of ALL modules, only collected in {AGRO}) has a relative strong increase. This is not caused by {AGRO} itself, but reflects a rise in inputs from the other modules.

AE biomass only includes straw and other unprocessed plant material for energy production by burning. Rape methyl-ester is synthesized in {PROD} and therefore allocated within the flow AP raw material fats&oils. (analogue strategy was chosen for other biofuels). This is why the increase of AE-biomass is very moderate and amounts for only less than 0.15 MtC per year, although the reduction in feed demands from husbandry (see above) would suggest a steeper increase. AT_CO_2 from compost has an increase between 1999 and 2010 because of a higher input from {WASTE} to the process composting in {AGRO}. This higher input corresponds to a decreasing amount dumped in the landfills (for details see also {WASTE} Annex 6)

As a conclusion of NMC scenario results it can be stated that carbon flows of Austria's agriculture are comparatively constant over the modeling time frame indicating the relative equilibrium state of the production systems.

A 2-3.3 Scenario: Towards sustainability

In the TS-scenario we adopted several assumptions to guide the agricultural module into the direction of more sustainability.

<u>Figure A 2-10:</u> Fluxes from and to the Atmosphere associated with the {AGRO} module – Scenario "Towards Sustainability" (TS)



AGRO Development

The above figure shows the result of a higher increase in land use change between {AGRO} and {FOREST} for afforestation. This causes the greater decrease in net primary production of grassland and cropland (*TA_npp grassland int, TA_npp grassland ext* and *TA_npp cereals*) and a marked decrease in CO_2 emissions from soil, as these areas from the moment of conversion on are treated in {FOREST} (see above), and therefore the beneficial influence of this measure can only be seen in the final results of ACBM. In the figure it is well shown that in this scenario we assume a stronger decrease of the beef consume in Austria. This causes a more pronounced decrease of the CO_2 and CH_4 emissions from the agriculture because of smaller cattle stock sizes.

The flow *PA_feed for animals* is the interface flow from {PROD} to husbandry. The reduction in feed demand leads to the assumption that from the year 2006 onwards all feed for husbandry is produced locally without any need for additional feed imports. At the same time the flow *AP_raw materials cereals/feed* starts to increase according to the fact that reduced beef consume causes an increased demand for vegetable human foodstuff and more harvested plants can be sent to the {PROD}.

Figure A 2-11: Minor Carbon flows from {AGRO} to other modules in Scenario "Towards Sustainability":





The decrease in beef meat consume as discussed above is also noticed in *AP_harvest dead* animal. The flow *AP_harvest living animals* according to the expected unchanged consumption of milk and eggs remains at a constant level. A considerable decrease can be noticed for the flow AT_CH_4 from husbandry this is because of the lower cattle stock and the resulting lower enteric fermentation emissions of the cattle. Reduction in beef consume are partly compensated by increases in the consume of poultry meat. As methane production is a specific feature of ruminant digestion only, this shift in animal species additionally reduces AT_CH_4 from husbandry.

The flow *AE_biomass* from {AGRO} to {ENERGY}, biomass for energy production, increases between the year 1999 and 2010. mainly because of an assumed higher production of biogas. The production of straw is slightly decreasing because extensification leads to a moderate reduction in biomass production.

 AT_CO_2 from compost has an strong increase between 1999 and 2010 because of a higher input from {WASTE} to the composting process in {AGRO}. This higher input is a reaction to the comprehensive fulfillment of the waste legislation and in parallel results in a decrease of the carbon flow to landfills (for details see also {WASTE} Annex 6).

A 2-3.4 Sensitivities and Uncertainties

A 2-3.4.1 Sensitivity Analysis

Sensitivity analysis was performed to investigate how a change of one driving parameter in the year 2000 influences the flows to the atmosphere at the modeling endpoint in the year 2010.

The following figures show those driving parameters which turned out to perform the strongest influence on modeling results of the {AGRO} module.

Land use change for the establishment of forests is one of the options discussed for the net reduction of CO_2 emissions to the atmosphere. According to the huge pool size of soil organic matter and associated CO_2 emissions via humus decomposition, a variation in the extent of land use change is most striking for the flow AT_CO_2 from SOC (see Figure A 2-12). Again, not system dynamics, but model calculation strategy is responsible for this effect, and changes in carbon emissions due to land use change can only be quantified as synthesis of forest and agro modeling results.

The afforested land is taken from all three types of agricultural land in a ratio of 30 : 50 : 10 for intensive grassland : extensive grassland : cropland. Accordingly NPP of extensive grassland is more sensitive to land use changes. All other flows investigated showed only moderate reactions to a variation of the driving force below 5 % in both (plus/minus) directions. *DP_LUC* (land use change) has a negative influence of the flows to the atmosphere, this means an increase in LUC causes a decrease in the flows to {ATMO}.

DP LUC 130% 120% TA npp cereals TA_npp Grünland 110% Influence in % TA_npp Almen AT co2 from SOC 100% AT_co2 from decomp. soil surface 90% 80% 70% -5 5 -15 -10 0 10 15

Change in %

Figure A 2-12: Influence of Land use change on carbon flows between {AGRO} and the atmosphere

The driving force "beef consume" turned out to perform the highest impact on agricultural carbon flows from all adopted driving forces. Methane emissions from husbandry (AT_CH_4 from husbandry) raise by a factor of 3 if beef consume is increased by 10%. Methane emissions from manure management and CO₂ flows to atmosphere due to animal respiration are more than doubled. Comparatively small, but still relevant positive reactions of about 5 – 20% were noticed for CO₂ emissions as a consequence of manure application on agricultural soil surfaces and introduction into soil organic pools. These flows are increased because increased demand for beef meat causes an increase in the stock of living animals and consequent higher amounts of manure, which have to be disposed on agricultural land. The fertilization effect leading to improved plant growth and NPP is of small size only. Nevertheless, there exists a positive feedback loop between vegetation and husbandry (see A 2-5) which contributes to the extreme sensitivity of {AGRO} against changes in this driving force. In the opposite direction an intensification of trend to reduce beef meat consume by 10 % leads to a 50% reduction of both CO₂ and CH₄ flows from {AGRO}. A similar reduction of CH₄ emissions from manure management is predicted as well.

Figure A 2-13: Influence of changes in beef meat consume on carbon flows between {AGRO} and the atmosphere.



DP_BEEF_CONSUME

A 2-3.4.2 Uncertainties

Statistical data about agricultural production are routinely assessed and have to fulfill certain quality criteria. For the reporting on living animal stocks the number of observations is extended to achieve a maximum error of less than 5%, e.g. for pigs in 1999 uncertainty was 1.19 % *(Neumann, ÖSTAT; personal communication).* In the case of field crops harvest amounts are derived on the basis of reports from more than 2000 individual reports and weighted according to the size of the cropped area to which the reported result is referring (because larger

continuous areas are more precise than smaller area results). Thus average uncertainty can be less than 5% (*Bader*, ÖSTAT, personal communication).

Moreover the precise quantification of harvested amounts, cropped area etc. more or less directly is linked to economic interests (e.g. support payments), and therefore, both farmers and authorities are interested in accurate reporting of agricultural data.

For data quality evaluation it is necessary to distinguish between data accuracy, which can be assumed to be quite good for production data and data variability. The consistency or annual results is disturbed by several external factors like weather conditions or market demands and prices. This intrinsic data variability cannot be reduced, but by calculation of mean values a good description of average harvest amounts is possible.

In the case of soil carbon derivation quite a number of assumptions had to be made; regional differences and a variety of applied analysis methods bring additional uncertainty into the data. For an estimation of overall uncertainty of derived "best estimates" of carbon stocks, the partial error of each calculation or assumption step was considered and processed by error propagation method.

Following partial errors were considered for 0-20 cm depth: confidence interval of medians in C_{org} concentration data: 10% (representative for extensive grassland, due to higher number of observations this value was lower for extensive grassland = 5% and cropland 3%)

skeleton content: 30%

soil density: 20%

analysis method correction: 20% (i.e. that chosen correction factors are too small/high)

conversion of humus values to Corg values (division by 1.724) : 10%

land use in federal countries: 5% (reporting on land use includes only areas greater than 1 ha)

under application of squared error sums

$$\mathbf{\mathcal{E}}_{tot} = \sqrt{\sum (\varepsilon_1^2 + \varepsilon_2^2 + \varepsilon_3^2 + \varepsilon_n^2)}$$

an overall (conservatively estimated) uncertainty of 44% must be assumed for soil carbon stocks in 0-20 cm depth.

For the interpretation of changes in soil derived carbon flows this considerable uncertainty must be kept in mind! Moreover an improvement of data accuracy in calculated soil carbon stock sizes, comparable to plant production data etc. is not feasible, because no repeated measurements are available at the moment for the derivation of confident random sample errors.

A 2-4 Discussion and Conclusions

A 2-4.1 Discussion

Due to practical reasons a model of a "real system" has always to be a simplification and often only the reduction of the complexity enables to understand the dynamics of the system.

The system dynamics of the module {AGRO} is defined by two major characteristics: although far apart from being an undisturbed ecosystem at present only moderate long term trends can

be observed to influence Austria's agriculture. Nevertheless, on a disaggregated level and if short time scales are considered, external influences like weather conditions lead to a high data variability.

For the modeling of soil carbon stocks and dynamics due to the lack of time series data it was necessary to adopt the assumption of equilibrium status. Due to the large stock sizes this assumption has strong influence on uncertainty of modeling results referring to CO_2 emissions to the atmosphere.

A 2-4.2 Applicability of results

To use the model in the "right way" it has to be asked for what purpose is the model useful. The users must critically assess the model's boundary, time horizon, and level of aggregation in light of their purpose. The model boundary determines which variables are treated endogenously, which are treated exogenously, and which are excluded altogether. For example the module was build to simulate over the time span 1990 to 2010 and for this period the parameter are assumed. An extension of simulation time to the year 2020 would need a correction in the current assumptions of the driving parameters. Climate changes are not included endogenously, but by the use of measured data from 1990 to 1998 for the prediction of the future past climatic events are implicitly incorporated in the model projections. The big advantage of our model is that it is not overloaded with complexity and it can more or less easily be "validated" and retuned by new statistic data in the future, for example the trend in the NMC scenario can be corrected in the year 2005 or new legislative regulations could be incorporated by a redefinition of driving parameters if necessary.

A 2-4.3 Priorities for future work

In the framework of this project it became evident, that the interdependencies between carbon and nitrogen cycle should be represented in the AGRO modeling system. This would offer new opportunities for the incorporation of management practices within the model.

Moreover following items were identified for possible further development of the AGRO module:

- Spatial datasets about soil carbon contents at appropriate resolution would be highly desirable for the reduction of uncertainty associated with the quantification of SOM stocks in different regions of Austria.
- Soil organic matter pools play a major part in determining the physical properties of soils such as resistance to erosion. This factor was only very roughly estimated in ACBM and could be improved by incorporation of spatially explicit methods and a DEM (digital elevation model).
- Predicting the longer-term impacts of directional environmental change (e.g. warming, CO₂ increase in atmosphere) on SOM turnover and plant production (NPP) is currently limited by shortage of quantitative data from longer-term field-based manipulations of semi-natural ecosystems like meadows (*Sutton et al. 2000*). For quantitative evaluation of Austrian specific conditions, an incorporation of long-term field experiments about agricultural soil management practice would be desirable.

A 2-5 References

Allen, P. (1994): Coherence, Chaos and Evolution in the Social Context. Futures 26, 597

- ALVA (1998, 1997, 1996) (Arbeitsgruppe der Landwirtschaftlichen Versuchsanstalten, Hrsg.): Ergebnisse der Boden – Enquete. ALVA-Berichte [Results of Soil Analytical Intercomparisons.]
- Amon, T. (1998): Reduktionspotentiale für klimarelevante Spurengase durch dezentrale Biomethanisierung in der Landwirtschaft. Schriftenreihe des BMUJF (Abt. I/4). Vienna; BMUJF, 26/1998; 166 pp. [Potentials for reduction of greenhouse gas emissions by decentralised biomethanisation in agriculture.]
- Amlinger, F. (1993): Biotonne Wien : Theorie und Praxis. [Biowaste collection in Vienna. Theory and Practise] Magistratsabteilung 48 - Stadtreinigung und Fuhrpark (Hrsg.). Wien, Verlag Schroll 385 pp.
- AWI (2000): Electronic data handbook. http://www.awi.bmlf.gv.at ; http://www.awi.bmlf.gv.at/docs/3.offer/statistic/dhb/download.htm
- Bittermann, A. & Paller, F. (1999): Ergebnisse der Betriebszweigauswertungen von Rindermastbetrieben in NÖ 1998. [Results of statistical analysis of cattle fattening stock farms in Lower Austria 1998] Der Förderungsdienst 47(8): p. 71-76
- Blum, W.E.H, Spiegel, H., Wenzel, W.W. (1996). Bodenzustandsinventur. Konzeption,
 Durchführung und Bewertung. Empfehlungen zur Vereinheitlichung der Vorgangsweise
 in Österreich. [Soil survey. Concepts, realization and interpretation of results.
 Suggestions for a standardisation of Austrian methods] 2. überarb. Aufl. 102 pp. Wien
- BMFL 1999: Federal Ministry for Agriculture and Forestry, eds. (1999): 40. Gruener Bericht 1998 - Bericht ueber die Lage der österreichischen Landwirtschaft 1998 [Status report about Austria's agriculture and forestry 1998]. Herold Verlagsgesellschaft Vienna, 352 pp.
- BMFL 1996: Federal Ministry for Agriculture and Forestry, eds. (1996): 37. Gruener Bericht 1995 - Bericht ueber die Lage der österreichischen Landwirtschaft 1995 [Status report about Austria's agriculture and forestry 1995]. Herold Verlagsgesellschaft Vienna, 316 pp.
- BMFL 1994: Federal Ministry for Agriculture and Forestry, eds. (1994): 35. Gruener Bericht 1993 - Bericht ueber die Lage der österreichischen Landwirtschaft 1993 [Status report about Austria's agriculture and forestry 1993]. Österr. Staatsdruckerei, Vienna, 272 pp.
- Bossel, H. (1994): Modellbildung und Simulation. Vieweg- Verlag [Model construction and Simulation]
- Brandstetter, A., & Wenzel, W.W. (1997): Flächenverbrauch Istzustand landwirtschaftlicher
 Böden. [Shifts in land use: Current status of agricultural soils] in: Bundesamt &
 Forschungszentrum f. Landwirtschaft (eds): Bodenschutz in Österreich [Soil protection in Austria]. Vienna 455 pp.
- BZI Niederösterreich (Amt der Niederösterreichischen Landesregierung, VI/4; Hrsg.) (1994): Niederösterreichische Bodenzustandsinventur. [Soil survey Lower Austria] Wien, 220pp.

- BZI Oberösterreich (Amt d. Oberösterreichischen Landesregierung Hrsg.) (1993): Oberösterreichischer Bodenkataster – Bodenzustandsinventur. [Soil survey Upper Austria] Linz
- BZI Salzburg (Juritsch, G. L. Wiener Verfasser; / : Amt d. Salzburger Landesregierung, Abt. 4, Land- u. Forstwirtschaft (Hrsg.) (1993): Salzburger Bodenzustandsinventur, [Soil Survey Salzburg] Salzburg 237pp.
- BZI Steiermark (Amt d. Steiermärkischen Landesregierung 1991). Steirischer Bodenschutzbericht. (4 x 4 km - Raster) [Soil Survey Styria], Graz
- BZI Tirol (1996): Bericht über den Zustand der Tiroler Böden. 1. Wiederholungsbeprobung. [Soil Survey Tirol Report on the current status of Tyrolian soils, 1. repeated sampling] Amt d. Tiroler Landesregierung (Hrsg. Moosmann, G.; Haupolter, M.; Stöhr, D.) 64pp.
- Dersch, G. & Böhm, K. (1997): Beiträge des Bodenschutzes zum Schutz der Atmosphäre und des Weltklimas. [Contributions of soil protection to the protection of the atmosphere and global climate] In: BLUM et al. (eds.): Bodenschutz in Österreich. Wien p. 411-420
- Dersch, G. & Böhm, K. (1997a). Anteil der Landwirtschaft an der Emission klimarelevanter Spurengase in Österreich. [Austrian agriculture's share in the emission of trace gases affecting the climate.] *Austrian Journal of Agricultural Research* 48 (2):115-129
- Ellenberg, H. (1996): Die Vegetation Mitteleuropas mit den Alpen in ökologischer, dynamischer und historischer Sicht. [Vegetation of central Europe] 5. verb. Aufl. Verlag Eugen Ulmer Stuttgart. 1195 pp.
- Elmadfa, I. & Burger, P. (1998): Österreichischer Ernährungsbericht 1998. (BMf.AGS eds.) [Austrian Nutrition Report 1998] Wien, 365 pp.
- Erb, K. (1999): Die Beeinflussung des oberirdischen Standing Crop und Turnover in Österreich durch die menschliche Gesellschaft. [The influence of human society on Austria's standing crop biomass and turnover.] Diploma Thesis Universität Wien199 pp.
- Fearn, H.S. & Smith, G.M. (1986): Significance of the Application of Distribution Coefficients in the Geosphere to the Assessment of Geological Disposal of Radioactive Waste. In: SIBLEY, T.H. & C. MYTTENAERE (eds.): Application of Distribution Coefficients to Radiological Assessment Models. CEC-Symposium Louvain-la-Neuve 1985
- Frickh, J.J., Wetscherek, W., and Pichler, W.A. (1998): Untersuchungen über den Einsatz von Rapssaat und deren Auswirkungen auf die Mast- und Schlachtleistung sowie auf die Fleischqualität in der Schweinemast. [Effects of rape seed meal on fattening performance, slaughtering performance and meat quality in pigs.] Austrian Journal of Agricultural Research 49 (1): 19-27
- Gerzabek, M.H., Horak, O., Artner, Ch., Mück, K. (1991): Untersuchung des Radionuklidtransfers im System Boden - Pflanze [Radionuclide transport in soil-plant systems] OEFZS-reports 4568, 54 pp.
- Grimm, V. (1994): Mathematical Models and Understanding in Ecology. Ecological Modelling 75/76, 641-651
- Haberl, H. (1995): Menschliche Eingriffe in den natürlichen Energiefluß von Ökosystemen. [Human impact on natural energy fluxes within ecosystems.] PhD-Thesis Univ. Vienna 169 pp.

- Handschur, P. (1998): Ein elektonisches Datenhandbuch für die Landwirtschaft. [An electronic data handbook about agriculture] Der Förderungsdienst 10, 356-358
- Jenkinson, D.S. & Rayner, J.H. (1977): The Turnover of Soil Organic Matter in Some of the Rothamsted Classical Experiments. Soil Science 123, 298-305
- Jonas, M. (1997): System Analytical Assessment of the Carbon Balance in Austria, Final Report Part II: Dynamical Modeling, Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf Research Report OEFSZ-A-4255 Dec 1997
- Karlson, P., Doenecke, D., Fuchs, G., Koolman, J., Schäfer, G. (1988): Kurzes Lehrbuch der Biochemie. [Textbook Biochemistry] 12. Aufl. Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart 490 pp.
- Kirchgessner, M. (1997): Tierernährung. Leitfaden für Studium, Beratung, Praxis. [Animal nutrition. Textbook for students, advisory services and practice] 10. Auflage, Verlagsunion Agrar Frankfurt/Main 582 pp.
- Kirner, L. & Schneeberger, W. (1999): Hemmnisse für die Umstellung auf biologische Wirtschaftsweise in Österreich. [Factors inhibiting the expansion of organic farming in Austria; Analysis of a survey of those farms agreeing to a renunciation of means of production which increase yield.] Austrian Journal of Agricultural Research 50(4): 227-234
- Körner, C., Schilcher, B. und Pelaez-Riedl, S. (1993): Vegetation und Treibhausproblematik: Eine Beurteilung der Situation in Österreich unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Kohlenstoff-Bilanz. [Vegetation and climate change. An evaluation of the Austrian situation with special reference to the carbon balance.] In: Österreichische Akademie der Wissenschaften (Hrsg.): Anthropogene Klimaänderungen: Mögliche Auswirkungen auf Österreich - mögliche Maßnahmen in Österreich. Wien: Verlag der Österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, 6.1-6.46.
- Körschens, M., & Waldschmidt, U. (1995): Ein Beitrag zur Quantifizierung der Beziehungen zwischen Humusgehalt und bodenphysikalischen Eigenschaften. [Quantification of the relation between humus content and soil-physical properties.] Archiv für Acker- und Planzenbau u. Bodenkunde, 39: 165-173
- Leitgeb, R., Oberrauch, P., Baumann, F., & Wetscherek, W. (1998): Einsatz von Tiermehl in der Hühnermast. [Use of meat and bone meal in broiler diets.] Austrian Journal of Agricultural Research; 49(3): 193-201
- Lettner, F., Wetscherek, W., and Knaus, W. (1998): Tiermehl in der Schweinemast. [Meat and Bone Meal for growing-finishing pigs.] Austrian Journal of Agricultural Research 49 (3): 201-207
- Mutsch, F. (1994): ALVA Methodenvergleich Humusbestimmung Enquete 1994. [Results of soil analysis methods' intercomparision: determination of soil organic matter] in: Berichte der Herbsttagung der (Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Landwirtschaftlichen Versuchsanstalten)
- National Research Council, Subcomitte on Swine Nutrition (1998): Nutrient requirements of swine. 10th revised ed. National Academy Press Washington D.C. 210 p (online readable: http://www.nap.edu/books/0309059933/html/index.html)

- National Research Council, Subcomittee on Animal Nutrition (1994): Nutrient requirements of poultry. 9th ed. National Academy Press Washington D.C. 157 pp. (online readable: http://www.nap.edu/books/0309048923/html/)
- Oberländer, H.-E. (1992): Humusbildung und Humuserhaltung in einer nachhaltig betriebenen Landwirtschaft. [Soil organic matter build-up and conservation in sustainable agriculture] In: ARGE Erneuerbare Energie (eds.): Proceedings of the Miscanthus Sinensis Giganteus Workshop 11-12.3.1992, p.47-70
- Parton, W.J. & Rasmussen, P.E. (1994): Long-term Effects of Crop Management in Wheat Fallow: II. CENTURY Model Simulations. Soil Science Society of America Journal 58, 530-536
- Paustian, K., Parton, W.J., Persson, J. (1992): Modeling Soil Organic Matter in Organicamended and Nitrogen-fertilised Long-term Plots. Soil Science Society of Americal Journal 56, 476-488
- Pirringer, H. (1997): Betriebswirtschaftliche Auswertung von Extensivierungsversuchen. [Economic analysis of extenisvation experiments.] online available: http://www.awi.bmlf.gv.at/docs/2.work/research/abge1997.htm#Projekt%20Nr.%20AW/9 7/90

Pirringer, H. (1997a): Ökonomische und strukturelle Auswirkungen durch Intensitätsverringerung in der Landwirtschaft mit dem Ziel der Nachhaltigkeit. [Economic and structural changes due to extensification in agriculture aiming at sustainability] In: Greif, F. (ed.): Österreichs Landwirtschaft im EU-Agrarsystem. Österr. Agrarverlag, Klosterneuburg. p. 255-273

- Rigler, E., Wörgetter, M. (1998): The National Report of Austria. In EU-Concerted Action: Biogenic Emissions of Greenhouse Gases Caused by Arable and Animal, Federal Forest Research Centre Vienna
- Schidler, S. (1998): Beitrag zur Modellierung des Kohlenstoffkreislaufs für Österreich : Datengrundlage und Analyse des Modells der natürliche Systeme. [Cotribution to the modelling of Austria's carbon balance. Data collection and model analysis for natural systems.] Diploma Thesis, Univ. Vienna, 132 pp.
- Schimel D.S., Braswell, B.H., Holland, E.A., McKeown, R., Ojima, D.S., Painter, T.H., Parton,
 W.J.. Townsend, A.R. (1994): Climatic, Edaphic, and Biotic Controls over Storage and
 Turnover of Carbon in Soils. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 8(3), 279-293
- Schlesinger, W.H. (1999): Carbon Sequestration in Soils. Science 284, 2095
- Schwarz, S., Huber, S., Tulipan, M., Dvorak, A., Arzl, N. (1999): Datenschlüssel Bodenkunde. Empfehlung zur einheitlichen Datenerfassung in Österreich. [Data key Soil Science – Suggestions for unified data collection in Austria.] UBA-Monographie 113; 152 pp. Wien
- Smith, P. Smith, J.U., Powlson, D.S., McGill, W.B. et al. (1997): A Comparison of the Performance of Nine Soil Organic Matter Models using Seven Long-term Experimental Datasets. Geoderma 81, 153-225
- Smith, P., Powlson, D.S., Falloon, P. & Smith, J.U. (1999): SOMNET. A Global Network and Database of Soil Organic Matter Models and Long-term Experimental Datasets. Online access: http://www.res.bbsrc.ac.uk/soils/somnet/cgi-bin/somnet

- Steinlechner E.; Berghold H.; Cate F.M.; Jungmeier G. ;Spitzer J.; Wutzl C. (1994): Möglichkeiten der Vermeidung und Nutzung antropogener Methanemissionen [Possibilities for abatement and utilisation of anthropogenic methane emissions.] Study contract for Federal Ministry of Environment, Youth and Family. Joanneum Research, Graz
- Sutton, M.A., Moreno, J.M., van der Putten, W.H., & Struwe, S. (eds.)(2000): Terrestrial ecosystem Research in Europe: sucesses, challenges and policy. Final conference of TERICA Project ENV4 CT95 0051 20-23rd June 1999 Egmont aan Zee, NL 208 pp.
- UBA (1999): http://www.ubavie.gv.at/umweltsituation/boden/zustand/ueberbl.htm
- Van Dam, D. (1997): Soil Organic Carbon Dynamics: Variability with Depth in Forested and Deforested Soils under Pasture in Costa Rica. Biogeochemistry 39, 343-375
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (1996): Revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. (download available online: http://www.ipccnggip.iges.or.jp/public/gl/invs1.htm) Chapter 4: Agriculture
- Maringer, F.-J., Ramer, A. (1998): Donauradiometrie. [Radiometry of the river Danube] Schriftenreihe Forschung im Verbund. Wien: Österr. Elektrizitätswirtschafts-AG, Band 39
- WWK/UBA (Wasserwirtschaftskataster/Umweltbundesamt) (1998): Wassergüte in Österreich. Jahresbericht 1998. [Water quality in Austria. Annual report 1998] BMLF (Hrsg.) Wien (partly available online:

http://www.ubavie.gv.at/umweltsituation/wasser/jb1998/inhalt.htm)

Annex 3

ACBM Modul ENERGY

Gerfried Jungmeier Lorenza Canella Josef Spitzer

Joanneum Research Graz Institute for Energy Research gerfried.jungmeier@joanneum.ac.at

Table of Contents

A 3-1 Introduction	1
A 3-2 Methodology	1
A 3-2.1 Data availability	1
A 3-2.2 Data and knowledge gaps	2
A 3-2.3 Model design General	2 2
Visualisation of model structure Treatment of CH₄ and VOC Calculation procedure	2 4 11
A 3-2.4 Scenarios	14
A 3-2.5 Model Formulation	16
A 3-3 Results	16
A 3-3.1 Dynamic model behavior Useful energy Final energy	16 16 20
A 3-3.2 Scenario: No major changes Development of carbon flows to {ATMO} Major carbon flows Interaction with other modules Conclusions	22 23 23 24 26 28
A 3-3.3 Scenario: Towards sustainability Development of carbon flows to {ATMO} Major carbon flows Interaction with other modules Conclusions	28 28 30 31 33
A 3-3.4 Comparison of Scenarios Difference in development of carbon flows to {ATMO} Difference in major carbon flows Difference of Interaction with other modules Conclusions	33 33 35 37 39
A 3-3.5 Sensitivities and Uncertainties Sensitivity Analysis Uncertainty analyses	39 39 44
A 3-4 Discussion and Conclusions	45

A 3-4.1 Discussion	45
A 3-4.2 Applicability of results	45
A 3-4.3 Priorities for future work	46
A 3-5 References	47

A 3-1 Introduction

The carbon emissions from energy use have a significant influence on the increasing carbon concentration in the atmosphere, that may lead to global warming. The combustion of fuels leads to the oxidation from carbon to carbon dioxide (CO_2). The carbon in the fuel mainly determines the heating value of the fuel. The CO_2 emissions from fossil fuel combustion leads to a increasing concentration of carbon in the atmosphere. The combustion of biomass leads also to carbon emissions, but this carbon was previously fixed in the biomass by photosynthesis. If biomass comes from sustainable management, the carbon cycle of the energetic use of biomass is considered to be closed (IPPC 1997).

The carbon in oil, gas and coal is taken from the resources in the lithosphere and the carbon in biomass is taken from biomass in forestry and agriculture. In the energy system no carbon is stored for a longer period, that means that the storage of fuels now and then has no real influence on the carbon flow in the system, as it is assumed here.

In Austria the primary energy demand is about 1,200 PJ/a, where about 75% are fossil fuels - oil, gas and coal - and 25% are renewable energy - hydro power (13%) and biomass (12%). The CO_2 -emissions in the Austrian energy system from the combustion of fossil fuels are about 60 Mio. t/a.

The interfaces to the other modules are characterised in three main groups:

- biomass from the other modules to {ENERGY},
- energy demand for energy services from the modules to {ENERGY} and
- raw materials from energy carriers from {ENERGY} to {PROD}

A 3-2 Methodology

A 3-2.1 Data availability

Many data are available from energy statistic for the years 1990 to 1998, that are used for the modelling of these years (Energieverwertungsagentur 1991, Energieverwertungsagentur 1992, Energieverwertungsagentur 1993, Energieverwertungsagentur 1995, Energieverwertungsagentur 1995a, Energieverwertungsagentur 1997, BMwA 1995, BMwA 1993a, BMwA 1994, BMwA 1994a, BMwA 1996, BMwA 1996a, BMwA 1997, BMwA 1998, BMwA 1999, ÖSTAT 1992, ÖSTAT 1993, ÖSTAT 2000).

Beginning with 1999 many assumptions are necessary for the data and the development of the energy demand and supply system. The basic data are given by the "NUP-energy model" used in the Nationaler Umweltplan Österreich (NUP 1996). These data of the development of the Austrian energy system were discussed and fixed with economic experts from WIFO (Kratena 2000).

The modelling needs two different types of data: one for the situation in the past with "real" data and one for the future situation with "estimated" data. This means for the modelling that there is a possibility to update the model in future easily when new statistic data will be available.

A 3-2.2 Data and knowledge gaps

To model the carbon system in the energy sector it is necessary to model the energy system first, that means the energy transformation from primary energy to the supply of energy services. Once the energy system is fixed, the carbon flows in the energy systems are modelled by identifying the energy flows, which are connected with a carbon flow. These energy flows are biomass, coal, oil and gas. The conversion from energy to carbon flows is done by using the heating value and the carbon content of the different fuels to calculate the conversion factor of carbon per PJ (unit: MtC/PJ). The heating value and the carbon content of oil and gas are quite stable, but for coal and biomass they might change from year to year. In addition to heating value and carbon content the conversion factor for biomass depends of the kind of biomass, if it is bark, wood chips, biogas, waste etc. In {ENERGY} the different kinds of biomass are not distinguished. The conversion factors use are:

- oil: 0.021 MtC/PJ,
- gas: 0.015 MtC/PJ
- coal, that is a mixture of lignite, hard coal and coke: 0.025 0.027 MtC/PJ and
- biomass, that is a mixture of bark, fuel wood, wood chips, lye, biogas, methylester and waste: 0.025 – 0,027 MtC/PJ

Therefore the details of the energy system determine the details of the carbon system in the energy sector. So the available energy data influence the modelling approach of the carbon system.

A 3-2.3 Model design

General

The main guideline of the development of the concept of {ENERGY} is to follow the outline of the energy flow figure of the Austrian energy system, which is annually published by the (Energieverwertungsagentur Energieverwertungsagentur (Figure A 3-1) 1991. Energieverwertungs-agentur 1992, Energieverwertungsagentur 1993. Energieverwertungsagentur 1995, Energieverwertungsagentur 1995a. Energieverwertungsagentur 1997). The modelling concept is also closely related to previously developed modelling concepts (Wohlgemuth 1992, NUP 1996).

Also the data availability determinates the modelling. This means, that all energy related emissions from energy use in the other modules is included in {ENERGY}, because the statistic data are not available in a common format for the different sectors i.e. {FOREST} and {AGRO} are not separated (ÖSTAT 1992, ÖSTAT 1993, ÖSTAT 2000).

Visualisation of model structure

In <u>Figure A 3-2</u> the overall design of the {ENERGY} model is shown. In <u>Figure A 3-3</u> the details of the energy services, in <u>Figure A 3-4</u> the details from primary energy to useful energy and in <u>Figure A 3-5</u> the details from primary energy to final energy are shown.

The {ENERGY} module starts on the left side with the 4 primary energy carriers - biomass, coal, gas and oil - its transformation to the 6 final energy carriers in the middle – biomass, coal, gas, oil, electricity and heat - until it ends on the right side with the 5 different types of useful energy:

- mechanical work,
- process heat,
- space heat,

- vehicles and
- light.

The useful energy is allocated to the 3 main demand sectors

- industry,
- residential and
- transportation.

The transformation steps are refinery, cooking plant and blast furnaces that are also parts of {PROD}, but are traditionally handled in {ENERGY}. Further transformations steps are power plants, <u>combined heat and power (CHP)</u> plants as well as heating plants for heat and electricity production.

The energy module is driven in principle from the demand of energy services, which determines the demand of useful energy on the left side of <u>Figure A 3-2</u> and details in <u>Figure A 3-3</u>. The duty of {ENERGY} is to satisfy the energy demand by using different energy resources (primary energy). The energy demand is predefined by the other modules {PROD}, {WASTE}, {AGRO} and {FOREST} and "transportation". Whereas "transportation" is part of {ENERGY}. The modules {PROD} and {WASTE} are in the "industry sector", the modules {AGRO} and {FOREST} are part of the residential sector and transport is in the transportation sector.

The other modules give biomass to {ENERGY}, for which the information about the kind of biomass, carbon content, heating value are necessary and given by the other modules.

The flows of carbon from {ENERGY} to {ATMO} occur in the transformation from

- primary energy to final energy from refinery, cooking plant and blast furnaces, power plants, combined heat and power plants, heating plants and losses from the distribution of gas (includes energy demand for gas distribution);
- final energy to useful energy from mechanical work, process heat, space heat, vehicles and light.

The interfaces to the other modules are

- {WASTE}: biomass from {WASTE}, ashes to {WASTE}, energy demand from {WASTE}
- {FOREST}: biomass from {FOREST}, energy demand from {FOREST};
- {AGRO}: biomass from {AGRO}, energy demand from {AGRO};
- {PROD}: biomass from {PROD}, gas and chemicals to {PROD}, energy demand from {PROD};
- IMP/EXP: biomass, oil, gas, coal, electricity from/to {IMP/EXP}.

Within {ENERGY} different types of data can be distinguished:

- carbon flows, (i.e. EE_gas process heat)
- energy flows and (i.e. EE_electricity light)
- driving parameters (i.e. DPE_useful energy mix industry).

The carbon and energy flows are closely connected to each other, and each carbon flow is connected with an energy flow but not each energy flow is connected with a carbon flow i. e. WE_biomass is connected with (WE_biomass), but (EE_electricity CHP plant) has no carbon flow, because electricity is not connected with carbon (Figure A 3-6).

The driving parameters are used to run the model. The 4 most important groups of driving parameters are

- development of the energy services,
- development of energy efficiencies (conversion efficiency, energy productivity),

- mix of fuels and final energy carrier and
- mix of final energy used in different sectors.

Driving parameters are defined according to the "Driving Force" scenarios and described in further detail under chapter 3-2.4

Treatment of CH_4 and VOC

The treatment of methane (CH₄) and other <u>v</u>olatile <u>o</u>rganic <u>c</u>ompounds (VOC) are described. Flows of CH₄ are and flows of VOC are not considered in {ENERGY}.

In the Austrian inventory the total CH₄-emission is about 650,000 t/a (Ritter et al. 1999), which corresponds to a carbon flow 0.487 MtC/a. About 5% of this carbon flow in CH₄ is caused by the energy system, that are 0.024 MtC/a. The main sources of CH₄ occurs from combustion processes and from losses in the natural gas distribution system. That means for {ENERGY}, that the carbon flows ET_process heat, ET_space heat, ET_vehicles and ET_loss gas have a small fraction of CH₄. These 4 carbon flows cover about 98% of the CH₄ emissions from {ENERGY}, therefore only these 4 carbon flows are divided in carbon flows for CO₂ and for CH₄. The modelling is done with driving parameters that give the shape of CO₂ and CH₄. Because of technical improvement of combustion processes it is assumed, that the CH₄-fraction on the 4 affected carbon flows has a small decrease in future.



Figure A 3-1: Energy flow of Austria 1995 (Energieverwertungsagentur 1997)





Figure A 3-2: Concept of the {ENERGY} module (overview)



Figure A 3-3: Concept of {ENERGY} Model – details energy services



Figure A 3-4: Concept of {ENERGY} Model – details final energy to useful energy



Figure A 3-5: Concept of {ENERGY} Model – details primary energy to final energy



Figure A 3-6: Carbon flow of Austria 1995 (results of {ENERGY})

Calculation procedure

The demand of energy services in the 3 sectors – industry, residential and transportation – determine the need of useful energy – mechanical work, process heat, space heat, vehicles and light. The amount of final energy is calculated by using the different efficiencies of the final energy carriers - biomass, coal, gas, oil, electricity and heat - and the shares of the different final energy carrier for the different kinds of useful energy. The demand of electricity and heat is satisfied by hydro and solar plants (photovoltaic and wind), thermal power plants, heating plants and CHP plants, by taking the different efficiencies and share of fuels into account. The total amount of primary energy is calculated as the sum of fuels as final energy carrier and as fuels for electricity and heat production, by taking the refinery of oil, the coke plant and the blast furnace into account. With the share of imported fuels and domestic fuel production the amount of energy and carbon from the other modules is calculated.

The most important driving forces for the future development of the energy demand are determined by the (compare to Wohlgemuth 1992 and NUP 1996)

- need of energy services,
- productivity of the useful energy and
- development of efficiencies of energy transformation (from useful energy to primary energy).

These important driving parameters differ in the two scenarios "<u>no</u> <u>m</u>ajor <u>c</u>hanges" (NMC) and "<u>t</u>owards <u>s</u>ustainability" (TS).

Following the concept in <u>Figure A 3-2</u> the energy module is modelled including the official data of energy statistic. For the period of 1990 to 1995 the energy module contains the data according to the annual published Austrian energy flow.

Need of energy services

In dependence of the 3 sectors the need of energy services is mainly determined by the following driving parameters, that describe the future economic development (Figure A 3-7)

- industry: production basic materials, production electro-chemical industry and production of final goods
- residential: development of floor space and production of <u>small</u> <u>medium enterprises</u> (SME)
- transportation: development of ton kilometre (ton-km) and of individual kilometre

As decided for the whole ACBM-model the development of inhabitants is not taken into consideration. These 7 driving parameters for the future need of energy services are indicated to 100% in the base year 1995, the last year with real data from energy statistics.

Productivity of the useful energy

The development of the productivity of useful energy is defined for each kind of useful energy – mechanical work, process heat, space heat, vehicles and light (<u>Figure A 3-8</u>). These 5 driving parameters of productivity are indicated to 100% in the base year 1995, the last year with real data from energy statistics.

Development of efficiencies of energy transformation

The development of the efficiencies of transformation, which means all transformation steps from useful energy via final energy and secondary energy to primary energy, influences the future energy supply system. Examples are given for the transformation from useful energy to final energy in <u>Table A 3-1</u>.



Figure A 3-7: Development of the need of energy services in the two scenarios ("no major changes, NMC, "towards sustainability" TS)



Figure A 3-8: Development the productivity of the useful energy in the two scenarios ("no major changes, NMC, "towards sustainability" TS)

Table A 3-1: Development of efficiencies of energy transformation from useful energy to final energy

		1990	1999	2010 NMC	2010 TS
mech. work	oil	35%	35%	35%	37%
	gas	35%	35%	36%	37%
	electricity	85%	85%	86%	87%
proc. heat	coal	70%	72%	73%	75%
	oil	75%	75%	76%	77%
	gas	75%	75%	76%	78%
	biomass	73%	74%	76%	79%
	electricity	90%	90%	91%	92%
space heat	coal	55%	55%	55%	55%
	oil	75%	75%	76%	76%
	gas	70%	73%	75%	78%
	biomass	61%	62%	64%	70%
	electricity	88%	89%	90%	92%
	heat	95%	95%	95%	95%
vehicles	oil	30%	30%	30%	31%
	biomass	30%	30%	30%	30%
	electricity	95%	95%	95%	95%
light	oil	3%	3%	3%	3%
	electricity	5%	5%	5%	6%
	,	•			

A 3-2.4 Scenarios

Two scenarios are analysed,

- scenario "no major changes" (NMC) and
- scenario "towards sustainability" (TS).

These two scenarios start in the year 1999, so the results from 1990 to 1998 are the same for both scenarios. In the NMC-scenario the current trends derived mainly from the year 1990 to 2000 are projected till 2010. In the TS-scenario a modification of current trends are modelled into the direction of a sustainable development.

A sustainable development for the Austrian energy system means in general,

- a high level of energy services with an increased reduction of useful energy,
- a high energy transformation efficiencies and
- an increased use of renewable energy.

The overall trend in the energy system is an increase of needed energy services. The final and primary energy needed to fulfil these energy services depends on the efficiency of the overall energy transformation. So in general the future need of energy depends on the development of energy services on one hand and the improving of energy efficiency on the other hand. Different trends in these developments are given in the two scenarios. In scenario "towards sustainability" the increase of energy services is more moderate than in the scenario "no major changes", but the development of energy efficiency is more moderate in the scenario "no major changes" than in the scenario "towards sustainability".

The modelling of these two scenarios is done via driving parameters (DP). Each driving parameter is part of a driving force (DF) and each driving force is part of a driving bag (DB) (details for this concept are described in the report). The relevant driving bags to {ENERGY} and their driving forces for {ENERGY} are shown in Table A 3-2. The complete list of driving parameter and their data for each scenario used in {ENERGY} is shown on the CD Rom (ACBM_Metadata base.xls).

{ENERGY}
.⊆
used
forces
þ
Ξ
dri
and
bags
g
Ξ
ž
3-2: I
∢
Table

	NO MAJOR CHANGES (2000-2010)	TOWARDS SUSTAINABILITY (2000-2010)
DB ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT	Economic development will be around growth rates of 2,5 % GNP p.a. Contri-	Economic development will be around growth rates of 2% GNP p.a. Contribu-
	bution of agriculture to GNP will slightly decrease. Growth rates will mainly	tion of agriculture to GNP will remain the same. Growth rates will mainly come
	come from services and leisure tourism. Production will shift from primary to	from services and leisure tourism. Production will shift from primary to sec-
	secondary products.	ondary products, with more products from renewable raw materials.
DF Production	Continuation of current trends depending on the respective products.	Slight decrease in trend for fossils, increase in production of wood products.
DB ECONOMIC STRUCTURAL	Economy will shift from primary to tertiary sector. Increase of IT-based econ-	Economy will shift from primary to tertiary sector. Increase of IT-based econ-
CHANGES	omy. Consumption of goods will increase. In energy sector shift from coal/oil	omy. Consumption of goods will increase. In energy sector shift from coal/oil
	to gas. 2 % increase per year of the area for extensive agriculture. Agricultural	to gas. Slowly increasing use of renewable energy sources. 4 % increase per
	output remains almost the same. Cheaper world prices for electricity &	year of the area for extensive agriculture. Agricultural output has an slight de-
	increased imports of primary products, food, and feed.	crease due to the extensivation of agriculture.
DF Final energy mix industry	Market shift from coal to gas; slight shift from oil to gas; increase of biomass use	All trends stronger
DF Final energy mix traffic	Slight shift to more electricity, biomass fuels 1%	Biomass fuels 2%
DF Final energy mix residential	Marked shift from coal to gas; slight shift from oil to gas; increase rate of biomass	less coal in 2010 in residential, less coal in power plant and industry shift from oil
	use; increase rate of solar energy by 2 % p.a.	towards gas; increase of biomass use ; increase of solar energy by 4 % p.a.
DF Fuel mix	Marked shift from coal to gas; slight shift from oil to gas; increase rate of biomass;	less coal in 2010; shift from oil towards gas; increase of biomass; increase of solar
	increase rate of solar energy by 2 % p.a.	energy by 4 % p.a.
DF Import / export behavior	more electricity imports because of liberalization.	Electricity from Austrian water power plants is favored; less imports
DF Mix of good/personal transport	Mix stays stabile	More transports than personal transports
DF Mix production	Final goods prod. will increase, basic materials decreases 1% p. a, electro-chemical	Final goods prod. will have an lower increase, basic materials decrease 1 % p. a.,
	industry remains the same, increase in final good production 2,5 $\%$ p. a.	electro chemical industry remains the same, increase in final good production 2 % p.
		а.
DF Globalization: imports/exports	Increase in ton km	Lower increase in ton km
DF Mix district heat	Increase of district heat from combined heat and power production	Stronger increase of district heat from combined heat and power production
DF Mix space heat	Coal has an decrease, biomass and district heat have a increase, gas increases too	Coal has an higher decrease, biomass and district heat have a higher increase, gas
		remains the same, oil decreases
DF Mix useful energy industry	Decrease of coal and oil, increase of gas and biomass	Stronger increase of coal and oil, stronger increase of gas and biomass
DF Use of other renewable	Hydro power remains, solar increase	Slight increase of hydro power, stronger increase of solar
DB LIFESTYLE	Continuation of 1990-2000 rates of single households, environmental aware-	Continuation of 1990-2000 trends, but less vehicle use (decrease in annual
	ness, nutrition patterns, vehicle mileage. Increasing vehicle use for "fun"	vehicle mileage by 5 % until 2010), more environmental awareness, more
	matches decreasing commuting because of teleworking.	vegetarians. Increase of natural forests by 2 % p.a.
DF Urbanization vs. suburbanization	Strong increase of floor space per person and individual km per person	lower increase of floor space per person and individual km per person
DB TECHNICAL DEVELOPMENT	Continuation of current trends	Increased efficiencies above current trends
DF Energy efficiency	Continuation of current trends;	Increase of current trend
DF Energy productivity	Continuation of current trends	Increase of current trend

A 3-2.5 Model Formulation

The model formulation is done with Visual basic in EXCEL. The starting point was the account of the energy balance for the years 1990 to 1995 following the energy flow of Austria. Next step was the transformation of the energy balance in the carbon balance, by implementing the energy related carbon conversion factors for all carbon flows. The results of these steps were checked and adjusted with the official carbon emission inventory (Ritter et al. 1999). After this the development of the need of energy services was implemented. Further on the driving parameters were calculated for the period from 1990 to 1995 so far as possible and predicted for future development. After this the driving parameters were implemented for the two scenarios and the model was tested.

The plausibility was checked by making an energy and carbon balance for each process and each dispatcher each year. By regarding the development of single flows from 1990 to 2010 and their relation to each other helped to check the plausibility and the quality of the results by analysing absolute and relative changes. At least the fulfilment of certain expectations was proven. Further on the reproducing of special results was tested. The expected change of certain input/output relations was checked by parameter variation and sensitivity analyses (see chapter 3-5).

All energy flows are calculated for the same year. Even all carbon flow, except the biomass from forest (FE_biomass), are calculated for the same year. FE_biomass is the only carbon flow, which is taken from the previous year, because the energy need in biomass from forestry is calculated in the actual year. In the calculation of the conversion factor and the carbon balance the results from the same year are taken.

The limitations of modelling are given by the chosen model design and structure. This means i.e. a more detailed subdivision of the need of energy services for special economic sectors like pulp and paper industry is not possible. Further on the adaptation of the model for different scenarios needs experience in the understanding and in the possible development of the Austrian energy system. This means also that the model is not able to distinguish between realistic and unrealistic input parameters. The model has no limitations for the size of certain input parameters i.e. that the efficiency of one process cannot be higher than 100%. So the model has no automatic plausibility check of the input parameters. Summing up {ENERGY} is more an expert module than a model for wide common use.

A 3-3 Results

A 3-3.1 Dynamic model behavior

The dynamic model behavior of {ENERGY} is described with the results of the development of the Austrian energy system, whereas the useful energy, the final energy and the primary energy are described in detail.

Useful energy

In scenario NMC the demand of useful energy will increase (660 PJ/a), in scenario TS it will decrease (570 PJ/a) (Figure A 3-9). In both scenarios the development of the demand of useful energy is mainly influenced by the useful energy for vehicles in transportation sector and for space heat in residential sector (Figure A 3-10). The energy demand in industry sector is decreasing in both scenarios (Figure A 3-11), because of increasing productivity of useful

energy and decreasing production of basic materials. The energy demand in transportation sector is dominated by vehicles and is only decreasing in scenario TS (Figure A 3-12), mainly because of higher productivity of useful energy. The energy demand in residential sector is dominated by space heat and is only decreasing in scenario TS (Figure A 3-13).



Figure A 3-9: Results of dynamic behaviour of the need of useful energy in end use categories



Figure A 3-10: Results of dynamic behaviour of the need of useful energy in the three user sectors






Figure A 3-12: Results of dynamic behavior of the need of useful energy in the transportation sector





Final energy

The demand of useful energy determines the need of final energy carrier. The need of final energy is in scenario NMC (1000 PJ/a) about 200 PJ higher that in scenario TS (900 PJ/a) in year 2010 (Figure A 3-14). This difference is mainly caused by a strong decrease of oil for transportation and space heat. The share of coal is decreasing in both scenarios, the share of gas and electricity is decreasing in scenario TS and the share of biomass and heat is increasing in both scenarios, as a representative example the mix for space heat in the residential sector is shown in Figure A 3-15.



Figure A 3-14: Results of dynamic behavior of the need of final energy in the end use categories

Figure A 3-15: Results of dynamic behavior of fuel mix for space heat in the residential sector



Primary energy

The need of final energy determines the need of primary energy, which is in year 2010 for scenario TS (1,460 PJ/a) about 210 PJ lower than in scenario NMC (1,250 PJ/a). The share of coal is decreasing in both scenarios, share of oil is decreasing in scenario TS, share of gas is increasing in scenario TS and share of biomass is increasing in both scenarios (Figure A 3-16).







Figure A 3-17: Results of dynamic behavior of primary energy fuel mix

A 3-3.2 Scenario: No major changes

The results of scenario NMC are analyzed by showing the development of carbon flows to {ATMO} and the description of the major carbon flows.

Development of carbon flows to {ATMO}

In <u>Figure A 3-18</u> the development of the carbon flows to {ATMO} from 1990 to 2010 in the scenario "no major changes" is shown.

The following carbon flows to {ATMO} are increasing, given as a percentage from 2010 referring to 1990 (1990 = 100%):

- ET_mechanical work: 172%, mainly because of increasing energy services in industry sector
- ET_space heat: 117%, mainly because of increasing energy services in residential sector
- ET_vehicles: 157%, mainly because of increasing energy services in transportation sector
- ET_blast furnace, coke plant: 192%, increasing demand of coke for basic material industry
- ET_CHP plant: 225%, increasing demand on electricity and heat
- ET_heating plant:155%, increasing demand on heat

The following carbon flows to {ATMO} are decreasing, given as a percentage from 2010 referring to 1990 (1990 = 100%):

- ET_process heat: 94%, mainly because of improved productivity
- ET_loss gas: 81%, mainly because of more efficient gas distribution systems

- ET_refinery: 91%, mainly because of improved transformation efficiency
- ET_thermal power plant: 20%, mainly because of increased electricity production in CHP plants

In total the carbon flows from {ENERGY} to {ATMO} increase from 19,1 MtC in 1990 to 23,13 MtC in 2010, that are 121% of 1990.





The carbon in the flows of primary energy shows an increase in

- E_oil: 132%, mainly because of increasing oil demand for vehicles and space heat
- E_gas: 144%, mainly because of increasing gas demand for process and space heat and CHP plants
- E_biomass: 132%, mainly because of increasing biomass demand for process and space heat, CHP and heating plants and a decrease in
- E_coal: 65%, mainly because of decreasing coal demand for process and space heat.

In total the carbon flows in primary energy to {ENERGY} increase from 22.05 MtC in 1990 to 26.56 MtC in 2010, that are 120% of 1990.

Major carbon flows

All carbon flows in {ENERGY} that come from another module or go to an other module and that are > 1 MtC/a, are defined as "major carbon" flows. These flows are shown in <u>Figure A 3-19</u>, by giving the absolute amount in 1990 and 2010 for the scenario "no major changes":

The following major flows are increasing, given as a percentage from 2010 referring to 1990 (1990 = 100%):

- WE_biomass: 456%, mainly because of increasing thermal waste treatment
- PE_biomass: 137%, mainly because of increased production in wood industry
- XE_gas: 150%, mainly because of increasing use of gas for CHP plants, process and space heat
- XE_oil: 137%, mainly because of increased oil demand for vehicles and space heat
- EX_oil: 104%, mainly because of globalisation with increasing import/export
- EP_chemicals: 233%, mainly because of increased plastic production
- ET_CHP plant: 225%, increasing demand on electricity and heat
- ET_vehicles: 157%, mainly because of increasing energy services in transportation sector
- ET_space heat: 117%, mainly because of increasing energy services in residential sector

The following major flows are decreasing, given as a percentage from 2010 referring to 1990 (1990 = 100%):

- FE_biomass: 24%, mainly because of increasing biomass from {WASTE} and {PROD}
- LE_oil: 97%, mainly because of less domestic exploitation
- XE_coal: 68%, mainly because of less coal demand for space and process heat
- ET_thermal power plant: 20%, mainly because of increased electricity production in CHP plants
- ET_process heat: 94%, mainly because of improved productivity



Figure A 3-19: Major carbon flows in {ENERGY} in scenario "no major changes"

Interaction with other modules

In <u>Figure A 3-20</u> and <u>Figure A 3-21</u> the interactions with the other modules are shown, this means the development of carbon flows to and from {ENERGY}, whereas the changes of the carbon flows between the modules are compared to 1990. <u>Figure A 3-22</u> gives the balance of the net flows of {ENERGY}, whereas values > 0 refer to net flows out of {ENERGY} and values > 0 to net flows to {ENERGY}. Most of the relevant explanations of parts of these figures are given in the prevolus chapters.

It can be seen that the change of total carbon flow is dominated by the flow to {ATMO}, that is increasing, which reflects the higher need of carbon related energy carrier to satisfy the increasing demand of energy services. The flow to {PROD} has a steady increase, because of increasing need of raw materials for production. The flows to {IMP/EXP} and {WASTE} are nearly constant.

The carbon flows to {ENERGY} are dominated by the flow from {IMP/EXP}, because of the import of fossil fuels. The flow from {IMP(EXP} is increasing, because of the increasing energy demand, that is mainly satisfied with imported oil and gas. The flow from {WASTE} is increasing, because of increased combustion of waste instead of landfill. The flow from {PROD} is increasing, because of increased production of wood products. The flow from {AGRO} and {LITHO} are constant. The flow from {FOREST} is decreasing, because the biomass need of {ENERGY} is satisfied with the increasing biomass supply from {PROD} and {WASTE}.



Figure A 3-20: Flows from {ENERGY} to other modules compared to 1990 in scenario "no major changes"

Figure A 3-21: Flows from other modules to {ENERGY} compared to 1990 in scenario "no major changes"







Conclusions

The results of the scenario NMC demonstrate, that according to the high increase of energy demand the carbon flows to the atmosphere are increasing. This additional energy need will mainly be satisfied with oil and gas and only for a small fraction with renewable especially with biomass, while the use of coal will decrease. The highest increases derive from vehicles in transportation sector and space heat in residential sector, because of the huge growing number of vehicles and floor space.

A 3-3.3 Scenario: Towards sustainability

The results of scenario TS are analyzed by showing the development of carbon flows to {ATMO} and the description of the major carbon flows.

Development of carbon flows to {ATMO}

In <u>Figure A 3-23</u> the development of the important carbon flows from 1990 to 2010 in the scenario "toward sustainability" is shown. The following carbon flows to $\{ATMO\}$ are increasing, given as a percentage from 2010 referring to 1990 (1990 = 100%):

- ET_mechanical work: 128%, mainly because of increasing energy services in industry sector
- ET_vehicles: 116%, mainly because of increasing energy services in transportation sector
- ET_blast furnace, coke plant: 175%, increasing demand of coke for basic material industry

- ET_CHP plant: 220%, increasing demand on electricity and heat
- ET_heating plant:152%, increasing demand on heat

The following carbon flows to {ATMO} are decreasing, given as a percentage from 2010 to 1990 (1990 = 100%):

- ET process heat: 82%, mainly because of improved productivity
- ET_space heat: 97%, mainly because of improved productivity in residential sector
- ET_loss gas: 68%, mainly because of more efficient gas distribution systems
- ET_refinery: 69%, mainly because of improved transformation efficiency
- ET_thermal power plant: 0%, mainly because of increased electricity production in CHP plants

In total the carbon flows from {ENERGY} to {ATMO} has a slight decrease from 19,1 MtC in 1990 to 18,9 MtC in 2010, that are 99% of 1990.

Figure A 3-23: Development of carbon flows to {ATMO} from 1990 to 2010 in scenario "towards sustainability"



The carbon in the flows of primary energy show an increase in

- E_oil: 101%, mainly because of constant oil demand
- E_gas: 129%, mainly because of increasing gas demand for process and space heat and CHP plants
- E_biomass: 147%, mainly because of increasing biomass demand for process and space heat, CHP and heating plants and a decrease in
- E_coal: 43%, mainly because of decreasing coal demand for process and space heat.

In total the carbon flows in primary energy to {ENERGY} has a slight increase from 22.05 MtC in 1990 to 22.34 MtC in 2010, that are 101% of 1990.

Major carbon flows

All carbon flows in {ENERGY} that come from another module or go to an other module and that are > 1 MtC/a, are defined as "major carbon" flows. These flows are shown in <u>Figure A 3-24</u>, by giving the absolute amount in 1990 and 2010 for the scenario "towards sustainability":

The following major flows are increasing, given as a percentage from 2010 referring to 1990 (1990 = 100%):

- WE_biomass: 475%, mainly because of increasing thermal waste treatment
- PE_biomass: 131%, mainly because of increased production in wood industry
- XE_gas: 130%, mainly because of increasing use of gas for CHP plants, process and space heat
- XE_oil: 137%, mainly because of increased oil demand for vehicles and space heat
- EX_oil: 104%, mainly because globalization with increasing import/export
- EP_chemicals: 216%, mainly because of increased plastic production
- ET_CHP plant: 220%, increasing demand on electricity and heat
- ET_vehicles: 116%, mainly because of increasing energy services in transportation sector

The following major flows are decreasing, given as a percentage from 2010 referring to 1990 (1990 = 100%):

- FE_biomass: 66%, mainly because of increasing biomass from {WASTE} and {PROD}
- LE_oil: 97%, mainly because of less domestic exploitation
- XE_coal: 41%, mainly because of less coal demand for space and process heat
- ET_thermal power plant: 0%, mainly because of increased electricity production in CHP plants
- ET_space heat: 97%, mainly because of improved productivity
- ET_process heat: 82%, mainly because of improved productivity



Figure A 3-24: Major carbon flows in {ENERGY} in scenario "towards sustainability"

Interaction with other modules

In <u>Figure A 3-25</u> and <u>Figure A 3-26</u> the interactions with the other modules are shown, this means the development of carbon flows to and from {ENERGY}, whereas the changes of the carbon flows between the modules are compared to 1990. <u>Figure A 3-27</u> gives the net flows of the {ENERGY} module, whereas values > 0 refer to net flows out of {ENERGY} and values > 0 to net flows to {ENERGY}. Most of the relevant explanations of parts of these figures are given in the prevoius chapters.

It can be seen that the change of total carbon flow is dominated by the flow to {ATMO}, which reflects the higher need of carbon related energy carrier. The total flow is increasing from 1990 to 2000 and then it is decreasing, but it does not reach the size of 1990 in 2010. The flow to {PROD} has a steady increase, because of increasing need of raw materials. The flows to {IMP/EXP} and {WASTE} are nearly constant.

The carbon flows to {ENERGY} are dominated by the flow from {IMP/EXP}, because of the import of fossil fuels. The flow from {IMP(EXP} starts to decrease in year 2000, because of increasing use of renewable energy carrier mainly instead of imported oil. The flow from {WASTE} is increasing, because of increased combustion of waste instead of landfill. The flow from {PROD} is increasing, because of increased production of wood products. The flow from {AGRO} and {LITHO} are constant. The flow from {FOREST} is decreasing, because of the biomass need of {ENERGY} is satisfied with the increasing biomass supply from {PROD} and {WASTE}.



Figure A 3-25: Flows from {ENERGY} to other modules compared to 1990 in scenario "towards sustainability"

Figure A 3-26: Flows from other modules to {ENERGY} compared to 1990 in scenario "towards sustainability"





<u>Figure A 3-27:</u> Annual net balance of flows from/to other modules to/from {ENERGY} compared to 1990 in scenario "towards sustainability"

Conclusions

The results of the scenario TS demonstrate, that the demand of useful energy is decreasing even if the demand of energy services is increasing. This leads to a decrease of the carbon flows to the atmosphere. The energy demand will be satisfied with a growing share of gas and renewable especially biomass, a stable use of oil and a strong decrease of coal. But it might be deduced, that an enormous improving of energy productivity and efficiency is necessary especially in the transportation sector with vehicles and in residential sector with space heat, to compensate to the huge growing number of vehicles and of floor space. But the results of the scenario TS show the direction to a sustainable energy system in Austria.

A 3-3.4 Comparison of Scenarios

The comparison of the two scenarios is analyzed by showing the difference of the development of carbon flows to {ATMO} and the difference of major carbon flows.

Difference in development of carbon flows to {ATMO}

In <u>Figure A 3-28</u> the difference in development of the important carbon flows in year 2010 in the two scenarios is shown. The difference of the following carbon flows to {ATMO} are given as a percentage from the carbon flow in the scenario "no major changes" to the scenario "towards sustainability" in 2010 (scenario "no major changes" = 100%):

• ET_mechanical work: 74%, mainly because of higher productivity and lower increasing of energy services in industry sector

- ET_process heat: 87%, mainly because of higher productivity and lower increasing of energy services in industry sector
- ET_space heat: 83%, mainly because of higher productivity and lower increasing of energy services in residential sector
- ET_vehicles: 74%, mainly because of higher productivity and lower increasing of energy services in transportation sector
- ET_blast furnace, coke plant: 91%, mainly because of lower increasing demand of coke
- ET_loss gas: 83%, mainly because of lower demand of gas
- ET_refinery: 91%, mainly because of lower demand of oil
- ET_thermal power plant: 0%, mainly because all thermal electricity is produced in CHP plants
- ET_CHP plant: 98%, mainly because of lower increase of electricity and heat demand
- ET_heating plant:98%, mainly because of lower increase of heat demand

In total the carbon flows from {ENERGY} to {ATMO} in 2010 is in scenario "no major changes" 23,1 MtC and in scenario "towards sustainability" 18,9 MtC, that are 82%.







Figure A 3-29: Difference of carbon flows to {ATMO} from 1990 to 2010 in scenario "no major changes" and "towards sustainability

The difference in the carbon flows of primary energy between the two scenarios shows

- E_coal: 65%, mainly because of stronger decreasing coal demand for process and space heat.
- E_oil: 76%, mainly because of slower increasing oil demand for vehicles
- E_gas: 89%, mainly because of slower increasing gas demand for process and space heat
- E_biomass: 111%, mainly because of higher increasing biomass demand for process and space heat and CHP plants

In total the carbon flows in primary energy to {ENERGY} in 2010 is in scenario "no major changes" 26.56 MtC and in scenario "towards sustainability" 22.34 MtC, that are 84% (Figure A <u>3-29</u>).

Difference in major carbon flows

All carbon flows in {ENERGY} that come from another module or go to an other module and that are > 1 MtC/a, are defined as "major carbon" flows. The differences of these flows in the two scenarios are shown in Figure A 3-30, by giving the absolute amount in 2010 for both scenarios. The difference of the following carbon flows are given as a percentage from the carbon flow in the scenario "no major changes" to the scenario "towards sustainability" in 2010 (scenario "no major changes" = 100%):

The following major carbon flows have no difference in the two scenarios:

- LE_oil: 100%, no difference
- EX_oil: 100%, no difference

The following major flows are increasing, given as a percentage from scenario TS referring to scenario NMC (NMC = 100%):

- WE_biomass: 104%, mainly because of stronger increase of thermal waste treatment
- FE_biomass: 275%, mainly because of stronger increasing biomass demand for space and process heat

The following major flows are decreasing, given as a percentage from scenario TS referring to scenario NMC (NMC = 100%):

- PE_biomass: 95%, mainly because of lower increase of production in wood industry
- XE_gas: 87%, mainly because of lower increasing gas demand for space and process heat
- XE_oil: 74%, mainly because of lower oil demand for vehicles and space heat
- XE_coal: 60%, mainly because of stronger decreasing coal demand for space and process heat
- EP_chemicals: 93%, mainly because of lower increase of plastic production
- ET_CHP plant: 98%, mainly because of lower electricity demand
- ET_thermal power plant: 0%, mainly because of increased electricity production in CHP plants
- ET_vehicles: 74%, mainly because of lower increase of energy services in transportation sector and stronger increasing of productivity
- ET_space heat: 83%, mainly because of improved productivity
- ET_process heat: 87%, mainly because of improved productivity



Figure A 3-30: Difference in major carbon flows in {ENERGY} in scenario "no major changes" and "towards sustainability"

Difference of Interaction with other modules

In <u>Figure A 3-31</u> and <u>Figure A 3-32</u> the differences of the interactions with the other modules in the two scenarios are shown. <u>Figure A 3-33</u> gives the difference in the two scenarios of the net flows of {ENERGY}. Most of the relevant explanations of parts of these figures are given in the prevoius chapters.

The total carbon flow from energy is lower in the scenario TS. It can be seen that the change of total carbon flow to {ATMO} is very much lower in scenario TS. The change of flow to {PROD} is lower in scenario TS, because of a lower increase of production. The flows to {IMP/EXP} and {WASTE} are nearly the same. The total carbon flow to energy is lower in the scenario TS. The change carbon flows is dominated by the flow from {WASTE} in scenario TS, because of increasing use of waste for energy.



Figure A 3-31: Flows from {ENERGY} to other modules compared to 1990 as difference of both scenarios







Figure A 3-33: Annual net balance of flows from/to other modules to/from {ENERGY} compared to 1990 as difference of both scenarios

Conclusions

The comparison of the two scenarios demonstrate, that different possible future trends can be modeled in {ENERGY}. The results show that in {ENERGY} a modeling towards a sustainable energy system is possible.

All the carbon flows in {ENERGY} are influenced by human activities. Depending on the activities an increase or an decrease of certain carbon is possible. The most important influences on decreasing of carbon flows are all human activities dealing with energy saving and improving energy efficiency.

A 3-3.5 Sensitivities and Uncertainties

In this chapter the sensitivity and uncertainty analyses are described.

Sensitivity Analysis

The biggest influences result from the assumptions for the driving parameters. Therefore the variation of the driving parameters is done in sensitivity analyses. The most important carbon flow from {ENERGY} is the total carbon flow to {ATMO}. That is why all the following sensitivity analyses are done on the influence on total carbon flow to {ATMO}, which is given for the year 2010 in percent referring to the carbon flow in the scenario "no major changes".

The sensitivity analyses are divided in 4 parts

- 1. Variation of productivity, that effects the productivity of mechanical work, process heat, space heat, vehicles, light (sensitivity analyses 1),
- Variation of development of energy services in industry (production basic material, production electro-chemical industry, production final goods), in residential sector (floor space, production SME) and transportation sector (ton-km and individual-km) (sensitivity analyses 2),
- 3. Variation of efficiency of energy transformation from final energy to useful energy, that effects the efficiency of transformation for mechanical work, process heat, space heat, vehicles and light (sensitivity analyses 3),
- 4. Variation of efficiency of energy transformation from primary energy to final energy, that effects blast furnace/coke plant, refinery, hydro plant, thermal power plant, electricity/heat from CHP plant and heating plant (sensitivity analyses 4).

The variation of driving parameters in sensitivity analyses 1 and 2 is chosen as \pm 20% of the standard value, in sensitivity analyses 3 and 4 it is \pm 5% of the standard value in the scenario "no major changes", because the possible variation of efficiencies is smaller than the possible variation on parameters for the calculation of useful energy. These 4 sensitivity analyses are shown in Figure A 3-34 to Figure A 3-38. In Figure A 3-36 a detail of the sensitivity analyses 1 and 2 is shown by combining the different productivities and the development of energy services to demonstrate that an increase in energy services needs a stronger increase in productivity for keeping the carbon flow to {ATMO} constant.

The results demonstrate that driving parameters on the demand of useful energy have the biggest influence, the efficiencies of transformation of final energy to useful energy an average influence and the efficiencies of transformation of primary energy to final energy the lowest influence on the change of carbon flow from {ENERGY} to {ATMO}. Because of the big energy need for vehicles, space heat and process heat, the influence of parameters on these three are most important, as shown in Figure A 3-34 and Figure A 3-37.

The result of these sensitivity analyses is the following ranking of the most important driving parameters, that give a significant contribution to change of carbon flow to {ATMO}:

- 1. productivity space heat (DPE_productivity space heat)
- 2. productivity vehicles (DPE_productivity vehicles)
- 3. production SME (DPE_production SME)
- 4. productivity process heat (DPE_productivity process heat)
- 5. individual km (DPE_ton-km)
- 6. ton km (DPE_individual-km)

These parameters are used for the sensitivity analyses of the ACBM model (details see report chapter 3.5.1).



Figure A 3-34: Sensitivity analyses 1 - variation of productivity of useful energy

Figure A 3-35: Sensitivity analyses 2 - variation of development of energy services (line of ton km and individual km lie in a pile, therefore only ton km is well seen)





<u>Figure A 3-36:</u> Sensitivity analyses 1 + 2 - demand of useful energy – combination of productivity and energy services









Uncertainty analyses

The database used for the modeling of the energy flows from the year 1990 to the year 1995 has an uncertainty of \pm 2 PJ, which is mainly caused by rounding the data in the used energy flow in Austria (i.e. Energieverwertungsagentur 1993). This uncertainty in the energy flows is reflected in an uncertainty of the carbon flows between \pm 0.03 – 0.056 MtC, depending on the affected energy carrier.

There is an inherent uncertainty in the amount of the biomass, mainly depending on the kind of biomass, the carbon content, the water content and the biomass used for heating in the residential sector. Uncertainties up to minus 20% are discussed (Bittermann 1999). These uncertainties mainly affect the biomass, that is used for space heat. In {ENERGY} this uncertainty is directly reflected in "EE_biomass space heat", in "ET_space heat" and in energy demand of "E_residential". But these uncertainties are about the same for the year 1990 to 1995 and also for the calculated years up to 2010. Therefore this inherent uncertainties do not effect the general trends and results from {ENERGY} and they are not treated in an uncertainty analyses.

Further uncertainties are related to the inputs from other modules – FE_biomass, PE_biomass and WE_biomass. But these uncertainties are treated in the other modules. Because of the modeling strategy and concept of {ENERGY} – from energy services to primary energy – theses uncertainties may not be calculated automatically in {ENERGY}.

A 3-4 Discussion and Conclusions

A 3-4.1 Discussion

The model reflects the real development of the energy system between 1990 and 2000 quite well, which can be seen on the carbon emissions to the atmosphere (except from biomass combustion), that are comparable to the annual CO_2 -equivalent emissions published by the Austrian Environmental Agency (UBA) (Figure A 3-39). The emissions of energy in Ritter et al. are lower, because some of the energy related emissions of industry are counted in industry, but in industry also process carbon emissions from steel and concrete industry are covered. That is why the results of {ENERGY} are just between these two lines. The future development until 2010 is strongly depending on the chosen assumptions for the need of energy services.





A 3-4.2 Applicability of results

With the carbon modeling of the Austrian energy system the correlation of energy and carbon flows is demonstrated. All carbon flows in the energy system are calculated, and their future development is outlined. The main influences on the carbon flows in the energy system are described. The possibilities of the future development of the energy system and their related carbon flows are presented. The political options for reduction of greenhouse gases are reflected on the options to reduce the carbon flow from the energy system to the atmosphere.

The most promising option are the

- reduction of energy consumption with higher energy productivity and energy efficiency,
- use of renewable energy.

The increased use of biomass for energy leads to higher carbon emissions from the energy system, when gas or oil is replaced and leads to approximately the same emissions if coal is substituted. The advantage of carbon fixation of biomass is not reflected in the energy system, this effect is shown in the carbon uptake via photosynthesis in the agriculture and forestry sector.

The energy related carbon emissions to the atmosphere demonstrate in general, that very strong efforts in energy efficiency and in use of renewable energy must be implemented, because of the rapidly increasing demand of energy services. These strategies must already be strong to keep the carbon emissions constant by an increasing demand of energy services and must even be stronger to reduce the carbon emissions of energy use. The focus for future strategies must be mainly in transport sector with its rapidly growing number of vehicles and in residential sector with its huge demand for space heat and electricity. A successful implementation of energy and carbon measures in these fields will determine the overall success of a future sustainable development with lower carbon emissions from the Austrian energy system.

A 3-4.3 Priorities for future work

To get more desegregated results for certain fuels, sectors of economy and specific carbon reduction strategies, the model must be made more specific.

For the fuels the following specification might be added:

- different types of biomass, like wood chips, bark, biogas, rape methylester
- different types of coal like lignite, hard coal and coke,
- different types of oil, like heavy and light oil,

For the different sector of economy the details of the development of energy services and their energy demand might be modeled more specifically. This means, that not only the 3 main sectors – industry, residential and transportation – are modeled, but the 43 specific sectors of the economy (compare ÖSTAT 1992, ÖSTAT 1998, ÖSTAT 2000). This will have on one hand the advantage of a very detailed analyses and future outlook, but on the other hand the amount of data and assumptions will be enormous. This might only be successful if it is linked to economic energy modeling for these sectors.

For the development of more specific carbon reduction strategies, the driving parameter describing the productivity of useful energy, energy efficiency and increased use of renewable energy, must be more specified in detail. Then it might be possible to model detailed strategies of i.e. better thermal insulation of old and new buildings, increased installation of thermal solar systems for hot water etc.

A 3-5 References

- BMwA (1992): Energiestatistik 1991 Daten zur Energieversorgung Österreichs (Energy statstics 1991 – data for the Austrian energy system), Bundesministerium für wirtschaftliche Angelegenheiten, August 1992
- BMwA (1993): Energiebericht 1993 der österreichischen Bunderegierung (Energy report 1993 from the Austrian Government), Bundesministerium für wirtschaftliche Angelegenheiten, Vienna 1993
- BMwA (1993a): Energiestatistik 1992 Daten zur Energieversorgung Österreichs (Energy statstics 1992 data for the Austrian energy system), Bundesministerium für wirtschaftliche Angelegenheiten, August 1993
- BMwA (1994): Energiestatistik 1993 Daten zur Energieversorgung Österreichs (Energy statstics 1993 data for the Austrian energy system), Bundesministerium für wirtschaftliche Angelegenheiten, August 1994
- BMwA (1994a): Energiestatistik 1993 Daten zur Energieversorgung Österreichs (Energy statstics 1993 – data for the Austrian energy system), Bundesministerium für wirtschaftliche Angelegenheiten, August 1994
- BMwA (1996): Energiebericht 1996 der österreichischen Bunderegierung (Energy report 1996 from the Austrian Government), Bundesministerium für wirtschaftliche Angelegenheiten, Vienna 1996
- BMwA (1996a): Energiestatistik 1995 Daten zur Energieversorgung Österreichs (Energy statstics 1995 – data for the Austrian energy system), Bundesministerium für wirtschaftliche Angelegenheiten, August 1996
- BMwA (1997): Energiestatistik 1996 Daten zur Energieversorgung Österreichs (Energy statstics 1996 data for the Austrian energy system), Bundesministerium für wirtschaftliche Angelegenheiten, September 1997
- BMwA (1998): Energiestatistik 1997 Daten zur Energieversorgung Österreichs (Energy statstics 1997 – data for the Austrian energy system), Bundesministerium für wirtschaftliche Angelegenheiten, October 1997
- BMwA (1999): Energiestatistik 1998 Daten zur Energieversorgung Österreichs (Energy statstics 1998 – data for the Austrian energy system), Bundesministerium für wirtschaftliche Angelegenheiten, October 1998
- Bittermann W. (1999): Der lange Weg ins Paradies Die "Erneuerbaren"-Statistik und Ihre Tücken (The long way to paradise – The statistics of renewables and their problems), published in *Energy*, No. 2/1999, E.V.A., Vienna 1999
- Energieverwertungsagentur (1991): Energieflußbild Österreich 1990 (Energy flow of Austria1990), Vienna, 1991
- Energieverwertungsagentur (1992): Energieflußbild Österreich 1991 (Energy flow of Austria1991), Vienna, March 1992
- Energieverwertungsagentur (1993): Energieflußbild Österreich 1992 (Energy flow of Austria1992), Vienna, December 1993
- Energieverwertungsagentur (1995): Energieflußbild Österreich 1993 (Energy flow of Austria1993), Vienna, January 1995
- Energieverwertungsagentur (1995a): Energieflußbild Österreich 1994 (Energy flow of Austria1994), Vienna, November 1995
- Energieverwertungsagentur (1997): Energieflußbild Österreich 1995 (Energy flow of Austria1995), Vienna, March 1997
- IPCC (1997): International Paneel on Climate Change: Greenhouse Gas Inventory, Vol. 1: Reporting Instructions, Vol. 2: Workbook, Vol. 3: Reference Manual, eddied by IPCC, OECD and IEA, ISBN 92-64-15578-3
- Kratena K. (2000): personal communication with Kratena from Wirtschaftsforschungsinstitut (WIFO), 4. May 2000, Vienna

- NUP (1996): Nationaler Umweltplan Österreich (National Environmental concept for Austria), Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Jugend und Familie, Vienna 1996
- ÖSTAT (1992): Österreichisches Statistisches Zentralamt: Nutzenergieanalyse 1988 3. Untersuchung über die energetischen Struktur der Österreichischen Volkswirtschaft (Analyses of useful energy 1998 – Report of the structure of the Austrian economy), Heft 1.066 herausgegeben vom ÖSTAT, Vienna 1992
- ÖSTAT (1993): Österreichisches Statistisches Zentralamt: Energieversorgung Österreichs Methodik der Jahresenergiebilanzen des ÖSTAT Referenzjahr 1989 (Energy consumption in Austria – Methodology for the annual energy balances of the Austrian Statistic Agency for the reference year 1989, herausgegeben vom ÖSTAT, Vienna 1993
- ÖSTAT 1998: Methodik der NAMEA der Luftschadstoffe 1994 (Methodology of NAMEA with emissions to air 1994), Arbeistbehelf, ÖSTAT, Vienna 1998
- ÖSTAT (2000): Österreichisches Statistisches Zentralamt: Nutzenergieanalyse 1997 im produzierenden Bereich (Analyses of useful energy in Industry and SME 1997, herausgegeben vom ÖSTAT, Vienna 2000
- Ritter M., Burtscher K., Ohr B., Poupa S., Radunsky K., (1999): Bestandsaufnahme der Emissionen an Treibhausgasen in Österreich von 1980 bis 1998 (Inventory of greenhouse gas emissions in Austria between 19980 to 1998), Internal report IB-618, Umweltbundesamt, Vienna (Austria), 1999
- Wohlgemuth N. (1992): Strukturen und Perspektiven des Österreichischen Energiesystems Eine quantitative Analyse mit Strategien zur CO₂-Reduction (Structures and perspectives of the Austrian energy system – A quantitative assessment with strategies for CO₂-reduction), Europäische Hochschulschriften, Reihe V Volks- und Betriebswirstchaft Bd./Vol. 1349, ISBN 3-631-45486. Verlag Peter Lang GmbH. Frankfurt am Main 1992

Annex 4

ACBM Modul FOREST

Hannes Schwaiger Ulrich Jäkel

Joanneum Research Graz Institute for Energy Research Email: hannes.schwaiger@joanneum.ac.at

Table of Contents

A 4-1 Introduction	1
A 4-2 Methodology	1
A 4-2.1 Data availability	1
A 4-2.2 Data and knowledge gaps Forest growth Net primary productivity (NPP) Forest soil system	4 6 7
A 4-2.3 Model design Carbon pools in detail Dispatchers	8 10 15
A 4-2.4 Scenarios	17
A 4-2.5 Model Formulation	20
A 4-3 Results	24
A 4-3.1 Dynamic model behavior	24
A 4-3.2 Scenario: No major changes	26
A 4-3.3 Scenario: Towards sustainability	29
A 4-3.4 Sensitivities and Uncertainties A 4-3.4.1 Sensitivity Analysis A 4-3.4.2 Uncertainties	33 33 35
A 4-4 Discussion and Conclusions	35
A 4-4.1 Discussion	35
A 4-4.2 Applicability of results	36
A 4-4.3 Priorities for future work	36
A 4-5 References	37
A 4-6 Annex	42

A 4-1 Introduction

Of all terrestrial life zones forest ecosystems play the most important role in the global carbon cycle. As a consequence forest ecosystems as carbon sources or sinks are expected to influencing the national carbon exchange processes in a decisive matter. Between 60 and 80 % of the terrestrial carbon is sequestered by forest plants and soils (Perruchoud et al., 1995). Forest vegetation withdraws carbon dioxide from the atmosphere through the process of photosynthetic assimilation. Forest growth combined with the production of biomass accumulate carbon over a certain period of time, when carbon is stored in compartments of living vegetation, dead organic matter and the forest soil. In unmanaged forests, in the long run, the same amount of carbon dioxide is returned by the respiration of forest plants and the decay of organic matter in soil and litter compartments. Several forest carbon balance studies on global, continental and regional level are mentioned (Kauppi (1992), Dewar and Cannel (1992), Burschel (1993), Nabuurs and Mohren (1993), Karjalainen et al.(1993), Dixon et al. (1994), Böswald (1996), Schöne et al. (1999). In this study, the modeling of the Austrian forest ecosystems focuses on the description of the main processes that govern the role of vegetation, dead organic matter and soils in the forest as well as the utilization of biomass for energy use (link to the {ENERGY} module) and timber production (link to the {PROD} module) in the Austrian carbon cycle. Besides of other land utilization options especially the agricultural land use lies in a competition with forest areas. An exchange of areas represents the main connection to the {AGRO} module. To give an example of the importance of forest in the carbon cycle Schwaiger et al. (1999) found out that the forest management and ongoing timber and biomass utilization strategies offer opportunities to influence a national carbon balance. On the Basis of Jonas (1997) an improved dynamic modeling of the Austrian forest ecosystem is focused and described within this chapter for in the {FOREST} module.

By 1994, referring to the 1992/96 Austrian Forest Inventory - AFI (*Schieler et al., 1996,1997*) Austria is covered with forests by 47% of the national area, divided into exploitable and unexploitable forests. Within this study the module {FOREST} focuses only on the exploitable part of the forest, because it is assumed that unexploitable forests remain in an equilibrium referring to the carbon balance over time. The modeling in this module therefore covers around 85% of the Austrian forest area (3,924 Mio. ha), which is 3,352 Mio. ha. To avoid neglecting the harvests from non forest floor, the amount of fuelwood harvested there is added to the inventory increment data. It should be mentioned here that according to the forest act (*Bobek et al. (1998)*) wind protection areas etc. are not forests and would be otherwise neglected of the entire carbon system. The Austrian forest is modeled as a "uniform high forest", divided into coniferous and deciduous tree species in different age classes.

A 4-2 Methodology

A 4-2.1 Data availability

The main sources of available data for the {FOREST} module are the Austrian forest inventories, AFI (*Schieler et al., 1996,1997*) and data selected by *Körner et al. (1993*). Inventory data are predominantly used as input variables of forest areas, increment, initial growing stock, age class distribution and tree species. Forest utilization and harvesting data are taken from calculations of the ACDb project referring to *Jonas (2001)*.

Data of the Austrian forest Inventory 1992/96 (see Table A 4-1) are taken for the calculation for several reasons: first it represents the most actual inventory, second the inventory period lies within the calculation time of the model and third *Jonas (2001)* showed that the inventories of both 86/90 and 92/96 are affected with high uncertainties. Therefore it has been decided to start with the inventory data of 92/96 to reach the most actual values of the Austrian forest.

Tree species ^{†)}	Area [10 ³ ha]	Growing stock [10³ m³ o.b.]	Gross annual increment [10 ³ m ³ o.b.] ^{*)}	Annual fellings ^{‡)} [10³m³ o.b.]
Spruce	2039.6 ±32	606.347 ±12.467	17.304 ±354	12.125 ±506
Fir	85.2 ±4	45.601 ±2.670	1.071 ±72	979 ±106
Pine	244.8 ±10	89.076 ±4.100	1.941 ±98	2.000 ±165
Larch	160.6 ±6	67.322 ±2.646	1.592 ±336	1.027±97
Other C	4.5 ±1	519 ±79	19 ±7	1 -
Beech	337.8 ±12	90.766 ±3.777	2.223±99	1.377±133
Oak	73.0 ±5	23.258 ±1.575	598±42	449±52
B I r. ¹	250.2 ±9	39.611 ±1.606	1.403±74	761±55
Bsr. ²	156.3 ±6	25.410 ±1.490	1.187±91	842±73
Total	3352.0 ±44	987.910 ±16.155	27.337±554	19.521±653

Table A 4-1: Most important initial data	for the {FOREST} module provided by the AFI 199	92/96
(Schieler et al., 1997)		

^{*t*)} Due to existing open woodland, scrub, shrub and brushland areas as well as predominant growth, number are corrected following the method of Jonas et al. (1997).

*) the increment refers to the forest area for each tree species provided by the Austrian Forest Inventory.

^{*t*}) The term "Annual fellings" in this table represents the decrease of growing stock (natural losses, calamities, thinning and final felling). It is mentioned that for the modeling data forest fellings are reported by the {PROD} and {ENERGY} module, following the calculations of Jonas M. (2001).

The inventory provides data of growing stock per tree species, area and age class, but it does not contain values of increment and fellings per tree species and age class essential for the modeling. This knowledge gap was closed by using available yield tables of *Marschall (1992)* as described in chapter A 4-2.2.

Within the {FOREST} module different types of data can be distinguished:

- Model variables
- Driving parameters

¹ Blr: this group of tree species is represented by non coniferous (<u>b</u>roadleaf) species with an assumed long rotation lengths (l.r.), similar to the Berman "Hartlaub" (maple, elm, ash etc.) provided by the AFI (*Schieler et al. 1996, 1997*)

² Bsr: this group of tree species is represented by non coniferous (<u>b</u>roadleaf) species with an assumed short rotation lengths (s.r.) and similar to the German "Weichlaub" (alder, poplar, birch etc..) provided by the AFI (*Schieler et al. 1996, 1997*)
• Internal parameters

Model variables, like pools, fluxes or areas, contain the output of the model and are initialized at the beginning of the simulation with values taken from of the forest inventory as indicated above. Driving parameters are defined according to the "Driving Force" scenarios and described in further detail under the scenario section.

Name	Symbol	Description	Dimension/ Unit	Range [*]	Literature Source
Rotation time	τ	Inflection point of harvest [yr] Species Ass function		Assumption	
Sigma	σ	Curvature of harvest function	[-]	Species	Assumption
Slash Use	χ	Used fraction of total slash production	[%]	species	Set to reach <i>Bittermann et al. (1</i> 995)
Harvest losses	β	Fraction of stem wood lost during harvest	[%]	species	AFF (2000)
Root fraction	ε ^r	Dentromass fraction of root biomass	[%]	Species, age class	Körner et al. (1993)
Small branch fraction	ε	Dentromass fraction of small branches	[%]	Species, age class	Körner et al. (1993)
Foliage fraction	ε ^f	Dentromass fraction of foliage	[%]	Species, age class	Körner et al. (1993)
Density	f ^d	Density of absolute dry wood	[kg/m ³]	species	Lohmann et al. (1986)
Carbon content	f ^c	Carbon contend of absolute dry wood	[%]	species	Gottlieb (1883)
Heating value	LHV	Heating value of absolute dry wood	[MJ/kg]		Jonas et al. (1994)
Foliage turn over rate	ρ ^f	Reciprocal life time of foliage	[1/yr]	species	Schmidt-Vogt (1986) Assumptions
Branch turn over rate	ρ ^b	Reciprocal life time of small branches	[1/yr]	species	Assumptions
Non woody litter decomposition rate	δ ^{nwl}	Decomposition rate of carbon in non woody litter pool	[1/yr]	-	Assumptions
Woody litter decomposition rate	δ^{wl}	Decomposition rate of carbon in the woody litter pool	[1/yr]	-	Assumptions
Active mineral soil respiration rate	δ^{asr}	Decomposition rate of carbon in active mineral soil pool	[1/yr]	-	Assumptions
Stabilized mineral soil respiration rate	δ^{ssr}	Decomposition rate of carbon in the stabilized mineral soil pool	[1/yr]	-	Assumptions
Mineralization fraction of woody litter	b ^{branch}	Percentage of woody litter decay flowing into the stabilized mineral soil pool	[%]	-	Schlamadinger (1996)
Mineralization fraction of non woody litter	b ^{foil}	Percentage of non woody litter decay flowing into the active mineral soil pool	[%]	-	Schlamadinger (1996)

<u>Table A 4-2</u>: Overview of the used internal model parameters (see also specific part in chapter A-4.6)

In contrast to model variables and driving parameters, internal parameters are used in the model equations and do not vary over time. Table A 4-2 gives an overview of the internal model parameters of the {FOREST} module, their use in the equations is described under the section model design and the values are presented and the end of this appendix. The scope of internal parameters differs, while some are scalars others are species specific or species and age class specific. This is expressed under the column denoted "Scope".

A 4-2.2 Data and knowledge gaps

Forest growth

The principal data basis of the {FOREST} module, the Austrian forest inventory, provides increment and thinning data only per species area, but not per age class and species. But since the latter is essentially required by the model concept, this data gap had to be closed with the aid of yield tables, which provide an information about the partition of total wood production (GWL) among the age classes shown in Figure A 4-1 (*Marschall, 1992*).





Some may argue that yield tables are old and thinning regimes have changed. If yield tables are old, it is likely that the growth has changed, also same management may not be applied as in the past. It should be pointed out here that yield tables are only used to distribute thinning and increment data per tree species on the choosen age classes. The absolute amounts of tree species increments and thinning are provided by the AFI.

For example the growth of Norway spruce, the most important tree species in Austria, is represented by four different yield tables, applicable to different growth regions. Therefore a selection and weighting of yield tables depending on the distribution of spruce covered forest areas has been done. Forests in Austria can be subdivided into nine different growing districts, depending on climate, soil conditions, geology etc. For each growing district and subdistrict yield tables can be classified. Data of the Austrian Forest Inventory can be classified for all political districts. In a first step those political districts are distributed to the Austrian growth districts to specify the appropriate yield tables. Second, depending on the forest areas the choosen yield tables were weighted. This resulted in a derivation of the variable $z_{s,k}$ (for increment) and $t_{s,k}$ (for

thinning), which prescribe the GWL_s and the USE_s (= the sum of intermediate felling), which are normalized to:

$$\sum_k z_{s,k} = 1 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \sum_k t_{s,k} = 1$$

 $z_{s,k}$ and $t_{s,k}$ just contain the information about shape of the increment (thinning) distribution over age of the species s, as derived from the yield tables which are supposed to represent the growth behavior.

The following equations and steps are used to receive actual increment and thinning data per tree species and age class (the equation refer to the calculation of increment, calculations of thinning data are carried out in the same way).

The overall Increment I, of the production forest is the sum of the increments I_s of all species as reported by the AFI:

$$I = \sum_{s=1}^{M} I_s$$

Given variables from the weighted yield tables:

- GWL_s [m³/ha] Sum of increments over all classes in the yield table
- z_{s,k} [-] Portion of increment of species s and age class k on total GWL_s as derived from yield tables

Given variables provided by the Austrian yield tables and the AFI:

- Is [m3] Increment of species s, as reported from the inventory
- a_{s,k}[ha] Area of species s in age class k

Missing variable needed for the modeling:

• i_{s,k} [m³/ha] Increment of species s per age class k

The basic relation between I_s and $i_{s,k}$ is given in equation 2:

(2)
$$I_s = \sum_{k=1}^{N} (i_{s,k} \cdot a_{s,k})$$

When in yield tables GWL_s is the sum of all wood produced during one rotation period passing over all age classes with $z_{s,k} > 0$, the following equation can be established:

(3)
$$i_{s,k} = \frac{1}{20} \cdot GWL_s \cdot z_{s,k}$$

Inserting equation (3) into the basic equation (2) leads to equation (4):

(4)
$$I_s = \frac{1}{20} \sum_{k=1}^{N} (GWL_s \cdot z_{s,k} \cdot a_{s,k})$$

which might be easily transformed into equation (5):

(5)
$$GWL_s = 20 \cdot \frac{I_s}{\sum_k (z_{s,k} \cdot a_{s,k})}$$

then substituting GWL_s in equation (3) results in the final equation (7):

(7)
$$i_{s,k} = \frac{z_{s,k} \cdot I_s}{\sum_{k=1}^{N} (z_{s,k} \cdot a_{s,k})}$$

The $i_{s,k}$ are then taken for the calculation of the age class dependent increment in the model (see Figure A 4-2), where they - together with the 1990 age class distribution - reproduce the I_s values found in the inventory.



Figure A 4-2: Resulting growth curve of the calculation described above, here for the example of Norway spruce

Net primary productivity (NPP)

Forest inventories rather report values of increment than of net primary production (NPP). Beside the fact that increment data are given in cubic meters over bark [m³ o.b.], whereas NPP is expressed in kg carbon [kg C], the most important difference is that increments only cover the exploitable wood (over a diameter of 5 cm of the Austrian Inventory), whereas NPP includes all parts of forest tree biomass (dentromass). As a flux value, NPP further includes the production of assimilation organs (leaves/needles), which makes guite a huge fraction of NPP and other material that is lost each year. Since the ACBM is a carbon flux model it unavoidable requires the use of NPP, which therefore had to be calculated from increment data. First increment data given in cubic meters can easily be converted into kg of C using conversion factors (f_c), density (f_d) and expansion factors accounting for small branches, ε^b , foliage, ε^f , and for roots ε^r . Due to the age dependency of expansion factors, ε^{b} and ε^{f} also permit the calculation of the foliage and the small branch fraction of a stand at a certain age. These fractions are the reservoirs for the annual litter production to be added to the increment. The only information left was the life time (or the turn over rate, respectively) of these reservoirs. It was assumed, that if a spruces needle remains 10 years on the tree every year, 1/10 is shed in form of non woody litter production. In the case of deciduous tree species (and for larch) the turn over rates of foliage is evident. But for needle leafed species the literature only provides data for spruce (*Schmidt-Vogt, 1986*). Values referring to fir, Other C and pine had to be assumed intelligently. In this way the turn over rate of pine is set to be 5 years, for other coniferous tree species this value is assumed to be equal to Norway spruce.

Forest soil system

The soil carbon system of forest is one of the most uncertain parts of the model. Whereas the absolute amount of carbon content per area is relatively well known (*Englisch (1992*); *Weiss (2000); Jonas (1997), Körner et al. (1993); Blum et al. (1997),* little is known about the dynamic of forest soils in middle Europe. Sometimes it is assumed that forest soil carbon content still recovers from ancient suffering due to anthropogenic removing of dead organic matter. *Burschel (1993)* reports influences on forest carbon stock due to forest pasturing. Therefore it is not sure, weather the current forest carbon stock has reached an equilibrium, even these extra land use activities in forests have been decreasing in this century. On the other hand, the response of soil carbon to the dynamics of vegetation is not clear. Some may argue that due to an increase of soil respiration after clear cutting the C-content of this areas decreases significantly (*Freibauer, 2000*). However, *Bauer (1989)* found out that soil carbon contents of managed spruce stands of different age classes do not differ significantly in their soil carbon content.

This is therefore all subjected to modeling, based on the assumptions that litter production and harvesting represents an input in the dead organic matter pool due to the slash left on forest ground and that for example a younger stand has less litter production than older ones. Non coniferous stands have other dynamics of non woody litter productions than coniferous etc. .

The modeling of the soil carbon dynamics of Austrian forests is guided by the assumption that in the initial year (1990) fluxes into the soil system (litter and harvest residues) balance the respiration and leaching fluxes leaving the system. Furthermore, an equilibrium is assumed for all four soil pools calculated within the {FOREST} module. In fact, the equilibrium needs not to be attributed to every age class area, but it is assumed, that overall forest soil carbon is in a dynamic equilibrium, considering that there might be areas with increasing soil carbon stock and others with a decreasing dynamic, finally balancing each other to the assumed equilibrium. This idea might be justified by the fact that Austrian forests age class distribution does not widely deviate far from a normal forest situation and that the soil carbon system reacts slowly on changes in age class distributions.

Since initial data of average soil carbon pools sizes are provided by *Körner et al. (1993)*, the assumption of an equilibrium of soil carbon corresponding to the initial age class distribution allows for a calculation of soil respiration rates. The thus defined equilibrium belongs to the age class distribution and the utilization of the initial year and would endure if there would not be changes in forest structure and management strategy.

It is supposed, that soil carbon system reacts slowly and that no major changes in utilization leading to extremely different input fluxes, so that only disturbances of the soil carbon system are to be considered, which evolve from moderate changes in forest utilization and management practices.

On the basis of the available mean values for the tree species of spruce, beech, pine and oak the total carbon values shown in Table A 4-3 are used as initial soil carbon contents for the defined carbon pools of the forest soil system (see chapter A 4-2.3). Note that for other tree species average values are assumed.

Depth: 50 cm	Area (%)	Carbon of mineral soil	Dead organic matter (litter)	Total
		[to/fla]	[IC/IId]	[tC/ha]
Spruce	60.8%	113 ±5,7	23.4 ±3.9	135 ±7.1
Fir	2.5%	113 ±5,7	23.4 ±3.9	135 ±7.1
Pine	7.3%	47 ±6.3	25.0 ±5.8	72 ±6.9
Larch	4.8%	113 ±5,7	23.4 ±3.9	135 ±7.1
Other C	0.1%	113 ±5,7	25.0 ±5.8	135 ±7.1
Beech	10.1%	97 ±6.0	11.9 ±1.6	106 ±6.9
Oak 2.2%		95 ±6.0	15.6 ±6.0	102 ±15.9
B r. 7.5%		96 ±6.0	13.8 ±6.2	104 ±17.3
B s.r. 4.7%		147 ±15.6	3.1 ±0.5	151 ±21.0
Area weighted mean value	100%	106.5 ±17.0	20.5±13.9	127.0±35.9

Table A 4-3: Initial soil and dead organic matter pools in Austria for different tree species in the	е
year 1990 based on area data of Table A 4-1	

Jonas (1997) reported an average area weighted mineral soil carbon content of 131t/ha for coniferous and 106 tC/ha for deciduous forests for the period 1986/90. Dead organic matter pools are given as one mean value with 12 tC/ha. For comparison *Glatzel and Chen (1998)* respectively *Fizek (1990) report* 24.4 tC/ha and 4.8 – 23.9 tC /ha for different spruce stands in Austria. *Jonas (2001)* indicated an age class weighted average soil carbon content of the Austrian yield forest with 406 (±3.8%) Mio tC witch corresponds to 122 tC/ha. For comparison, *Weiss (2000)* reported an average amount of 121 tC/ha for afforestation, deforestation and reforestation area (up to 50 cm depth) with 106 tC/ha for the mineral soil and 15 tC/ha for the dead organic matter fraction. At the moment the Austrian soil inventory (ASI) *(Englisch, 1992)* only provides concentrations of carbon stocks in forest soils. Therefore these data have to be converted by using conversion factors (densities etc.) for different soil types. *Weiss (2000)* underlines that due to an estimation (no measurement has taken place) of the conversion parameters lead to highly uncertain data of soil carbon contents. The mean carbon content of Austrian forests used and calculated for the {FOREST} module are therefore in the same range.

A 4-2.3 Model design

The behavior of the {FOREST} module, defined as the total ecosystem of the exploitable Austrian forest, is directly driven by parameters defined according to the driving force scenarios (No major changes, Towards sustainability) which aim to describe future trends in forest management.





Furthermore, as part of the ACBM structure, the {FOREST} module is indirectly influenced by the driving parameters defined within all other ACBM modules. The linkages are the demand of domestic roundwood production from the {PROD} module and the fuel wood consumption calculated by the {ENERGY} module. Form the {FOREST} model point of view, "FP_industrial roundwood", "FE_biomass" and "AF_land use change" are additional driving variables which govern the output of {FOREST} module directly. Within the system boundaries of the {FOREST} module 6 carbon pools are defined, five soil carbon pools containing dead organic matter and one vegetation pool. The vegetation pool is divided into the main part F_VEGETATION, representing the growing stock of the Austrian exploitable forest (tree biomass) and F_GROUND VEGETATION, covering the annual or perennial species growing on forest floor. Representing the forest soil two different dead organic matter pools (F_WOOD LITTER and F_NON WOODY LITTER) and three different mineral soil organic matter pools – F_ACTIVE MINERAL SOIL, F_STABALIZED MINERAL SOIL, and F_INERT MINERAL SOIL are defined. The latter is imported from the {AGRO} module and not modeled within the {FOREST} module.

Figure A 4-3 shows the structure of the {FOREST} module in further details, boxes represent the included pools, whereas arrows symbolize fluxes connecting pools and/or dispatcher. A dispatcher splits or collects a number of different fluxes. Pools are calculated by adding incoming fluxes and subtracting carbon fluxes leaving. Boxes with dotted lines represent other modules or the atmosphere {ATMO}. The modules {PROD} and {ENERGY} are only acceptors

of carbon fluxes from {FOREST}, but {ATMO} and {AGRO} receive carbon as well as they are sources of carbon for the module {FOREST}.

All fluxes and pools are internally calculated in units of kg carbon (kg C), input values of forest data usually given in m³ of wood over bark are therefore first transformed by using expansion factors, densities and carbon content parameters for each species. This "transfer" is described in section A 4.2.1 "Data availability". While soil pools are relatively simple and unstructured, the F_VEGETATION box (Figure A 4-3) shows that an age class structure is laying behind the overall pool for different tree species, modeled by increment and harvesting functions over time. Below, further details of the carbon pools within the {FOREST} module system boundaries are described:

Carbon pools in detail

F_VEGETATION

The calculation of all fluxes associated with F_VEGETATION is connected to the underlying age class structure. According to the yield table oriented approach, the calculation of "TF_net primary production", "FF_calamities", "FF_thinning" and "FF_natural losses" is based upon age class parameterized values of:

<i>NPP</i> _{s,k} [kgC/ha]	Net primary production per hectar of species s in age class k
<i>Thin_{s,k}</i> [kgC/ha]	Thinning applied to one hectar of species <i>s</i> in age class <i>k</i>
<i>Cala _{s,k}</i> [kgC/ha]	Calamity losses per hectar of species s in age class k
<i>NatL_{s.k}</i> [kgC/ha]	Natural losses per hectar of species <i>s</i> in age class <i>k</i>

The following equations (8-11) depict the calculation of the fluxes which only dependent on age class distribution of area, denoted as $a_{s,k}$ [ha]:

(8)
$$TF_net \ primary \ production = \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} (a_{s,k} \cdot NPP_{s,k})$$

(9)
$$FF_thinning = \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} (a_{s,k} \cdot Thin_{s,k})$$

(10)
$$FF_calamities = \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} (a_{s,k} \cdot Cala_{s,k})$$

(11)
$$FF_natural \ losses = \sum_{s=1}^{M} \sum_{k=1}^{N} (a_{s,k} \cdot NatL_{s,k})$$

In contrast to equations 8 to 11, the fluxes "FF_final cutting", "FF_woody litter production" and "FF_non woody litter production" do not only depend on age class distribution and are related to the values of $f_vegetation_{s,k}$, which is the biomass density of species s in age class k in [kg C/ha]. This value is time dependent as stands grow and experience an increment as well as losses like thinning, calamities natural losses and so on. Equation (12a) presents the development of biomass density $f_vegetation_{s,k,t}$ as a function of previous biomass density (defined as the growing stock per area) on stand k-1 at time t-1, which was managed with an increment *NPP*_{s,k}, thinning intensity *Thin*_{s,k} and so on:

(12a)

$$f_vegetation_{s,k,t} = f_vegetation_{s,k-1,t-1} + a_{s,k-1,t-1} \cdot (NPP_{s,k-1} - Thin_{s,k-1} - Cala_{s,k-1} - NatL_{s,k-1}) \quad for \quad k = 2...N$$

$$-f_vegetation_{s,k-1,t-1} \cdot (\rho_{s,k-1}^{f} \cdot \varepsilon_{s,k-1}^{f} + \rho_{s,k-1}^{b} \cdot \varepsilon_{s,k-1}^{b})$$

The afforested or reforested stands with k=1 start with:

(12b)
$$f_vegetation_{s,k=1,t} = 0$$

In equation (12a) ε^{b} and ε^{f} symbolize the (small) branch fraction and the foliage fraction of entire dendromass. Thus *f_vegetation*_{s,k} x ε^{b} gives the biomass (in kg C) of the small branches and *f_vegetation*_{s,k} x ε^{f} the foliage biomass. Multiplication with the mean turn over rate of foliage ρ^{f} or small branches, ρ^{b} , leads to the annual litter production fluxes "FF_woody litter production" and "FF_non woods litter production".

(13)
$$FF_non woody \ litter \ production = \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} \rho_{k}^{f} \cdot \varepsilon_{k}^{f} \cdot f_vegetation_{s,k}$$

(14)
$$FF_woody \ litter \ production = \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} \rho_{k}^{b} \cdot \varepsilon_{k}^{b} \cdot f_vegetation_{s,k}$$

As all fluxes to and from the F_VEGETATION pool are defined, the balance of the pool is calculated by using the biomass density $f_vegetation_{s,k}$. With proceeding time, an excess of increment (NPP) over losses will lead to an increase of biomass density (or as multiplied by the area a_{sk} to an accumulation in standing stock). Calculation of the F_VEGETATION pool results from summarizing all products ($a_{s,k} \times f_vegetation_{s,k}$) including $s = 1 \dots$ M species and $k = 1 \dots$ N age classes, as depicted in equation (15):

(15)
$$F_VEGETATION = \sum_{s=1}^{M} \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_{s,k} \cdot f_vegetation_{s,k}$$

Carbon stock change in F_VEGETATION, which occurs due to an increase of biomass density (on the terms in $f_{vegetation_{s,k}}$ per ha) leaves the system, if an area is submitted to clear cut felling. Calculation of "FF_final harvest" is therefore described below under the section "Age class propagation".

Age class propagation

All fluxes entering or leaving the F_VEGETATION pool depend on the distribution of areas among age classes. Since age classes are internally interpolated to the width of 1 year, they match the models time step and age class progression is easy calculated using a matrix formalism (*Kohlmaier et al., 1995*).

Starting with the initial distribution given by the inventory, age classes of the following year can be calculated when knowing the annual mortalities (m_k) of all age classes as shown below:

(16)

$$\begin{pmatrix} f_s \cdot a_1 \\ a_2 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ a_N \end{pmatrix}_{s,t=n+1} = \begin{pmatrix} m_1 & m_2 & \dots & m_i & \dots & 1 \\ 1 - m_1 & 0 & \dots & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 - m_2 & \dots & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & 0 & \dots & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots & 1 - m_i & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}_{s,t=n} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ a_2 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ a_N \end{pmatrix}_{s,t=n} \quad for \ s = 1 \dots M$$

The matrix on the right hand side of equation (16) is a so called Leslie Matrix (*Leslie*, 1945), which contains as coefficients the possibility m_k of transition from age class a_k into the a_{k+1} . Note that in contrast to the usual formulation the first component of vector a_{t+1} is multiplied by a factor f_s indicating either reforestation or afforestation share of species s. If $f_s = 1$ the species s would keep it's initial area.

<u>Mortalities</u>: The discrete values of the mortality coefficients m_k within the Leslie Matrix can be calculated using different "harvest functions" of the type $m_k = fkt(k)$. It turns out, that for the ACBM {FOREST} module purpose a tangens hyperbolicus function leads to the best results, especially when "FF_final harvest" is an external demand (see below). equation (17) denotes sigmoid the used harvest function:

(17)
$$m_{s,k} = A_s \cdot I - \frac{\tanh(\sigma_s \cdot (\tau_s - k))}{2}$$

Where A_s is the so called amplitude factor which determines the transition coefficient $m_{s,k=\infty}$, The curvature is given by σ_s and τ_s is inflection point identified with the rotation period of the species s. The parameters curvature (σ_s) and rotation length τ_s depend only on species type and are kept constant throughout the whole simulation.

Calculation of FF final harvest

The amplitude factor A_s is used to calculate the area which has to be clear cut in order to serve the wood demand of "FE_biomass" and "FP_roundwood". The model first determines the fraction of F_VEGETATION that has to be harvested taking into account thinning, accidental use, wood from non forest floors and all harvesting losses. Then the area that has to be clear cut is calculated by adapting the parameter A_s in equation (18) for every species and in every simulated year. An increase of A_s rises the area which is finally harvested. Therefore the flux "FF_final harvest" is evaluated by:

(18)
$$FF _ final \ harvest = \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} m_{s,k} \cdot a_{s,k} \cdot f _vegetation_{s,k}$$

Now that all fluxes directly linked to the F_VEGETATION pool are present, the equations for the time dependence of f_vegetation_{s,k} can be described: The f_vegetation_{s,k} pools follow the area vector subjected to the matrix formalism (see equation (16)), where the biomass is passed from one age class to the next as time proceeds from year to year. The new f_vegetation_{s,k} is then calculated from the pool k -1 of the last year by adding and subtracting the fluxes of the proceeding year.

Every reforested area starts with no initial biomass content, the accumulation is just the NPP of the first age class minus losses due to thinning, calamities and natural losses throughout the first year. Note that the balance of NPP and wood use is responsible for an increase or decrease of stand biomass density over time. For example, a thinning rate below it's yield table level will result in a accumulation of stand biomass density.

Other carbon pools

The forest floor continuously receives dead organic matter from the tree in form of foliage, branches, stems, woody and non woody below ground biomass (roots), which consequently decompose in processes of soil formation. The following defined carbon pools assimilate these fluxes of growing stock releasing shares of dead organic matter ("litter") decay to both atmosphere and soil organic matter pools.

F_WOODY LITTER

The F_WOODY LITTER pool, representing the woody parts of dead organic matter pool is filled by carbon from the leaf/needle fraction of the living biomass entering the pool as the flux "FF_woody litter production" (equation (19)). Additional sources are woody parts of the natural losses (including roots) defined as "FF_woody natural losses" and not removed woody parts of harvest residues remaining on ground as "FF_woody harvest residues".

The material is decomposed under production of CO_2 ("FF_woody litter respiration") and another flux, defined as "FF_woody litter decay", heading into the F_STABILIZED MINERAL SOIL pool.

(19)

$$F _WOODY LITTER_{t} = F _WOODY LITTER_{t-1}$$

$$+ FF _woody _litter _production$$

$$+ FF _woody _natural _losses$$

$$+ FF _woody _harvest _residues$$

$$- FF _woody _litter _decay$$

$$- FF _woody _litter _respiration$$

The flux "FF_woody litter production" is defined above. Calculation of "FF_woody natural losses" and "FF_woody harvest residues" is described below under the section dispatchers – "F_natural losses" and "F_harvest residues". Respiration and decay of the pool follow a donor controlled approach:

(20)
$$FF _woody _litter _decay = b^{branch} \cdot \delta^{wl} \cdot F _WOODY _LITTER$$

(21)
$$FF _woody _litter _respiration = (l - b^{branch}) \cdot \delta^{wl} \cdot F _WOODY _LITTER$$

In these equations β_s denotes the plant type specific harvest processing losses. This harvest losses only apply to the net harvest, which is the stem wood fraction $(1-\epsilon^r - \epsilon^f - \epsilon^w)$ of the dentromass. Usually β_s values range between 0.75 and 0.85.

The δ^{wl} is the overall decay rate of the F_WOODY_LITTER pool, it is given in [1/yr]. The b^{branch} factor splits the entire decay flux into two fluxes: "FF_woody litter decay" and "FF_woody litter respiration" (equations (20, 21). The latter heading towards the atmosphere and the first going to the F_STABILIZED MINERAL SOIL pool.

F_NON WOODY LITTER

Has the same structure as it's woody counterpart, only dealing with carbon of the non woody material. The difference lies in the decomposition rate of stored carbon, which is – due to easier decay of the material – higher then for the "F_woody litter". The decomposed woody litter that is not respired as "FF_non woody respiration" (entering the "F_respiration" dispatcher) flows into the F_ACTIVE MINERAL SOIL pool.

The structure of the balance is very much the same as for the F_WOODY LITTER POOL (equation (22)):

(22)

$$F _NON _WOODY \ LITTER_{t} = F _NON _WOODY \ LITTER_{t-1} + FF _non _woody _litter _production + FF _non _woody _natural _losses + FF _non _woody _harvest _residues - FF _non _woody _litter _decay - FF _non _woody _litter _respiration + FF _non _woody _litter _woody _litter _respiration + FF _non _woody _respiration + FF _mody _respiration + FF _mody _respiration + FF _mody _respiration + FF _mody _respiration$$

The calculation of the fluxes "FF_non woody litter production", "FF_non woody natural losses" and "FF_non woody harvest residues" is described under the section dispatchers – "F_natural losses" and "F_harvest residues", see below. Respiration and decay of the pool follow a donor controlled approach:

(23) *FF* non woody litter decay =
$$b^{\text{foliage}} \cdot \delta^{\text{nwl}} \cdot F$$
 WOODY LITTER

(24) *FF* non woody litter respiration = $(1 - b^{foliage}) \cdot \delta^{nwl} \cdot F$ WOODY LITTER

The structure of the fluxes is very much the same as for F_WOODY_LITTER. Again the "FF_non woody litter" flux is declared above. Parameters $b^{foliage}$ and δ^{nwl} have the same functionality then in the equations of woody litter decay fluxes. There are is harvest efficiency factor, due to the fact that all foliage remains entirely in the forest ecosystem.

The soil system of the {FOREST} module receives carbon input via three different entries. Non woody litter from foliage and woody litter from small branches shed to the ground enter the litter compartments constantly. Forest damage that leads to natural losses without use of the timber is completely moved into the soil system. The third source of carbon to the soil system is accompanied by the harvest events, which leave the unexploitable parts (foliage, roots, most of small branches) on the forest flour.

The litter pools F_WOODY LITTER and F_NON WOODY LITTER have connections to the mineral soil pools F_ACTIVE MINERAL SOIL and F_STABILIZED MINERAL SOIL since the decay of the litter carbon flows partially into the latter pools.

F_ACTIVE MINERAL SOIL

The pool of active mineral soil carbon is the last station in the cycle of the leaf/needle material within the system boundaries. It underlies a specific respiration setting free CO_2 to the atmosphere resulting in the flow of "FF_active mineral soil respiration" leading into the "F_respiration" dispatcher. In addition this compartment is the address of carbon flows resulting

from "AF_land use change", where the soil carbon of agricultural soil compartments is transferred into the {FOREST} module.

The balance of the active mineral soil pool is given by the following equation (25):

"FF_non woody litter decay" has been described under F_NON_WOODY_LITTER section. The remaining fluxes are calculated in detail as follows:

(26)
$$FF$$
 _ active _ min eral _ soil _ respiration = $\delta^{asr} \cdot F$ _ ACT _ MIN _ SOIL

"AF_land use change": is just the transfer of the soil carbon content of those areas that are shifted to afforestation from within the {AGRO} module. See there for detailed calculation.

F_STABILIZED MINERAL SOIL

The stabilized mineral soil carbon pool represents the carbon pool of the longest residence time. It is filled up by the fraction of the woody litter decomposition fluxes not directly respired ("FF_woody litter decay"). Also the woody slash fraction of harvest enters this pool. It underlies respiration triggered by a small respiration constant, and is by far the largest soil carbon pool of the entire {FOREST} module. Carbon losses due to erosion

The balance of the F_STABILIZED MINERAL SOIL pool looks like (equation (27)):

(27)

$$F_STABILIZED_MIN_SOIL = F_STABILIZED_MIN_SOIL + FF_woody_litter_decay - FF_stabilized_min\,eral_soil_respiration - FA_soil_erosion$$

Most fluxes have been explained in detail in above sections. Only the link to the {AGRO} is special. "FA_soil erosion" is the carbon transferred to {AGRO} due to leaching effects. It is calculated to be one percent of the "FF_stabilized mineral respiration".

F_INERT MINERAL SOIL

Inert carbon stored in the defined "F_INERT MINERAL SOIL " pool is assumed to be of a huge magnitude with an infinitely small decomposition rate (close to 0) and therefore considered to be constant over time and not taken into account within the carbon modeling.

Dispatchers

The hexagonal boxes in Figure A 4-3 represent dispatchers, meaning they are not pools but serve as points of partitioning or collecting incoming fluxes. They are virtual knots that can also found to be concatenated in the flow chart of the module. Since the F_VEGETATION pool encompasses total dentromass of the {FOREST} system, the dispatchers can also divides biomass into different parts of dentromass using the expansion factors $\epsilon^{f}, \epsilon^{r}$ and ϵ^{b} , which are age class and species dependent values. The calculation of fluxes leaving the five dispatchers found in the module {FOREST} are given below:

F_harvest

The biomass of forest products expressed in MtC is always much smaller than the dentromass (again in MtC) that has to be killed in order to get the required harvest ("FP_industrial roundwood" + "FE_biomass"). The dispatcher "F_harvest" collects the "gross harvest" (in German: Vorratsabgang) divides into FP_roundwood and harvest residues "FF_harvest residues". There are two important losses from harvested dentromass to products biomass. First, all parts included in the expansion factors are unexploitable in terms of roundwood production. Secondly, a fraction β of the potentially exploitable roundwood is lost due to partial harvest processing efficiency.

This dispatcher collects all fluxes of harvested dentromass (including roots, branches, foliage etc.):

(28)
$$F _ harvest = FF _ final _ cutting + FF _ thinning + FF _ calamities$$

Calculation of "FF_roundwood" uses the expansion factors $(1 - \epsilon^{f} - \epsilon^{r} - \epsilon^{b})$, which decreases the dentromass to the potentially harvestable biomass. "FF_roundwood" and "FF_harvest residues" are calculated as given in equations (29,30):

$$FF_roundwood =$$

$$(29) \sum_{s=1}^{M} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\beta_{s} \cdot (1 - \varepsilon_{s,k}^{f} - \varepsilon_{s,k}^{r} - \varepsilon_{s,k}^{b}) \cdot a_{s,k} \cdot (Thin_{s,k} + Cala_{s,k} + m_{s,k} \cdot f_vegetation_{s,k}) \right)$$

$$FF_harvest_residues =$$

$$(30) \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} \left((1 - \beta_{s}) \cdot (\varepsilon_{s,k}^{f} + \varepsilon_{s,k}^{r} + \varepsilon_{s,k}^{b}) \cdot a_{s,k} \cdot (Thin_{s,k} + Cala_{s,k} + m_{s,k} \cdot f_vegetation_{s,k}) \right)$$

the term " $m_{s,k} \ge f_{vegetation_{s,k}} \ge a_{s,k}$ " gives the amount of dentromass slashed by clear cutting.

F_harvest residues

This dispatcher has only one source: "FF_harvest residues". This flux represents the entire biomass of those trees that have been harvested due to final fellings. thinnings, calamities or that have died for natural mortality (Natural losses). The carbon of these fluxes encompasses carbon in roots, (ϵ^r), leaves/needles (ϵ^f), small branches (ϵ^b) and the stem biomass (1- ϵ^b - ϵ^f - ϵ^r). Only the latter part is exploitable and the dispatcher converts it into "FF_roundwood". But nevertheless only a fraction β of the potential harvest results in "FF_roundwood" due to losses during harvest processing.

The parameter χ indicates the fraction of slash (harvest processing losses plus small branches) which is used as "FF_chips from forest residues" (equation (31). The first equation describes the woody harvest residues leading into the F_WOODY_LITTER pool:

$$FF_woody_harvest_residues=$$
(31) $(1-\chi_s) \cdot \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} \left[\varepsilon_{s,k}^b \cdot \varepsilon_{s,k}^r \cdot a_{s,k} \cdot (Thin_{s,k} \cdot Cala_{s,k} \cdot m_{s,k} \cdot f_vegetation_{s,k}) \right]$

$$+ (1-\chi_s) \cdot \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} \left[(1-\beta_s) \cdot (1-\varepsilon_{s,k}^f - \varepsilon_{s,k}^r - \varepsilon_{s,k}^b) \cdot a_{s,k} \cdot (Thin_{s,k} \cdot Cala_{s,k} \cdot m_{s,k} \cdot f_vegetation_{s,k}) \right]$$

Annex 4 ACBM Modul FOREST The next equation describes the foliage of the harvested and died trees representing the "FF_non woody harvest residues" flux (equation (32), going into the F_NON WOODY LITTER pool:

(32)
$$FF_non_woody_harvest_residues = (1-\chi_s) \cdot \sum_{s=1}^{M} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left[\varepsilon_{s,k}^f \cdot a_{s,k} \cdot \left(Thin_{s,k} \cdot Cala_{s,k} \cdot m_{s,k} \cdot f_vegetation_{s,k} \right) \right]$$

The third equation denotes the amount of carbon that can be gained as chips: "FF_chips from harvest residues" (equation (33)). This flux flows into the "F_forest products" dispatcher:

$$FF_chips_from_forest_residues =$$

$$(33) \chi_{s} \cdot \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} \left[\varepsilon_{s,k}^{b} \cdot \varepsilon_{s,k}^{r} \cdot a_{s,k} \cdot (Thin_{s,k} \cdot Cala_{s,k} \cdot m_{s,k} \cdot f_vegetation_{s,k}) \right]$$

$$+ \chi_{s} \cdot \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} \left[(1 - \beta_{s}) \cdot (1 - \varepsilon_{s,k}^{f} - \varepsilon_{s,k}^{r} - \varepsilon_{s,k}^{b}) \cdot a_{s,k} \cdot (Thin_{s,k} \cdot Cala_{s,k} \cdot m_{s,k} \cdot f_vegetation_{s,k}) \right]$$

F_forest products

This is the last dispatcher in the harvest chain. It collects "FF_roundwood" and the "FF_chips from forest residues" chips. The dispatcher is filled up until the demand of "FE_biomass" and "FP_industrial roundwood" is satisfied. The partitioning into both fluxes is just prescribed by the ratio of "FE_biomass" (reported by {ENERGY}) and "FP_industrial roundwood" (given by {PROD}).

F_natural losses

"FF_natural losses" (equations 34,35) is the dentromass killed due to natural hazards, but in contrast to "FF_calamities" the biomass is entirely lost and can not be utilized. Therefore the dispatcher "F_natural losses" separates the woody (1 - ϵ^{f}) from the non woody parts (ϵ^{f}) of the dentromass. The corresponding fluxes are: "FF_woody natural losses", heading into the F_WOODY LITTER pool:

(34)
$$FF _woody _natural _losses = \sum_{s=l}^{M} \sum_{k=l}^{N} \left[(1 - \varepsilon_{s,k}^{f}) \cdot a_{s,k} \cdot NatL_{s,k} \right]$$

The "FF_non woody natural losses" correspondingly flows to the F_NON WOODY LITTER pool:

(35)
$$FF _non_woody_natural_losses = \sum_{s=1}^{M} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left[\varepsilon_{s,k}^{f} \cdot a_{s,k} \cdot NatL_{s,k} \right]$$

A 4-2.4 Scenarios

When describing the translation of the two developed scenarios "No major changes" (NMC) and "Towards sustainability" (TS) to the {FOREST} Module it should be pointed out here, that the Austrian forestry has been and continues to be a sustainable forestry by law (Bobek et al.,1995) in the sense, that it will guarantee a relatively constant amount of timber production over time. Thus the two scenarios need a certain reformulation with respect of the {FOREST} module. Both, the NMC and TS scenario assure the aim of sustainable (long term) and constant timber production. But with respect to ecological aspects they do differ. Generally the NMC scenario tries to include all "business as usual trends" which can be observed in the Austrian forestry today. In contrast, the TS scenario tries to outline a slight trend to a more ecology oriented forestry. This means a consciously stimulated process towards the recommendations for a forestry closer to a more naturalistic management. This is also in the line with some requested answers of the customers of this study. Nevertheless it should be underlined that even the TS scenario is a realistic scenario which does not include any dramatic changes of the current forest management practices.

In detail the trends assumed within both scenarios translated into driving bags, driving forces and finally driving parameters are described below.

<u>Changing to natural forest management</u>: within the TS scenario changes of forest management are treated with two different driving parameters:

- Share of afforestation mix and
- Area to be converted to selective logging management, combined with a percentage of growing stock to be taken out to this management

<u>Share of afforestation mix</u>: The Austrian Forest Inventory 1992/96 reports a specific tree species composition for the first age class (1-20 years). It is assumed in the model that this composition share per tree species represents the afforestation mix within the last 20 years and is used for the replanting and regenerating of the final harvested areas. In the scenario "No major changes" this afforestation mix is maintained, for the scenario "Towards sustainability" it is assumed that the mixture of tree species in replanting and regeneration areas will turn to more broad leafed species, specifically a decrease of spruce and increase of non coniferous species (bsr and blr). Figure A 4-4 shows the assumed afforestation mix of tree species in 1990 and for the scenarios in the year 2010, where the assumed shares change continuously between 1990 and 2010. In the model this calculations are driven by tree species specific parameters (DPF_Share of afforestation species).





Selective logging management: Due to the structure and concept of the FOREST module it should be pointed out that a modeling of selective forest management is not within the scope of this study. To indicate possible consequences for a change from uniform high forests into selective logging management a strategy of Hanewinkel (1998) is observed. Therefore the first steps of such a possible conversion are simulated. Potential forest area for such transformation strategies can be defined as secondary coniferous stands on climax forest stands (e.g. Abietum or Abieti Fagetum). Hanewinkel (1998) proposes a so called "direct" transformation of even aged stands in age class 2 by harvesting parts of the growing stock in form of small gaps, where regeneration can take place. On the basis of the Austrian Forest Inventory Prskawetz et al. (2000) found out that the area of secondary coniferous stands, in particular pure Norway spruce stands on Abieti Fagetum sites is around 280.000 ha, where 35% (98.000 ha) of the growing stock refers to the second age class. This area represents the amount for a possible conversion. In the scenario "Towards sustainability" it is assumed that each year beginning in 2000 5% of this potential area are converted. It is assumed in the model that 20% of the growing stock in age class 2 have to be taken out for transformation reasons. The conversion is driven by the defined "DFP_Area to be converted to selective logging management" and "DFP % of growing stock to be taken out to this management".

Losses of exploitable forest: in the year 1994 (Frank, 1995) the total area of "forest nature reserves" - forests determined to have a natural development of the forest ecosystem over time - where no human disturbances occur, was 3.224 ha (0.08% of the total forest area in Austria). Between 1990 and 1994 this area increased from 2.342 ha to the amount 1994, which means an annual increment of around 220 ha. In the scenario "No major changes" this amount is assumed to remain on this level, for the scenario "Towards sustainability" an increase up to 300 ha per year is assumed to be converted from exploitable forest to "forest nature reserves". Thus the share of unexploitable forest change to primeval forests follows a trend of 0.01% of the exploitable forest area / year. In the model this change is driven by the parameter "DPF_Changing from exploitable to unexploitable forests".

<u>Changes in management practices:</u> in addition to the driving forces described above two further management impacts on the forest carbon balance can be modeled:

- Increase of harvest residues utilization
- Changing rate of thinning

Increase of harvest residues utilization: harvesting of timber leads to the an unavoidable slash production expressed as the parameter β (see Table A 4-2). On the one hand this produced slash is represented by small stems, branches and foliage, on the other hand side some stemwood losses occur when transforming m³ of standing stock o.b. into m³ of roundwood u.b.. *Rieder (2000)* found out that these transformation losses for the exploitable forest is 25%, where the bark fraction (conversion of m³ o.b. to m³ u.b.) is 10%. *Böswald (1996)* reports harvest losses between 0.79 and 0.85, depending on the tree species. In the model this amount of produced harvest residues is given by the flux "FF_harvest residues" leading into the dispatcher "F_forest residues". Parts of the calculated harvest residues are meant to remain on forest ground leading into both litter pools, parts are assumed to be used as chips for energy generation ("FF_chips from forest residues"). For the scenario "No major changes" the dispatcher "F_forest residues are leaving the forest system as product into the energy module (*Bittermann et al.,1995; Schmidt,1994*). Following the calculations this means an effective harvest residue utilization of 10%. In the "Towards sustainability" scenario this amount is

assumed to increase up to the double value until 2010. This leads to a lower fuelwood harvesting of the growing stock, but also to lower inputs of woody debris into both forest litter pools.

<u>Changing rate of thinning</u>: The Austrian Forest Inventory reports data of forest harvesting by providing values of decreases of the growing stock distributed into natural losses (remaining on forest ground) calamities, thinning and final felling. Inventory data of 1992/96 are used for the "No major changes" scenario. In the "Towards sustainability " scenario the share of natural losses and calamities is assumed to remain on the same level, but the thinning rate in comparison to the final cutting rate is changing over time (see Figure A 4-5). Therefore it is assumed that the initial thinning rate increases up to 22% (1% per year), combined with a decrease of final felling by 10% in the year 2010.

Figure A 4-5: Distribution of fellings and mortalities for the "Towards sustainability" scenario



Variation of fellings and mortalities over time

A 4-2.5 Model Formulation

Program Details and VBA Programming

The here presented details of the {FOREST} module are more of technical nature; and mainly concern with the coupling to the other modules within the ACBM. Internal {FOREST} source code formulation are discussed here because they should easily be derived from the mathematical model formulation given in A 4-2.3. Only in some cases, where programming as a technique influences model behavior, this information is given under the next section.

Program Details

Subsequently calculation of harvest as demanded by the modules {PROD} and {ENERGY} is described, followed by some remarks on the initialization of the soil system within {FOREST}.

Coupling with other ACBM modules

Among all ACBM modules, the {FOREST} is the module, that is the most dependent from the output of the others. In this sense it is a "reactive" module, because it is addicted to the requirements of {PROD} and {ENERGY}.

The module {PROD} sets a roundwood demand via the INPUT_OUTPUT list, which is directly in units of MtC. In contrast, {ENERGY} demands fuelwood expressed in PJ. Therefore the first internal step is to recalculate PJ into the amount of wood related to energy by the given heating value. Afterwards roundwood and fuelwood demand are added to result in the total roundwood (still expressed in MtC) needed to be supplied. Internally the ratio fuelwood/roundwood is stored, but the harvest function does not differ between harvest for roundwood supply or fuelwood logging. There is only one exception because the wood coming from non forest floors entirely goes into fuelwood production and is first subtracted from the fuelwood demand that has to be taken out of the forest.

The wood demand comes in wood production, meaning that all losses and the wood referring to the expansion factor have to be added in order to get the amount of standing stock that has to be harvested. The ratio of wood production over fellings in terms of standing stock losses varies around 0.45; it is not a constant ratio because harvest composition in age classes can change slightly from year to year. When production demand is determined, it is partitioned on tree species using fixed factors taken from the 1990 situation reported by the forest inventory.

As noted in Appendix A 4-2.3, adaptation of parameters in the harvest function serves to fit the clear cut area in every annual time step, but this determines only the amount of wood harvested due to clear cut. Other sources of harvest are thinning, slash use and calamity use that allow for a use of the felled trees. Since calamities can not be directly managed and since thinning is assumed to follow prescribed regimes, the model has to consider the amount of harvest resulting from the latter two independently from the demand for wood production. This crude assumption (crude only in the case of thinnings) allows for an initial calculation of harvest resulting from thinning and calamities which are then subtracted from the demand, leaving the rest as demand for clear cut production.

To determine the area that has to be clear cut in order to meet this demand parameter A_s in the harvest function (see equation (17)) is altered stepwise using a bracketing bisectioning algorithm. It is not possible to calculate the area analytically because standing stock over age classes is not such a function. The algorithm is a run-time saving approach which may calculate clear cut areas up to any exactness required. However, the smaller the difference between demanded and the supplied harvest fluxes (FE_biomass and FP_roundwood) should be, the longer calculates the algorithm. After some studies of this relation, 5% absolute deviation from the demand were found to be a good compromise between exactness and time saving.

The so determined amount of "gross harvest" flows through the dispatchers as depicted in Figure A 4-3 and described in chapter A 4-2.3 in sufficient detail.

Soil system equilibrium calculation

The soil system within the model starts with initial values comparable to the literature (see Table A 4-3).

This initial equilibrium is defined trough stable soil pools under constant input of litter and harvest fluxes. These input fluxes corresponded to the 1990 starting situation with respect to age classes, stocks and harvest intensity.

Sizes of pools are prescribed by data known from the literature (*Körner et al., 1993*), see A 4-2.2) and served as target values for the initial soil pool values. Since input fluxes are determined by the dynamics of the living vegetation, soil decay rates remained to be varied in order to archive the stable initial soil pools compatible with the literature data.

The chosen initial soil stock values where selected under two conditions: 1) over 20 simulated years, with experiencing the same input, the soil pools should differ less then 1 MtC from their initial values and 2) these initial values should lay within the scope of the above cited literature data.

VBA (BASIC) related remarks

The module {FOREST} is implemented into VBA macros using MS BASIC language. Spreadsheet cells are used only for reading input and writing model output, there are no calculations performed within spreadsheet cells.

The {FOREST} module is organized into the following Excel sheets, used for different purpose:

- Steering
- Parameters
- Data
- Large Matrix
- INPUT_OUTPUT
- Meta database
- DF_DP list (DP_DF 0, 1, 2)

The sheet "Steering" contains the simulation relevant initial information: how many tree species included, number of age classes used within the module run, starting year and the number of time steps to perform. Additionally internal parameters to be used in the run are stored in this sheet as well. They can be changed using a graphical user interface accessible via the starting button also located here. These menu parameters can be brought back to their default values by using a reset routine, the program then copies a parameter set stored in the sheet "Parameters" to the "Steering" sheet.

The Excel sheet "Data" contains the standard input of the model like initial area distribution, initial standing stock and soil carbon. Furthermore expansion factors, increments, thinning rates and calamities are also defined here. All data within this sheet are organized within age classes of 20 years width as they could be entered manually from the forest inventory. As the "Data" sheet serves as the storage of initial values there is a related sheet called "Large Matrix", where values from "Data" are copied after interpolation into classes of one year width. In contrast to the "Data" sheet, "Large Matrix" is read and also data are written to it during the model run. Every model time step, stores new systems state variables within this sheet. Therefore the sheet "Large Matrix needs an initialization at model simulation beginning in order to confirm the correct initial state.

The sheet "Parameter" contains the backup of the sheet "Steering" and is only used for resetting tree species specific parameters to their default values.

Stepping through the time loop three further sheets are accessed: As in all ACBM modules, the "INPUT_OUTPUT" sheet serves as the linkage to the other ACBM modules; demand of roundwood and fuelwood is read as well as the annually afforested land which is passed from

{AGRO} module. These values are read before the calculation of an annual {FOREST} step, afterwards the resulting outputs as relevant for other modules are written to this sheet.

The same procedure is applied for the use of driving parameters (DP) that are defined internally according to the choosen driving force scenario. These parameters are read from the DF_DP_Liste sheets for each time step. Whereas the DF_DP_Liste2 sheet contains the scenario "Towards sustainability" parameters, the DF_DP_Liste1 sheet provides parameters for the "No mayor changes" scenario. There is another set kept in the DF_DP_Liste0 sheet which is a dummy scenario, only for internal use which does not set any trends but keeps driving parameters on their 1990 values. These data are not used within the ACBM simulations. Finally, all important module output, that is required by any means of the ACBM (like FCA, IPCC etc.) is written to the "Meta database" sheet when proceeding.

The reading and writing to the above defined Excel sheets is performed by running the module {FOREST} which has to perform the following steps:

- 1. READING input and control variables
- 2. INITIALIZATION and INTERPOLATION of variables
- 3. PROPAGATION of age classes and CALCULATION of fluxes for each time step

The process is described as follows:

First, ACBM main calls the initialization module "init" which does steps 1 and 2 of the above list. The main afford of reading control variables is to provide all {FOREST} macro routines with the necessary run control variables, e.g. which DF_DP scenario is to be run, which initial data set is to be used etc. . Initialization is a very important routine to get the right initial states of the system. It sets back all system variables, age classes etc. to the starting values corresponding to the year 1990. This is done by the macro module "initialize".

Then control is given back to the ACBM main module, which organizes the time loop trough the different modules. As it comes to {FOREST}, a routine "propagate_step" is executed for every simulated time step or model year. Within this routine all important annual calculations are executed, accompanied by reading and writing the above described Excel sheets. Following bullet points presents the names of the macro routines corresponding to the steps mentioned and described above:

- Initialize: this macro is called once before a model simulation run in order to ensure the right starting values of standing stock, area and soil carbon. The values are then set to the 1990 conditions. This routine also organizes and distributes the correct simulation run parameters, the references to the DF_DP set, the internal parameters and sets fluxes to zero.
- Interpolate: Since age class related information of the inventory is given in classes of 20 years width they have to be interpolated into classes of one year width in order to match the time step of the simulation.
- Propagate_step: Performs one annual step reading input from other modules through the INPUT_OUTPUT sheet. Driving parameters are read from the corresponding DP_DF data sheet. Results are written to the INPUT_OUTPUT sheet as well as into the "Meta database" sheet.

A 4-3 Results

A 4-3.1 Dynamic model behavior

In Figure A 4-12 and Figure A 4-16 the results of the {FOREST} module refer to the terms of NPP (net primary production), NEP (net ecosystem production) and NBP (net biome production). Plant respiration equal to a release of CO₂ to the atmosphere, reduces the GPP (gross primary production) leading to the NPP and resulting in a short term carbon uptake of a forest ecosystem (see Figure A 4-6). This flux is equal to the module "TF_net primary production". Subtracting the amount of heterotrophic respiration – given by the flux "FT_heterotrophic respiration", equal to the decomposition of organic carbon in dead organic matter and soil pools), additional CO₂ is emitted to the atmosphere, providing the amount of NEP. This term represents the mid term carbon storage of a forest ecosystem. Finally, the net biome production (NBP) can be derived by subtracting the anthropogenic and natural disturbances (harvest, forest clearance, fire etc.) (*Schulze and Heimann, 1998*). Those fluxes are represented by the "FF_final cutting", "FF_thinning", and "FF_calamities". This NBP is appropriate for the net carbon balance of a specific area.







<u>Figure A 4-7</u>: Variation of the most imported carbon pools within the {FOREST} module over time, here calculated for the NMC scenario.

Figure A 4-7 shows the development of the defined carbon stocks of the Austrian exploitable forest. Carbon stocks in the C-pool of F_STABILIZED MINERAL SOIL and F_ACTIVE MINERAL SOIL remains constant over time. On the basis of an initial average, age class weighted carbon storage in the exploitable forest soil system in 1990 (Table A 4-3), the total modeled average amount of carbon stored in the forest soil system is around 337 MtC, representing an average stock of 101 t per ha . C storage of dead organic matter pools represented by both, F_WOODY LITTER and F_NON WOODY LITTER remain constant as well, with a small increase of the woody fractions over time. As an average amount between 1990 and 2010 some 82.5 MtC are reported, resulting into 420 MtC for the entire soil system of the exploitable forest. For comparison, due to the amount of NPP and forest harvesting regimes the F_VEGETATION pool increases from 290 MtC to 329 MtC (NMC scenario) and 325 MtC (TS scenario). Following the harvest regimes defined in both scenarios, the age class distribution of the year 1990 will change to a new distribution depicted in Figure A 4-8. The differences between the NMC and TS scenario refers to the different afforestation mixture and the different balances of thinning and final cutting regimes assumed.



<u>Figure A 4-8</u>: Development of the age class distribution referring to the area for both scenarios in 1990 and 2010.

Harvest regimes and area transfer from agricultural land result to an area of the first age class (1-20 years) of more than 800 000 ha in both scenarios. Due to natural management the area of spruce in the first age class, substituted by "blr" and "bsr" tree species (compare with Figure A 4-4)is smaller for the TS scenario.

A 4-3.2 Scenario: No major changes

Figure A 4-9 and Figure A 4-10 show the development of flows out and into of the {FOREST} module. It is apparent that there are major changes over the modeling period for the NMC scenario. The marked peak of the flow from the {FOREST} to the {ENERGY} module is a direct result of a high fuelwood demand required in the year 2000. This indicates the high influence of the biomass use (fuelwood and chips from forest residues) on this carbon flow in comparison to the amount of bark delivered by the {PROD} module from sawnwood production. However, the flow is very sensitive to the total carbon flow change out of the forest in comparison to the initial amount of 1990. It should be mentioned at this point that within both figures changes with respect to the initial amounts of 1990 are depicted, not providing evidence of the importance of the total absolute C-fluxes and their variation over time. It can be seen that while there is an increase in the years from 1990-2000, this trend reverses during the ongoing 10 years. This behavior can be explained by the fact that an increasing demand of industrial roundwood production (from {FOREST} to {PROD}), combined with an increasing amount of bark and sawdust for energy (from {PROD} to {ENERGY}). Therefore the harvest of fuelwood out of the forest is decreasing during the modeling period. For the flows to the module it is obvious that both C-fluxes increase until 2010. On the one hand this is due to an higher net primary production of the exploitable forest during the next year mainly caused by a shift of the age class distribution to younger forest stands with higher increments resulting in higher NPP rates. On the other hand the module {AGRO} reports an increasing amount of area transferred from agricultural utilization to forest ground.









Figure A 4-11 provides an overview of the net C-balance of the {FOREST} module. Values >0 refer to a net balanced source out of the module, values <0 to net balanced sinks into the

module. It can be seen that the flows out of the module (to {PROD} and {ENERGY}) and into the module (from {ATMO} and {AGRO}) lead to a total balance between -2 to -3 MtC. The blue line as the net difference between fluxes from and to the {ATMO} subsystem represents the net ecosystem production within the {FOREST} module (compare also with Figure A 4-12).



Figure A 4-11: Carbon balance of the {FOREST} module for the NMC scenario

The calculations show NPP results of 12.3 MtC/yr in 1990 increasing up to 12.9 MtC/yr. "FT_heterotrophic respiration" rates per year, also shown Figure A 4-12, remain relatively constant over time and lie between 5.8 (1990) and 6.0 (2010) MtC/yr. Comparing Figure A 4-11 with Figure A 4-12, please note that the net biome production (NBP) of the forest do not include the carbon flows from the {AGRO} module due to land use change. In Figure A 4-11 this flow is considered in the net balance of the module.





As a result, the net ecosystem production (NEP) therefore is given by 6.5-6.9 MtC/yr. Following the model results, the course of the NBP, representing the amount of total sink strength of the exploitable forest, is varying around 2.0 Mio tC / year. The lowest sink is provided for the year 2000 (1.8 MtC/yr), the highest sink strength is expected for the year 2010 (3.1 MtC/yr).

A 4-3.3 Scenario: Towards sustainability

In comparison to the NMS scenario the carbon flows from the {FOREST} module to the other modules and subsystems differ significantly. In spite of an higher increasing industrial roundwood production (flow from {FOREST} to {PROD}) combined with an higher delivery of biomass (bark, wood processing residues) for energy ({PROD} to {ENERGY}), a lower decrease of the fuelwood production for the TS scenario (from {FOREST} to {ENERGY}) is shown in Figure A 4-13, mainly influenced by the driving force of "Energy & Fuel Mix" in the driving bag "Economic Structural Changes" within the {ENERGY} module. The more industrial roundwood is required by {PROD} module, the higher the amount of biomass is delivered to the {ENERGY} module, leading to a decrease of fuelwood harvest in the {FOREST} module. This indicates the high influence of the fuel use within the energy sector on the carbon flow out of the forest. Following the increasing amount of harvested industrial roundwood ({FOREST} to {PROD}) a maintaining fuelwood use in the line of the amount in 1990 will decrease the net carbon balance of the {FOREST} module for this scenario in a significant way.





For this scenario a higher increase of the carbon sequestration (NPP) of the {FOREST} module is expected. Despite an increasing harvest regime in the TS scenario it is assumed that this is also combined with an increasing share of the thinning rate (see Figure A 4-5) combined with a higher amount of not harvested forest stands and a smaller amount of area to be afforested. In addition, compared with the NMC scenario an higher amount of areas is assumed to be transferred from {AGRO} to the {FOREST} module, influencing the NPP in a positive way. On the other hand losses of exploitable forests due to increase areas of "forest nature reserves" as well as the impacts of the assumed initial steps of forest conversion to selective logging management lead to lower NPP results over time. All influences taken into consideration, Figure A 4-14 depicts an overview of the carbon flow changes from other modules and subsystems to the {FOREST} module between 1990 and 2010.





For the TS scenario Figure A 4-15 gives an overview of the net carbon flow balance of the {FOREST} module, where the flows to {PROD} and {ENERGY} represent sources and the flows from {AGRO} and ATMO} represent sinks for the {FOREST} module. Again, when comparing Figure A 4-15 with Figure A 4-16, note that the net biome production of the forest do not include the carbon flows from the {AGRO} module due to land use change (see also NMC scenario).



Figure A 4-15: Carbon balance of the {FOREST} module for the TS scenario

Compared with the results of the NMC scenario (Figure A 4-12), all fluxes also balance to total sink results between -2 to -3 MtC over the modeling period, with lower sink strength values for the last modeling year .





The major influence on the carbon sequestration function of the exploitable forest is the amount of wood harvest, which within the overall ACBM model is not in the responsibility of the {FOREST} module, but is driven by the modules {ENERGY} demanding fuel wood and the needs of the {PROD} module prescribing the amount of domestic roundwood. So, if the TS scenario enhances the amount of domestically provided wood, this could easily overwrite the effects of the TS scenario defined for the {FOREST} module.

The calculations for TS scenario provide approximately the same results for the NPP (12.3 MtC/yr in 1990 to 13.0 MtC/yr in 2010). Heterotrophic carbon respiration of soil and dead organic matter to the atmosphere shows no significant differences for the TS scenario (5.8 -6.0 MtC/yr).

NEP results, lying between 6.5 MtC/yr (1990) and 6.9 MtC/yr (2010), are higher for the TS scenario. In comparison to the NMC scenario NBP results (see Figure A 4-16) varying between 1.8 (2000) and 2.5 MtC / year (2010).

Anticipating the results of the ACBM model runs it needs to be clarified here, that with respect to the carbon sequestration potential and carbon sink strength, both scenarios do not differ much. between both chosen scenarios.

In Figure A 4-17 the net differences between the NMC and TS scenario are given in MtC over time. The thick black line represents the difference of the net sink of the {FOREST} module between both scenarios. Between 2001 and 2006 relatively less carbon is accumulated for the

NMC scenario, but for the following time period the total C-balance changes in a way that between 2006 and 2010 a lower amount of carbon is accumulated following the TS scenario, mainly caused by the high differences between the amounts of fuelwood for energy within both scenarios. Therefore an higher net primary production of the TS scenario over time cannot compensate an higher amount of carbon leaving the system resulting into lower C-sink rate during the last modeling years.

Figure A 4-17: Net differences of the between both scenarios for the {FOREST} module



Differences TS - NMC

A 4-3.4 Sensitivities and Uncertainties

A 4-3.4.1 Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis of the {FOREST} module is carried out for the most important terms of terrestrial carbon uptakes: the NEP and NBP. All parameters summarized in Table A 4-1 are varied by increasing and decreasing the values by 10 and 20 percent, where the sensitivity data are averaged throughout the period of 1990-2010. In addition, for the main input data for the model (increment, growing stock, and harvesting), expected to be of a high influence on the model results are taken in to account for the sensitivity analysis.

It is obvious that input parameters, influencing the model results of NEP and NBP directly, are of the most significant sensitivity: increment and harvesting (Figure A 4-18). But also the variation of the initial growing stock is sensitive for the NBP results of the model. From all internal model parameters the woody litter respiration rate δ^{w} , representing the dead organic matter respiration (flow to atmosphere) and decay (flow to soil compartments) rate of the woody fraction on the forest floor.

For the results of the net ecosystem production influences of all parameters and input variables are smaller. Especially the change of harvesting remains on a low level, because within the calculation of the NEP only a changing production of forest residues influences the results with respect to harvesting. Also, the variation of increment, growing stock and parameters of δ^w (woody litter respiration/decay) and ϵ^b (expansion factor of small branches) are the most important influencing data for the NEP results (see Figure A 4-19).



Figure A 4-18: Sensitivity analysis of selected parameters on the Net Biome Production (NBP)



Figure A 4-19: Sensitivity analysis of selected parameters on the Net Ecosystem Production (NEP)

A 4-3.4.2 Uncertainties

Uncertainties of data regarding the F_VEGETATION pool of the {FOREST} module are provided by the Austrian Forest Inventory (see Table A 4-1). Other, referring to the forest soil and dead organic matter compartments are taken form *Körner et al. (1993)*. Uncertainties of forest harvesting leading to the results of "FP_industrial roundwood" and "FE_biomass" are provided by *Jonas (2001)*. To avoid a to long calculation time of the @risk it has been decided to include only those tree species, that cover in total more than 80% of the Austrian exploitable forest. The uncertainties are defined for the following data within the {FOREST} module:

- Annual increment of the living above ground vegetation
- Growing stock of the living above ground vegetation
- Soil and litter pools
- Annual harvesting data (see chapter A5 and A8)

A 4-4 Discussion and Conclusions

A 4-4.1 Discussion

The Second National Climate Report of the Austrian Federal Government (*FMEYF*, 1997) reports a total C-sink strength of 3.6 MtC/yr, a revised sink strength of 4.5 (±1.448) MtC/yr for the exploitable forest in Austria was published by *Jonas* (1997). Lower sink strength results of the ACBM model are mainly caused by increased forest utilization and harvesting data referring to *Jonas* (2001). The Austrian Federal Environment Agency (*Ritter*, 1999) provides data on CO₂ emissions due to "Land use change and forestry" ("changes in forests and other woody biomass

stocks") for 1980-1998 (see also Weiss et al. 2000). Between 1990 and 1998 the annual net C uptake varies from 3.68 MtC (max.) and 1.47 MtC (min.), which is 13,50 Mt and 5.39 Mt CO_2 per year. Following the model results for the NMC scenario, the course of the net biome production (NBP) is varying around 2.0 MtC / year. The lowest C-sink is provided for the year 2000 (1.8 MtC/yr), the highest sink strength for the NMC scenario is expected for the year 2010 (3.1 MtC/yr). Following the current increment and harvest regimes both, the net primary production and heterotrophic respiration increase over time for both scenarios. This behavior is caused by an increasing amount of area in the younger age classes, combined with higher increments of the growing stock.

A 4-4.2 Applicability of results

Specific results of the {FOREST} module show that with respect to the Kyoto Protocol and emission targets, the forest ecosystem is able to influence a national GHG balance in both scenarios significantly. Refering to the total forest sink (NBP) for the period 1990-2010, annually between 6.6 and 11.4 Mt CO₂ are sequestered, depending on the choosen scenario. A fully consideration of these numbers - strongly depended on the level of harvesting for both, energy production and industrial utilization - in the national GHG emissions balance would decrease the results by 10.6-18.3 % compared to the amount of 1990 (62.13 Mt CO₂). Ongoing discussion and possible decisions at COP 6 to the Kyoto Protocol will show how much of this sink potential of the Austrian exploitable forest can be accounted for. However, ARD activities (Art. 3.3) in Austria influence the GHG balance slightly negative, but with respect to the national GHG balance such activities can be neglected (Liski et al., 2000). Therefore, for Austria only a consideration of management activities under Article 3.4 may lead to significant sink strength changes of the forest ecosystem influencing the national GHG balance in a positive way. An increasing of timber harvest by forcing the thinning over the final felling will lead to higher sink rates of the exploitable forest. This is i) due to a higher inputs to the dead organic matter and soil pool and ii) non removing of timber out of older forest stands. Obviously, the decrease of forest stand density accorded by an enhanced increment of forest tree species after thinning activities (not modeled in the {FOREST} module) underline this statement. Pingoud (1998) argues that because the carbon sinks of existing forests are not counted in the Kyoto Protocol right now, there is an incentive to increase harvesting and to decrease the real net carbon balance of a country's forest. A smaller NBP under the TS scenario underlines this statement. Initializing a more naturalistic forest management may lead to disturbances in forest stands and therefore to lower C sink rates. On the other side, a change of the current afforestation mix to more non coniferous species with short rotation lengths increases the current increment and therefore NPP. A conversion of areas to selective logging management leads to a lower sink rate within the modeling period. Losses of forest areas to forest nature reserves decrease to carbon stock of the exploitable forest in addition. Higher carbon sequestration can be achieved when increasing the use of harvest residues, because an increased amount of chips from forest ground instead of standing biomass (fuelwood) combined with ongoing increments in the following years are used for energy instead.

A 4-4.3 Priorities for future work

For future calculation carbon accounting approaches with respect to the Kyoto Protocol - as an expression of the draft to set targets for reducing the Greenhouse house gas (GHG) emissions

by United Nations Framework Convention on Climate change (UNFCCC) - will be of interest for the decision maker. It allows Annex I countries to incorporate activities in the Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry (LULUCF) sector in meeting targets for limiting GHG emissions. Austrias target within the EU-bubble of reducing its GHG emissions by 8 % is rather high with -13%. Within the field of LULUCF the Kyoto Protocol recognizes not only GHG emission reductions, but also the removing of GHG can be taken into account to achieve the quantified targets. For the first commitment period between 2008 and 2012 LULUCF direct human-induced activities like afforestation, reforestation and deforestation (ARD) (Art.3.3) and additional human induced activities (Art.3.4) since 1990 can be taken into account. The special report on LULUCF, published for the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC, 2000), examines the scientific and technical state of understanding for different C sequestration strategies and relevant articles of the Kyoto Protocol. For Art. 3.3. Liski et al. (2000) found out that this article is irrelevant for countries like Austria, where the carbon sink of trees is large. For future calculation therefore possibilities under the Art. 3.4 of the Kyoto Protocol are expected to be more relevant for Austria. However, Weiss P. (2000) calculated a projected carbon stock change over the first commitment period on land afforested, reforested and deforested since 1990 up to 2012 by 1.877 MtC, which is annual uptake of 0.375 t C/yr. By contrast to this amount some 2.9 MtC (0.580 MtC/yr) for the commitment period have to be subtracted due to deforestation activities. Therefore including ARD activities in the accounting approach for Austria, a net source of carbon (-0.205 MtC) has to be taken into consideration. Regarding Art. 3.4 (additional human induced activities) it has to be decided which activities, if any, will be accepted and determined by the meeting of the parties to the Protocol. An ongoing discussion about this topic is done by (Schlamadinger et al., (2000).

It has been decided at this stage, that no additional programming of the {FOREST} module will be carried out until final decisions are made at COP 6 in Den Haag, November 2000. At the moment there are several opportunities to reduce the rate of build-up of atmospheric CO_2 emissions through management activities in the field of Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry (LULUCF). For further calculations accounting approaches with respect to the decisions of COP 6 should be included in the {FOREST} module.

Hasenauer et al. (1999) found out that between the period of 1961 and 1990 the diameter increment obtained from cores of Norway spruce across Austria have increased significantly. This indicates that a biogeochemical modeling using mechanistic ecosystem models (*Running and Coughlan (1988*), may lead to different results of NPP including the possible influences of climate change, water availability and temperature. Therefore, for future calculations a comparison with biogeochemical modeling (mechanistic models) with age class models like the ACBM {FOREST} module or CaBProM (Carbon Balance Budget Model, *Böswald and Wierling (1995), Böswald (1996)) should* be carried out to elaborate the advantages of both modeling approaches.

A 4-5 References

- Austrian Federal Forest (2000): Der Ernteverlust. Unpublished manuscript made available by A. Rieder for scientific purposes. Austrian Federal Forests, Vienna, Austria (in German).
- Bauer H. (1989): Nährstoffvorräte von Fichtenbeständen auf einer Standortseinheit im Kobernauserwald untersucht über die Altersklassen, Dipl. Arb. Am institut für Forstökologie, Universität für Bodenkultur Wien, 1989, pp. 48 (in German).

- Blum W.E.H. et al. (1997): Bodenschutz in Österreich, Bundesamt und Forschungszentrum für Landwirtschaft, Wien 1997.
- Bittermann, W. and S. Gerhold, (1995): Wirtschaftliche Aspekte und Holzbilanz. In: Ökobilanz Wald 1995 [Austrian Central Statistical Office]. Austrian Central Statistical Office, Vienna, Austria, 99-110 (in German).
- Bobek H.P., Plattner E., Reindl P (eds.) (1995): Forstgesetz 1975, BGBI 1977/231, 1978/142,1987/576,1993/257, 1993/970, in Manzsche Gesetzesausgaben: Sonderausgabe 42, 2. Auflage, ISBN 3-214-03421-9, Vienna (in German).
- Böswald K. (1996): Zur Bedeutung des Waldes und der Forstwirtschaft im Kohlenstoffhaushalt, eine Analyse am Beispiel des Bundeslandes Bayern, Schriftenreihe der Forstwirtschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität München und der Bayerischen Landesanstalt für Wald und Forstwirtschaft, Forstliche Forschungsberichte München Nr. 159, 1996, ISSN 0174-1810.
- Böswald K., Wierling R. (1995): Carbon Budget of Forests and Forestry in Lower Saxony, (Wald und Forstwirtschaft in Niedersachsen im Kohlenstoffhaushalt). Gutachten des Instituts für Forstpolitik, freibutg i.Br.. unpublished, (in German).
- Burschel P., Kürsten E. Larson B.C. (1993): "Die Rolle von Wald und Forstwirtschaft im Kohlenstoffhaushalt – eine Betrachtung für die Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Schriftenreihe der Forstwirtschaftlichen Fakultät der Universiät München und der Bayrischen Forstlichen Versuchs- und Forschungsanstalt München (Hrsg.) Nr. 126, München. ISSN 0174-1810.
- Burschel P., Kürsten E. Larson B.C., Weber M. (1993): Present role of German forests and forestry in the national carbon budget and options to increase. Water, Air and Soil Pollution 70:325-340.
- Dixon, R.K., Brown S., Houghton R.A., Solomon A.M., Trexler M.C., Wisniewski J. (1994):carbon pools and flux of global forest ecosystems. Science 263: 185-190.
- Dewar R. and Cannel M.(1992): Carbon sequestration in the trees, products and soils of forest plantations: an analysis using UK examples. TreePhysiology 11: 49-71.
- Englisch (1992) Östrreichische Waldboden-Zustandsinventur, Ergebnisse Band 1, Mitteilungen der Forstlichen Bundesversuchsanstalt Wien, 168/1, 1992.
- FMEYF (1997): Second National Climate Report of the Austrian Federal Government. Austrian Federal Ministry of Environment, Youth and Family Affairs, Vienna, Austria, ISBN 3-901 305-84-X, (in German).
- Fizek W. (1990):Nadel- und Bodenanalytische Untersuchungen am Haunsberg, Dipl. Arb. Am institut für Forstökologie, Universität für Bodenkultur Wien, 1990, pp. 68 (in German).
- Frank G., (1995): "Naturwaldreservate" in Ökosystem Wald Österreich, Ausgabe 1995, Östrreichisches Statistisches Zentralamt und der Forstlichen Bundesversuchsanstalt Wien, pp. 37-41, Wien 1995 (in German).
- Freibauer A. (2000): personal communication
- Glatzel, G., Chen C. (1998): Vergleich des Bodenzustandes unter Buche und Fichte im Wienerwald, FIW-Symposium, Universität für Bodenkultur Wien, 1989, pp.253-254 (in German).
- Gottlieb E. (1883): Untersuchung über die elementare Zusammensetzung einiger Holzsorten in Verbindung mit calorimetrischen Versuchen über ihre Verbrennfähigkeit; J. Prakt.Chemie 28(2), pp. 385-421
- Halbwachs G., Arzl N., Grabner M., Wimmer R (1993): Kohlenstoffflüsse in der Österreichischen Forst- und Holzwirtschaft II, Jahresbericht 1992 der Österreichischen CO₂-Komission, Akademie für Umwelt und Energie, Laxenburg, Austria.
- Hanewinkel M. (1998): Plenterwald und Plenterwaldüberführung, Schriften aus dem Institut für Forstökonomie der Universität Freiburg, Band 9, 1. Auflage 1998, pp.135-139, ISBN 3-98036 97-8-1 (in German).
- Hasenauer H., Nemani R.R., Schadauer K., Running St.W. (1999) Forest growth response to changing climate between 1961 and 1990 in Austria, Forest Ecology and Management 122 (209-219).
- IPCC (2000): International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry, A Special Report of the IPCC, [Watson R.T., Noble I.R., Bolin B., Ravindranath N.H., Verardo D.J., Dokken D.J. (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp.35., ISBN 0 521 8083 8.
- Jonas M. (1997): System Analytical Assessment of the Carbon Balance in Austria, Final Report Part II: Dynamical Modeling, OEFSZ-A-4255 Rev., Exempl.38. Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf.
- Jonas, M. (2001): Database for Assessment of the Austrian Carbon Balance. Interim Report, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, Laxenburg, Austria. (Forthcoming)
- Jonas A., Görtler F., Schuster K. (1994): Energie aus Holz, 6. Auflage, Niederösterreichische Landes-Lanswirtschaftskammer (eds.), Wien, 1994, pp. 13 (in German)
- Kohlmaier G.H., Häger Ch., Würth G., Lüdeke M.K.B., Ramge P., Badeck, F.-W., Kindermann J., Lang, T. (1995): Effects of the age class distributions of the temperate and boreal forests on the global CO₂ source-sink function. Tellus 47B (1/2), 212-231, 1995
- Kohlmaier G.H., Badeck, F.-W., Otto R.D., Häger Ch., Dönges S., Kindermann J., Würth G., Lang, T., Jäkel U., Nadler A., Klaudius A., Ramge P., Habermehl S., Lüdeke M.K.B (1997): The Frankfurt Biosphere Model. A Global Process Oriented Model for the Seasonal Longterm CO₂ Exchange between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere. II: Global results for Potential Vegetation in an assumed equilibrium state. Climate Research, 8, pp.61-87.
- Körner Ch., Schilcher B., Palaez-Riedel S. (1993): "Vegetation und Treibhausproblematik: Eine Beurteilung der Situation in Österreich unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Kohlenstoffbilanz" Österreichische Akademie der Wissenschaften, Wien 1993.
- Karjalainen T, Kellomäki, S.(1993):Carbon storage in forest ecosystems in Finland. Proceedings of the IPCC AFOS workshop Carbon Balance of the Worlds Forested Ecosystems: Towards a global assessment . Joensuu, Finland, 11-15 May 1992,. Publications of the Academy of Finland, 3/93, Helsinki, Finland.
- Kauppi P.E., Mielikäinen K., Kuusela K. (1992): Biomass and carbon budget of European forests, 1971 to 1990. Science 256:70-74.
- Leslie P.H. (1945): On the use of matrices in certain population mathematics. Biometrika, 35, 183-212.
- Liski J., Karjalainen T., Pussinen A., Nabuurs G.J., Kauppi, P. (2000):Trees as carbon sinks and sources in the European Union, Environmental Science & Policy 3 (2000), pp.91-97.

- Lohmann,U., Annies T., Ermschel D.(1986): Holz Handbuch, 3. Auflage, DRW Verlag, Rosenheim 1986, pp.32 – 37, (in German).
- Marschall J. (1992) Hilfstafeln für die Forsteinrichtung, Österreichischer Agrarverlag, fünfte Auflage, ISBN: 3-7040-1147-9.
- Nabuurs G.J., Mohren G.M.J. (1993): Carbon fixation through forest activities. IBN Research Report 93/4, Institute for Forestry and Nature Research, Sept. 1994, Stockholm, Sweden.
- Perruchoud D.O. et al. (1998): 20th century Carbon Budget of the Forest Soils in the Alps (personal communication).
- Perruchoud D.O., Fischlin A. (1995): The response of the carbon cycle in undisturbed forest ecosystems to climate change: A review of plant-soil models. Journal of Biogeography 22, pp. 759-774.
- Pingoud K. (1998): "Bioenergy and the Forest Industry in Finland after the Adoption of the Kyoto Protocol", Land use, land-use change, and forestry in the Kyoto Protocol, Environmental Science and Policy Vol. 2, 1999.
- Prskawetz M., Schadauer C. (2000): Conditions for Forest Restoration in Austria Analysis based on Forest Inventory Data, Federal Forest Research Centre, Vienna, Austria. Unpublished manuscript made available by M. Prskawetz for scientific purposes, (in German).
- Ritter M. (1999): Austrias's Annual National Greenhouse Gas Inventory 1980-1998, Submission under the Monitoring Mechanism of Community CO₂ and other Greenhouse Gas Emissions (1999/296/EC). Prepared by the Austrian Federal Environment Agency, Vienna Dec. 1999.
- Rohner M. (1999): personal communication, University of Frankfurt /Main.
- Running S.W., Coughan J.C. (1988): A general model of forest ecosystem processes for regional application. I. Hydrologic balance, canopy gas exchange and primary production processes. Ecol.Model.42, 347-368.
- Schlamadinger B., Canella L., Marland G., Spitzer J. (1996): Bioenergy Strategies and the Global Carbon Cycle, Contribution of JOANNEUM RESERACH to the final report of the EU-project "The Global Carbon Cycle and its Perturbation by Man and Climate II, Part B: Terrestrial Biosphere", February 1996.
- Schlamadinger B. (1996): Carbon Balances of Bioenergy and Forestry Strategies, Dissertation an der Technischen Universität Graz.
- Schlamadinger B., Marland G. (2000): Land Use & Global climate change, Forests, Land Management, and the Kyoto Protocol, Pew Center on Global Climate Change, Arlington, VA 22201, USA.
- Schieler K. Büchenmeister R., Schadauer K. (1996, 1997): Österreichische Forstinventur: Ergebnisse 1986/90 and 1992/96, FBVA Berichte 92/1995, ISSN 1013-0713, Federal Forest Research Centre, Vienna, Austria; CD der Ergebnisse der Österreichischen Waldinventur 1992 bis 1996 für Windows 3.x und 95. (HTML) Copyright © Forstliche Bundesversuchsanstalt, Waldforschungszentrum 1997 (in German).
- Schmidt A., Linsmeyer Th., Mayerhofer G., Branstätter M., Janotta O., Krenn K. (1994): "Branchenkonzept Holz", Austrian Federal Ministry of Environment, Youth and Family Affairs, Vienna, Austria, ISBN 3-9012271-16-3.

- Schmidt-Vogt H. (1986): Die Fichte, A manual in two volumes, Vol.II/1, Verlag Paul Parey, Hamburg – Berlin (in German), pp. 40.
- Schöne D., Schulte A. (1999): Forstwirtschaft nach Kyoto: Ansätze zur Quantifizierung und betrieblichen Nutzung von Kohlenstoffsenken; Forstarchiv, 70. Jahrg. Heft Nr.5 September/Oktober 1999; pp.167-176.
- Schwaiger H., Jäkel U. (1999): "Modeling the carbon exchange between forests and the atmosphere: Development and use of a model to assess carbon balances of forest management and wood utilization strategies under current and future climate conditions", in ESCOBA: Biosphere (European Study of Carbon in the Ocean, Biosphere and Atmosphere: Biosphere), Final Report 1. Feb.1996 – 31. Jan 1999, CESBIO France.
- Schulze, E.-D., Heimann, M (1998): Carbon and water exchange of terrestrial ecosystems. In: Asian Change in the Context of Global Change, [Galloway, J.N. and Melillo J. (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp.271-303.
- Weiss P., Schieler K., Schadauer K., Radunsky K., Englisch M. (2000): The Carbon Balance of the Austrian Forests between 1961-1996 and Reflections on the Kyoto Protocol, Monograph of the Austrian Environment Agency 2000 (in press).

A 4-6 Annex

	{FOR	EST} mode	el (see also	Table A 4-2	2) for differe	ent tree spe	cies.	
	τ [yr]	σ [-]	χ [%]	β [%]	f ^d [kg/m³]	f ^c [-]	LHV[MJ/kg]	ρ ^f [1/yr]
Spruce	90.0	0.080	0.100	0.85	379.0	0.503	19.0	0.09
Fir	85.0	0.080	0.100	0.85	363.0	0.504	19.0	0.09
Pine	115.0	0.090	0.100	0.85	431.0	0.502	19.0	0.18
Larch	120.0	0.099	0.100	0.85	487.0	0.496	19.0	1.00
Other C	80.0	0.025	0.100	0.85	414.0	0.501	19.0	0.12
Beech	140.0	0.066	0.100	0.85	558.0	0.490	19.0	1.00
Oak	150.0	0.033	0.100	0.85	571.0	0.502	19.0	1.00
Bir.	110.0	0.055	0.100	0.85	585.0	0.492	19.0	1.00
Bsr.	55.0	0.053	0.100	0.85	417.0	0.489	19.0	1.00
	_			_			C 11	

Table A 4 Annex 1: List of internal, not age class dependent parameters used within the {FOREST} model (see also Table A 4-2) for different tree species.

	ρ ^ь [1/yr]	δ ^{nwl} [1/yr]	δ ^{₩[} [1/yr]	δ ^{asr} [1/yr]	δ ^{ssr} [1/yr]	b ^{branch} [%]	b ^{foil} [%]
Spruce	0.007	0.20	0.0090	0.028	0.0075	0.20	0.40
Fir	0.007	0.20	0.0090	0.028	0.0075	0.20	0.40
Pine	0.007	0.20	0.0090	0.028	0.0075	0.20	0.40
Larch	0.007	0.20	0.0090	0.028	0.0075	0.20	0.40
Other C	0.007	0.20	0.0090	0.028	0.0075	0.20	0.40
Beech	0.007	0.20	0.0090	0.028	0.0075	0.20	0.40
Oak	0.007	0.20	0.0090	0.028	0.0075	0.20	0.40
Bir.	0.007	0.20	0.0090	0.028	0.0075	0.20	0.40
Bsr.	0.007	0.20	0.0090	0.028	0.0075	0.20	0.40

 Table A 4 Annex 2
 Used values for the term ε^r (see also Table A4-2) for different tree species and age classes (Körner et al., 1993)

	I.	Ш	Ш	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII
Spruce	0.110	0.200	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220
Fir	0.110	0.200	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220
Pine	0.280	0.260	0.240	0.230	0.220	0.210	0.210	0.210
Larch	0.110	0.200	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220
Other C	0.110	0.200	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220	0.220
Beech	0.160	0.160	0.160	0.150	0.140	0.130	0.120	0.120
Oak	0.270	0.250	0.230	0.230	0.190	0.150	0.150	0.150
Bir.	0.215	0.205	0.195	0.190	0.165	0.140	0.135	0.135
Bsr.	0.215	0.205	0.195	0.190	0.165	0.140	0.135	0.135

	<u> </u>	nu age cia	3303 (11011)		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,			
	I	П	Ш	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII
Spruce	0.211	0.096	0.094	0.070	0.070	0.070	0.070	0.070
Fir	0.211	0.096	0.094	0.070	0.070	0.070	0.070	0.070
Pine	0.194	0.144	0.091	0.085	0.078	0.071	0.071	0.071
Larch	0.211	0.096	0.094	0.070	0.070	0.070	0.070	0.070
Other C	0.226	0.126	0.094	0.078	0.074	0.070	0.070	0.070
Beech	0.151	0.160	0.168	0.153	0.172	0.104	0.106	0.106
Oak	0.131	0.158	0.185	0.185	0.146	0.111	0.111	0.111
Bir.	0.141	0.159	0.177	0.170	0.159	0.108	0.108	0.108
Bsr.	0.141	0.159	0.177	0.170	0.159	0.108	0.108	0.108

Table A 4 Annex 3: Used values for the term ε^b (see also Table A4-2) for different tree species and age classes (*Körner et al.*, 1993)

<u>Table A4 Annex 4</u>: Used values for the term ε^{f} (see also Table A4-2) for different tree species and age classes (*Körner et al.,1993*)

	I	Ш	Ш	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII
Spruce	0.185	0.112	0.094	0.055	0.055	0.055	0.055	0.055
Fir	0.185	0.112	0.094	0.055	0.055	0.055	0.055	0.055
Pine	0.058	0.052	0.046	0.031	0.023	0.016	0.016	0.016
Larch	0.037	0.022	0.019	0.011	0.011	0.011	0.011	0.011
Other C	0.128	0.084	0.070	0.043	0.039	0.035	0.035	0.035
Beech	0.034	0.025	0.017	0.016	0.011	0.010	0.009	0.009
Oak	0.029	0.023	0.015	0.014	0.013	0.012	0.012	0.012
Bir.	0.031	0.024	0.016	0.015	0.012	0.011	0.010	0.010
Bsr.	0.031	0.024	0.016	0.015	0.012	0.011	0.010	0.010

 Table A 4 Annex 5:
 Initial, corrected distribution of area (ha) for the exploitable forest per age class an tree species (compare with Table A4-2).

	I.	Ш	Ш	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII
Spruce	356 466	535 729	295 254	253 717	216 553	142 224	95 222	144 410
Fir	5 465	6 558	7 651	8 745	15 303	13 117	10 931	17 489
Pine	16 521	34 010	29 638	41 662	39 476	30 731	20 893	31 824
Larch	23 079	30 731	18 707	18 707	17 614	18 707	11 056	21 986
Other C	3 279	656	44	98	273	66	0	66
Beech	43 739	63 478	48 126	50 319	49 222	36 063	22 904	24 000
Oak	10 027	12 856	14 271	15 685	11 441	5 783	1 540	1 542
Blr.	94 566	68 333	39 476	26 359	11 930	4 060	2 748	2 748
Bsr.	67 815	61 183	17 410	8 125	1 493	299	0	0

	I	11		IV	V	VI	VII	VIII
Spruce	13.58	133.20	325.64	446.97	514.67	540.17	556.74	549.19
Fir	1.58	159.13	337.40	519.23	627.12	585.76	722.46	700.41
Pine	18.65	178.25	357.63	421.30	459.75	511.64	492.37	326.68
Larch	7.36	118.16	434.95	642.93	617.19	611.46	743.89	583.20
Other C	29.33	110.86	460.48	670.83	659.00	613.98	0.00	665.14
Beech	9.95	96.72	242.81	313.62	435.21	428.58	434.02	412.78
Oak	25.99	189.83	293.58	405.39	483.84	501.45	569.65	451.33
Blr.	14.79	156.87	265.64	334.02	372.91	460.35	390.89	294.64
Bsr.	40.40	191.94	392.11	449.71	250.54	239.94	0.00	0.00

<u>Table A 4 Annex 6</u>: Distribution of growing stock values (m³ o.b./ha) used within the model for tree species per age class.

<u>Table A 4 Annex 7</u>: Distribution of increment values (m³ o.b./ha yr) used within the model for tree species per age class (calculation see chapter A4-2.2).

	I	=	=	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII
Spruce	3.24	11.73	13.75	12.14	10.22	7.67	5.44	3.65
Fir	4.59	18.27	21.64	21.03	17.59	13.29	9.53	7.36
Pine	3.92	15.18	16.83	11.78	7.53	4.63	2.77	1.94
Larch	4.52	15.42	15.58	13.46	11.38	9.62	8.14	7.24
Other C	5.31	20.58	15.66	8.52	4.66	2.33	0.93	0.47
Beech	1.66	10.08	13.24	11.37	8.72	6.41	4.62	2.31
Oak	0.93	6.94	11.68	10.77	8.49	6.59	5.22	2.61
Blr.	1.21	7.98	11.75	10.45	8.13	6.15	4.66	2.33
Bsr.	1.81	11.95	17.60	15.66	12.18	9.21	6.99	3.49

<u>Table A 4 Annex 8</u>: Distribution of thinning values (m³ o.b./ha yr) used within the model for tree species per age class.

	I	Ш	Ш	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII
Spruce	0.45	1.63	1.91	1.69	1.42	1.06	0.75	0.51
Fir	0.68	2.69	3.18	3.09	2.59	1.96	1.40	1.08
Pine	0.68	2.65	2.94	2.06	1.31	0.81	0.48	0.34
Larch	0.53	1.82	1.84	1.59	1.34	1.13	0.96	0.85
Other C	0.08	0.29	0.22	0.12	0.07	0.03	0.01	0.01
Beech	0.21	1.28	1.68	1.44	1.11	0.81	0.59	0.29
Oak	0.12	0.90	1.51	1.40	1.10	0.85	0.68	0.34
Bir.	0.16	1.04	1.53	1.36	1.06	0.80	0.61	0.30
Bsr.	0.41	2.71	3.99	3.55	2.76	2.09	1.58	0.79

Annex 5

ACBM Modul PROD

Andreas Windsperger Gerhard Hintermeier Hermann Schmidt-Stejskal Francois Schneider Susanne Schidler

Institute for Industrial Ecology andreas.windsperger@noe-lak.at

Table of Contents

A 5-1 Introduction	1
A 5-2 Methodology	2
A 5-2.1 Data availability	2
A 5-2.2 Data and knowledge gaps	4
A 5-2.3 Model design	8
A 5-2.4 Scenarios	14
A 5-2.5 Model Formulation	17
A 5-3 Results	19
A 5-3.1 Dynamic model behavior	19
A 5-3.2 Scenario: No major changes	23
A 5-3.3 Scenario: Towards sustainability	25
A 5-3.4 Sensitivities and Uncertainties A 5-3.4.1 Sensitivity Analysis A 5-3.4.2 Uncertainties	28 28 32
A 5-4 Discussion and Conclusions	32
A 5-4.1 Discussion	32
A 5-4.2 Applicability of results	32
A 5-4.3 Priorities for future work	33
A 5-5 References	33

A 5-1 Introduction

According to the general scheme of the project the {PROD} module has on one hand connections to the different "national" modules Agriculture, Forestry, Waste and Energy, on the other hand to the external modules that include import-export, atmospheric emissions and lithosphere (Figure A 5-1).





The module {PROD} includes consumption, trade and all production sectors that are relevant from carbon content in the products or from energy consumption. The module was structured in the sub-modules (subsystems)

production – P_industry trade and manufacturing – P_products other activitie beneath the regarded process – P_other industry consumption – P_consumption

Each module was divided in subsystems and further in "processes" which are processes of transformation, "pools" for accumulation or mobilization like the consumption, or "dispatchers" for mixing or distributing flows. Horizontally the module was composed of layers describing the most relevant sectors notably food and feed, wood and paper, plastics and chemistry, textiles and leather, minerals and metal industry. All consumed products were assumed to be passed

via the production or trade to consumption; therefore there was no direct flow from outside to consumption. Energy supply (for transformation processes and transportation) was provided by the {ENERGY} module with its specified energy mix. Also the emissions of combustion processes were counted in {ENERGY}, only the process emissions were attributed to {PROD}. The iron production was a special case in that respect, as all the energy and coke consumption was covered by {ENERGY}, for consistency reason only the release of carbon in the steel process was counted by {PROD}. As the {PROD} module is a typical "through" module, managing and balancing the inputs, coming from inland raw materials and from those abroad with the outputs to waste was a special challenge. Hereby the internal consumption pool played one major role.

A 5-2 Methodology

A 5-2.1 Data availability

The first step was the creation of a database comprising the material flows and furthermore the carbon flows in the production sector for one or more years. Hereby the lacks in the data sources could be identified and filled as best as possible to describe the development in the production sector in Austria.

In the European Union the production values are recorded following the international Prodcom nomenclature. The system of Austrian Economic statistics was changed to this new structure when Austria joined the European Union 1995 and unfortunately PRODCOM data (NACE-classes) are available at ÖSTAT only since 1995.

Different types of data sources, which are rarely compatible, moreover complicated data acquisition in the production sector. Raw material statistics, production statistics, foreign trade statistics, information from companies, supplemented with additional technological information were used. Amounts sometimes differed depending on the different statistics; in the wood sector for example some statistics did not include small wood in the wood statistics. Inhomogeneities could also be found within the same statistics. To illustrate this: wood is sometimes given in tons and sometimes in m³ in the foreign trade statistics, with conversion factors that differ with different years and sources. This required a good comparison of data sources, at the appropriate level of aggregation. Data sources used to calculate the balances of the {PROD} module are given in Table A 5-1.

Data use	Data source	Data characteristics
Import & Export	Der Außenhandel Österreichs, ÖSTAT	Very disaggregated; due to the variations in dry mass contents, disaggregated data must be used in many cases; there is no separation between intermediates and final products
Products	Industrie- und Gewerbestatistik, ÖSTAT	Higher aggregated in the former system than in NACE, but most values given in physical units, problem with double counting of intermediates, because of internal flows
Raw materials	Industrie- und Gewerbestatistik, ÖSTAT	Same aggregation level as production data, same problems with double counting; mainly data for industry, low quality for "Gewerbe"
Energy	Industrie- und Gewerbestatistik, ÖSTAT	Data available for the whole "Fachverband"; difficult to show consequences of technical measures
Specific sectors	Yearly publications of sector- speci- fic surveys	Medium-aggregated data, sometimes very specific and most useful; for main product groups only, only punctual

Table A 5-1: Data used for {PROD} module.

Production statistics

As the NACE classification is rather new for Austria and industry is still organized in branches ("Fachverbände") many information sources are still structured along this former scheme. So this approach looked first at the years 1990 up to 1994, in the next steps we actualized the data for the years up to 1997 with the corresponding PRODCOM data. For a consistency check the year 1995 was taken, for which data in old and new structure was available. Then the production development up to 1997 was taken from the PRODCOM data, with consideration of information of the industrial branches. The assignment of the products in PRODCOM nomenclature to the corresponding "Fachverband" was not a problem in most cases. Generally the statistics of the industrial production in Austria is of very good quality, however some production data was not available in mass units (fortunately this was very seldom the case in chemical industry). Those products listed in "Industrie- und Gewerbestatistik" had to be converted; the conversion was carried out by the multiplication of the production values with coefficients derived from artificial prices taken from the export part of foreign trade statistics. In case of the availability of other physical data (e.g. m³) mass units were derived by the use of physical coefficients (e.g. density). Units like pieces or meters posed problems, here we had to use estimations and expert information.

Raw-Material Statistics

In Austria data on raw material consumption and ancillaries, as well as energy and water consumption are available in the former system of statistical survey from an annual collection.

With the adoption of the NACE system raw material statistics was stopped. There are some discussions on a future annual survey of raw material consumption in Austria, which of course will provide best information. In the meantime we had to rely on information from companies and representatives from industry, in many cases a lot of data remained to be filled up with technological background information. In analogy to the products also a lot of raw materials needed to be converted into mass units, where artificial prices from the import part of foreign trade statistics were used. For some economic activities Input/Output coefficients, worked out by our Institute for 1991, could be used. Although we were happy about the existence of raw material data at least for the years before 1995, the quality of the data was not comparable with that of the other statistical sources, as firms are generally not requested to keep a physical accounting.

Environmental Statistics

Environmental statistics (atmospheric emissions, waste-water, waste) was incorporated into the balances either by the emission flows directly or by means of emission coefficients and the respective flows. Whereas CORINAIR provides a good picture on air emissions such periodical surveys were not available for wastewater.

Since 1998 NAMEA projects were started in Austria. They aimed at establishing a general framework for documenting data on air, water emissions and waste for all sectors of the public economy in NACE nomenclature. They used no separated surveys, but a conversion of existing data to NACE-classes at two-digit level. Unfortunately they are presently published only for 1994, but its continuity and the common framework promises increasing data quality and consistency for the future.

A 5-2.2 Data and knowledge gaps

The most demanding step of the carbon balance was the establishment of a valid product material balance. It showed clearly the demand for consistent industrial physical statistics based on better-qualified physical accounting at firm level. This means that first a system of physical accounting for the firms might be needed and , secondly, a homogenous national system of physical input/output statistics should guide the first one. Lacking this consistent data at the moment a stepwise procedure was applied to set up a material flow balance.

The <u>first step</u> was to carry out a regular IN-OUT balance of industrial sectors, based on national statistics.

The <u>second step</u> was to adjust the balance by comparing input and output flows by finding technological connections and intermediate processes, and by adding internal (hidden) flows, loops and inputs not included in statistical data. This work required frequently investigation at a very detailed level.

The <u>last step</u> was the combination of the material balances of the sub-processes through construction of material flow chains to a balance of the whole branch or sector. The knowledge of the sector internal flows was essential to avoid incorrect multiple counting and to calculate the correct and corresponding data of materials flows entering and leaving a sector, which is finally the essential information for determining material demand or output.

Rough IN-OUT Balances out of statistical data

By comparing the input and output flows of the single sectors there usually remain remarkable Figure A 5-2). Reasons for that are on one hand flows (mainly inputs) that are not counted in the statistics because of no monetary value ("hidden flows") or not published due to secrecy reasons and on the other hand multiple counting of products (sector internal use), leading to an overestimation of the outputs.





Creating a Complete Balance

In many cases the information out of statistical data was not enough to create a complete balance. To fit the balance we gave our consideration to the raw materials and the products and tried to find processes to link them. For such a balance with technologic background, obviously, knowledge about the structure of industry and the used processes in the respective country is generally necessary. During the project it was important to specify an appropriate aggregation level for the several branches, an important prerequisite to achieve the desired results. With the help of technologic and chemical process know-how we tried to supplement the balance with not documented flows as shown in Figure A 5 - 3 and arrived finally at a fitting balance.



Figure A 5-3: Example for a complete balance for the fertilizer industry in Austria

Hereby recovery and recycling processes played an important role. With a rough idea about the general structure and by looking at a rather detailed process-level it was possible to reduce the number of unknown variables sufficiently to close the balance (Figure A 5-4).



Figure A 5-4: Creating a balance of a branch in chemical industry with recovery processes

Construction of Material Flow Chains

In order to count the raw material consumption of a sector, it is very important to follow the way of the products. In case of products which are further processed in process chains like in plastic industry, the raw materials should be counted only once at the entrance to the chain. Consequently also the products should be counted only at the boundary to consumption for estimating material intensity. On the other hand a lot of industrial processes accumulate all inputs in the product, which is then sold to the market. Therefore all inputs have to be counted for material intensity (Figure A 5-5). Such information on the type of the process was not visible from statistical data and had to be added from technology point of view.





In any case, the more disaggregated the analysis was done, the more attention had to be put on this step. Disaggregated investigation facilitated on the one hand creating and fitting the balance, but needed more efforts in calculating the correct values of sector in- and outputs.

A 5-2.3 Model design

The module was composed of different layers describing the relevant sectors. Each sector was analyzed at an appropriate level of aggregation to identify cause-effect chains and to avoid the possible double counting of materials in process chains (as described above). However considering the complexity of the production-system in Austria, a certain level of aggregation had to be maintained. For the work the hereunder-listed aggregates were chosen:

Wood and paper:

- Logs
- Pulp and paper
- Boards
- Wood products
- Planks and residues

Food and feed

- Cereals and feed
- Sugar and products
- Fruits and vegetables
- Meat and animals
- Fats and oils
- Milk and products

Textile and leather

Chemistry

- Fertilizers
- Resins
- Bitumen
- Lubricants
- Paints and solvents
- Plastic
- Rubber
- Other chemicals
- Cleanings and cosmetics

Process industry

- Minerals
- Metals

As the data of the selected aggregates should be able to be combined to any higher aggregation level a common structure was needed. This structure should on one hand allow the merge of production data with import-export of raw materials, intermediates and final products. On the other hand a link with waste data, necessary for prospective scenarios, should be facilitated by the structure. The finally selected structure (Figure A 5-6) distinguishes between

- Sources, inland or import
- Production processes
- Further manufacturing and trade of the products
- Destination in consumption with possible accumulation or mobilization
- Other production processes

The collected data was compiled to the respective flows according to the general structure. Table A 5-2 shows the structure of the data sheets exemplarily for 1990. To get a better imagination on the magnitude of the flows the values of the flows were transformed to a flow-chart for the whole module, which is shown in Figure A 5-7.



Figure A 5-6: General structure of the {PROD} module

	199	0	1991	0	199(199(0	19	06
	food and	l feed	chemi	stry	wood and	paper	textiles and	leather	process	industry
	Mat.flow	C-flow	Mat.flow	C-flow	Mat.flow	C-flow	Mat.flow	C-flow	Mat.flow	C-flow
	in t	in Mio t	in t	in Mio t	in kt	in Mio t	in t	in Mio t	in t	in Mio t
XP_raw materials	1.810.610	0,300	1.663.723	1,278	7.066	2,039	208.786	0,091		
AP_raw materials	12.414.907	2,896								
FP_raw materials					10.366	2,738				
EP_raw materials			984.704	0,725						
PP_raw mat oth ind			24.076	0,016			658.697	0,258		
PP_sector internal use	1.674.070	0,202	686.005	0,515	16.634	5,454	363.766	0,146		
WP_waste utilisation	6.343	0,002	45.752	0,039	967	0,291	34.374	0,014	ı	0,022
LP_minerals					724	0,023				1,475
SUM Input Production	15.905.930	3,400	3.404.259	2,572	35.851	10,614	1.265.624	0,508		1,497
PP_products	9.853.811	2,978	2.539.656	1,798	6.684	2,102	595.667	0,232		0,222
PX_intermediates	189.378	0,040	106.077	0,127	4.208	1,404	289.297	0,123		
PE_direct combustion					6.075	1,581				
PW_production waste	876.176	0,133	104.646	0,080	260	0,074	16.893	0,007	·	0,041
PP_to sector internal use	1.674.070	0,202	686.005	0,515	18.640	5,454				
PT_emissions	3.312.495	0,048	77.951	0,058			363.766	0,146	ı	1,211
PA_chemicalslime compounds									·	0,022
SUM Output Production	15.905.930	3,401	3.514.336	2,578	35.868	10,615	1.265.624	0,508		1,497
XP_products	281.073	0,109	899.368	0,719	1.231	0,400	136.647	0,080		
AP_human and pets metabolism	156.640	0,033			7.916	2,502				
SUM Products	10.291.524	3,121	3.820.292	2,841	4.099	1,283	732.314	0,312		0,222
PX_products	975.021	0,331	1.894.766	1,489	149	0,053	70.656	0,042		
PP_use in other industry	64.346	0,026	353.562	0,193						
PA_feed for animal	3.298.646	1,277								
PP_consumption	5.953.511	1,488	1.495.464	1,120	3.668	1,165	661.658	0,270		0,222
PW_waste from users	5.953.511	0,119	803.592	0,636	3.036	0,967	111.691	0,045		0,020
PT emissions of consumption	3.813.333	1,040	167.690	0,143						

Table A 5-2: Structure of the data sheets exemplarily for 1990





A 5-2.4 Scenarios

Whereas data for the time period from 1990 to 1997 (and 1998 in some cases) was available, the development from 1999 until 2010 had to be estimated with the model. As most determining for the behavior of the {PROD}-module the development of the production and of the consumption flows were selected. The behavior of the flows was lead by Driving Parameters (DP), which were formulated as the annual, relative increase based on the previous year: positive values lead to an increase, negative values to the contrary. As it was the relative annual increase, constant rate resulted in a curve with a progressive slope. Linear trend required a diminishing yearly increase rate.

To be consistent in all the modules the conditions for future development were specified in two different scenarios.

Scenario 1: No major changes

The characteristic of Scenario 1 was the estimated business as usual philosophy, a continuation of the trends up to 1998. Therefore, the trend of the years 1990 to 1998 was continued for the single flows. The DPs were adjusted to obtain continuous and realistic development of the flows. Variations were hereby smoothed so that the results represent only the average development. In those branches with comparably high increase rates a diminishing behavior, approaching to a maximum was insinuated to remain in a realistic range.

The used DPs are listed in Table A 5-3, distinguished between production and consumption parameters. They describe the development in a business as usual, which was the basis for the changes in scenario 2 towards a more sustainable economy.

Difficulties

The continuation of the trends in a rather smooth form represents of course only an average and cannot be seen as the real situation in single years for the single product groups, which is significantly influenced by economic and social conditions. But it should be sufficient as a vision of the general trend, which was essential for that project.

The assumed maxima in strongly increasing branches might be of significant effect on the final situation in 2010. As we couldn't find an objective basis they were mainly estimated to what seemed reasonable.

Scenario 2: Towards sustainability

In contrary to Scenario 1 in Scenario 2 a more sustainable situation in economy and consumption should be described. However, feasibility and plausibility of the assumptions should be obeyed. The changes of the DPs compared with Scenario 1 were made according to the principles of sustainability, laid down in driving bags and driving forces. The driving force *lifestyle* had the greatest influence on consumption, whereas *economic development* determined the production development.

Consequently those branches using high amounts of fossil raw materials (bitumen, lubricants) were assumed to get decreasing behavior or only slight increase (other chemicals, plastics, rubber). On the other hand the use of renewable raw materials (wood and wooden products) was forced and a trend to more vegetarian products and less meat was implemented.

Difficulties

It was attempted to choose plausible, reasonable and realistic assumptions, although direct economic requirements could only rarely be considered.

Table A 5-3: DPs for Module {PROD}

Driving Force: CONSUMPTION DEVELOPMENT because of lifestyle

No Major Changes	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
DPP_Consumption bitumen lubricants	1,08	1,07	1,05	1,04	1,03	1,02	1,01	1,00	0,99	0,98	0,97
DPP_Consumption sugar	2,15	2,05	1,96	1,88	1,80	1,72	1,65	1,58	1,51	1,45	1,39
DPP_Consumption cereals, feed	1,82	1,79	1,76	1,73	1,70	1,67	1,64	1,61	1,59	1,56	1,54
DPP_Consumption fats, oils	-0,25	-0,25	-0,25	-0,25	-0,25	-0,25	-0,25	-0,26	-0,26	-0,26	-0,26
DPP_Consumption fruits, vegetables	-0,42	-0,42	-0,43	-0,43	-0,43	-0,43	-0,43	-0,44	-0,44	-0,44	-0,44
DPP_Consumption logs	0,08	0,08	0,08	0,08	0,08	0,08	0,08	0,08	0,08	0,08	0,08
DPP_Consumption meat	-0,87	-0,88	-0,89	-0,90	-0,90	-0,91	-0,92	-0,93	-0,94	-0,95	-0,96
DPP_Consumption_milk	1,08	1,07	1,06	1,05	1,04	1,03	1,02	1,01	1,00	0,99	0,98
DPP_Consumption other chemicals	1,37	1,36	1,34	1,32	1,30	1,29	1,27	1,25	1,24	1,22	1,21
DPP_Consumption plastics, rubber	2,87	2,72	2,58	2,45	2,34	2,23	2,14	2,05	1,97	1,89	1,83
DPP_Consumption pulp and paper	1,54	1,51	1,49	1,47	1,45	1,43	1,41	1,39	1,37	1,35	1,33
DPP_Consumption textiles and leather	-0,41	-0,41	-0,41	-0,41	-0,41	-0,42	-0,42	-0,42	-0,42	-0,42	-0,42
DPP_Consumption wood products	1,90	1,86	1,83	1,80	1,77	1,74	1,71	1,68	1,65	1,62	1,60
Toward Sustainability	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
DPP_Consumption bitumen lubricants	-1,00	-1,00	-1,00	-1,00	-1,00	-1,00	-1,00	-1,00	-1,00	-1,00	-1,00
DPP_Consumption sugar	2,21	2,21	2,13	2,07	2,00	1,94	1,88	1,83	1,78	1,72	1,68
DPP_Consumption cereals, feed	2,65	2,62	2,59	2,56	2,53	2,50	2,75	3,00	3,25	3,50	3,75
DPP_Consumption fats, oils	0,25	0,25	0,25	0,25	0,25	0,25	0,25	0,25	0,25	0,25	0,25
DPP_Consumption fruits, vegetables	3,00	3,00	3,25	3,50	3,75	4,00	4,25	4,50	4,75	5,00	5,25
DPP_Consumption logs	1,50	1,50	1,55	1,60	1,65	1,70	1,75	1,80	1,85	1,90	1,95
DPP_Consumption meat	-1,00	-1,00	-1,15	-1,30	-1,45	-1,60	-1,75	-1,90	-2,05	-2,20	-2,35
DPP_Consumption_milk	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00
DPP_Consumption other chemicals	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00
DPP_Consumption plastics, rubber	2,87	2,30	1,84	1,47	1,18	0,94	0,75	0,60	0,48	0,39	0,31
DPP_Consumption pulp and paper	2,00	2,00	2,15	2,30	2,45	2,60	2,75	2,90	3,05	3,20	3,35
	-0.40	-0.40	-0.38	-0.35	-0.33	-0.30	-0.28	-0.25	-0.23	-0.20	-0,18
DPP_Consumption textiles and leather	-0,40	0,10	0,00			-,	-,=-	1.1			

Driving Force: PRODUCTION DEVELOPMENT because of economic development

No Major Changes	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
DPP_Production wood products	2,34	2,29	2,24	2,19	2,14	2,10	2,06	2,01	1,97	1,94	1,90
DPP Production bitumen, lubricants	2,80	2,72	2,65	2,58	2,52	2,45	2,39	2,34	2,29	2,23	2,19
DPP_Production cereals_and_feed	0,28	0,28	0,28	0,28	0,28	0,28	0,28	0,28	0,28	0,27	0,27
DPP_Production fats_oils	-0,03	-0,03	-0,03	-0,03	-0,03	-0,03	-0,03	-0,03	-0,03	-0,03	-0,03
DPP_Production fruits, vegetables	-0,20	-0,20	-0,20	-0,20	-0,20	-0,20	-0,20	-0,20	-0,20	-0,20	-0,20
DPP_Production logs	1,88	1,85	1,81	1,78	1,75	1,72	1,69	1,66	1,64	1,61	1,58
DPP_production meat	1,36	1,34	1,32	1,30	1,29	1,27	1,25	1,24	1,22	1,21	1,19
DPP_production milk	1,08	1,07	1,06	1,05	1,04	1,03	1,02	1,01	1,00	0,99	0,98
DPP_Production other chemicals	0,91	0,91	0,90	0,89	0,88	0,87	0,87	0,86	0,85	0,84	0,84
DPP_Production plastics, rubber	2,92	2,76	2,62	2,49	2,37	2,26	2,16	2,07	1,99	1,92	1,84
DPP_Production process industry	2,83	2,75	2,68	2,61	2,54	2,48	2,42	2,36	2,31	2,26	2,21
DPP_Production pulp and paper	1,65	1,62	1,60	1,57	1,55	1,53	1,50	1,48	1,46	1,44	1,42
DPP_Production resins	-0,52	-0,52	-0,52	-0,53	-0,53	-0,53	-0,53	-0,54	-0,54	-0,54	-0,55
DPP_Production textiles and leather	-3,19	-3,30	-3,41	-3,53	-3,66	-3,80	-3,95	-4,11	-4,29	-4,48	-4,69
Toward Sustainability	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
DPP_Production wood products	2,25	2,25	2,28	2,30	2,33	2,35	2,38	2,40	2,43	2,45	2,48
DPP_Production bitumen, lubricants	-1,86	-1,86	-1,89	-1,92	-1,95	-1,98	-2,01	-2,05	-2,08	-2,12	-2,16
DPP_Production cereals_and_feed	0,50	0,50	0,75	1,00	1,25	1,50	1,75	2,00	2,25	2,50	2,75
DPP_Production fats_oils	0,10	0,10	0,10	0,10	0,10	0,10	0,10	0,10	0,10	0,10	0,10
DPP_Production fruits, vegetables	3,00	3,00	3,25	3,50	3,75	4,00	4,10	4,20	4,30	4,40	4,50
DPP_Production logs	1,00	1,00	1,05	1,10	1,15	1,20	1,25	1,30	1,35	1,40	1,45
DPP_production meat	0,34	0,34	0,32	0,30	0,29	0,27	0,25	0,24	0,22	0,21	0,19
DPP_production milk	0,00	0,00	0,10	0,20	0,30	0,40	0,50	0,60	0,70	0,80	0,90
DPP_Production other chemicals	0,42	0,42	0,41	0,40	0,39	0,39	0,38	0,37	0,36	0,36	0,35
DPP_Production plastics, rubber	2,16	2,16	1,86	1,59	1,34	1,12	0,91	0,73	0,56	0,40	0,25
DPP_Production process industry	2,25	2,25	2,18	2,11	2,04	1,98	1,92	1,86	1,81	1,76	1,71
DPP_Production pulp and paper	1,67	1,67	1,65	1,64	1,63	1,61	1,60	1,59	1,58	1,57	1,56
DPP_Production resins	-0,02	-0,02	-0,02	-0,03	-0,03	-0,03	-0,03	-0,04	-0,04	-0,04	-0,05
DPP. Production textiles and leather	-2.80	-2.80	-2.91	-3.03	-3.16	-3.30	-3.45	-3.61	-3.79	-3.98	-4.19

	NO MAJOR CHANGES (2000-2010)	TOWARDS SUSTAINABILITY (2000-2010)
DB ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT	Economic development will be around growth rates of 2,5 % GNP p.a. Contribution of agriculture to GNP will slightly decrease. Growth rates will mainly come from services and leisure tourism. Production will shift from primary to secondary products.	Economic development will be around growth rates of 2% GNP p.a. Contribution of agriculture to GNP will remain the same. Growth rates will mainly come from services and leisure tourism. Production will shift from primary to secondary products, with more products from renewable raw materials.
DF Production	Continuation of current trends depending on the respective products.	Slight decrease in trend for fossils, increase in production of wood products.
DB LIFESTYLE	Continuation of 1990-2000 rates of single households, environmental awareness, nutrition patterns, vehicle mileages. Increasing vehicle use for "fun" matches decreasing commuting because of teleworking.	Continuation of 1990-2000 trends, but less vehicle use (decrease in annual vehicle mileage by 5 % until 2010), more environmental awareness, more vegetarians. Increase of natural forests and changes of forest management strategies
DF Consumption	Continuation of current trends depending on the respective products.	Decrease in trend for fossils, increase in consumption of wood products.

Table A 5-4: Driving bags and driving forces used in the {PROD} module

A 5-2.5 Model Formulation

The calculation of the single flows in the different aggregates of the sectors was done individually for each case and took into consideration the actual connections e.g. whether a raw material was provided from one of the other modules, or came from the external modules {IMPORT} or {LITHO}.

The leading parameters for the calculation of the flows were the development of consumption and that of production. For the period from 1990 to 1998, the model showed the values of the produced database. For 1999 the values were extrapolated, after 1999 the DPs determined the flows of the processes.

In the *production processes* the amount of products to trade was the determining flow. From them the raw material demand for the produced products was calculated. It could be provided by the other modules, from the {IMPORT} or {LITHO} or could come from other processes of the same sector, as in fodder production and wood industry. The production waste, the emissions and the exported intermediates were calculated with proportions or coefficients out of the product flows. Basis for all the proportions was the estimation in the years 1990 – 1998.

The sector *food and feed* was supplied with raw materials mainly from AGRO. The difference to the totally required raw materials was covered by the {IMPORT}. A part of the residues of the food processes could be utilized internally in the feed industry. Some residues like the skins coming from AGRO to the slaughterhouses, were transferred as raw material to another production branch (other industry), the textile and leather process. The publicly collected and recycled raw materials were delivered by {WASTE}. The by-products, the production waste and the exported intermediates were calculated with proportions from the amount of products, the process emissions were assumed to be proportional to the production activity.

In the sector *wood and paper* the required amount of industrial roundwood from {FOREST} to logs was calculated with an annual increase based on 2000. In the "no major changes" scenario the annual increase was estimated with 1%, in the "toward sustainability scenario" with 1,2%. This increases were chosen with agreement of the {FOREST} module and IIASA (Annex 8). The difference to the required amount was calculated from the {IMPORT}. The other processes of the wood sector received their raw materials sector internally. The difference to the required amount was covered by the {IMPORT}, too. Pulp and paper used waste paper from public collection that was delivered by {WASTE}. The amounts of production waste and by-products were calculated from the amount of products. The production waste consisting mainly of wood residues was passed over to {ENERGY}.

In the sector *chemistry* the raw materials were obtained from {ENERGY} or {IMPORT}, some recycled products of the chemistry sector were delivered directly by {WASTE}. Up from 1998 the relation in raw material provision among {ENERGY} and {IMPORT} was calculated out of the trend from 1990 to 1997 and assumed as constant for the years after 2000. The amounts of exported intermediates were calculated from the trends of 1990 to 1997. The production waste was assumed as proportional to the production output, derived from the situation from 1990 – 1998.

In the sector *textiles and leather* raw materials were provided by other sectors, by sector internal flows and as recycled material from {WASTE}. The proportion of the sector internal use of the output was determined out of the period 1990 to 1997 and kept constant since then. The same procedure was applied to calculate production waste. The difference to the totally

required raw material was assumed as {IMPORT}. The exported intermediates were calculated in proportion to the development in production.

For the sector *process industry* raw materials exceeding the recycling amounts supplied by {WASTE} were required from {LITHO}. The emissions of the carbon in the iron, released during steel process were calculated with stoichiometry. The amount of the lime compounds used by AGRO was demanded by AGRO. The production waste was assumed as proportional to the output due to the situation from 1990 – 1997.

The trade process is a simple balance of the inputs coming from production and import resulting in outputs to export and consumption without any change in carbon-composition. As in most of the cases no data on consumption existed, but export was well documented, consumption was calculated for the years 1990 to 1997 from the difference.

For the scenarios consumption was the second determining process, the DPs for the single products in the sectors defined the consumption behavior up from 2000. It was calculated from the trend of the previous years and extrapolated with respect to the conditions in the two scenarios. In contrary to the years before 1998 the export of products was calculated as the rest of the trade amounts minus the consumption and minus the products further processed in other branches of industry.

The consumption process was created as a pool, as it had no due balance. Any accumulation or mobilization was calculated from the annual difference of inputs and outputs. Since there are no data for the amounts accumulated already in the past in consumption, 1990 was started with an empty pool, being filled or emptied in the following years.

As inputs into the pool all the flows to consumption, controlled by the DPs were taken. Additionally the direct purchase in AGRO and the recycled bitumen were counted. The Output flows comprised besides the consumption waste also breathing, calculated with an average breathing-coefficient per inhabitant, waste water and the emissions of VOC's. The annual amount of waste was taken from the database up to 1998 and extrapolated for 1999. Up from 2000, the amount of waste was calculated for every product flow to consumption, taking into consideration a share of accumulation, which was obtained from the development of the recent years. Generally it was assumed that the total accumulation in consumption would approach slowly a saturation level for every product group in the regarded time frame. For the VOC's emission out of chemistry products no accumulation in consumption was postulated due to short lifetime, so that the difference between the VOC-consumption and the VOC-waste was counted as emission. The wastewater flows were extrapolated from the trend of the last years.

As the {ENERGY} module provided the energy supply for transformation processes and transportation with its specified energy mix there was no direct relation between the developments in {ENERGY} and {PROD}. Therefore the specific energy consumption, calculated out of the total energy demand of production and the sum of all carbon flows going through production, was established as a control index. Figure A 5 – 8 shows the development of the control index for the Scenario Towards sustainability.

Figure A 5-8: Control index energy demand



A 5-3 Results

A 5-3.1 Dynamic model behavior

In the following figures the general dynamic behavior of the {PROD} module and the differences between the two scenarios are outlined. The development of the total flows in the scenarios (NMC = no major changes, TS = towards sustainability) is compared for emission, consumption, products, import, export and the waste amounts.

One general problem, which is visible in many figures, was the inconsistency in the system of statistic data collection before and after 1995. So the data are not representing the same sample and are of course not fully comparable. However, we tried to smooth too severe rupture by taking adequate data for both periods, this lead to more or less success in the single sectors.



The emissions of production show such a break in the development before and after 1995, which made the expectation of the future development difficult. They result mainly from the processes fertilizer, food, cement, glass and ceramic production, estimated out of the trends, as well as the release of carbon in steel manufacturing, calculated from the production activity. To show the difference in the two data systems the trends were extrapolated to overlap for some years. The values according to the old systematic are definitely higher than those up from 1995.

As the lower values and the rather constant development seemed reasonable the latter data according to the new NACE system have been used for the scenarios.

As can be seen no major difference occurs between the scenarios. Nearly one half of the emissions is caused by fertilizer production. Despite a reduction of fertilizer use in agriculture the forced use of wooden products led to enhanced application of resins, produced in linkage with the fertilizer process, and therefore to slightly higher values for the sustainability scenario. It implied also a shift to enhanced use of cereals, leading to more emissions from that processes. On the other hand the steel production and their emissions was decreased which nearly outweighed that increase.

For a comparison with the total module human breathing would need to be added. It is a constant value as the population was assumed to remain constant in that period.



The total annual consumption shows a comparably more consistent behavior also for the period from 1990 to 1998. One of the major cornerstones of the sustainability scenario was the forced use of renewable materials and the reduction of fossils. Accordingly this behavior is visible in the results. Whereas "no major changes" led to an increase for both flows, in the sustainability scenario the increase in the use of fossils could be stopped, due to changes of the development in the consumption of plastics and rubber. The renewable products profited from that, mainly the wood products. The consumption of cereals increased, too, caused by a life style change towards more vegetarians.



The total annual production for renewable and non-renewable flows shows the same behavior as in consumption.



Export shows from 1990 up to 1998 a clear increasing tendency, which is continued especially in the sustainability scenario. This effect comes from the tendency to vegetarians, implying a reduction of husbandry and a lesser demand for feed, resulting in a surplus of cereals that was exported. A similar effect could be observed for the plastic products. The assumption of decreasing consumption at a relative constant production activity contributed to the rise of export remarkably. On the other hand export of wood and wooden products decreased due to enhanced inland consumption.

In contrast the export in the "no major changes" scenario had a slower increase.



At the import of products and raw materials there seem to be two distinct levels in the period from 1990 - 1998, maybe caused again by statistic inconsistency. A lower level before 1994 and a higher one after 1996, both of them with only slight increases. From that development an increasing trend resulted for the "no major changes scenario", having moreover in mind the tendency towards globalization.

Here the assumption towards sustainability could stop the increase in the import, caused mainly by the reduction in the import of fossil products.



The total waste amounts out of the whole {PROD} module present a rather constant behavior up to 1998. The values for the years after 2000 were calculated out of the consumption flows and the coefficients for accumulation as described before. Herewith a clear increasing tendency was received, dominated by enhanced use of plastics and wood. There is rather no real difference between the two scenarios, the seeming surprise of the higher values in the sustainability scenario can be explained by the increase in wood and cereal processing and the

resulting residues, which exceeded the effect of decrease in plastics (plastics are mainly imported as final products or have little waste through processing)

A 5-3.2 Scenario: No major changes

The main characteristic of this scenario was the continuation of the trend during the period 1990 to 1998. For some flows the inconsistency in the statistic system resulted in distortions of the development, moreover some flows showed besides that variations before or after 1995. So it was tried to derive a reasonable trend for all the flows by striving for the most likely development, this was difficult only in few cases, like plastics and cereals.



The trends in consumption present for most of the product group's slightly increasing tendency, which was continued until 2010. Difficulties arose at the plastics from the variation in last years. Here the seeming strong increase was weakened, looking at the general trend in plastic consumption in the EU countries. Despite that correction the values seem to represent rather the upper limit. Cereals show a similar variation in the first years of the regarded period, behaving up to 1998 like a damped oscillation. This made it easier to derive a trend, for which accordingly to the other products a slight increasing development was assumed.

Looking at the magnitude of the carbon flows the plastics, wood and cereals are clearly dominating the situation. Pulp and paper, minerals and metals and sugar and starch have only minor relevance.



Looking at the situation in inland production one may find the same flows at important position, whereas the development is different. Cereals and feed present the highest values with rather constant behavior, whereas the plastics show the biggest increase, although the development of the last years was damped. Wood products start at the same amount as plastics and have a constant but a definite slighter increase.



In a comparison of the import flows the plastics have the highest values and show a similar trend as for production and consumption. As in production and consumption the development derived from the period 1990 to 1998 was damped. Nearly the same magnitude of the flow shows the import of wooden raw materials, namely logs, with an even higher increase than plastics up from 2000. All together the import of wood products, split in logs, planks and wood products present clearly the biggest amounts, because of the high demand for wood products and the comparably slight increase of 1% per year of wood from inland forests. The other flows behave rather constant or are of minor importance.



At the export flows wood products and plastics again are in dominant position. Plastics show once more the highest increase. But if the wood products were summed up they would be in clear leading position. As single position the export of pulp and paper has high values.



As for the emissions the processes of cement, glass and ceramic production are clearly dominating the situation. There were no DPs influencing this processes directly, so they were calculated as trends from the years 1990-1998, showing a quite decreasing tendency up to 1998, which was continued until 2010. The emissions of minerals and metals show a slight increase due to a slight increase in production of steel. The process emissions of lime production were not counted, because of a due balance of carbon-flows of the module from and to atmosphere during the lime burning and the later fixation during use.

A 5-3.3 Scenario: Towards sustainability

In scenario 2 it was tried to arrive at a more sustainable situation by adaptation of the relevant assumptions. This concerned mainly the reduction of use of fossils and enhanced use of renewables, as it was described under "Scenarios".



In consumption plastics are still in dominant position, although the increase was more damped than in NMC. Wood products and cereals show a steeper slope of the increase, as well as pulp and paper do. Even this cannot change the ranking by magnitude.



At product level the changed conditions have no remarkable effect compared to NMC scenario, the cereals remain in leading position, plastics in second and wood products in third position. The changes are only visible in the increases up from 2005, an enhanced use of wood and cereals and damped behavior for plastics, which finally leads to no changes in the positions.


More changes are visible for the imports. Here the increase of plastics import in NMC is turned to a decrease. Also import of logs is comparably lower due to enhanced forestation, as well as pulp and paper import declines due to increased inland production.



The most striking development in export flows is the sharp increase in cereals export. It is caused by the reduced husbandry and the respective implication on feed demand. As the agricultural production was enhanced the consumption alone could not cover that increase so that raised product export was the result. Plastics and pulp and paper export increase was rather damped, planks and residues arrived at constant values.



The emission situation was not really affected by the shift to more sustainable conditions, as the most important emissions appear in the {ENERGY} module.

A 5-3.4 Sensitivities and Uncertainties

A 5-3.4.1 Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis for the {PROD} Module was carried out for the most determining flows or driving parameters. These were the flow FP_industrial roundwood (wood demand from forest) and the driving parameters for the consumption and production of plastics & rubber and wood & paper. The DPs of the wood sector were varied simultaneously. FP_industrial roundwood was changed by increasing and decreasing the annual wood demand by 10 and 20 percent. Increasing and decreasing the values by 10 and 20 percent, too, varied the driving parameters. The occurred differences for Scenario 2 (TS) in amounts of Carbon in MtC are shown in the following figures for the year 2010.

As energy supply (for transformation processes and transportation) was provided by the {ENERGY} module, the emissions of the combustion processes and of the blast furnace were counted in {ENERGY}. Only the process emissions of the steel process and those of other processes were attributed to {PROD}. Due to this the sensitivity of the flows of {PROD} to atmosphere is generally not remarkable.



Figure A 5-9: Variation of wood demand for {FOREST} (FP_industrial roundwood)

The wood demand shows the highest sensitivity in the {PROD} Module. The increase of the annual wood demand of 1,2% was varied in both directions. Looking at the resulting absolute values and having in mind the realistic potential in Austria the variation produced impossible results: The Import of logs (PP_raw materials logs) showed a range from +5MtC to -22MtC compared to the Scenario results. The demand of wood has an invert behavior compared with the import of logs. We have to point out that the model runs could only be made with the {PROD} Module standing alone, because of the errors that would have occurred in the {FOREST} Module caused by the much irrational values.



Figure A 5-10: Variation of consumption wood sector

Figure A 5-10 shows the effects of the variations in the wood and paper sector. All driving parameters of the wood sector (DPP_consumption logs, DPP_consumption pulp and paper, DPP_consumption wood products) were increased or decreased simultaneously. The resulted sensitivity was rather low. The main effect occurred in export of products, but the sensitivity was too low to influence the scenario assumptions visibly.



Figure A 5-11: Variation of production wood sector

Figure A 5-11 shows the effects of the variation of the DPs for production in the wood sector (DPP_production logs, DPP_production pulp and paper, DPP_production wood products), which mainly influenced the import of products, but the effects were little, too.



Figure A 5-12: Variation of consumption plastics & rubber

In Figure A 5-12 the influence of the variation of DPP_consumption plastics and rubber on the selected parameter is shown. Once again only a low sensitivity appeared.



Figure A 5-13: Variation of production plastics & rubber

The variation of DPP_production plastics and rubber had small effects, too (Figure A 5-13).

A 5-3.4.2 Uncertainties

Whereas statistic data are generally of good quality in Austria, in many cases the information out of statistics was absolutely not sufficient to create a complete balance. Main problems were missing data or multiple counting in case of module internal process chains. To arrive at correct balances we tried to add the required information with technological background and specific knowledge.

So despite the uncertainty of statistic data, which could be quantified statistically, possible failures caused by lack of adequate information could have the most striking impact. As there does not exist an appropriate test method, we tried to check consistency of the system by balancing at different aggregation levels and comparing the flows derived from different data sources. This seemed to be the best guarantee for a realistic picture of the situation.

A lot of non physical data had to be converted, which is always a source of uncertainty. Besides, data quality in physical units obtained through national surveys is different, especially in the raw materials statistics.

One of the conclusions that should be pointed out is the need for consistent industrial physical statistics, based on better-qualified physical accounting at firm level. This means that, first, a system of physical accounting for the firms might be needed and, secondly, a homogeneous national system of physical input/output statistics should guide the first one.

A 5-4 Discussion and Conclusions

A 5-4.1 Discussion

In the NMC-scenario the plastics dominated the situation in consumption, import and export. Plastics showed the biggest increase in production, too. Wood and paper products had also high values for export. On the other hand cereals and feed dominated the product flow, as the whole agricultural production was passed through trade, even when it was consumed or exported.

The shift to a sustainable situation led to remarkable changes in production and consumption. The assumed reduction in the use and the production of products out of fossils and the contemporaneous enhancement of renewable goods led to a reduced increase of plastic consumption and production. But plastics remained still the main flow in consumption, only the increase was damped. On the other hand the consumption of wood products and the cereals and feed showed a high annual growth. The import of plastic was turned into a decrease and the import of logs could be reduced due to enhanced forestation. The cereals became the dominant export flow, caused by the reduced husbandry and the subsequently lower feed demand. The export increase was stopped for pulp and paper, caused by forced inland use. Plastics export still increased, but the increase was slower due to the reduced inland production.

A 5-4.2 Applicability of results

The simulation runs with the model for the two scenarios led mainly to changes in the dominating flows within the module, to import and export or to other modules. This concerned notably the flows of cereals, plastics and wood products.

The emissions of the {PROD} module, as it was delimited in that project, were generally not of high magnitude, as the main emissions were dealt with in the {ENERGY} module. The determining flows for greenhouse gas emissions in the {PROD} module were the process emissions of cement, glass and ceramic production. These flows showed no substantial influence of the different assumptions in the scenarios.

A 5-4.3 Priorities for future work

Priorities for improvement of the model would be in our opinion a better connection between the {ENERGY} and the {PROD} module, to show the effect of changes in the production and consumption behavior on the emissions directly. Moreover the installed pool in the consumption sub-process should be increased in its functionality to represent a realistic link between the flow of product to consumption and the waste amounts. The inclusion of life time for groups of products, how it was started but could not be finalized in that project, would allow a more serious estimation of future waste scenarios according to different product composition.

A 5-5 References

- FVL (1991): Fachverband der Lebensmittelindustrie: Jahresbericht der Lebensmittelindustrie. Wirtschaftskammer Österreich, Wien
- Jonas, M. and A. Geisler (1999): IASA Interim report, in press
- Orthofer, R. (1997): System Analytical Assessment of the Carbon Balance of Austria. Final Report Part 1: Carbon Balance for 1990. Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf Research Report OEFZS-A-4195, Dec 1997
- ÖSTAT (1991): Der Außenhandel Österreichs 1991, ÖSTAT, Wien
- ÖSTAT (1992): Industrie und Gewerbestatistik 1991, 1. und 2. Teil, ÖSTAT, Wien
- Payer H., Hüttler W., Schandl H. (1996): Materialflußrechnung Österreich, Bundesministerium für Jugend, Umwelt und Familie, Wien
- Schidler, S. (1998): Beitrag zur Modellierung des Kohlenstoffkreislaufs für Österreich, Datengrundlage und Analyse des Modells der natürlichen Systeme, Diplomarbeit,Universität Wien
- Schwarzer H. (1999): personal communicatiuon, H. Schwarzer, Marktaufsicht St. Marx
- Sotoudeh M., Schidler S., Windsperger A. (1998): Bewertungskriterien für die Umweltauswirkungen für die Nahrungs- und Genußmittelindustrie, Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Jugend und Familie, Wien
- Angst Gabriele; Umweltauswirkungen der Industrie, Materialströme und Emissionen auf Basis statistischer Daten; TU Wien 1969

Annex 6

ACBM Modul WASTE

Andreas Windsperger Gerhard Hintermeier Hermann Schmidt-Stejskal Francois Schneider Susanne Schidler

Institute for Industrial Ecology andreas.windsperger@noe-lak.at

Table of Contents

A 6-1 Introduction	1
A 6-2 Methodology	2
A 6-2.1 Data availability	2
A 6-2.2 Data and knowledge gaps	3
A 6-2.3 Model design	4
A 6-2.4 Scenarios	9
A 6-2.5 Model Formulation	13
A 6-3 Results	16
A 6-3.1 Dynamic model behavior	16
A 6-3.2 Scenario: No major changes	18
A 6-3.3 Scenario: Towards sustainability	21
A 6-3.4 Sensitivities and Uncertainties A 6-3.4.1 Sensitivity Analysis	23 23
A 6-3.4.2 Uncertainties	24
A 6-4 Discussion and Conclusions	25
A 6-4.1 Discussion	25
A 6-4.2 Applicability of results	25
A 6-4.3 Priorities for future work	26
A 6-5 References	26

A 6-1 Introduction

As the other modules the {WASTE} module has in principle connections to all the other modules, but in fact most of the inputs came mainly from the {PROD} module and here out of consumption. Outputs were directed to {ENERGY} for thermal utilization of wastes. Moreover it had also material exchange with abroad to some extent. Besides the outer connections it shows an inner structure, where it was split in waste management (collection and separation) and landfill. Of the treatment processes only water treatment and mechanical-biological treatment of wastes was regarded inside the {WASTE} module (Figure A 6-1).



Figure A 6-1: Structure and connections of the {WASTE} module

As {WASTE} was initially and is still today a typical "destination module" it had more inputs than outputs. But with the expected improvements in waste management {WASTE} turned in the scenarios more and more into a "through" module as it can be seen from the results.

A 6-2 Methodology

A 6-2.1 Data availability

The flows between the waste management subsystems were obtained from the official waste statistics. In Austria waste data is collected by Austrian Environmental Agency ("Umweltbundesamt", UBA). This agency produces reports periodically, in which the waste flows are estimated in the context of the federal waste management plan. In addition to the 1991 report large amounts of waste data were collected within industry branch-specific pollution prevention plans ("Branchenkonzept"). Waste data are also published in different regions and local communities on a yearly basis.

Wastes are classified in Austria according to the official waste list ("Abfall Systematik"), which contains around 800 types of wastes at different levels of aggregation. Unfortunately these data are structured by waste quality category and not by waste producers. Thus the waste generated in industrial processes or industry branches could not be allocated to the list and vice versa. Furthermore, the separation between production waste and trade & distribution waste is not always clear.

With information gathered from the different sources, an appropriate waste list was established for this project that covered the waste composition, the origin, the handling and potential optimization of the waste treatment from the carbon release point of view. For all wastes the water content and the carbon content were calculated from the typical waste composition. So far waste data for 1992, 1995 and 1998 (for which the UBA reports were available) have been analyzed. The {WASTE} carbon balance has been established initially for the year 1995, then developed up to 1998 and with the data of 1992 down to 1990.

Classification of flows per waste type

All wastes were identified according to their types. Toxic wastes and non-toxic wastes were first separated in two different systems. If possible, the UBA classification scheme has been followed to ensure compatibility with official data.

Separated wastes include to a large extend paper, plastics, metals, wood and textiles. Organic wastes include collected biowaste (from households, restaurants, markets), and the biowastes that remains non-collected and is used for self-composting ("Eigenkompostierung"). Part of biowastes comes from small industries similar to households and another part from small gardens.

Building wastes include construction as well as demolition wastes (these are a mix of many materials), and wastes from road demolition, and structural timbers. Most of these wastes come from a long term use and cannot simply be linked with the amounts of production for the same year.

Residual wastes and bulky wastes are a mix of many materials. These include the residual waste from households, the bulky wastes, as well as wastes from street litter boxes.

Classification of flows per material

Each waste was also classified according to the group of material it belongs to. However some wastes are a mix that needed careful analysis. Particularly residual wastes, bulky wastes from households, construction and demolition wastes contain many different materials. They were analyzed separately to determine the amounts of different materials. A calculation of the flow per material has been available for MBT and landfills (Baumeler 1998). A new calculation was

done for the composition of the remaining residual wastes, using expert judgments. Medical wastes, sludge's, and uncontrolled landfilling have not yet been taken into account.

A 6-2.2 Data and knowledge gaps

Only limited information on public level was available about prevalent types of handling of industrial wastes. Thus the team had decided to apply a default type of treatment of industrial waste. This assumption was based on data which show that handling of industrial treatment would have followed similar patterns over the last years. With the difficulties to obtain data on waste handling, there was a temptation to always choose landfill in case of missing data, but this procedure disrupted the modeling of the change induced by a new waste management policy.

Household waste handling has changed a lot since 1990. Fortunately there are sufficient data available to reflect these changes in the {WASTE} system.

The composition of each waste was difficult to obtain, in terms of materials for the mixed wastes as well as in term of organic compounds in each material. Many assumptions had to be made, but could often be improved through additional data and experiences. However, although this information was difficult to collect and compile, the parallel view of the waste system in terms of types of wastes and types of materials allowed us a better understanding of how changes in system components affect the overall system.

There were general inconsistencies of the definition of "waste" between a production point of view, and a waste management point of view. A waste flow in industry may be handled as a waste final treatment, recycled internally, recycled in the same sector, or recycled in other sectors. Internal recycling, or recycling in the same industry sector is sometimes difficult to quantify. To overcome these error sources, adjustments of the material flows were made between the {PROD} and the {WASTE} modules to avoid double counting or omitting material. Other waste specific problems like transport and energy related aspects were handled within the {ENERGY} module due to the selected structure of the modules.

No contribution was made to the actual question which waste treatment is the best as not the full range of possibilities could be checked with the model. This comparison is complicated by the different characteristic of the two processes. In incineration the carbon is released immediately to the atmosphere, the produced energy can be used. Whereas biological processes emit less CO_2 directly but none of the energy can be utilized. On the other hand they might be added to the carbon pool in soil, which plays an essential role for our life, when the composition of the produced material meets all the requirement for returning it to soil.

The frequently exercised comparisons on the basis of CO_2 emissions does not consider the carbon pool and discount CO_2 emission from biological origin. Hereby they neglect that the upstream processes (the consumption of CO_2 by the plants) does not occur at the same time as the release. So this would be fully correct only in a stationary balancing system, actually the time aspect would need to be taken into account. However this discussion can maybe become a challenging future task for the full carbon accounting model ACBM.

A 6-2.3 Model design

Our societal use of carbon is still non-cyclic to a large extent, so the waste module comes logically as the last module of ACBM. In waste management, the processes usually include collection, separation of waste, separation of mixed wastes in "Mechanical-Biological Treatment" ("MBT"), "water treatment", "composting", "incineration", "recycling" processes and landfill.

In this project, we have included the separation of waste in "Waste Collection", which is the "dispatcher" of the waste module (showed as an hexagon).

Among the process of transformation, only "MBT" and the water treatment remained as composting was assigned to the {AGRO} module, incineration to the module {ENERGY} and recycling to the {PROD} module. "MBT" included the mechanical separation and the biological treatment in one process. Transformation processes are shown as circles on the figure. Water treatment included the communal and industrial treatment process regarding the organic content. The carbon contained in the wastewater is either emitted in the atmosphere, mainly as CO_2 , emitted to the Hydrosphere or joins the other wastes collected from the production and consumption processes.

If waste is not materially valorized or emitted to the atmosphere in an incineration or passed to soil after a MBT process, the carbon molecules end-up in the "landfill" were they are stored until being partially decomposed and emitted in the atmosphere. Being a storage (or sink or pool), the landfill is symbolized as a rectangle on the figures.

Connections with other modules

The flows within the waste module and the links with other modules is shown in Figure A 6-2. The {WASTE} module connects mainly with the {PROD} module. Inputs from {PROD} are industrial and household wastes that are discarded after the product lifetime. Outputs into {PROD} are waste materials (particularly separated wastes) that can be recycled in different production sectors. Organic wastes that can be composted or used directly on soils are transferred from {WASTE} into the {AGRO} module. Inputs from {AGRO} are composted materials that cannot be used there and need therefore to be disposed in landfills. Wastes that can be incinerated are transferred into the {ENERGY} module. These are either industrial wastes or residual wastes that are directly incinerated or incinerated after separation in a MBT plant. Inputs from {ENERGY} are ashes from incineration that need to be stored in landfills. There are no carbon flows between the {FOREST} and {WASTE} modules.

Import and export of wastes was considered. However, all waste materials that had a recyclable or market value were considered in the {PROD} module. Exports of recyclable wastes were first added to the flow of recyclable waste into {PROD} module and exported from there.

Emissions into the atmosphere arose mainly from the landfill pool. Landfills emit carbon in form of CO_2 , CH_4 and VOC into the atmosphere. There are also minor gaseous emissions from MBT and water treatment. A part of the carbon in landfill will remain solidified and non-reactive: this carbon was regarded to be finally transferred to the lithosphere. There are also carbon flows to the hydrosphere (that is considered as a pool in the {AGRO} model).



Figure A 6-2: Carbon flows in the {WASTE} module and between {WASTE} and other modules

Annex 6 ACBM Modul WASTE



Figure A 6-3: {WASTE} module: carbon flows per type of waste

Waste types and material types

It was found that collection of information on just the carbon flows was not sufficient to understand and to model the {WASTE} module. It was necessary to have background information on the "qualities" of carbon in order to appropriately follow their fate in the waste treatment system. Thus, two parallel analyses of the waste system were made, a description "per type of waste" and one "per type of material".

The description "per type of waste" corresponds to the common classification schemes: "Toxic Waste", "Building Waste", "Residual and Bulky Waste" (non-separated household wastes), "Separate Collection from Households", and "Non-Toxic Wastes from Industry". The main reason for using these waste categories separately was their relation with the predominant waste treatments. This information was important to understand the {WASTE} module for future scenario development. It also enabled a disaggregated view on the data, and allowed an easier understanding of the carbon flows. The types of waste also gave some indications of the recycling potential, because carbon in a highly re-usable material is certainly not the same as carbon in a mixed waste. Figure A 6 - 3 shows the waste flows for the different waste types.

Wastes represent also a mix of many materials. It is important to have information on the carbon "qualities". In this work, "chemicals", "paper" (includes carton), "wood", "plastics (incl. rubber), "organic materials" and "minerals and metals" were distinguished for a number of reasons. Figure A 6 - 4 shows the waste flows for the different waste materials. First this classification enabled a link with the production of material, as material types correspond to production flows to a large extent. But it was also very important to model correctly the temporal dynamics of the MBT, incineration, and landfill processes. Sludge's were considered as a material before being allocated to the existing groups of materials.

Moreover, information on carbon qualities gave us insight on possible optimization options, showing clearly the present inadequacy of waste treatment and the potential of recycling and reuse of valuable materials. Flows in term of carbon qualities could help to develop an improved management of materials along the waste treatment chain to avoid loosing waste material "qualities".

With the such descriptions in terms of waste types and material types it was possible to follow the flows along in the waste treatment chain, e.g. (in terms of waste types) the treatment system for building wastes, or (in terms of waste materials) the treatment of waste paper, or (in terms of a combination of waste and material types) the treatment of paper in building wastes.



Figure A 6-4: {WASTE} module: carbon flows per type of materials

A 6-2.4 Scenarios

Driving forces

In a fully functional model the waste amounts for the future should result from consumption caused by the input flows and the lifetime. Despite the described shortcomings with lifetime in the consumption the flows to waste were determined by the {PROD} module. They were calculated from the consumption flows with a fixed proportion derived from the data of the previous years. So the main driving forces for the waste generation was located in the {PROD} module. However there remained some important changes within the waste module, which main driving forces are listed hereunder:

- the recycling rate (DPs recycling quota)

- the rates to different treatments (incineration, landfill, MBT) (DPs %incineration, %mbt, %landfilling)

- the technical improvements of the different waste treatments (DPs recycling potential, landfill gas recovery)

Transport of waste and the change in energy efficiency of incineration was dealt with within the {ENERGY} module (hereby it should be considered that incinerators in the countryside have shortcomings in heat utilization, and that they require long transport distances).

To estimate the development up from 2000, two scenarios were considered, one with "No major changes" where all factors were kept constant after 1999 and a "Towards sustainability" scenario describing more sustainable conditions.

Scenario 1: No major changes

The characteristic of Scenario 1 was the estimated business as usual philosophy, a continuation of the trends up to 1998. Therefore, the DPs were chosen in such a way that the recycling rate and recycling potential was left at the present state. The fulfillment of the "Deponie Verordnung" was considered, which does not allow the deposit of untreated waste. It was assumed here that the rate of deposited carbon will decrease to 5% until 2010 and that the waste treatment will be performed in equal shares through combustion and mechanical biological treatment (Hackl 1999). Subsequently a share of the MBT amount, the light fraction, is separated and transferred to incineration. This results in a proportion of 68 : 32 of incineration to MBT amounts after the separation of the light fraction in MBT.

Difficulties

Keeping constant the present levels of recycling rates and the recycling potential was selected because of the scenario principle to continue the present state. However it will yet come to modifications through change in awareness or new technologies. The effects of the "Deponie Verordnung" and the amount of compliance to it were based on estimates, as well as the assumed distribution between combustion and mechanically biological waste treatment. This was necessary as the final partition is still unclear.

Scenario 2: Towards sustainability

This scenario should describe a more sustainable situation in waste management compared to the business as usual. Only a few measures were needed to develop the waste module to that

level, where reuse, recycling and composting play the major role. These were mainly the increase of inert materials share in landfills, avoiding the release in form of CH_4 , forced collection of CH_4 , and increasing the carbon content of soil with a development of composting and MBT. *Gielen (1997)* has shown the relevance of storage in products and waste for the greenhouse problem, according to this author, it is of the same order of magnitude than the positive effect of recycling and incineration. A full implementation of the Austrian landfill regulation and for waste treatment an optimized mix for the best realistic treatment for each waste was assumed.

The potentials for waste treatment improvements were obtained by going through the whole list of wastes and improving the waste management according to available literature. For residual waste treatment a combination of incineration with an improved technology of MBT (Mechanical-Biological Treatment) was assumed, as the final decision for future waste management remains a source of controversy.

The recycling performance was increased to the best level. For that the DPs were such modified that the recycling rates and potentials reached the expected maximum values.

Difficulties

It was attempted to choose the assumptions validly, however, economical aspects were only considered at the edge. This assumption that everything possible would also be carried out represent an ideal case that is maybe too to optimistic.

Definition of the chosen Driving Parameters

The DPs recycling potential were defined as the percentage of the waste amounts that could at maximum be recycled due to technical and economical preconditions. The DPs recycling rate were the percentages of waste amounts that are assumed to be recycled referring to the maximum amounts given by the recycling potentials. DPP_% landfilling took into account the "Deponieverordnung" and represented the rate of waste in percent that will be deposited untreated. The remaining waste was split into incineration and MBT, which is determined by the DPP_% mbt and DPP_% incineration. DPP_landfill gas recovery was the percentage of the CH₄ amounts emitted from landfill that was collected and incinerated in the {ENERGY} module.

The Driving Parameters are listed in Table A 6-1.

Table A 6-1: Driving parameters for module {WASTE}

Driving Force: Ecological consciousness/political support to recycling because of lifestyle

No Major Changes	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
DPW_Recycling quota textile (%)	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60
DPW_Recycling quota paper (%)	89	89	89	89	89	89	89	89	89	89	89
DPW_Recycling quota wood (%)	73	73	73	73	73	73	73	73	73	73	73
DPW_Recycling quota plastic (%)	47	47	47	47	47	47	47	47	47	47	47
DPW_Recycling quota minerals (%)		81	81	81	81	81	81	81	81	81	81
DPW_Recycling quota organics (%)		59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59
						•	•				
Toward Sustainability	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
DPW_Recycling quota textile (%)	60	64	67	70	74	78	82	86	91	95	100
DPW_Recycling quota paper (%)	89	90	91	92	93	94	95	96	98	99	100
DPW_Recycling quota wood (%)	73	76	78	81	83	86	88	91	94	97	100
DPW_Recycling quota plastic (%)	47	51	55	59	64	69	74	80	86	93	100
DPW_Recycling quota minerals (%)		83	84	86	88	90	92	94	96	98	100
DPW_Recycling quota organics (%)	59	62	66	69	73	77	81	86	90	95	100

Driving Force: Economic support to recycling/Quality maintenance of materials because of economic structural change

No Major Changes		2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010		
DPW_Recycling potential textile (%)	43	43	43	43	43	43	43	43	43	43	43		
DPW_Recycling potential paper (%)	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80	80		
DPW_Recycling potential wood (%)	86	86	86	86	86	86	86	86	86	86	86		
DPW_Recycling potential plastic (%)	74	74	74	74	74	74	74	74	74	74	74		
DPW_Recycling potential minerals (%)	84	84	84	84	84	84	84	84	84	84	84		
DPW Recycling potential organics (%)		81	81	81	81	81	81	81	81	81	81		
Toward Sustainability	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010		
Toward Sustainability DPW_Recycling potential textile (%)	2000 43	2001 43	2002 44	2003 44	200 4 45	2005 45	2006 46	2007 46	2008 47	2009 47	2010 48		
Toward Sustainability DPW_Recycling potential textile (%) DPW_Recycling potential paper (%)	2000 43 80	2001 43 80	2002 44 81	2003 44 81	2004 45 82	2005 45 82	2006 46 83	2007 46 83	2008 47 84	2009 47 84	2010 48 85		
Toward Sustainability DPW_Recycling potential textile (%) DPW_Recycling potential paper (%) DPW_Recycling potential wood (%)	2000 43 80 86	2001 43 80 86	2002 44 81 87	2003 44 81 87	2004 45 82 88	2005 45 82 88	2006 46 83 89	2007 46 83 89	2008 47 84 90	2009 47 84 90	2010 48 85 91		
Toward Sustainability DPW_Recycling potential textile (%) DPW_Recycling potential paper (%) DPW_Recycling potential wood (%) DPW_Recycling potential plastic (%)	2000 43 80 86 74	2001 43 80 86 74	2002 44 81 87 75	2003 44 81 87 75	2004 45 82 88 76	2005 45 82 88 76	2006 46 83 89 77	2007 46 83 89 77	2008 47 84 90 78	2009 47 84 90 78	2010 48 85 91 79		
Toward Sustainability DPW_Recycling potential textile (%) DPW_Recycling potential paper (%) DPW_Recycling potential plastic (%) DPW_Recycling potential minerals (%)	2000 43 80 86 74 84	2001 43 80 86 74 84	2002 44 81 87 75 85	2003 44 81 87 75 85	2004 45 82 88 76 86	2005 45 82 88 76 86	2006 46 83 89 77 87	2007 46 83 89 77 87	2008 47 84 90 78 88	2009 47 84 90 78 88	2010 48 85 91 79 89		

Driving Force: Waste management because of policy

No Major Changes		2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
DPW_% incineration (%)	72	67	62	58	54	50	50	50	50	50	50
DPW_% MBT (%)	28	33	38	42	46	50	50	50	50	50	50
DPW_% landfilling (%)		74	71	65	55	45	37	31	26	23	20
Toward Sustainability	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
DPW_% incineration (%)	72	67	62	58	54	50	50	50	50	50	50
DPW_% MBT (%)	28	33	38	42	46	50	50	50	50	50	50
DPW % landfilling (%)		57		00	05	40	45	44	0	7	-

Driving Force: Land gas recovery because of technical development and implementation

No Major Changes	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
DPW_% of landfill gas recovery (%)	15	15	16	16	17	17	18	18	19	19	20
	•										
Toward Sustainability	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
DPW % of landfill gas recovery (%)	15	17	19	22	24	27	31	35	39	44	50

	NO MAJOR CHANGES (2000-2010)	TOWARDS SUSTAINABILITY (2000-2010)
DB ECONOMIC STRUCTURAL CHANGES	Economy will shift from primary to tertiary sector. Increase of IT-based economy. Consumption of goods will increase. In energy sector shift from coal/oil to gas. 2 % increase per year of the area for extensive agriculture. Agricultural output remains almost the same. Cheaper world prices for electricity & increased imports of primary products, food, and feed.	Economy will shift from primary to tertiary sector. Increase of IT-based economy. Consumption of goods will increase. In energy sector shift from coal/oil to gas. Slowly increasing use of renewable energy sources. 4 % increase per year of the area for extensive agriculture. Agricultural output has a slight decrease due to the extensivation of agriculture.
DF Economic support to recycling/Quality maintenance of materials	Combustion of waste will increase highly from 2004. By 2010 40 % of all wastes will be incinerated, 40 % goes to MBT	Combustion of waste will increase highly from 2004. By 2010 50 % of all wastes will be incinerated, 50 % goes to MBT.
DB LIFESTYLE	Continuation of 1990-2000 rates of single households, environmental awareness, nutrition patterns, vehicle mileages. Increasing vehicle use for "fun" matches decreasing commuting because of teleworking.	Continuation of 1990-2000 trends, but less vehicle use (decrease in annual vehicle mileage by 5 % until 2010), more environmental awareness, vegetarians. Increase of natural forests and changes of forest management strategies
DF Ecological	Continuation of current trends	Increase rate above current trend
consciousness/political support to recycling		
DB POLICY	80 % efficiency of municipal solid waste dump regulation; no achievement of Kyoto goals	100 % efficiency of municipal solid waste dump regulation, achievement of Kyoto goals.
DF Wastemanagement	Increasing effectivity of regulation for wastes to 80 % in 2010. See above: Combustion of waste will increase highly from 2004. By 2010 40 % of all waste will be incinerated, 40 % goes to MBT	Increasing effectivity of regulation to 100 % for wastes until 2010. See above: Combustion of waste will increase highly from 2004. By 2010 50 % of all municipal wastes (outside Vienna) will be incinerated, 50 % goes to MBT
DB TECHNICAL DEVELOPMENT	Continuation of current trends	Increased efficiencies above current trends
DF Recovery of landfill gas	Recovery rates of 10 % by 2010	Recovery rates of 50 % by 2010

Table A 6-2: Driving bags and driving forces used in the {WASTE} module

A 6-2.5 Model Formulation

For the period 1990 to 1998, the waste module was established according to the official UBA data. A theoretical function based model was developed for the MBT process and for landfill emissions to guarantee a consistent continuation of the emission development in the scenarios. For these processes the waste composition was needed to be taken into account. This was important because the degradation and the gasification processes differ considerably between the different materials. It is anticipated that waste flows will change considerably in the future: Plastic material will replace many metal and mineral materials, which should be included (e.g. plastic bottles). On the other hand, the effect of legislation that aims at increasing the use of renewable raw materials and that cuts landfilling of organic material should be described with the model.

Very stable materials like plastics and lignin (from wood) were considered as non-degradable in the context of this study. They represent a carbon storage. This is appropriate for this study because the time frame does not go beyond the year 2010. However, the problem of stable material should be addressed if longer time frames are considered. For the different time scales of the degradation of waste materials and the gasification into CO_2 and CH_4 see Table A 6-3.

	20 years (%)	100 years (%)	CO ₂ (%)	CH ₄ (%)
Lignin	0	0	0	0
Cellulose/hemicellulose	50	70	59	41
Easy carbohydrates	100	100	50	50
Fats	100	100	28	72
Proteins	100	100	49	51

Table	А	6-3:	Rate	of	degradatio	n of	ⁱ materials	depending	on	the	time	scale	considered	and
		sh	are of	CC	D_2 and CH_4	in a	ir emission	s (Björklund	19	98)				

<u>Figure A 6-5:</u> Flow diagram in the waste module for the mix of all materials, all values are in Kilotons of carbon (KtC) in 1995. Grey processes are not in the waste module. The flow from landfill to lithosphere is shown in white, because it is dependent on the time scale chosen, which is here 20 years.



VBA Modeling

From 1990 up to 1998, data was read from the database, the year 1999 was extrapolated from the available data. The most important flows in the module {WASTE} were the amounts of waste, which were determined by the other modules. The different processing schemes of the waste were controlled via the Driving Parameters.

All flows into the module were summarized in the process waste collection according to different waste qualities and then split into recycling, incineration, MBT and landfill. This distribution occurred on the basis of the preconditions of the DPs. The carbon amounts contained in wastewater were shared with partition coefficients among sludge, emissions and water effluent, which were derived from the last years. The water effluent was delivered to {AGRO}, the sludge's were assumed to be passed to combustion, landfill, MBT and {AGRO}.

The processing of the waste in the MBT and the resulting flows to incineration and landfill (and in future maybe to soil) was calculated with a partition coefficient, which was determined from the last years. Having in mind the actual situation, where MBT product is mostly used for landfill

covering, no significant flow of MBT product was installed. In the waste collection of minerals and metals a recycling was considered. The emissions were calculated proportionally to the content of organic waste.

The waste for incineration was delivered to {ENERGY}, the combustion ash came then back from {ENERGY} in the following year.

The flows going to Landfill were divided according to the content of organic and inorganic carbon. The inorganic carbon was regarded as inactive and formed a flow to {LITHO} (no more reactive mass). Dump gasification was calculated from the organic carbon content (see below). A DP determined the amount of collected landfill gas and the part that was incinerated. The methane share in the landfill gas was assumed with 53 Vol%.

Calculation of landfill gas:

For the calculation of the landfill gas production the model of Tabasaran/Rettenberger (Steinlechner et al. 1994) was used:

 $G_t = 1,868 * C_{org} * (0,014 * T + 0,28) * (1 - 10^{-kt}) [m^3/t_{WASTE}]$

k = 0,04, T = 30
G_t = amount of gas formed in the period t [m³/t waste]
T ... temperature [°C]
t ... time in years
k ... disassembly constant [1/year]
C_{org} ... Content of organic carbon [kg/t waste]
1,868 ... Constant factor which indicates the gas volume from gasification of 1kg carbon.

Because of the definite relevance of the emissions from waste deposited before 1990 in the landfill, the waste amounts deposited since 1970 were considered. For that calculation it was assumed that 1/3 of the waste consisted of carbon and 2/3 of this was from organic origin. This organic share produced landfill gas for about 20 years in decreasing behavior according to the function above. The resulting gas amounts were calculated for the yearly waste amounts up to 2020, and then summed up for the same years between 1990 and 2010.

Figure A 6-6 shows the results of the calculation.



Figure A 6-6: Emissions of landfill calculated with the model of Tabasaran/Rettenberger

A 6-3 Results

A 6-3.1 Dynamic model behavior

In the following figures the general dynamic behavior of the {WASTE} module and the differences between the two scenarios are outlined. The development of the total flows in the scenarios (NMC = no major changes, TS = towards sustainability) is compared for emission, recycling and the landfill pool.



As the emissions are given in Mt of carbon and not in CO_2 equivalents (global warming units) the CO_2 emissions show the higher magnitude, whereas the CH_4 emissions would dominate the climate relevance.

The CO_2 -emissions show a slight decrease over the whole time period as only the waste management, MBT and water treatment were included in the {WASTE} module, whereas

incineration was dealt with in {ENERGY}. In case of no major changes the values remain rather constant up from 1995. In contrary sustainability scenario presents a stronger decline caused by the assumption of a stricter compliance to the landfill regulation. This is affected mainly by the drop of emission from wood and wood based products, which are transferred to incineration in {ENERGY} module and the emissions are consequently counted there. Moreover landfilled chemicals are phased out, too. On the other hand TS scenario increases CO₂-emissions due to the increase in the treated amounts, but the effect is not visible as only MBA is relevant here.

The CH_4 -emissions show similar behavior like CO_2 due to the similar effects. Additionally the landfill gas recovery that is affected by the DPP_landfill gas recovery is higher in the Scenario TS. This collected gas is used for incineration in the {ENERGY} module, so the resulting CO_2 emissions are counted there.



The recycled amounts show in both scenarios a clear increasing trend. The stronger increase in TS scenario results from the assumed higher recycling potentials (DPs recycling potential) and higher recycling rates (DPs recycling quota).



There was no data available for the initial content in the landfill pool. So it was calculated to 12,5 MtC at 1990 from the average of the landfilled waste since 1970 (Steinlechner et al, 1994), reduced by the emissions since then. Up from 1990 the landfill pool shows initially a decrease, which stabilizes 1995. The landfill regulation causes in both scenarios again a decline, but with quite different effect concerning time behavior and magnitude. Due to the stricter implementation in TS scenario the decrease is substantially sharper than for NMC.

A 6-3.2 Scenario: No major changes

The main characteristic of this scenario was the continuation of the trend during the period 1990 to 1998. So despite the implementation of the landfill regulation, which results in severe changes of the situation, the business as usual philosophy was applied for the other flows and the partitions.



The figure above describes on one hand the development of the waste amounts, on the other hand the assumed variations in waste treatment in future. As the waste treatment represents to some respects a process chain – a part of the MBT waste goes to incineration, ash from incineration is landfilled - the cumulation of the amounts passing the different treatment installations are higher than the sum of the total waste amounts. To give a realistic unambiguous picture these double processed amounts like "waste from MBT incinerated", "waste from MBT landfilled" and "waste from {ENERGY} landfilled" are shown separately in the areas and both colors. Then it is visible that the share of not treated waste to landfill is clearly decreasing.

Looking at the total amounts there is still an increase also up from 2000, but the shares of the treatment systems change remarkably. MBA and incineration become more and more dominating, the relation among them is determined by the chosen mix of 50 : 50, as no final decision about the future waste management has been made.



The CH₄ emissions of WASTE module are clearly decreasing, although the waste amounts have increased. The main reasons for that development are the reduction of landfilling of untreated waste (DP: waste management) and utilization of landfill gas (DP: landfill gas recovery). The type and partition of MBT and incineration should have lesser effect on the CH₄ emission of the {WASTE} module.



The CO_2 emissions show a decrease as well, whereas the slope is not so high. Once again we have to underline the special configuration of the modules, the incineration and their emissions were counted in {ENERGY}, which must be kept in mind. So a forced incineration will have clear positive results in {WASTE} module, as the emissions of MBT drop, but for a realistic comparison the emissions arising in {ENERGY} have also to be taken into account. Up to 2010 the emissions from wastewater treatment gain a more and more prominent position, supported by the increase in water consumption and treatment efficiency.



The recycling situation is generally dominated by paper products from 1995 to 1998 a decline in the amounts is visible. Although the scenario was calculated with constant recycling coefficients and potential, the recycled amounts of nearly all materials are increasing up from 2000. This is caused by the increase in the waste amounts for the single materials.

A 6-3.3 Scenario: Towards sustainability

This scenario describes a more sustainable situation in waste management where reuse, recycling and composting play the major role. A full implementation of the landfill regulation and an optimized mix for the best realistic treatment for each waste are the main principles.



The figure above, describing the situation in waste Treatment, has the same characteristic as in the previous scenario. The development in the total amounts of waste is rather similar to "no major change". The effects of increased recycling are more than outweighed by increasing waste from renewable products. But the most relevant change appears in the amounts processed by the different waste treatment methods. Due to the stricter implementation of the landfill regulation, banning the landfilling of waste with gaseous potential (described by the Driving Force waste management), the amounts of treated wastes rise sharply. This leads to a much faster reduction of the direct landfilling.



Consequent to the explanations above the CH₄ emissions are reduced faster, as it is aimed at in the Austrian Landfill regulation. Main pillars for that are the respective changes in DP: waste management and increased utilization of landfill gas (DP: landfill gas recovery).



At the CO_2 emissions we see once again similar effects of the described changes. The stricter application of treatment for all wastes leads to a faster and more substantial reduction of CO_2 emissions, so that the water treatment gains a dominant position. All single emissions are reduced up from 2000, except those of MBT due to the enhanced processing. On the other hand the emissions of incineration are not covered in {WASTE} module due to the described configuration of the modules.



The recycled amounts are generally higher than the previous scenario as maximum recycling was striven for. But the situation is influenced also by assumptions in the {PROD} module, which led to lower consumption of metals and plastics and affected also the recycled amounts of that materials.

A 6-3.4 Sensitivities and Uncertainties

A 6-3.4.1 Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis for the {WASTE} Module was carried out for the most determining driving parameters. These were the driving parameters for the split between incineration and MBT and for the recycling potentials. The DPs for recycling were varied simultaneously. The DPs were changed by increasing and decreasing the annual values by 10 and 20 percent. The occurred differences for Scenario 2 (TS) in amounts of Carbon in MtC are shown in the following figures for the year 2010.

As energy supply (for waste treatment and transportation) is provided by the {ENERGY} module the emissions of combustion processes are counted in {ENERGY}. Due to this the sensitivity for all flows to atmosphere are generally not remarkable.





The split between incineration and MBT (determined by DPP_% incineration and DPP_% mbt) was varied, the greatest differences resulted in the flows to MBT. The flow to incineration shows consequently a reverse behavior, but of minor magnitude, as a part of the MBT amounts are in any case passed to incineration. These amounts therefore increase with waste amounts to MBT. In context with increasing MBT amounts the landfill amounts and the CO₂ emissions rise. The CH₄ and VOC emissions are hardly affected as a high standard of emission reduction was assumed.

Figure A 6-8: Variation of Recycling potentials



The variation of the driving parameters for the recycling potentials shows a direct effect on the recycled amounts and reverse effects on waste treatments. But none of the variations are strong enough to influence the simulation results of the whole model for the year 2010.

A 6-3.4.2 Uncertainties

As the waste flows from outside the module are the most determining flows, they cause the greatest uncertainties. Most of them have their origin in the consumption sub-process of the {PROD} module, where the inclusion of life time for groups of products and its functionality to represent a realistic link to the waste amounts has not established yet. Additionally the composition of each waste was difficult to obtain, in terms of materials for the mixed wastes as well as in term of organic compounds in each material. So many assumptions had to be made. There was also a general inconsistency in the definition of "waste" between a production point of view and a waste management point of view. A waste flow in industry could be handled as a waste final treatment, recycled internally, recycled in the same sector, or recycled in other sectors. Internal recycling, or recycling in the same industry sector was sometimes difficult to quantify.

As there were no data available for the initial content in the pool, so it was calculated to 12,5 MtC at 1990 from the average of the landfilled waste since 1970 (Steinlechner et al, 1994), reduced by the emissions since then. The emissions of landfill were calculated from the landfilled waste since 1970 by using the model of Tabasaran/Rettenberger from the estimated amounts of organic carbon. This was done to have a functional consistency between results of 1990-1998 and the scenarios. As can be seen in Figure A 6-9 the calculations are in the same range as the emissions of CH₄ published by "Umweltbundesamt" (Ritter 1999).


Figure A 6-9: Comparison of CH₄ emissions between UBA and ACBM

A 6-4 Discussion and Conclusions

A 6-4.1 Discussion

The landfill regulation had the most significant influence on the situation in the module {WASTE}. In both scenarios we got generally the same behavior, despite an increase in the waste amounts a decrease in the emissions occurred. But the assumed differences in the extent of the realization between the two scenarios led to different temporal behavior and velocity in the developments of the results. The influence of the partition of waste treatment technologies was not investigated. However from the results of the {WASTE} module alone no preference for one waste treatment technology could be derived, as the implied emissions partly arise in other modules. This is notably the {ENERGY} module, to which the waste for incineration, also that from the splitting process in MBT, was transferred. Moreover increased recycling resulted in reductions of raw material provision in the {PROD} module.

Due to the massive reduction of landfilling of materials with gas-building potential the CO_2 and CH_4 emissions from landfills showed a substantial decrease. It represented the most important emission reduction in the {WASTE} module and happened in a forced form in the sustainability scenario.

A 6-4.2 Applicability of results

The landfill regulation had the most significant influence on the situation in the module $\{WASTE\}$. Due to the massive reduction of landfilling of materials with gas-building potential the CO_2 and CH_4 emissions from landfills showed a substantial decrease. It represented the most important emission reduction in the $\{WASTE\}$ module. Its magnitude increased proportionally to the extent to which the regulation was assumed to be realized in practice. As the $\{WASTE\}$ module comprised only a part of the total waste treatment chain (incineration is dealt with in $\{ENERGY\}$) no conclusion for climate relevance or preference for one or the other treatment

technology could be derived from the {WASTE} results alone. Maybe this can become a challenging task for the full carbon accounting model ACBM in the future.

A 6-4.3 Priorities for future work

The present model bases for the future waste development on relations between product consumption and waste amounts derived from the previous years, which were assumed to remain rather constant (except maxima in the consumption pool). As the product mix and the lifetime of products change with consumption behavior, some failure may appear the more the situation deviate from today. This could be amended by increasing the functionality in the link between the {WASTE} and the {PROD} module and inclusion of lifetime assumptions for groups of products for estimations of the waste amounts in the {PROD} module.

The composition of each waste is difficult to obtain in terms of materials for the mixed wastes as well as in term of organic compounds in each material. Many assumptions could be avoided with information about the waste system in terms of types of wastes and types of materials. This would also contribute to a better understanding of how changes in system components affect the overall system.

Finally the energy demand for the treatment processes regarded in the {WASTE} module and especially the implied transport expenditures need more detailed investigation especially as the situation in waste sector is in transition now.

A 6-5 References

- Steinlechner E.; Berghold H.; Cate F.M.; Jungmeier G. ;Spitzer J.; Wutzl C. (1994): Möglichkeiten der Vermeidung und Nutzung antropogener Methanemissionen Studie durchgeführt im Auftrag des Bundesministeriums für Umwelt, Jugend und Familie, JOANNEUM RESEARCH, Graz
- Baumeler et al. (1998): Reduktion von Treibhausgasen durch Optimierung der Abfallwirtschaft, Energieforschungsgemeinschaft. Report 650/457
- Björklund, A. (1998): environmental system analysis of waste management with emphasis on substance flows and environmental impact, KTH, Licentiate thesis, Stockholm
- Domenig, M. et al. (1998): Nicht Gefährliche Abfälle in Österreich, Umweltbundesamt, Klagenfurt, M103
- Dreier, P. (1998): Gefährliche Abfälle und Altöle in Österreich, Umweltbundesamt, Klagenfurt,M102
- Fehringer et al. (1997): Auswirkungen unterschiedlicher Szenerien der thermischen Verwertung von Abfällen in Österreich, TU Wien
- Gielen, D. J. (1997): potential CO₂ emissions in the Netherlands due to carbon storage in materials and products, Ambio. Vol. 26 No. 2
- Huppes, G.; Schneider, F. (1994): proceedings of the European workshop on allocation in LCA, Leiden, Fev 94. Leiden, Pays-Bas : CML, Bruxelles : SETAC-Europe, 171p. ISBN 90-5191-078-9.
- Hutterer H.; Pilz H. (1998): Kosten-Nutzen-Analyse der Kunststoffverwertung, Volkswirtschaftliche Verwertung von Kunststoffabfällen in Österreich unter Einschluss ökologischer Aspekte. (Cost-benefit analysis of the recycling of plastic waste) Umweltbundesamt. Wien
- Jonas, M. et al. (1997): system analytical assessment of the Carbon Balance of Austria, Seibersdorf, Research Institute for Chemistry and the Environment, TU Vienna, Final Report Annex.

- Krammer & Perz (1998): Abfallaufkommen in Österreich, M101, Umweltbundesamt, Klagenfurt. 1998.
- Krammer et al. (1992): Materialien zum Bundes-Abfallwirtschaftsplan, Bestandsaufnahme der Situation der Abfallwirtschaft, Umweltbundesamt." . Band 1
- Krammer H.-J., Domenig M., et al. (1995): Abfallaufkommen in Österreich, Materialien zum Abfallwirtschaftsplan (waste generation in Austria. compiled for the Austrian Federal waste management plan), Monographien; Band 61, Umweltbundesamt, Klagenfurt
- Orthofer, R. et al. (1997): system analytical assessment of the carbon balance of Austria, Final Report Part 1: Carbon Balance for 1990, Seibersdorf, Research Institute for Chemistry and the Environment, TU Wien
- Sundqvist et al. J-O. (1997): life cycle assessment and solid waste- stage 2, Annual report, Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, October 1997, AFR report 173
- Van der Voet, E. (1996): substances from cradle to grave, PhD, CML, Leiden University
- Ritter M., Ohr B., Gugele B (1999): LUFTSCHADSTOFF-TRENDS IN ÖSTERREICH 1980-1998, Wien, (Berichte; BE-165)
- Angst G. (1969) Umweltauswirkungen der Industrie, Materialströme und Emissionen auf Basis statistischer Daten; TU Wien
- Hackl A., Mauschitz G. (1999), Beiträge zum Klimaschutz durch nachhaltige Restmüllbehandlung (Klimarelevanz der Abfallwirtschaft II), Wien
- Hackl A., Mauschitz G. (1997), Klimarelevanz der Abfallwirtschaft, Wien

Annex 7

ACBM Model Description

Ernst Gebetsroither ¹⁾ Hannes Schwaiger ²⁾ Ulrich Jäkel ²⁾ Gerfried Jungmeier ²⁾ Lorenza Canella ²⁾

1) Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf Systems Research Environmental Planning email: ernst.gebetsroither@arcs.ac.at

> 2) Joanneum Research Graz Institute for Energy Research

Table of Contents

Annex 7 Description of the ACBM_Model	1
A 7-1. Install the Model	1
A 7-2. How to OPEN the Model	1
A 7-3. The contents of the Modules A 7-3.1 ACBM_MODEL.xls	1 1
A 7-3.2 Further details to the sheet Interfaces and DF_DP_List (driving force driving parameter list)	8
A 7-3.3 AGRO.xls:	9
A 7-3.4 MODUL_ENERGY.xls:	10
A 7-3.5 MODUL_FOREST.xls	11
A 7-3.6 MODUL_WASTE_PROD.xls	15
A 7-3.7 NMC_Results.xls	16
A 7-3.8 TS_Results.xls	16
A 7-3.9 ACBM_Meta database.xls	17
A 7-4 Used Inputdata for the uncertainty analysis	20
A 7-5 Definition of the used Distributions	21

Annex 7 Description of the ACBM_Model

The model consist of five Excel files for the Simulation:

ACBM_MODEL.xls MODUL_AGRO.xls MODUL_ENERGY.xls

MODUL_FOREST.xls

MODUL WASTE PROD.xls,

and two Excel files to save the results of the simulation of the different scenarios:

NMC_Results.xls (the **No M**ajor **C**hange scenario)

TS_Results.x/s (the Towards Sustainability scenario),

and the meta database where the model parameters are documented:

ACBM_Meta database.xls

A 7-1. Install the Model

To Run the Model you have at first to copy ALL above listed files from the CD to the same directory at your Computer.

<u>Remark:</u> There is always a default version of the ACBM model on the CD and changes you made and which have destroyed the proper simulation, can be undone by copy and paste the default version from the CD again.

A 7-2. How to OPEN the Model

For the simulation ALL five Simulation files (see above) have to be opened. To do this it is necessary first to start Excel and then open the Files because due to this procedure the path of Excel is turned to the directory were the files have been stored. When you are ask if you want to activate the macros you have to answer with YES.

If the opening is not done in the right order problems when you want to save the scenario results would occur.

A 7-3. The contents of the Modules

A 7-3.1 ACBM_MODEL.xls

This is the steering file from where you can start the simulation, save the results and consider the most important outputs of the ACBM. The following Tables are in this file:

Sheet name	Short description
Steering	As shown in Figure A 7-1, in this sheet you can find the Buttons to SIMULATE , to SHOW DIAGRAM (only important ones) to CLEAR RUNS and to Save the Scenario Results .

	If you put the Show Scenario Diagram Button then an Window appears in which you can choose between different diagrams. To come back to the Steering Excel file (ACBM_MODEL.xls) you have go back with the pull down menu of Excel (named Window).
	The Button clear runs deletes all simulation results. It is necessary to click the Button if you change the End year of the simulation otherwise there could be a mixture of the results from different runs.
	In the Top left corner of the sheet the Starting year and End year of the simulation can be seen (Cells B1 and B2).
	All other modules are linked to this cells to ensure that all modules start and finish in the same year, thus changes of the End year should only be made there.
	<u>Note:</u> That in the recent version it is only possible to change the End year between 1991 and 2011. For a longer run to the future the parameters are not defined.
	Very important is the cell B4 where you can choose which scenario you want to simulate!
	Value 1 means NMC Scenario and Value 2 means TS Scenario!
	In the cells C1 C2 and C3 you can see the Start time the End time and the duration of the Simulation (Simulation time) on your Computer!
Control	This sheet was made to control the "faults" within the module. The values are derived as balance in the appropriate modules where the pool change within one year was compared with the change due to the inflows and outflows in the module. The "faults" were small compared to the total amount of the flows only about 0.08 %. The reason for the "faults" can be found in the problem of the time delay within one year. For more details see ACBM Final Report chapter 3.1.
Interfaces	Here are ALL interfaces between the modules listed. Figure A 7-2 shows a part of this list. The columns contents are described with comments as can be seen in the figure for the column A (Module).
	In this sheet you can find a table for the flows from ant to the Atmosphere within the Cells F164 to AE179. See Figure A 7-2a.
	This sheet also contains "IPCC-Mask" within the Cells D182 to AE218, where the IPCC relevant results are summarized. See Figure A 7-2b

MATRIX	In this sheet matrixes for the years 1990 to 2010 are listed. Within this Matrixes all flows from one module to the other and from the other to the module can be seen.
AGRO_OUT, ENERGY_OUT, FOREST_OUT,PROD_OUT and WASTE_OUT	This tables show diagrams from flows of the appropriate Module, as can be seen in the name of the table, to ALL other modules over the simulation time. The unit of the flows is MtC/yr.
	In every sheet you can find a Button called ZOOM. This Button enables you to zoom into the diagrams by changing the maximum value of the Y-axe.
ENERGY_OUT_PJ	This shows the diagram of the flows from Energy to ALL other modules but in this case the unit is PJ/yr.
Balance of ATMO	This sheet shows the diagram of the total flows from and to ATMO as can be seen in the sheet Interfaces.
IPCC Flows	This sheet shows the diagram of the IPCC flows as listed in the sheet Interfaces.
DF_DP_List	Here are all Driving Parameters listed together.



Figure A 7-1: Screenshot of the ACBM_Model sheet Steering

Self	Solution End	Selfer End <	Selection formet (Form Mark (Form Mark)) Selection (Form Mark									× ħ
0 0	0 0	0 0			nsicht Eini	fügen Forma <u>t</u> E <u>x</u> tras D	aten. Eenster 2					NB
10 F X I I Y I I Y I Y	10. E X. U E 3 0.0. % 5 1.0. * </th <th>10 ► X II E ■ X III E ■ X IIII E ■ X IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII</th> <th> ID ► X IL E = IL X UL E = IL X VL E = IL</th> <th>the second se</th> <th>₩ ₩</th> <th>b 📑 ダ 5 + 2</th> <th>- 🍓 🐨 ∑ 🌾 ≧↓</th> <th>Z4 🛍 🔮 🚜 75% 👻 段</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>	10 ► X II E ■ X III E ■ X IIII E ■ X IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	 ID ► X IL E = IL X UL E = IL X VL E = IL	the second se	₩ ₩	b 📑 ダ 5 + 2	- 🍓 🐨 ∑ 🌾 ≧↓	Z4 🛍 🔮 🚜 75% 👻 段				
= (+17)-U-Gebetschnicher/CBM/Documentes/Model Enderstein/RG/MAG Enderstein/RG/MA	= -	= -	= (= 151-1). C)-Electratinite hyb.CEMN0.cumentes Modell Electration for give in the second in t	and the second second second	r 10	F X U 🗐 🗐	≣ 🖽 % 000 %	: 400 🚌 🚎 🔍 - 🕭 - 🛆 -		21		
	$ \begin{array}{ $	$ \left \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$ \begin{array}{ $		I	=(+T51-'D:\Gebetsroith	ier\ACBM\Documentes'	\Modell Endversion\Englishversion	VIMODUL_ENERGY.XI	s]Meta	database'IT59)*44/12	
Offer Description Control Contro Control Control <	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ $	$ \begin{array}{ $		U U	•	ш	Ŀ	с	т	_	
1 10000 10000 100000 10000 100000 10000 100000 10000 100000 10000 100000 10000 100000 10000 100000 10000 100000 10000 1000000 1000000 1000000 1000000 1000000 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	c 1000 <	0 00000 2 000000 2 0000000 000000000000000000000000000000000000	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	F F -	•	VI Origin	A VEGETATION	TA non controls	Supplier •	MTChur	Nottonrimäreroduktion Dereste	
NIMIC CVICT/TOID CVICT/TOID </td <td>2 (100) \(\nother \nother \nothe \nother \nothe \nother \nother \noth \nother \nother \not</td> <td>1 1</td> <td>3 (100) <td< td=""><td></td><td>0</td><td>(ATMO)</td><td>A VEGETATION</td><td>TA non-president int</td><td>AGBO</td><td>MTC/ur</td><td>Nettoprimärproduktion</td><td>Ι</td></td<></td>	2 (100) \(\nother \nother \nothe \nother \nothe \nother \nother \noth \nother \nother \not	1 1	3 (100) <td< td=""><td></td><td>0</td><td>(ATMO)</td><td>A VEGETATION</td><td>TA non-president int</td><td>AGBO</td><td>MTC/ur</td><td>Nettoprimärproduktion</td><td>Ι</td></td<>		0	(ATMO)	A VEGETATION	TA non-president int	AGBO	MTC/ur	Nettoprimärproduktion	Ι
0 0.000 0.0	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1 1	5 1		0	(ATMO)	A VEGETATION	TA http://www.comment.com/ TA http://www.comment.com/	AGRO	MTC/or	Nettoprimärproduktion	
3 $\sqrt{000}$ \sqrt	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1 1 </td <td>1 1</td> <td></td> <td>•</td> <td>A 800</td> <td>ATMO:</td> <td>AT co2 from SOC</td> <td>AGRO</td> <td>MTC/or</td> <td>Emissionen vom SOC</td> <td> </td>	1 1		•	A 800	ATMO:	AT co2 from SOC	AGRO	MTC/or	Emissionen vom SOC	
8 A production of CPU (C) Cut of thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) 8 A production of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) 8 A production of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) 8 A montific thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) 8 A montific thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) 8 A montific thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) 9 A montific thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) 9 A montific thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) 9 A montific thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) 9 A montific thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) 9 A montific thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) 9 A montific thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Copering of C) 9 A montific thron copering of C) Cut of thron copering of C) Copering of C) 9 A montific thron copering of C) </td <td>S Approduction (TMM) (TMM)</td> <td>S Approduction (MM) (MM) (Approduction (MM)) (MM) (Approduction (MM)) (MM) (Approduction (MM)) (Approduction</td> <td>$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$</td> <td></td> <td>\$</td> <td>A_800</td> <td>{ATMO}</td> <td>AT_ch4 from SOC</td> <td>AGRO</td> <td>MTC/yr</td> <td>Emissionen vom SOC</td> <td></td>	S Approduction (TMM)	S Approduction (MM) (MM) (Approduction (MM)) (MM) (Approduction (MM)) (MM) (Approduction (MM)) (Approduction	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		\$	A_800	{ATMO}	AT_ch4 from SOC	AGRO	MTC/yr	Emissionen vom SOC	
S Antechnis conjecturi Antechnis	8 Approduction (MMM) (MMM) Approduction (MMM)	8 Approduction (MM) (MM) (M distribution (MM)) (M distribution (M distributio	3 Approduction (MM) (MM) Approduction (MM) (MM) Approduction (MM) (MM) Approduction (MM) (MM) <td< td=""><td></td><td>"</td><td>A_producing compost</td><td>{ATMO}</td><td>AT_co2 from composting</td><td>AGRO</td><td>MTC/yr</td><td>Emissionen aus der Eigenkompostierung</td><td></td></td<>		"	A_producing compost	{ATMO}	AT_co2 from composting	AGRO	MTC/yr	Emissionen aus der Eigenkompostierung	
8 A URDADICY NTURD Circle Actions and Multiculation 9 A URDADICY NTURD Circle Actions and Multiculation 9 A URDADICY Circle Actions and Multiculation NTURD 9 A URDADICY Circle Actions and Multiculation 10 A URDADICY Circle Actions and Multiculation 11 A URDADICY Circle Actions and Multiculation 12 A URDADICY <	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	5 AUG8000FV 07000 0700 07000	3 AUG6000000000000000000000000000000000000		\$	A_producing compost	{ATMO}	AT_ch4 from composting	AGRO	MTC/yr	Emissionen aus der Eigenkompostierung	
A MUSICANIC MICANIC	8 AUREMOND (170)	8 AUGRADITY (1700) Crist Alternationality in the state of the sta	8 AUGRADITY (170) Cradit functions of finances of finance		••	A_HUSBANDRY	{ATMO}	AT_co2 from decomp. soil surface	AGRO	MTC/yr	Emissionen aus Pflanzenrückständen	
A MURSHOMONT MURSH	5 A VIGNOMONIC MTOM MTOM MTOM Enclose of Viewherdenti 5 A VIEWNER MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM Enclose of Viewherdenti 5 A VIEWNER MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM Enclose of Viewherdenti 5 A VIEWNER MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM Enclose of Viewherdenti 6 A NOND Enclose MTOM MTOM MTOM Enclose of Viewherdenti 6 A NOND Enclose MTOM MTOM MTOM Enclose of Viewherdenti 6 A NOND MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM 6 A NOND MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM 6 A NOND MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM 6 A NOND MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM 6 A NOND MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM 6 A NOND MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM 7 A NOND MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM MTOM <t< td=""><td>8 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential 8 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential (M10) Circle Intendential 8 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential (M10) Circle Intendential 9 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential (M10) Circle Intendential 10 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential (M10) Circle Intendential 11 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendetial (M10) Circle Intendetial 12 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendetial (M10) Circle Intendetial 12 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendetial (M10) Circle Intend</td><td>8 AUGRADICY AUGRADICY AUGRADICY AUGRADIC MTD0 AUGRADICY AUGRADIC MTD0 Califormatical AUGRADIC MTD0 Editional of Vibratical AUGRADIC MTD0 MTD0 <</td><td></td><td>ø</td><td></td><td>{ATMO}</td><td>AT_ch4 from decomp. soil surface</td><td>AGRO</td><td>MTC/yr</td><td>Emissionen aus Pflanzenrückständen</td><td></td></t<>	8 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential 8 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential (M10) Circle Intendential 8 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential (M10) Circle Intendential 9 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential (M10) Circle Intendential 10 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendential (M10) Circle Intendential 11 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendetial (M10) Circle Intendetial 12 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendetial (M10) Circle Intendetial 12 AUGRADICY (M10) Circle Intendetial (M10) Circle Intend	8 AUGRADICY AUGRADICY AUGRADICY AUGRADIC MTD0 AUGRADICY AUGRADIC MTD0 Califormatical AUGRADIC MTD0 Editional of Vibratical AUGRADIC MTD0 MTD0 <		ø		{ATMO}	AT_ch4 from decomp. soil surface	AGRO	MTC/yr	Emissionen aus Pflanzenrückständen	
§ Automotic (Trich) Caliform of a Viantum of Alice Instance § Automotic KTOO MTCP Elaboration of a Viantum of Alice Instance § Automotic Evaluation (Automotic KTOO Elaboration of a Viantum of Alice Instance § Automotic Evaluation (Automotic Evaluation (Automotic Play Elaboration of Alice Instance § Automotic Evaluation (Automotic Play Elaboration Alice Instance § Automotic Evaluation (Automotic Play Elaboration Alice Instance § Automotic Play Elaboration Alice Instance Alice Instance <td>§ ∆ MONGE (1700) AC_4 kit mutuation (1700) AC_4 kit mutuation (1700) (1700)</td> <td>5 ALMADIG (2)(M) (2, 4)(m) (2, 4)(m)</td> <td>8 AVMOND: (170) CA: dt ton naturality 0.00 (170) Cainona de l'anternation de l'anternation 8 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) Cainona de l'anternation 8 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) Cainona de l'anternation 9 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) Cainona de l'anternation 9 AVMOND: Cainona (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 9 AVMOND: Cainona (170) Cainona de l'anternation 9 AVMOND: Cainona (170) Cainona de l'anternation 9 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 10 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 11 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 12 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 13 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 14 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 15 AVMOND: Cainona de l'anternation (170) (170) 16 AVMOND: <t< td=""><td></td><td>0</td><td>A HUSBANDRY</td><td>{ATMO}</td><td>AT_co2 from husbandru</td><td>AGRO</td><td>MTC/w</td><td>Emissionen der Viehwirtschaft</td><td></td></t<></td>	§ ∆ MONGE (1700) AC_4 kit mutuation (1700) AC_4 kit mutuation (1700) (1700)	5 ALMADIG (2)(M) (2, 4)(m)	8 AVMOND: (170) CA: dt ton naturality 0.00 (170) Cainona de l'anternation de l'anternation 8 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) Cainona de l'anternation 8 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) Cainona de l'anternation 9 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) Cainona de l'anternation 9 AVMOND: Cainona (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 9 AVMOND: Cainona (170) Cainona de l'anternation 9 AVMOND: Cainona (170) Cainona de l'anternation 9 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 10 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 11 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 12 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 13 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 14 AVMOND: (170) Cainona de l'anternation (170) 15 AVMOND: Cainona de l'anternation (170) (170) 16 AVMOND: <t< td=""><td></td><td>0</td><td>A HUSBANDRY</td><td>{ATMO}</td><td>AT_co2 from husbandru</td><td>AGRO</td><td>MTC/w</td><td>Emissionen der Viehwirtschaft</td><td></td></t<>		0	A HUSBANDRY	{ATMO}	AT_co2 from husbandru	AGRO	MTC/w	Emissionen der Viehwirtschaft	
§ AVMONE	5 ∆MMURE GTM0 ACC distances ACG 6 ∆MMURE GTM0 ACC distances ACG 7 ACG Cardinal Cardinal ACG 8 ∆MMURE Cardinal Cardinal Cardinal Cardinal 8 ∆MMURE Cardinal Cardinal Cardinal Cardinal 8 ∆MMURE Entensis Cardinal Cardinal Cardinal 8 ∆MURE Cardinal Cardinal Cardinal Cardinal 8 AMURE Cardinal Cardinal Cardinal Cardinal 8 Cardinal Cardinal<	5 ∆. MANUKE (1700) <td>5 ALMANE (1700)</td> <td></td> <td>60</td> <td>A HUSBANDRY</td> <td>(ATMO)</td> <td>AT ch4 from husbandru</td> <td>AGRO</td> <td>MTC/or</td> <td>Emissionen der Viehwirtschaft</td> <td></td>	5 ALMANE (1700)		60	A HUSBANDRY	(ATMO)	AT ch4 from husbandru	AGRO	MTC/or	Emissionen der Viehwirtschaft	
§ Amounts Kindia	§ Autoritize Control MTCP Elemental MTCP MTCP MTCP <td< td=""><td>5 ∆ Linearding ∑ Lineardin</td><td>5 Absolute Limits Limits</td><td></td><td>0</td><td>A MANURE</td><td>(ATMO)</td><td>AT co2 from manure</td><td>AGRO</td><td>MTC/or</td><td>Emissionen der Gülle Mist Behandlung</td><td></td></td<>	5 ∆ Linearding ∑ Lineardin	5 Absolute Limits		0	A MANURE	(ATMO)	AT co2 from manure	AGRO	MTC/or	Emissionen der Gülle Mist Behandlung	
S Alements Existing (K_1) Constant (K_1) Constant	5 Amontanti for polants C. Evalential (Alge Second) Elegitial (Alge Second) (Alge Secon	5 Amont free pales Customs (Az-Samot)	Allowant Consistent Consiste		~	A MANURE	(ATMO)	AT ch4 from manure	AGRO	MTC/or	Emissionen der Gülle Mist Behandlung	
S Colonia Colonia <thcolonia< th=""> <thcolonia< th=""> <thcolonia< td=""><td></td><td>Chemical Sector Chemical Sector <t< td=""><td>A Lemin Current Current</td><td></td><td></td><td>A harvest from plants</td><td>E residential</td><td>(AE energy demand)</td><td>ENERGY</td><td>P.Mur</td><td>Geomt Freeroichedarf der I Wanch für die</td><td></td></t<></td></thcolonia<></thcolonia<></thcolonia<>		Chemical Sector Chemical Sector <t< td=""><td>A Lemin Current Current</td><td></td><td></td><td>A harvest from plants</td><td>E residential</td><td>(AE energy demand)</td><td>ENERGY</td><td>P.Mur</td><td>Geomt Freeroichedarf der I Wanch für die</td><td></td></t<>	A Lemin Current			A harvest from plants	E residential	(AE energy demand)	ENERGY	P.Mur	Geomt Freeroichedarf der I Wanch für die	
i Non-state Currents C	c Color Color <td< td=""><td> Alteriaria Constant Constant</td><td>Allower Constrain Constrain</td><td></td><td></td><td>A biomeee</td><td>F biomoce</td><td>(AF biomace)</td><td>ACDO</td><td>D.U.ur</td><td>Fordio in Riemaco and Landwirtechaft</td><td></td></td<>	 Alteriaria Constant Constant	Allower Constrain			A biomeee	F biomoce	(AF biomace)	ACDO	D.U.ur	Fordio in Riemaco and Landwirtechaft	
X MAGIO COERTIN K Value Montexper Antimation X Mathematical Montexper Antimation X mathematical Montexper Antimation X ALTORIO MERCIN K Careboant Control K Careboant Contro K Careboant	§ (ACC) (COC) (COC) <th< td=""><td>8 j. j</td><td> </td><td>1</td><td>0</td><td>A biomass</td><td>E biomacs</td><td>AE biomass</td><td>AGRO</td><td>MTC/or</td><td>Biomasse aus Landwirtschaft für Energie</td><td></td></th<>	8 j. j	 	1	0	A biomass	E biomacs	AE biomass	AGRO	MTC/or	Biomasse aus Landwirtschaft für Energie	
AGE AGE ACC ACC <td> </td> <td>© Ø.0000 FORT K. Factor Intervence A. Microsoft Micros</td> <td>5 Victori (Control Processity (Control Victorial (Control Victorial (Control) Victorial (Contro) Victorial (</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>MGROS</td> <td>JEOREST 5</td> <td>(AF Iand use change: Area)</td> <td>AGBO</td> <td>4</td> <td>Flöche der I W die an EDBEST au Aufforstu</td> <td></td>	 	© Ø.0000 FORT K. Factor Intervence A. Microsoft Micros	5 Victori (Control Processity (Control Victorial (Control Victorial (Control) Victorial (Contro) Victorial (MGROS	JEOREST 5	(AF Iand use change: Area)	AGBO	4	Flöche der I W die an EDBEST au Aufforstu	
5 APPCIDID MERCIP APPCIDID APPCIDID MERCIP APPCIDID APPCIDID <td>0 V.Critton MCC M</td> <td>0 0</td> <td>5 A. (1700) (1700)<td></td><td></td><td>14CDOL</td><td>JEODEST</td><td>AF Induce changes and</td><td>ACDO.</td><td>MTCAur</td><td>Kohlonetoffaabshi dar jiharaabanan Flicha</td><td></td></td>	0 V.Critton MCC M	0 0	5 A. (1700) (1700) <td></td> <td></td> <td>14CDOL</td> <td>JEODEST</td> <td>AF Induce changes and</td> <td>ACDO.</td> <td>MTCAur</td> <td>Kohlonetoffaabshi dar jiharaabanan Flicha</td> <td></td>			14CDOL	JEODEST	AF Induce changes and	ACDO.	MTCAur	Kohlonetoffaabshi dar jiharaabanan Flicha	
i Autorstein Micros Autorstein Micros Micr	0 Control Control <t< td=""><td>5 AURNAMENT Refersion AURNAMENT AURNAMENT</td></t<> <td>0 Current (Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current) Current) <</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>AVDDO</td> <td>VI OFFICIA JIMDEVDL</td> <td>AT method from hudro</td> <td>ODD O</td> <td>MTCA</td> <td>Kollinerstoff der Österstick über die Flüsse</td> <td></td>	5 AURNAMENT Refersion AURNAMENT	0 Current (Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current) Current (Current) Current) Current) Current) <			AVDDO	VI OFFICIA JIMDEVDL	AT method from hudro	ODD O	MTCA	Kollinerstoff der Österstick über die Flüsse	
c CMMO CMMO <t< td=""><td>0 0<!--</td--><td> </td><td>0 0</td></td></t<> <td>1.1</td> <td>。。</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>AV Territor for the back of</td> <td>0004</td> <td>MTOL</td> <td>Remember of contract and did 1990</td> <td></td>	0 0 </td <td> </td> <td>0 0</td>	 	0 0	1.1	。。			AV Territor for the back of	0004	MTOL	Remember of contract and did 1990	
5 Anterst sinial C-stored and feed mith and S-benerst sinial C-stored mith and S-benerst S-benerst sinial C-stored mith S-benerst sinial C-stored m	8 Amore tanks P-orient and tank P-ori	Number Number </td <td> </td> <td>1</td> <td>• •</td> <td>1 TUORDON DI</td> <td>AIMTEAT</td> <td>not impead from nacounary</td> <td></td> <td>MICON</td> <td>Enter expertence i tere</td> <td></td>	 	1	• •	1 TUORDON DI	AIMTEAT	not impead from nacounary		MICON	Enter expertence i tere	
5 Anverse stands F- contractions F- contractions F- contractions F- contractions Anverse plans Anvers	5 Americania 2-order and record control Americania Ameri	5 Americania 7-order and rest order and rest of the manual of the manu	0 Americania Constantia <	1	• •	A house mined	D food and food with and	AD Assessment rolling		MTCA	Entrary and Entropolation Match File and	
S Amount	5 Americ plant For an other plant For and for an other plant For and for an other plant For an other plant For an other plant For an other plant For and for an other plant For an other plant For and for an other plant For an other plant For an othe	0 Americanic 0 Control Contro Control Contro Co	5 Aurect plus For our rest month Arrect constraints Arrect constants Arrect constraints Arrect	1	• •	A bound to internet	P food and food must and minute	AD hourses dond colored	OUDU OUDU	MTCA	rementation exer-	
S Austrate plates P. food and rede creates and red Air second red Air se	5 Absect paties Constant of a fraction of	5 Abstract plants F-located stated stated and f-located	0 Abstract plants For event plants For	1		A hereof electe	P food and food coroals and food	AD row materials fats and oils	ODDA	MTC/ur	ouncource 1 W Produkto die zur Fett und Ölproduktion	
S Aurwers plans P_rootand rest sequences A_rest sequences <t< td=""><td>5 Abstract parter Constant of a direct ager and Abstract parter Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 5 Abstract parter P. constant of a direct ager and Abstract parter Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 5 Appropring compact V. AMICRIL Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 5 Approbring compact V. AMICRIL Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 5 Approbring compact V. AMICRIL Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 5 Approbring compact V. AMICRIL Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 6 Const L. const L. const L. const Micro W Provident and Micro 6 Const L. const L. const L. const Micro Micro Micro 7 Micro E origit L. const L. const Micro Micro Micro 8 MPECP E origit L. const Micro Micro Micro Micro 8 MPECP E origit Micro Micro Micro Micro Micro 9 MPECP E ori</td><td>0 Aurest plats Aurest plats P. vootste plats P. vootste plats P. vootste plats Aurest plats Aurest plats Aurest plats Aurest plats Aurest plats <th< td=""><td>0 Americ plats Constant for a solution of the solu</td><td>1</td><td></td><td>A horvest plants</td><td>P food and food coroals and food</td><td>AP row motorials coroals and food</td><td>ACPO</td><td>MTC/ur</td><td>1 W Produkto Getroide und Euttormittel</td><td></td></th<></td></t<>	5 Abstract parter Constant of a direct ager and Abstract parter Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 5 Abstract parter P. constant of a direct ager and Abstract parter Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 5 Appropring compact V. AMICRIL Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 5 Approbring compact V. AMICRIL Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 5 Approbring compact V. AMICRIL Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 5 Approbring compact V. AMICRIL Abstract parter Micro W Provident, Frichtwund Gemiter 6 Const L. const L. const L. const Micro W Provident and Micro 6 Const L. const L. const L. const Micro Micro Micro 7 Micro E origit L. const L. const Micro Micro Micro 8 MPECP E origit L. const Micro Micro Micro Micro 8 MPECP E origit Micro Micro Micro Micro Micro 9 MPECP E ori	0 Aurest plats Aurest plats P. vootste plats P. vootste plats P. vootste plats Aurest plats Aurest plats Aurest plats Aurest plats Aurest plats <th< td=""><td>0 Americ plats Constant for a solution of the solu</td><td>1</td><td></td><td>A horvest plants</td><td>P food and food coroals and food</td><td>AP row motorials coroals and food</td><td>ACPO</td><td>MTC/ur</td><td>1 W Produkto Getroide und Euttormittel</td><td></td></th<>	0 Americ plats Constant for a solution of the solu	1		A horvest plants	P food and food coroals and food	AP row motorials coroals and food	ACPO	MTC/ur	1 W Produkto Getroide und Euttormittel	
S Aument plate Descent plate Account plate <td>i Aurora plate Aurora plate</td> <td>5 Americanistic static constraints Provident in the constraint of the constr</td> <td>5 Americanis Providential intervaluation Americanis Amer</td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td>A horvest plants</td> <td>P food and feed succession</td> <td>AP row materials fruits and versibilies</td> <td>AGBO</td> <td>MTC/ur</td> <td>1 W Produkte Früchte und Gemüte</td> <td></td>	i Aurora plate	5 Americanistic static constraints Provident in the constraint of the constr	5 Americanis Providential intervaluation Americanis Amer	1		A horvest plants	P food and feed succession	AP row materials fruits and versibilies	AGBO	MTC/ur	1 W Produkte Früchte und Gemüte	
S Accurate Allowing Constrained for a field of the f	c Achieve prime Achieve prim Achieve prime Achieve prime <td>Subscription Constraint Constraint</td> <td>5 America prime America prim America prime America prime<td>1</td><td>• •</td><td>A house plants</td><td>P food and food angle and b food and food another and</td><td>AP_INV INVENTION FUNCTION AND YESPENDICS AP_INV ANALYSIS SUBJECTION AND ANALYSIS</td><td>O CODO</td><td>MTCA</td><td>LW Products, Hours and General 11/4 Decidates file dia Zuebarera dubian</td><td></td></td>	Subscription Constraint	5 America prime America prim America prime America prime <td>1</td> <td>• •</td> <td>A house plants</td> <td>P food and food angle and b food and food another and</td> <td>AP_INV INVENTION FUNCTION AND YESPENDICS AP_INV ANALYSIS SUBJECTION AND ANALYSIS</td> <td>O CODO</td> <td>MTCA</td> <td>LW Products, Hours and General 11/4 Decidates file dia Zuebarera dubian</td> <td></td>	1	• •	A house plants	P food and food angle and b food and food another and	AP_INV INVENTION FUNCTION AND YESPENDICS AP_INV ANALYSIS SUBJECTION AND ANALYSIS	O CODO	MTCA	LW Products, Hours and General 11/4 Decidates file dia Zuebarera dubian	
Notifier Noti	Current of restorement Constant Constant <td>c Approduction compare Constraint Approduction compare Constraint C</td> <td>5 Acpeter to reconstruction ACC MATCH ACC memory and the operation of the operation o</td> <td>1</td> <td>•</td> <td>A minimum for million minimum</td> <td></td> <td>AD function of a set of the</td> <td></td> <td>MTOL</td> <td>Multi-section dis Zacherpiodandon</td> <td></td>	c Approduction compare Constraint Approduction compare Constraint C	5 Acpeter to reconstruction ACC MATCH ACC memory and the operation of the operation o	1	•	A minimum for million minimum		AD function of a set of the		MTOL	Multi-section dis Zacherpiodandon	
Notifier Noti	Number Number </td <td>> Curporteng composition w</td> <td>s 1700 Event KL construction KL consite KL construction KL consit</td> <td>- 1</td> <td>•</td> <td>A_plants for selfconsumption</td> <td></td> <td>AP_NUMAN AND PETS METADOLISM</td> <td>0490</td> <td>MICON</td> <td>Konienstorr aus der Veracmung der Nahrun</td> <td></td>	> Curporteng composition w	s 1700 Event KL construction KL consite KL construction KL consit	- 1	•	A_plants for selfconsumption		AP_NUMAN AND PETS METADOLISM	0490	MICON	Konienstorr aus der Veracmung der Nahrun	
% UINU Ecoll LL.coll LL.coll <th< td=""><td>8 UTHO E-cols LL-cols L-cols LL-cols L-cols LL-</td><td>3 UII0 E.col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UII0 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UII0 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UII0 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UII00 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UIE00 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UIEC0 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 4 UIE00 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 5 UIE00 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 6 MPEC09 U-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col<td>5 UTHO E-col LC-col LC-col</td><td>- 1</td><td></td><td>A_producing compost</td><td></td><td>A W_ composit to Landrill</td><td>AGRU</td><td>MICOL</td><td>Anteil aus dem Kompost der wieder auf die</td><td></td></td></th<>	8 UTHO E-cols LL-cols L-cols LL-cols L-cols LL-	3 UII0 E.col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UII0 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UII0 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UII0 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UII00 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UIE00 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 3 UIEC0 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 4 UIE00 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 5 UIE00 E.ol UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col 6 MPEC09 U-col UL-col UL-col UL-col UL-col <td>5 UTHO E-col LC-col LC-col</td> <td>- 1</td> <td></td> <td>A_producing compost</td> <td></td> <td>A W_ composit to Landrill</td> <td>AGRU</td> <td>MICOL</td> <td>Anteil aus dem Kompost der wieder auf die</td> <td></td>	5 UTHO E-col LC-col	- 1		A_producing compost		A W_ composit to Landrill	AGRU	MICOL	Anteil aus dem Kompost der wieder auf die	
S ITTHO E.coll ELECT P.Mp. Energy in histicate Objectionenge S ITTHO E.oll E.oll <t< td=""><td>% ITTHO € cold (L = cold) ENERGY M¹/M ENERGY M¹/M ENERGY M¹/M Energia in himitcher fold: Fördenning % ITTHO E ori E</td><td>% ITTHO € cold (LE, cold) ENERGY P/M ENERGY P/M ENERGY P/M ENergia hamicator OliF oliconog % ITTHO E.gel (LE, cold) E.Gel (LE, cold) ENERGY P/M Energia hamicator OliF oliconog % ITTHO E.gel (LE, cold) ENERGY P/M Energia hamicator OliF oliconog % ITTHO E.gel E.gel E.Gel E.Gel E.Gel E.Gel % INPEXPI> E.cold E.Gel E.</td><td>8 UTHO E_coli (L_col) E_end (L_col) EVERCIY D/lyr Evergia in humicater GM-Friedennog 8 UTHO E_end (L_col) E_end (L_col) Evencion D/lyr Evengia in humicater GM-Friedennog 8 UTHO E_end (L_col) Evencion Evencion D/lyr Evengia in humicater GM-Friedennog 8 UTHO E_end (L_col) Evencion Evencion Evencion D/lyr Evengia in humicater GM-Friedennog 8 MPECPIN E_end E_end E_end E_end Evencion D/lyr Evengia in humicater GM-Friedennog 8 MPECPIN E_end E_end E_end Ereed Evencion Evencion<!--</td--><td></td><td>••</td><td>OHII</td><td>E_cool</td><td>LE_cool</td><td>ENERGY</td><td>MTC/yr</td><td>Kohlenstoff in heimischer Kohle-Förderung</td><td></td></td></t<>	% ITTHO € cold (L = cold) ENERGY M ¹ /M ENERGY M ¹ /M ENERGY M ¹ /M Energia in himitcher fold: Fördenning % ITTHO E ori E	% ITTHO € cold (LE, cold) ENERGY P/M ENERGY P/M ENERGY P/M ENergia hamicator OliF oliconog % ITTHO E.gel (LE, cold) E.Gel (LE, cold) ENERGY P/M Energia hamicator OliF oliconog % ITTHO E.gel (LE, cold) ENERGY P/M Energia hamicator OliF oliconog % ITTHO E.gel E.gel E.Gel E.Gel E.Gel E.Gel % INPEXPI> E.cold E.Gel E.	8 UTHO E_coli (L_col) E_end (L_col) EVERCIY D/lyr Evergia in humicater GM-Friedennog 8 UTHO E_end (L_col) E_end (L_col) Evencion D/lyr Evengia in humicater GM-Friedennog 8 UTHO E_end (L_col) Evencion Evencion D/lyr Evengia in humicater GM-Friedennog 8 UTHO E_end (L_col) Evencion Evencion Evencion D/lyr Evengia in humicater GM-Friedennog 8 MPECPIN E_end E_end E_end E_end Evencion D/lyr Evengia in humicater GM-Friedennog 8 MPECPIN E_end E_end E_end Ereed Evencion Evencion </td <td></td> <td>••</td> <td>OHII</td> <td>E_cool</td> <td>LE_cool</td> <td>ENERGY</td> <td>MTC/yr</td> <td>Kohlenstoff in heimischer Kohle-Förderung</td> <td></td>		••	OHII	E_cool	LE_cool	ENERGY	MTC/yr	Kohlenstoff in heimischer Kohle-Förderung	
S UTHO E oli E oli E oli E HERCY MTC/n Koharactif in hamicher G/Frictung P 8 UTHO E oli E oli E oli E oli MERCY M/m F englis in hamicher G/Frictung P 8 UTHO E oli E oli E englis Minicher G/Frictung P P 8 MPEXPI E ooli E englis Minicher Gar-Frictung P P P 8 MPEXPI E ooli CE Minicher Gar-Frictung P P P P P P 8 MPEXPI E ooli CE Minicher Gar-Frictung P	8 ITTHO E. ell IE. ell E. ell	8 ITH0 E.eli ILE.eli E.eli ILE.eli E.EEEY MTC/n FebRory MTC/n MTC/n FebRory MTC/n 8 Mtf/EXP E.eli Mtc/n	8 UTHO Eval Exercision 9 UTHO Eval <td></td> <td>ø</td> <td>ЦПНО</td> <td>E_coal</td> <td>(LE_coal)</td> <td>ENERGY</td> <td>PUM</td> <td>Energie in heimischer Kohle-Förderung</td> <td></td>		ø	ЦПНО	E_coal	(LE_coal)	ENERGY	PUM	Energie in heimischer Kohle-Förderung	
Implement Event (E.gel)	8 ITTHO E.old (E.old) E.BERY PJM Ecopic in homicoho (Deficionendial Activity) 8 ITTHO E.gea E.gea E.gea E.gea E.gea 8 ITTHO E.gea E.gea E.gea E.gea E.gea 8 INPEXPIN E.col X.col E.gea E.gea E.gea 8 INPEXPIN E.col X.col E.gea E.gea E.gea 8 INPEXPIN E.col X.col E.gea E.gea E.gea 8 INPEXPIN E.ol X.col E.gea E.gea E.gea 9 INPEXPIN E.ol X.col E.gea E.gea E.gea 10 MPEXPIN E.ol E.gea E.gea E.gea E.gea 10 MPEXPIN E.ol E.gea E.gea E.gea E.gea 10 MPEXPIN E.ol K.col E.gea E.gea E.gea 10 MPEXPIN E.gea K.col E.gea E.gea E.gea 10 MPEXPIN E.gea K.col E.gea E.gea E.gea E.gea 10 MPEXPIN E.gea K.c.a <	8 UTHO E.eli (E.eli) E.elis	S ITHO Evelotive Um Um Evelotive Um Um Evelotive Um		ø	ПНО	E_eil	LE_oil	ENERGY	MTC/yr	Kohlenstoff in heimischer Öl-Förderung	
Implicit Expect Expect Expect NTC/pr Kolmatchi Inhamichar Gas-Förderung No RMPEXPI E.coli C.E.oli C.E.oli C.E.oli C.E.oli C.E.oli No RMPEXPI E.coli C.E.oli C.E.oli C.E.oli C.E.oli C.E.oli No RMPEXPI E.oli C.E.oli C.E.oli C.E.oli C.E.oli C.E.oli No S MMPEXPI E.oli C.E.oli C.	Imode Event Event Event Puly Event Event Puly Event <	© ITHO Ege IE.ge/ Eventsory IE.ge/ Eventsory <t< td=""><td>S ITHO Ege IL Set ENERCY MTC/n Kolmatedri in kolmitedu Gae-Förderung S MMER/P Eosis IL Set MTC/n MUPLICY MTC/n Minetadu Gae-Förderung S MMER/P Eosis XE-osis KE-osis ENERGY MTC/n Minetadu Gae-Förderung S MMER/P Eosis XE-osis KE-osis ENERGY MTC/n Minetadu Gae-Förderung S MMER/P Eosis XE-osis KE-osis EnerGY MTC/n Minetadu Gae-Förderung S MMER/P Eosis XE-osis KE-osis EnerGY MTC/n Kolmatedri in importation Gi S MMER/P Eosis XE-osis KE-osis EnerGY MTC/n Kolmatedri in importation Gi S MMER/P Eosis KE-osis KE-osis EnerGY PU/n EnerGY PU/n S MMER/P Eosis KE-osis KE-osis KE-osis EnerGY PU/n Energi in importation Gis S MMER/P Eosis KE-osis KE-osis KE-osis KE-osis Energi in importation Gis S MMER/P Eosis KE-osis KE-osis KE-osis KE-osis E</td><td></td><td>\$</td><td>ГШНО</td><td>E oil</td><td>(LE oil)</td><td>ENERGY</td><td>Pullur</td><td>Energie in heimischer Öl-Förderung</td><td></td></t<>	S ITHO Ege IL Set ENERCY MTC/n Kolmatedri in kolmitedu Gae-Förderung S MMER/P Eosis IL Set MTC/n MUPLICY MTC/n Minetadu Gae-Förderung S MMER/P Eosis XE-osis KE-osis ENERGY MTC/n Minetadu Gae-Förderung S MMER/P Eosis XE-osis KE-osis ENERGY MTC/n Minetadu Gae-Förderung S MMER/P Eosis XE-osis KE-osis EnerGY MTC/n Minetadu Gae-Förderung S MMER/P Eosis XE-osis KE-osis EnerGY MTC/n Kolmatedri in importation Gi S MMER/P Eosis XE-osis KE-osis EnerGY MTC/n Kolmatedri in importation Gi S MMER/P Eosis KE-osis KE-osis EnerGY PU/n EnerGY PU/n S MMER/P Eosis KE-osis KE-osis KE-osis EnerGY PU/n Energi in importation Gis S MMER/P Eosis KE-osis KE-osis KE-osis KE-osis Energi in importation Gis S MMER/P Eosis KE-osis KE-osis KE-osis KE-osis E		\$	ГШНО	E oil	(LE oil)	ENERGY	Pullur	Energie in heimischer Öl-Förderung	
image: simple in the second method of the second method method of the second method method of the second method metho	8 ITHO Equation EVEROI PAY Everoi EVEROI PAY Everoi Everoi <td< td=""><td>i ITHO Egge (E.g.4) EVERCI P/N EVERCI P/N</td><td>3 ITTMO E.gen ITTAC EVERCI PUN Everoit PUN PUN Everoit PUN PUN</td><td></td><td></td><td>ITTHO</td><td>F ass</td><td>IF ase</td><td>ENERGY</td><td>MTC/us</td><td>Kohlonstoff in heimischer Gas-Förderung</td><td></td></td<>	i ITHO Egge (E.g.4) EVERCI P/N	3 ITTMO E.gen ITTAC EVERCI PUN Everoit PUN PUN Everoit PUN			ITTHO	F ass	IF ase	ENERGY	MTC/us	Kohlonstoff in heimischer Gas-Förderung	
Norm	NHERCP Load KL-odd KL-odd <td>N N Local XC.col XC.col XC.col N N 8 MMEXP) E.col XC.col XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP) E.col XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Biomasse 9 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Emercin Kolk 9 MMEXP MY Emercin Kolk</td> <td>5 MMERT Cost Number of the cost Numer of the cost</td> <td>1.</td> <td>• •</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0E 210</td> <td>ENEDOY</td> <td>A Dillo</td> <td>Foreix is briefscher Oss-Fieldens</td> <td></td>	N N Local XC.col XC.col XC.col N N 8 MMEXP) E.col XC.col XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP) E.col XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin Kolk 8 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Kolparterin importeret Biomasse 9 MMEXP E.ol XC.col EMERCI MY Emercin Kolk 9 MMEXP MY Emercin Kolk	5 MMERT Cost Number of the cost Numer of the cost	1.	• •			0E 210	ENEDOY	A Dillo	Foreix is briefscher Oss-Fieldens	
N Constraint	Norm Constrained Constraine	© Image: structure in the	8 RMECR Cost Call Control Contro Contro Control		• •	JIMADEVDL	100	VE and	ENEDGY	MICAN	Mohleerteff is immediate weeks works	
s NMPEXPIN C-construction (X-L-construction) (X-C-construction) (> Immetany (MPEXP) Constrained (Constrained) (Matching) (Constrained) Constrained (Constrained) (Matching) (Constrained) Constrained (Constrained) 5 MPEXP) Constrained (Constrained) Constrained (Constrained) (Constrained) (Constrained) 6 MPEXP) Constrained (Constrained) (Constrained) (Constrained) (Constrained) 8 MPEXP) Constrained (Constrained) (Constrained) (Constrained) 8 MPEXP) Constrained (Constrained) (Constrained) (Constrained) 9 Constrained (Constrained) (Constrained) (Constrained) (Constrained) 9 Constrained (Constrained) (Constrained) (Constrained) 9 Constrationed <td>> Immetry (MPECP) Constrained End Constrained (Constrained) Constrained (Constrained) Constrained (Constrained) Constrained (Constrained) Constrained (Constrained) 3 MPECP) E.eli (Ce.eli) <</td> <td>> Immetry (MMECP) Loss Loss (AL-cost) (AL-cost) (AL-cost)</td> <td>11</td> <td>•</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>in city</td> <td>Remember in importance round</td> <td></td>	> Immetry (MPECP) Constrained End Constrained (Constrained) Constrained (Constrained) Constrained (Constrained) Constrained (Constrained) Constrained (Constrained) 3 MPECP) E.eli (Ce.eli) <	> Immetry (MMECP) Loss Loss (AL-cost) (AL-cost) (AL-cost)	11	•					in city	Remember in importance round	
NMPEXP Coll AColl Current Curent Curre	NMECN Coll X_coll Concord 8 MMECN Coll X_coll Concord 8 MMECN Electron M/N M/N M/N 9 M/N M/N M/N M/N M/N 9 E. blact mone, cole plant M/N M/N M/N M/N 10 M/N M/N M/N M/N M/N 11 M/N M/N M/N M/N M/N 12 M/N M/N M/N M/N M/N 13 M/N M	> NHECKT Coll AL-oil 5 MHECKT Coll Coll AL-oil 5 MHECKT Coll Coll Coll 5 MHECKT Coll Coll Coll 5 MHECKT Coll Coll Coll 5 MHECKT Expension EUERGY PJM Energian importance of the importance of	> Immetry Colin Action Currents 5 MMECRY E.olin (K_e.ol) (K_e.ol) Experts 5 MMECRY E.olin (K_e.ol) (K_e.ol) Experts 5 MMECRY E.olin (K_e.ol) Experts (K_e.ol) 5 MMECRY E.olin (K_e.ol) Experision Experision 5 MMECRY E.olin (K_e.ol) Expersion Expersion 5 MMECRY E.olin (K_e.olin) Expersion Expersion 5 E.blast funce, cise plant (MMO) E.olinasci E.olinasci E.olinasci 5 E.blast funce, cise plant (MMO) E.olinasci E.olinasci E.olinasci 5 E.olinasci MMECRY MMC E.olinasci E.olinasci 5 E.olinasci F.olinasci E.olinasci E.olinasci E.olinasci 5 E.olinasci MMECRY MMC E.olinasci E.olinasci 6 E.olinasci F.olinasci E.olinasci E.olinasci 7 E.olinasci F.olinasci E.olinasci E.olinasci 8 E.olinasci F.olinasci E.olinasci E.olin	11	•	PINTEAF?	E_0031			in the second	Energie in importance Nome Mathematics (1000-1000-1000)	
> NMPEXPIE Constraint Current Constraint Current Constraint Current Constraint Current Constraint Current Cu	3 MMECAT Construction Construction Construction Construction 5 MMECAT Existence Construction Construction Construction 5 MMECAT Existence Construction Construction Construction 5 Existence Construction Construction Construction Construction 5 Existence Construction Construction Construction Construction 5 Evolution Construction Construction Construction Construction 5 Evolution Construction Construction Construction Construction 6	> mmt.cr/r cm	> Immetry (MMEXP) Constrained (Constraint) Constrained (Constraint) Constraint (Constraint) Constraint (Constraint) Constraint) 5 MMEXP) Expect (Constraint) Expect (Co	11	•						Komenskorr in importancem of	
5 MMPEXP) E_gas X_ags CREMAT PU/Y Exercision Exercision 5 MMPEXP) E_gas (X_a) Exercision Exe	8 MMECNP E.gas X	3 MMELTY) Case Xage 5 MMELTY Case Xage 5 MMELTY Case X_and 5 MMELTY Case X_and 6 MMELTY Extension Extension 7 MMELTY Extension Kaleneet 8 MMELTY Extension REBRY PJN 8 MMELTY Extension REBRY PJN 9 Extension REBRY PJN Energin importation tase 5 Extension REBRY PJN Energin importation tase 6 Extension REBRY PJN Energin importation tase 7 Extension REBRY PJN Energin importation tase 8 Extension REBRY PJN Energin importation tase 8 Extension REBRY PJN Energin importation tase 8 Extension REBRY PJN Energin tase 8	8 IMPEXPIN Logs XL_gest XL_gest Loge XL_gest Loge Lo		•	SIMPLEAR?		(VE_0II)		idea -		
8 MMPEXPP E.gads XCL_gads XCL_gads CURPICI Minimportant use 5 MMPEXPP E.biomass XCL_biomass XCL_biomass XCL_biomass XCL_biomass 5 MMPEXPP E.biomass XCL_biomass XCL_biomass XCL_biomass XL_biomass 5 MMPEXPP E.biomass XCL_biomass XCL_biomass XL_biomass XL_biomass 5 MMPEXPP E.decntridiy FL_biomass XL_biomass XL_biomass XL_biomass 5 E.biotatoti in importients Biomasse FL_biotatoti in importients Biomasse YL_bio Minimportient Biomasse 5 E.biotatoti in importient Biomasse FL_biotatoti in importient Biomasse NL_bio PLipit Important Biomasse 5 E.ofinery MTMOI FL_biotatoti in importient Biomasse NL_bio PLipit Important Biomasse 6 E.ofinery MTMOI FL_biotatoti in important Biomasse NL_bio PLipit Important Biomasse 7 E.ofinery MTMOI FL_biotatoti in important Biomasse NL_bio PLipit Important Biomasse 8 E.ofinery MTMOI FL_biotatoti in important Biomasse NL_biotatoti in important Biomasse NL_biotatoti in important Biomasse	S MMECNP E.gens KL-PAP S MMECNP E.genses KL-Genses KL-Genses S MMECNP E.denses KL-Genses KL-Genses S MMECNP E.denses KL-Genses KL-Genses S MMECNP E.denses KL-Genses KL-Genses S E.blat fumesc. cole plant KTMOI FL-Jelat fumesc. cole plant Elefter S E.blat fumesc. KTMOI FL-Jelat fumesc. cole plant Elefter PJIP S E.blat fumesc. KTMOI FL-Jelat fumesc. cole plant Elefter PJIP Elefter S E.blat fumesc. KTMOI FL-Jelat fumesc. cole plant Elefter PJIP Elefter PJIP S E.offerory KTMOI FL-Jelat fumesc. cole plant Elefter PJIP Elefter PJIP S E.offerory KTMOI FL-Jelat fumesc. cole plant Elefter PJIP Elefter PJIP S E.offerory KTMOI FL-Jelatory Elefter PJIP Elefter PJIP S E.offerory KTMOI FL-Jelatory OUT PJIP Elefter PJIP S E.offerory KTMOI	8 MMELTY C. 2005 X.L. 501 8 MMELTY C. Bonnest X.L. 501 8 MMELTY C. Bonnest X.L. 501 8 MMELTY Extension X.L. 501 9 Extension X.L. 501 X.L. 501 8 MMELTY Extension X.L. 501 9 Extension X.L. 501 X.L. 501 8 E. Bhat funce, cole plant XIM00 T. Extension X.B.BAT 8 E. Bhat funce, cole plant XIM00 T. Extension X.B.BAT 8 E. Bhat funce, cole plant XIM00 T. Extension X.B.BAT 9 E. cellongy XIM00 T. Extension X.B.BAT 9 E. cellongy XIM00 T. Extension X.B.BAT 9 E. cellongy XIM00 T. Cellongy X.D.M.BAT 10 X. AGRO_OUT X.B.BAT X.MOO T. cellongy 10 X. Extension X.MOO T. cellongy X.B.BAT 10 X. AGRO_OUT K.B.BAT X.MOO X.MOO 10 X. MAO T. cellongy X.B.BAT X.B.BAT 10 X. MAT X.AGRO_OUT X.B.BAT 10 X.	Numerxity Commercial Com	- 1			- 9%	AL_gas	ENERGT	MI COL		
S MMEXCP E.bomaze XE_bomaze XE_bomaze S MMEXCP E.bomaze XE_bomaze S E.blat funce, cole plant MTOP Reference S E.blat funce, cole plant MTOP Endeoins funce S E.blat funce, cole plant MTOP Endeoins funce S E.blat funce, cole plant MTOP Endeoins funce S E.loftery MTOP Endeoins funce S E.offery MTOP Endeoins funce S E.udinopate Endeoins funce Endeoins funce S E.udinopate PJM Endeoins functer florence S E.udinopate PJM Endeoins functer S E.udinopate PJM Endeoins functer S E.udinopate Funce PJM Endeoins functer S E.udinopate PJM Endeoins functer PJM S E.udinopate PJM Endeoins functer S E.ud	S MMEXP} Extension X.Extension X.Extension S MMEXP Extension Extension X.Extension S MMEXP Extension Extension X.Extension S MMEXP Extension X.Extension X.Extension S MMEXP Extension X.Extension X.Extension S Extension X.Extension X.Extension X.Extension S Extension X.MOO T. Extension X.Extension X.MO S Extension X.MOO T. Extension X.Extension X.MO S Extension X.MOO T. Extension X.Extension X.MOO S Extension X.MOO T. Extension X.Extension X.MOO S Extension X.MOO T. Extension X.Extension X.MOO S Extension X.MOO T. Extension X.MOO X.ArMOO X.ArMOO S Extension X.MOO T. Extension X.Extension X.MOO X.MOO S Extension X.MOO T. Extension X.MOO Y.ArMOO X.ArMOO Contral Matrix A.AGRO_OUT K.Extension X.MOO <	3 MMERTP Exemption Exemption 5 MMERTP Exemption X.E. Beinnasse X.E. Beinnasse 5 MMERTP Exemption X.E. Beinnasse X.E. Beinnasse 5 MMERTP E. Beinnasse E. Beinnasse PJIyr Exercise 5 E. Beint fumace, cole plate MMOO FT. Beint fumace, cole plate PJIyr Exercise 5 E. beint fumace, cole plate MMOO ET. Beint fumace, cole plate EMERGY PJIyr Exercise 5 E. beint fumace, cole plate MTOO ET. Beint fumace, cole plate EMERGY PJIyr Exercise 5 E. officery MTOO ET. Beint fumace, cole plate EMERGY PJIyr Exercise 6 E. officery MTOO ET. Beint fumace, cole plate EMERGY PJIyr Exercise 7 E. officery MTOO ET. efficery EMERGY PJIyr Exercise 8 E. officery MTOO ET. efficery EMERGY PJIyr Exercise for hold onfords 8 E. officery MTOO ET. efficery EMERGY PJIyr Exercise for hold onfords 9 E. officery MTOO ET. officery EMERGY PJIyr	S MMEERNAL Elements X.E. Elements X.E. Elements S E. Element elements Elements X.E. Elements P.U.P. S E. Element elements F. Manol F. Lehet funces, cole plus P.U.P. S E. Element elements F. Manol F. Lehet funces, cole plus P.U.P. S E. Element elements F. Manol F. Lehet funces, cole plus P.U.P. S E. element MINO F. Lehet funces, cole plus P.U.P. S E. element P.U.P. P.U.P. P.U.P. S E. element P.U.N. Elements P.U.P. S E. element P.U.N. P.U.N. P.U.P. S		~	(IMPEXP)	200	[XE_gas]	ENERGY	Puole	Energie in importiertem Gas	
S MMPEXP} E. bonnace (XE. bonnace) (XE. bonnace) S IMPEXP E. bonnace (XE. bonnace) EBERGY PJM Energies important S E. blact funnace, color plant MTMO) ET. blact funnace, color plant MTC/M Energies important Energies S E. blact funnace, color plant MTMO) ET. blact funnace, color plant ENERGY PJM Energies important Energies S E. blact funnace, color plant MTMO) ET. blact funnace, color plant ENERGY PJM Energies on plant MTC/M S E. colinory MTMO) ET. elinory ENERGY PJM Energies on plant M S E. officery R. MOO ET. elinory ENERGY PJM Energies on plant M S E. officery R. MOO ET. elinory ENERGY PJM Energies on plant M S E. officery E. MAOO ET. elinory ENERGY PJM Energies on planteria M S E. officery E. MAOO ET. elinory ENERGY PJM Energies on the planteria S E. officery E. MAOO ET. elinory ENERGY PJM Energies on the planteria <	S MMEXCP E. Johnnacz C. Extended C. Extended Exte	% MMEERP Extension CRE.bonace CRE.bonace % WMEERP Edenticity CRE.bonace Dip Expertions interprist importance interprist imp	S MMEERNAL Extension Commonsal Extension S MMEERNAL Extension Control MMEERNAL PJ/M Extension S Extension Caterrichy Caterrichy Extension Extension PJ/M Experiment formasse S Extension ATMOD Ell-Extension Caterrichy Extension Extension Extension S Extension ATMOD Ell-Extension Caterrichy Extension Extension Extension S Extension ATMOD Ell-Extension Extension Extension Extension Extension Control <td< td=""><td></td><td>~</td><td>(IMPEXP)</td><td>L_DIOMASS</td><td>XE_DIOMASS</td><td>ENERGY</td><td>MICOF</td><td>Kohlenstoff in importierter biomasse</td><td></td></td<>		~	(IMPEXP)	L_DIOMASS	XE_DIOMASS	ENERGY	MICOF	Kohlenstoff in importierter biomasse	
3 MMPEXP; Eventicity (XE_electricity) (XE_electricity) </td <td>3 MMPEXP) Extension Extension ENERGY PJIyr Import von Strom 3 E.bhat funce. cole plant ATMO0 ET_blat funce. cole plant ENERGY PJIyr Import von Strom 3 E.bhat funce. cole plant ATMO0 ET_blat funce. cole plant ENERGY PJIyr Import von Strom 5 E.officery ATMO0 ET_officery ET_officery PJIyr Energionentext fichchoft/obtaci 5 E.officery ATMO0 ET_officery ET_officery PJIyr Energionentext fichchoft/obtaci 5 E.officery ATMO0 ET_officery Energionentext fichchoft/obtaci PJIyr Energionentext fichchoft/obtaci 6 E.officery ATMO0 ET_officery Energy_OUT PJIyr Energionentext fichchoft/obtaci 6 E.officery ATMO0 ATMO0 Energy_OUT PJIyr Energionentext fichchoft Y 0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 Y Montentext fichchoft Y 0 Atmon Atmon Atmon Atmon Atmon Atmon Atmon Atmon</td> <td>3 MMPEXP; Extension CE-deterticity (XE-deterticity) (XE-deterity) (XE-deterticity)</td> <td>3 IMPECP) Extension Categories Categories ENERGY PJyr Import von Strom 3 E. blast funces, cole plant T. blast funces, cole plant ENERGY PJyr Import von Strom 3 E. blast funces, cole plant ATMO0 T. blast funces, cole plant ENERGY PJyr Import von Strom 3 E. criterion ATMO0 T. Jehast funces, cole plant ENERGY PJyr Import von Strom 5 E. criterion ATMO0 ET_refinery ENERGY PJyr Energionenter heldenfineries 5 E. criterion ATMO0 ET_refinery Energy_OUT_PJy FOREST PJyr Energionenter heldenfineries 6 E. criterion ATMO0 ET_refinery ENERGY PJyr Energionenter heldenfineries 5 E. ujdro plant ATMO0 ET_refinery Energy_OUT_PJ FOREST PJyr Energiventures Vasartingh 6 ATMO0 ATMO0 ET_refinery ENERGY PJyr Energiventures Vasartingh V 6 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 V 7 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 V</td> <td></td> <td>••</td> <td>{IMPEXP}</td> <td>E_biomass</td> <td>(XE_biomass)</td> <td>ENERGY</td> <td>PJØr</td> <td>Energie in importierter Biomasse</td> <td></td>	3 MMPEXP) Extension Extension ENERGY PJIyr Import von Strom 3 E.bhat funce. cole plant ATMO0 ET_blat funce. cole plant ENERGY PJIyr Import von Strom 3 E.bhat funce. cole plant ATMO0 ET_blat funce. cole plant ENERGY PJIyr Import von Strom 5 E.officery ATMO0 ET_officery ET_officery PJIyr Energionentext fichchoft/obtaci 5 E.officery ATMO0 ET_officery ET_officery PJIyr Energionentext fichchoft/obtaci 5 E.officery ATMO0 ET_officery Energionentext fichchoft/obtaci PJIyr Energionentext fichchoft/obtaci 6 E.officery ATMO0 ET_officery Energy_OUT PJIyr Energionentext fichchoft/obtaci 6 E.officery ATMO0 ATMO0 Energy_OUT PJIyr Energionentext fichchoft Y 0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 Y Montentext fichchoft Y 0 Atmon Atmon Atmon Atmon Atmon Atmon Atmon Atmon	3 MMPEXP; Extension CE-deterticity (XE-deterticity) (XE-deterity) (XE-deterticity)	3 IMPECP) Extension Categories Categories ENERGY PJyr Import von Strom 3 E. blast funces, cole plant T. blast funces, cole plant ENERGY PJyr Import von Strom 3 E. blast funces, cole plant ATMO0 T. blast funces, cole plant ENERGY PJyr Import von Strom 3 E. criterion ATMO0 T. Jehast funces, cole plant ENERGY PJyr Import von Strom 5 E. criterion ATMO0 ET_refinery ENERGY PJyr Energionenter heldenfineries 5 E. criterion ATMO0 ET_refinery Energy_OUT_PJy FOREST PJyr Energionenter heldenfineries 6 E. criterion ATMO0 ET_refinery ENERGY PJyr Energionenter heldenfineries 5 E. ujdro plant ATMO0 ET_refinery Energy_OUT_PJ FOREST PJyr Energiventures Vasartingh 6 ATMO0 ATMO0 ET_refinery ENERGY PJyr Energiventures Vasartingh V 6 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 V 7 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 ATMO0 V		••	{IMPEXP}	E_biomass	(XE_biomass)	ENERGY	PJØr	Energie in importierter Biomasse	
S Eublat funace, coke plant MTM00 ET_blact funace, coke plant MTC/yr Enclosen Kokrei S Eublat funace, coke plant MTM00 ET_blact funace, coke plant) EUBEOT PJ/yr Enclosen Kokrei S Eucliney Eucliney ET_finace, coke plant) EUBEOT PJ/yr Energionent Kokrei S Eucliney Eucliney EUCline PJ/yr Energionent Kokrei S Eucliney EUCliney EUCliney Energionent Kokrei S Eucliney EUCliney EUCliney Energionent Kokrei S Eucliney EUCliney Energionent Kokrei M Control Autor Anton EUCliney EUCliney Energionent Kokrei M	S Exblast funsee, oke plat MTMO EL blast funsee, oke plat MTC/yr Existence factor 8 E. blast funsee, oke plat MTMO ET_blast funsee, oke plat PJ/yr Engeventer factor	S Exhart funces, cole plant MTMOF EL_blant funces, cole plant MTC/pr Extension Katerionen Keteral S E. foliar funces, cole plant MTMOF EL_officing MTC/pr Explore functionen Keteral S E. cefting MTMOF EL_officing Extension MTC/pr Environment Keteral S E. cefting MTMOF EL_officing Extension MTC/pr Environment Keteral S E. cefting MTMOF EL_officing Extension MTC/pr Environment Keteral S E. cefting MTMOF EL_officing Extension MTC/pr Environment Keteral S E. cefting MTMOF EL_officing Extension Extension Extension S E. ujduo plant A Matrix / ASRO_OUT / Environment FOREST Puly Environment Vascethant Anto Forman + \lambda Matrix / ASRO_OUT / Environment FOREST_OUT / MASTE_OUT / ATMO_OUT / Balance i 4 matrix Matrix	S Existence, cole plant MTMO ET_blast funces, cole plant EtBERY MTClyr Existence kole 3 E. blast funces, cole plant MTMO ET_blast funces, cole plant EtBERY PJIyr Existence kole 3 E. rolinery MTMO ET_orlinery Existence for Alteriation PJIyr Existence for Alteriation 3 E. rolinery MTMO ET_orlinery Exercise PJIyr Existence for Alteriation 5 E. rolinery MTMO ET_orlinery Exercise PJIyr Existence for Alteriation 5 E. rolinery MTMO ET_orlinery Exercise PJIyr Existence for Alteriation 6 E. rolinery MTMO ET_orlinery Exercise PJIyr Existence for Alteriation 5 E. ujodo plant Alter Alter Alter and Alteriation Exercise PJIyr Exercise for Alteriation Control Interfaces / Matrix / AGRO_OUT / Exercise Jour PJI FORESCOUT / ALTERO_OUT / Exercise Jour / ATMO_OUT / Balance i [M		\$	{IMPEXP}	E_electricity	(XE_ electricity)	ENERGY	PJMyr	Import von Strom	
S E_blast funnece, cole plant (ATMO) (ET_blast funnece, cole plant) ENERGY PJlyr Energieventure the cholent/Kolkerei S E_officery KTMO) (ET_officery) (ET_officery) Energieventures the cholent/Kolkerei S E_officery KTMO) (ET_officery) Energieventures that cholent/Kolkerei N S E_officery RTMO) (ET_officery) Energieventures that cholent/Kolkerei N S E_updeo plant (ET_officery) (ET_officery) Energieventures that cholent/Kolkerei N Control N (ET_officery) (ET_officery) Energieventures Variantie N Control N ATMO) (ET_officery) Energieventures Variantie N	3 E_blat funce, cole plan (TT_blat funce, cole plan) EVERGY PJyy Every Every <t< td=""><td>3 E_blat funce, cole plat MTMO; (ET_blat funce, cole plat) EVERSY PJV; Engineerluer the cholent/Kolerei 3 E_officery MTMO; ET_officery ET_officery ET_officery MV; Engineerluer the cholent/Kolerei 3 E_officery MTMO; ET_officery Engeneerluer the cholent/Kolerei M 5 E_officery MTMO; ET_officery Engineerluer the filteritie M 6 E_officery MTMO; Engineerluer the filteritie M M Control) Interfaces / Matrix / AGRO_OUT / Energy_OUT / Engineerluer the filteritie PJV; Engineerluer the filteritie M UptoFormen × \ > I Image: Termineerline Engineerline the filteritie M M</td><td>S Exclusion MTMO; (ET_blast funce, cole plant) EVERSY PJyy Exercise the cholocal/colored S Exclusion MTMO; (ET_selection) (ET_selection) EVERSY PJyy Exercises the failencie S Exclusion MTMO; (ET_selection) (ET_selection) EVERSY PJyy Exercises the failencie S Exclusion MTMO; (ET_selection) (ET_selection) EVERSY PJyy Exercises the failencie S Exclusion MTMO; (ET_selection) (ET_selection) EVERSY PJyy Exercises the failencie Control \Linterfaces (Matrix / AGRO OUT / ENERGY OUT / Energy OUT P) / FOREST OUT / PROPOUT / WASTE_OUT / ATMO.OUT / Balance M</td><td></td><td>0</td><td>E_blast furnace, coke plant</td><td>{ATMO}</td><td>ET_blast furnace, coke plant</td><td>ENERGY</td><td>MTC/yr</td><td>Emissionen Kokerei</td><td></td></t<>	3 E_blat funce, cole plat MTMO; (ET_blat funce, cole plat) EVERSY PJV; Engineerluer the cholent/Kolerei 3 E_officery MTMO; ET_officery ET_officery ET_officery MV; Engineerluer the cholent/Kolerei 3 E_officery MTMO; ET_officery Engeneerluer the cholent/Kolerei M 5 E_officery MTMO; ET_officery Engineerluer the filteritie M 6 E_officery MTMO; Engineerluer the filteritie M M Control) Interfaces / Matrix / AGRO_OUT / Energy_OUT / Engineerluer the filteritie PJV; Engineerluer the filteritie M UptoFormen × \ > I Image: Termineerline Engineerline the filteritie M M	S Exclusion MTMO; (ET_blast funce, cole plant) EVERSY PJyy Exercise the cholocal/colored S Exclusion MTMO; (ET_selection) (ET_selection) EVERSY PJyy Exercises the failencie S Exclusion MTMO; (ET_selection) (ET_selection) EVERSY PJyy Exercises the failencie S Exclusion MTMO; (ET_selection) (ET_selection) EVERSY PJyy Exercises the failencie S Exclusion MTMO; (ET_selection) (ET_selection) EVERSY PJyy Exercises the failencie Control \Linterfaces (Matrix / AGRO OUT / ENERGY OUT / Energy OUT P) / FOREST OUT / PROPOUT / WASTE_OUT / ATMO.OUT / Balance M		0	E_blast furnace, coke plant	{ATMO}	ET_blast furnace, coke plant	ENERGY	MTC/yr	Emissionen Kokerei	
S Eofficery MTCOr Extension Refinition S Eofficery RTCOr Endesionen Refinition S Eofficery RTCOr P_IIV Endesionen S Eofficery RTMOD RTofficery Refer S Eofficery RTMOD RTofficery Refer S Eofficery RTMOD Refer P_IIV Endesionentexter Wassenhaht Control Interfaces Matrix A GRO_OUT Endegreentere Wassenhaht Image: Refer	S Lofleroy MTClyr Extension Bafinetic S Lofleroy Entersion Entersion Bafinetic S Lofleroy Experiments Entersion Bafinetic S Lofleroy UN Entersion Bafinetic Control Interfaces / Matrix ATMO_OUT Entersion Bafinetic Control Interfaces / Matrix AGRO_OUT Entersion UT Utofformen + > Interfaces ATMO_OUT	S E. offleey MTMO; EToffleey Etoffleey MTCO; Enciences Refineries S E. offleey MTCO; Error Puy Enciences Refineries Control Antos (ETofflee) selesy Enciences Puy Enciences MTCO; Control Antos (ETofflee) selesy Enciences Enciences Puy Enciences MTCO; Control Antos OUT Enciences Enciences Puy Enciences MTCO; Control Antos OUT Enciences Enciences Puy Enciences MTCO;	S Lothory MTON EL_othory MTON EL_othory MTON ELothory MTON MTON <t< td=""><td></td><td>"</td><td>E_blast furnace, coke plant</td><td>{ATMO}</td><td>(ET_blast furnace, coke plant)</td><td>ENERGY</td><td>PUM</td><td>Energieverluste Hochofen/Kokerei</td><td></td></t<>		"	E_blast furnace, coke plant	{ATMO}	(ET_blast furnace, coke plant)	ENERGY	PUM	Energieverluste Hochofen/Kokerei	
S E-offnery KTMO; (ET_refinery) ENERGY PJlyi Energieventere Refinence S E_Jydoo plant (ATMO) (ET_refinery) Energieventere Vazaethaft ▼ S E_Jydoo plant (ATMO) (ET_refinery) Energieventere Vazaethaft ▼ Control \ Interfaces \ Matrix \ AGRO_OUT \ Energy_OUT \ Energy_OUT \ FROD_OUT \ MASTE_OUT \ ATMO_OUT \ Energieventere vazaethaft ▼	S C-offnery MTMO (E1offnery) (E1offnery) (E1offnery) S E_Jydoc planx XTMO (E1offnery) (E1offnery) (E1offnery) Control \> ArMo Armo_OUT \ Name Name (Energieventere Vascenter) Control \ Interfaces \ Matrix \ AGRO_OUT \ Energy_OUT \ POP_OUT \ POP_OUT \ UtoFormer \ \ I (D) + 2 (2) (D) (2) (POD_OUT \ POD_OUT \ ATMO_OUT \ Balance	S E. critery W/N Events W/N Events Filler Matrix S E. vado plant W/NO (T. critery) (T. critery) Events PJW Events Events Vasce criters <	S E-offnoy W/M Enclose P/W Enclose Refinence S E-offnoy W/M Enclose P/W Enclose Refinence Control \Interfaces / Matrix / AGRO_OUT / Enclose Vocations Enclose Vocations Vocations Control \Interfaces / Matrix / AGRO_OUT / Enclose Vocations Enclose Vocations Vocations UtoFormen + \ \ O		\$	Erefineru	(ATMO)	ET refineru	ENERGY	MTC/ur	Emissionen Baffinerie	
S Evene have know know (The second relation of the second relation	S Evene phase with the second of the second	S Events Kimb Enclose Kimb Enclose Win Enclose Win Enclose Matrix A GR0_OUT K Enclose Matrix A GR0_OUT K Enclose Matrix Matrix A GR0_OUT K Enclose Matrix M	S Evened to the stress of the second of the			F rofinoru	ATMON	(FT refinent)	ENFDOY	D.Due	Energiauselucto Doffinacio	
control) Interfaces / Matrix / AGRO_OUT / ENERGY_OUT / Energy_OUT_PJ / FOREST_OUT / PROD_OUT / WASTE_OUT / ATMO_OUT / Balance <	control \ Interfaces / Matrix / AGRO_OUT / ENERGY_OUT / Energy_OUT_PJ / FOREST_OUT / PROD_OUT / WASTE_OUT / ATMO_OUT / Balance < UtoFormen ◆ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ O 4 \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \	control À Interfaces & Matrix & AGRO_OUT & ENERGY_OUT & Energy_OUT & P. P. P. COUT & MASTE_OUT & ATMO_OUT & Balance 4 Energy_OUT po for a control of the second of the	ontrol \ Interfaces / Matrix / AGRO_OUT / ENERSY_OUT / Energy_OUT_P1 / FORET_OUT / PROD_OUT / MASTE_OUT / ATMO_OUT / Balance 4 ↓ utoFormen + \ \ \ □ \ ○ ((4) () + ()		•	E huder also	IATMO	(cr. hudan share)			Environmente Administre	
OPRIOR A LINE TACES & MARK & MARV_UUL & ENERGY_UUL & ENERGY_UUL & FORES _UUL & PROV_UUL & WASIE_UUL & BARREN I + 1 > 1	Jondon A Innerfaces A marine A makey our A Entergy our Provinse Juli A Provensioned A master our A manu our A Balance (14) 📄 📶 utoFormen 🔹 🔪 🗛 🛫 A 📩 🗮 🚍 🥅	Londroi A Incertaces A marix (A Marko Lou) (A Energy Lou) A Frokesi Lou) A Prove Lou (A Masie Lou) A Balance (14. 1 1 UtoFormen + 🔨 🔺 🔵 🎑 4 🚺 🕭 + 🏒 + 🚍 🚃 🛱 🛄 🍯	udron <u>A Innerraces A marix</u> A marix A mariy out A Energy out 1º 2 A forkest out A procedured A marie out A balance (1 < 1 = 2 + 1) Urbformen + \ \ \ □ \O i i 4 & + 2 + 2 + = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =						DOD OUT (UNCTT OUT			
	to Formen・ \ \ □ ○ 🕋 📣 🕉 • ⊿ · ▲ · ≡ 렆 🛄 🗃	[toFormen + \ \ □ ○ 🎬 🜗 🖄 + 🚄 + 🚍 🐺 🛱 🛄 📔	[doFormen・ \ \ □ ○ 🍙 셁 👌 • 🏄 • 📥 📰 拱 🛄 🕤		ontrol	ntertaces 🗸 Matrix 🔏 AG	RO_OUT X ENERGY_OUT /	<pre>(Energy_OUT_P1 < FOREST_OUT </pre> / P	ROD_OUT X WASTE_OUT	λ ATM	0_OUT 🔨 Balance 🖞 🕴 📄	•

Figure A 7-2: Screenshot of the interface list

All Flows from and to the Atmosphere summariz	per																				
Total Flow to ATMO	MTC/yr	43,92	46,02	42,98	42,92	42,99	13,73	44,01 44,75	45,24	45,81	46,42	44,94	14,47	43,99	43,51	43,04	42,62	42,35	42,07	41,79	41,52
Total Flows from ATMO	MTC/yr	29,49	29,49	28,73	29,15	29,42	19,32	28,94 29,37	29,52	29,52	29,47	29,43	29,39	29,36	29,32	29,29	29,26	29/22	29,18	29,14	29,10
Net Flow to ATMO	MTClyr	14,43	15,53	14,24	13,77	13,57 1	14,41	15,06 15,38	15,72	16,30	15,94	15,51	15,08	14,63	14,19	13,75	13,37	13,12	12,88	12,65	12,42
CO2-C Flew te ATMO	MTC/yr	43,44	44,56	42,54	42,49	42,56	18,31	43,60 44,36	44,85	45,43	90'9 1	44,58	44,13	43,66	43,20	42,74	42,34	42,07	41,80	41,54	41,28
CO2-C Flows from ATMO	MTC/yr	-29,49	-29,49	-28,73	-29,15	-29,42	19,32	76,05- 146,05	-29,52	-29,52	19/62-	-29,43	-29,39	-29,36	-29,32	-29,29	-29,26	28/22	-29,18	-29,14	-29,10
CO2-C Net Flow to ATMO	MTClyr	13,95	15,07	13,80	13,34	13,15	13,99	14,65 14,98	15,33	15,92	15,57	15,16	14,74	14,31	13,87	13,45	13,08	12,85	12,62	12,39	12,18
CO2 Net Flow to ATMO	CO2Iyr	51,15	56,25	50,61	48,93	48,21 5	51,30	53,73 54,94	56,22	58,36	57,11	55,58	54,05	52,45	50,86	49,30	47,95	47,10	46,27	45,44	44,65
C:CH4 Flows to ATMO	MTC/yr	9*'0	0,45	0,43	0,42	0,41	0,41	6E'0 0#'0	037	0,37	930	92	0,34	0,32	12	020	82'0	0,27	0,26	0,25	0,24
C-CH4 Flows from ATMO	MTC/yr	0	•	-	•	-	-	•	-	•	•	-	-	•	-	0	-	0	-	0	0
C-CH4 Net Flow to ATMO	MTClyr	0,46	0,45	0,43	0,42	0,41	0,41	0,40 0,39	0,37	0,37	0,36	922	0,34	0,32	0,31	0,30	0,28	0,27	0,26	0,25	0,24
CH4 Net Flow to ATMO	CH4lyr	0,62	09'0	15'0	0,56	950	124	0,53 0,52	05,0	0,49	0,48	0,46	0,45	0,43	0,41	0,39	0,38	96,0	0,34	0,33	0,31
Other C-Flows to ATMO	MTC/yr	10'0	100	10'0	10'0	10'0	0'01	10'0 10'0	100	10'0	10'0	100	10'0	10'0	10'0	10'0	10'0	10'0	000	000	8
CO2 equivalents to ATMO	C02-eq / yr	64,12	67,80	62,62	60,64	59,71 6	72,68 L	64,85 65,80	66,68	68,70	67,21	65,33	63,44	61,47	29,50	85'15	55,88	54,68	53,52	52,36	51,24
CO2 equivalents to ATMO compared with the year 19	06	-	106	860	6,95	6,0	86'0	1,01 1,03	10	107	1,05	1,02	66'0	80	80	060	18'0	80	80	0,82 0,	79915

Figure A 7-2a: Summarized Results of the Flows from and to the Atmosphere.

Figure A 7-2b	: The IPCC	Mask as part	if the interface sheet

A 7-3.2 Further details to the sheet Interfaces and DF_DP_List (driving force driving parameter list)

Interfaces:

The sheet Interfaces (interface list) contains following columns: These columns and abbreviations are useful to identify every parameter quickly and to aggregate e.g. all control variables from all modules.

Module: Shows to which module the parameter belongs.

Properties: The Properties of the parameters are labelled with abbreviation. Due to this with the filter modus the same compartments (e.g. pools) of all modules can be selected.

FL:= Flow

CV:=Control variable (steering parameter)

Kind: The parameter is labelled if it is an interface Flow (S) or it is an internal Flow (I).

Origin : Determines from where the parameter "starts"

Destination: Determines where the parameter "ends"

Name of Flow or Pool: The names of the parameters are listed according to the use nomenclature

Supplier: Here is listed who has the responsibility for the value. This means e.g. that an flow which belongs to AGRO (column A) and is here listed with ENERGY is an so called pulled parameter as the value of it is delivered be ENERGY

Unit: Shows the Unit of the parameter.

Comments: This column gives further details to the parameters. (in German)

Link to or from Module: Shows the connected module.

1990 to 2020: Shows the year to which the value belongs.

DF_DP_List:

This list shows the 210 driving parameter an their appropriate driving force as well as driving bag.

Get the DP's

If the Button ______ is clicked the DF_DP_List would be actualized, so that the values for the chosen scenario are copied to this sheet.

The sheet contains following columns:

Module: Shows to which module the parameter belongs.

Driving Bag: Number of driving forces are bundled in a Driving Bag.

Driving Force: The Driving Forces are the main elements of the scenario projections.

Driving Parameter: Driving Forces were translated into 210 operational Driving Parameters which are actual numbers with proper dimensions that can parameterize the model equations

Primary Effect on: Shows the parameter to which the DP has its first effect

Secondary Effect on: Shows the parameter to which the DP has its second effect

1990 to 2020: Shows the year to which the value of the DP belongs.

A 7-3.3 AGRO.xls:

The steering sheet of the AGRO module is labelled Steering. From there it is possible to run the module in a standalone modus by a click on the start Button.

The following table gives a short description of t	ne sheets	s in the r	module.	For more	details	are in
the module Excel comments involved.						

Sheet name	Short description
Steering	This sheet is the steering sheet an there you can start the
	simulation as standalone version. You should be carefully if
	you change the parameters in this sheet because then you
	could destroy the connection to the ACBM_Model.xls file. So if
	you want to change the scenario it would be better if you
	would change this in the ACBM_Model.xls file.
DP_LISTE_NMC,	This two sheets contains the tables for the driving parameter
DP_LISTE_TS	of the two scenarios and diagrams of the changes of these
	parameters from 1990 to 2010.
INPUT_OUPUT	This sheets shows all interfaces from or to AGRO.
DIA_HUS	This sheets shows diagrams which demonstrates the behavior
	of the HUSBANDRY. Buttons on the right sight of the
	diagrams enables to ZOOM into the diagram by changing the
	scale of the Y-axe.
Meta database	This sheet shows all flows pools processes and inputs of the
	other modules which are used in AGRO.
	In this sheet there are also a few control parameters and the
	calculation of the pool and flow changes at the bottom of the
	table listed.
Soil data farmland	This sheet shows the parameters for the calculation of the soil
	carbon on cereal, fruit and crop land.
DIA_soil farmland	This sheets shows the diagram of the soil carbon on cereal,
	fruits and cropland.
Soil data grassland int	This sheet shows the parameters for the calculation of the soil
	carbon on grassland intensive cultivated
DIA_soil grassland int	This sheets shows the diagram of the soil carbon on grassland
	intensive cultivated.
Soil data grassland ext	This sheet shows the parameters for the calculation of the soil
	carbon on grassland extensive cultivated
DIA_soil grassland ext	This sheets shows the diagram of the soil carbon on grassland
	extensive cultivated.
Parameter_Soiltyps	In this sheet the main parameter for the calculation of the soil
	model are listed.

A 7-3.4 MODUL_ENERGY.xls:

The main sheet of the module is called Steering, from where you can run the module as standalone module!

The file "MODUL_ENERGY.xls" consists of the following 6 sheets with diagrams and 11 sheets with tables.

Sheet name	Short description	
Diagram		
Diag_Sectors	The energy demand of the three sectors industry, transportation and residential is shown	
Diag_KindOfUsefulEnergy	The different kinds of useful energy are shown	
Diag_FinalEnergyCarrier	The different final energy carrier are shown	
Diag_EnergyTransformation	The energy flows through the transformation plants	
Diag_Fuel	The different fuels are shown	
Diag_Emissions	The different carbon flows to the atmosphere are shown	
Sheets		
TabDiag	Sheet with the values for the diagrams	
Control	Sheet for controlling the in- and outputs of energy and carbon for the different elements of {ENERGY}	
Steering	Sheet with the Buttons to run the energy module	
Carbon flows	Sheet with the different carbon flows of the module	
Energy flows	Sheet with the different energy flows of the module	
Industry	Sheet with energy flows of the sector "industry" (from useful energy to final energy carrier)	
Transportation	Sheet with energy flows of the sector "transportation" (from useful energy to final energy carrier)	
Residential	Sheet with the energy flows of the sector "residential" (from useful energy to final energy carrier)	
Residential	Sheet with the energy flows of the sector "residential" (from useful energy to final energy carrier)	
DF_DP_List1	Sheet with the driving parameter for scenario 1 (NMC).	
DF_DP_List2	Sheet with the driving parameter for scenario 2 (TS).	
INPUT_OUTPUT	Sheet with the carbon and control flows with the other modules.	
Meta database	Sheet with all carbon and control flows of {ENERGY}.	

Buttons	
Start of energy module	The Button to start the calculation of {ENERGY} as "stand- alone calculation" (without interactions with other modules).
Clear the energy module:	This Button clears the results, that were calculated in "start of energy module".
Controls	The Button can be used to control if the sum of the matching driving parameters are one. If not a message box appears and the matching parameter would be marked.
Diagrams	The Button to create the diagrams.
Clear diagrams	The Button to clear the diagrams.

A 7-3.5 MODUL_FOREST.xls

The module {FOREST} is implemented into VBA macros using MS BASIC language. Spreadsheet cells are used only for reading input and writing model output, there are no calculations performed within spreadsheet cells.

The {FOREST} module is organized into the following Excel sheets, used for different purpose:

- INPUT_OUTPUT
- Meta database
- DF_DP lists (DP_DF_List0, 1, 2)
- Steering
- Parameters
- Data
- Large Matrix

Sheet name	Short description
INPUT_OUTPUT	As in all ACBM modules, the "INPUT_OUTPUT" sheet serves as the linkage to the other ACBM modules; demand of roundwood and fuelwood is read as well as the annually afforested land which is passed from {AGRO} module. These values are read before the calculation of an annual {FOREST} module step, afterwards the resulting outputs as relevant for other modules are written to this sheet as well. Note that the demand of energy in PJ/year (row 13) is provided by the model in the next year (row 5).
Meta database	In this sheet all C-flows from and to the {FOREST} module, as well as control variables, dispatchers and pools are provided for the modeling period 1990–2010. In addition, some important pools and flows for the interpretation of the entire ACBM output are provided in rows 24-30.

DF_DP_List1	The sheet includes all necessary driving parameters used within the scenario NMC, following the defined appropriate driving bags and driving forces. The parameters are read for each time step.
DF_DP_List2	The sheet includes all necessary driving parameters used within the scenario TS, following the defined appropriate driving bags and driving forces.
DF_DP_List0 (hidden sheet)	The sheet includes all driving parameters used within both scenarios, but set constant. Therefore the DF_DP_List0 sheet is a dummy scenario, only for internal use which does not set any trends but keeps driving parameters on their 1990 values. These data are not used within the ACBM simulations.
Steering	The sheet "Steering" contains the simulation relevant initial information: how many tree species included, the number of age classes used within the module run, the starting year and the number of time steps to perform. Here can you find the Button to SIMULATE and all intern parameters for the model run (see report A4 Annex). In cell B3 it can be decided which initial areas of species specific age class distribution (AFI 86/90 = 1988; AFI92/96 = 1994) is chosen. Cells B1 and B2 describes the chosen number of tree species and age classes (see also data sheet). Note that for the age classes IX-XII the area is summarized within age class VIII. Additionally internal parameters to be used in the run are stored in this sheet as well. They can be changed using a graphical user interface accessible via the starting Button (SIMULATION). These menu parameters can be brought back to their default values by using a reset routine, the program then copies a parameter set stored in the sheet "Parameters" to the "Steering" sheet.
Data	The sheet includes tables of the initial database for the forest modeling. It contains the standard input of the model like initial area distribution referring to the defined age classes, initial standing stock and soil carbon. Furthermore expansion factors, increments, thinning rates and calamities are also defined here. All data within this sheet are organized within age classes of 20 years width as they could be entered manually from the forest inventory
Parameter	The sheet "Parameter" contains the backup of the sheet "Steering" and is only used for resetting tree species specific parameters to their default values.
Large Matrix (hidden sheet)	As the "Data" sheet serves as the storage of initial values there is a related sheet called "Large Matrix", where values from "Data" are copied after interpolation into classes of one year width. In contrast to the "Data" sheet, "Large Matrix" is read and also data are written to it during the model run. Every

model time step, stores new systems state variables within
this sheet. Therefore the sheet "Large Matrix" needs an
initialization at model simulation beginning in order to confirm
the correct initial state.

Figure A 7-3:	Screenshot	of the	Model	table	"Meta	database"
---------------	------------	--------	-------	-------	-------	-----------

		- 9 X	Ba @ ≪ ∽ -	α - (2) (2) (2)	ALZI 🕼 🥥 🕂 70%	- 8		
:-1		00				· 84		
lai	•	8 -	F X U = 1	≡ = ta 9 % W	1,65 4;5 1# 1# 🖽 * 🔗	• 🗛 •		
A1		-	= Module					
A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	-
Module	Properties	Kind	Origin	Destination	Name of Flow or Pool	Supplier	Unit	Comments
FOREST	FL	S	{ATMO}	F_VEGETATION	TF_net primary production	FOREST	MTC/gr	NPP der Forstlichen Vegetation
FUREST	FL		F_WOUDYLITTER	F_respiration	FF_woody litter respiration	FUREST	Mil Cityr	Atmung der Heterotrophen (vom holzigen Streuanteil)
FOREST	FL		F_NON WOODY LITTER	F_respiration	FF_non woody litter respiration	FOREST	MTC/yr	Atmung der Heterotrophen (vom nicht holzigen Streuanteil)
FOREST	FL		F_ACTIVE MINERAL SOIL	F_respiration	FF_active mineral soil respiration	FOREST	MTC/yr	Atmung der Heterotrophen (vom aktiven Mineralboden)
FOREST	FL	1	F_STABILIZED MINERAL	SOIL F_respiration	FF_stabilized mineral soil respiration	FOREST	MTC/gr	Atmung der Heterotrophen (vom stabilisierten Mineralboden)
FOREST	FL	S	F_respiration	[ATM0]	FT_heterotrophic respiration	FOREST	MTC/gr	Atmung der Heterotrophen
FOREST	FL	S	F_forest products	P_wood and paper logs	FP_industrial roundwood	PROD	MTC/gr	Industrierundholz
FOREST	FL	1	F_harvest	F_forest products	FF_fuelwood wood logs	FOREST	MTC/yr	Scheitholz (Teil von FF_roundwood)
FOREST	FL	1	F_harvest residues	F_forest products	FF_chips from forest residues	FOREST	MTC/gr	Waldhackgut
FOREST	FL	S	F_forest products	E_BIOMASS	FE_biomass	FOREST	MTC/yr	Biomasse in Form von Waldhackgut und Scheitholz
FOREST	CV	S	(FOREST)	{ENERGY}	(FE_biomass)	FOREST	PJ/yr	Brennwert der Biomasse in Form von Waldhackgut und Scheitholz
FOREST	FL	1	F_VEGETATION	F_WOODY LITTER	FF_woody litter production	FOREST	MTC/yr	Kohlenstofffluß der holzigen toten Biomasse zum Waldboden
FOREST	FL	1	F_VEGETATION	F_NONWOODY LITTER	FF_nonwoody litter production	FOREST	MTC/gr	Kohlenstofffluß der nichtholzigen toten Biomasse zum Waldboden
OREST	FL	1	F_VOODY LITTER	F_STAB MIN SOIL	FF_woody litter decay	FOREST	MTC/yr	Umwandlung und Verlagerung der holzigen Humusauflage
FOREST	FL	1	F_NONWOODY LITTER	F_ACTIVE MIN SOIL	FF_nonwoody litter decay	FOREST	MTC/yr	Umwandlung und Verlagerung der nichtholzigen Humusauflage
FOREST	FL	S	F_STAB MIN SOIL	A_HYDRO	FA_soil erosion to HYDRO	FOREST	MTC/yr	Auswaschung aus dem Boden (mündet in (HYDRO) über (AGRO))
OREST	CV	S	(FOREST)	{ENERGY}	(FE_energy demand)	FOREST	PJ/yr	Diesel für Erntemaschinen
OREST	P	1			F_VEGETATION	FOREST	MTC	Pool der lebenden Biomasse
FOREST	P	1			F_VOODY LITTER	FOREST	MTC	Holzige Streuauflage
OREST	P	1			F_NONVOODY LITTER	FOREST	MTC	Nichtholzige Streuauflage
OREST	P	1			F AKTIVE MINERAL SOIL	FOREST	MTC	Aktiver mineralischer Bodenkohlenstoff
OREST	P	1			F STABILIZED MINERAL SOIL	FOREST	MTC	Stabilisierter mineralischer Bodenkohlenstoff
FOREST	P	1		-	Stock of aboveground biomass	FOREST	MTC	Vorrat der oberirdischen Biomasse
FOREST					Stock change total living biomass	FOREST	AITCAV	Vorratsänderung der lebenden Eliomasse
- CIREST					Stock change soil carbon	FOREST	MTChi	Vorratsänderung der Bodenkohlenstolfvorrats
FOREST					Stock change vegetation and soil ca	FOREST	MTChu	Vorratsänderung der Bodenk ohlenstolfvorräte und der living biom
- CIREST					Total C. Fluxes leaving the FOREST	FOREST	MITCAN	Summe der C-Flüsse aus dem Modul FOREST
FOREST					Total C Fluxes entering the FOREST	FOREST	MTCAN	Summe der C-Flüsse in das Modul FOREST
FOREST					Balance of EOBEST module	EOBEST	MTChu	Bilanz des Moduls EOBEST
OBEST	n	1	-		E respiration		MTChr	
OBEST	0	1 i	-		E patural losses		MTCher	
OBEST	n n	1 i	-		E harvest		MTC/ar	
OBEST	n n	1	-		E forest products		MTC/ar	
OPECT	0				E harvest residues		MTCAr	
CODECT			E harvart	E. forest products	EE roundwood	FOREST	MTCker	Pundholterate
ODEOT	EL EL		E VEGETATION	F harmant	TT_foodewood	FOREST	MTChe	Due de alegante que Cadavitavas
CODECT	EL EL			r_narvest	TE thissing	FODERT	MTCh	Durathelesete aus Versiteires
	DE DE Liste	2/1	E DP Listel / DE D	P Listel Metadateo	ank / INPLIT OUTPUT / 9	teuerung	Z Data Z E	Par.

Microsoft E	Excel - MODUI	L_FOREST	1.xls	atan Fanatar 2				
		Ba 📾 🛷			4 m 🚳 🕂 75 % 🗆 🖉			
	⇒/L94.∨ ∂5	4⊒ ₩3 ∨		5 2 J* 2+ A+				
Arial	• 8 •	FXU	특 홈 클 변형	₩ % 000 ;‰ ;;;	⊈ ≇ 🗄 • 🔗 • 🗛 •			
A1	-	= M0						
A	B	C	Formeln	E	F Norse of Flow or Deal	G	H	
FOREST	FL	S	(ATMO)	F_VEGETATION	TF_net primary production	FOREST	MTC/or	NPP der Forstlichen Vegetation
FOREST	FL	S	F_respiration	{ATMO}	FT_heterotrophic respiration	FOREST	MTC/yr	Atmung der Heterotrophen
FOREST	FL	S	F_STAB MIN SOIL	A_HYDRO	FA_soil erosion to HYDRO	FOREST	MTC/yr	Auswaschung aus dem Boden (mündet in (HYDRO
FUREST	FL	5	h_biomass	E_BIUMASS	FE_biomass	FUREST	MIClyr	Biomasse in Form von Waldhackgut und Scheithola
8				INPUT				
AGBO	CV	S	(AGRO)	(FOREST)	(AF land use change: Area)	AGRO	ha	
AGRO	CV	s	(AGRO)	(FOREST)	(AF Jand use change: C. Content)	AGBO	MTC/ur	
EOBEST	FI	s	E VEGETATION	P wood and paper logs	EP industrial roundwood	PBOD	MTC/ur	Industrierundholz
FOREST	CV		E biomacs	E BIOMASS	(FE_biomacs)	ENERGY	D. Day	Bronowart der Biomarce in Form von Waldhacker it
FOREST	CV		JEODESTI	JENEDGYL	(FE energy demand)	ENEDGY	Dillor	Discal f/v Eintem seekinen
TONEST			I ONLON	Jenenory	(r c_energy demand)	ENERG1	Fory	bieser of En temasoninen
,								
1								
)								
1								
7								
1								
2								
3								
1								
	_DP_Liste2 / DF	_DP_Liste1 /	(_DF_DP_Liste0 /	Metadatenbank) IN	PUT_OUTPUT / Steuerung /	(Data / Pa	r. 🖣	•
ereit								NE
1.0				1				

Figure A 7-4: Screenshot of the sheet "INPUT/OUTPUT"

Figure A 7-5: Screenshot of the sheet "Steering"

ХМ	icrosoft Excel - MODU	JL_FOREST1.x	ls						_ 8 ×					
8	<u>D</u> atei <u>B</u> earbeiten <u>A</u> nsich	t <u>E</u> infügen Form	na <u>t</u> E <u>x</u> tras Date <u>n</u>	<u>E</u> enster <u>?</u>					<u>_ 8 ×</u>					
	😂 🖬 🎒 🗟 💖 🕉	🗈 🛍 🝼 🖍	🔹 CH 👻 🍓 💞	$\Sigma f_{*} \stackrel{A}{\underset{Z}{\downarrow}} \begin{array}{c} Z \\ A \end{array} \downarrow \left. \begin{array}{c} Z \\ A \end{array} \right\downarrow \left. \begin{array}{c} Z \\ A \end{array} \right\downarrow$	100% 👰 👰	- 😨								
Aria	al 🔹 11 👻	F K U	: = = 🖬 😏	% 000 % 🖧	(† († 🗉 • 🔗	• <u>A</u> •								
	A1 🔻	= Numbe	er Species=											
	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	🗖					
1	Number Species:	9												
2	Number Classes	12												
3	Year of begining	1992												
4	Years=	22												
5		1												
6	Ausgabeintervall-	1												
7	DFDP Szenario	1												
8														
9					Circulation									
10					Simulation									
11				_										
12														
13														
14														
15														
17	1	2	2	4	5	6	7	0	0					
18	1	2	5	4	,	0	,	0						
19	Species		Rot. Time	Amplitude	Sigma	Thinning	Calamities	Share Affores	Slash Use					
20	Spruce	WAHR	90.0	0.070	0.080	0.420	1.000	0.654	0.100					
21	Fir	WAHR	85.0	0.053	0.080	0.564	1.000	0.024	0.100					
22	Pine	WAHR	115.0	0.105	0.090	0.381	1.000	0.052	0.100					
23	Larch	WAHR	120.0	0.063	0.099	0.339	1.000	0.068	0.100					
24	OtherC	WAHR	80.0	0.188	0.025	0.288	1.000	0.000	0.100					
25	▶ N DF DP Liste2 / F	F DP Liste1 / DF	F DP Liste0 / Me	n 105 tadatenbank / INF		euerung Data	0 070							
Ber	reit		/	A				NF						
s s	Start 🔍 Explorer - N:\IEF	-P00 🖭 Gese	endete Objekte	. 🕎 Microsoft Wa	ord - Mod 🗹 Fo	rest Modell - Nacł	n XMicrosoft	Excel	🚯 🕲 🔄 14:40					

A 7-3.6 MODUL_WASTE_PROD.xls

This is the file for calculation and documentation for the modules PROD and WASTE. The file comprises the following Table:

Sheet name	Short description
Steering	Here can you find the Buttons to start the simulation for the PROD and the WASTE module in a standing alone modus (without changes in the other modules). You can input the years for start and finish and certify them by pressing OK both times.
	To start the simulation for the two modules you have to press
	START WASTE and PROD
	You can also find here the input tables for the values of the "driving parameters" for both scenarios.
INPUT_OUTPUT_PROD	Here are the interfaces for all inputs and outputs of the PROD module listed. The columns contents are described with comments.
INPUT_OUTPUT_WASTE	Here are the interfaces for all inputs and outputs of the WASTE module listed. The columns contents are described with comments.
Meta database PROD	This data sheet contains all flows, their values and additional information for all flows within the PROD module of the years 1990 – 2010.
Meta database WASTE	This data sheet contains all flows, their values and additional information for all flows within the WASTE module of the years 1990 – 2010.
DF_DP_List_NMC	This sheet contains all driving parameters and the driving forces and driving bags they depend on and their values for the years 1990 – 2010 for both modules for the scenario "no major change".
DF_DP_List_TS	This sheet contains all driving parameters and the driving forces and driving bags they depend on and their values for the years 1990 – 2010 for both modules for the scenario "towards sustainability".

A 7-3.7 NMC_Results.xls

This file saves the results of one simulation. Thus different scenarios can be compared if the one is **saved as** for example NMC_Results_1.xls and the second as NMC_Results_2.xls files. The default result file has to be NMC_Result.xls and should not be changed otherwise the Button 'Save the Simulation Results' can't be used further more.

Tho filo	contente	following	choote.
The life	coments	lonowing	sneets.

Sheet name	Short description
Control	This sheet was made to control the "faults" in within the module. The values are derived as balance in the appropriate modules where the pool change within one year was compared with the change due to the inflows and outflows in the module. The "faults" are were small compared to the total amount of the flows only 0.08 %. The reason for this can be found in the problem of the time delay within one year. For more details see ACBM Final Report chapter 3.1.
Interfaces	Here are ALL interfaces between the modules listed. Figure A 7-2 a part of this list. The columns contents are described with comments as can be seen in the figure for the column A (Module). For a detailed description of the columns see chapter A 7.3.2
Matrix	In this sheet matrixes for the years 1990 to 2010 are listed. Within this Matrixes all flows from one module to the other and from the other to the module for every year can be seen.
Agro, Energy, Forest, Prod, Waste	This sheets contain the meta-database of the modules. Every flow, pool, control variable etc. are listed with their appropriate values for the yeas 1990 to 2010.
Diagram	This sheet shows the change of the net flow from ATMO, the change of the IPPC flow without and the change of the IPCC flow with the biomas compared to the year 1990.
Enddiagramm	This sheet shows the figure where the "IPCC- Results" and the Full carbon Accounting- Results" (ACBM-Results) can be seen
EndTab	In this sheet the data for the figures Enddiagramm and Enddiagramm Uncertainty are listed.
Enddiagramm Uncertainty	This sheet shows the figure of the result under consideration of its uncertainty.

A 7-3.8 TS_Results.xls

Has the same content as the NMC_Results.xls file, but with the exception that the Results for the Towards Sustainability scenario are shown!!!

A 7-3.9 ACBM_Meta database.xls

This file contains the three sheets the meta database itself the sheet called Interfaces (interface list) and the sheet DF_DP_List. This files contains no data.

Within the sheets the following can be found.

Sheet name	Short description
Meta database	This sheet contains the main element of the model as flows, pools, control variables, dispatchers, processes. For explanation see the chapter of the definition of the used parameters. (A 1: Nomenclature)
Interfaces	Here are ALL interfaces between the modules are listed The list is an part of the meta database. Figure A 7-2 shows a part of this list. The columns contents are described with comments as can be seen in the figure for the column A (Module). For a detailed description of the columns see chapter A 7.3.2
DF_DP_List	List of all DP used in the ACBM model.

Meta database:

The sheet contains following columns: These columns and abbreviations are useful to identify every parameter quickly and to aggregate e.g. all control variables from all modules.

Module: Shows to which module the parameter belongs.

Properties: The Properties of the parameters are labelled with abbreviation. Due to this with the filter modus the same compartments (e.g. pools) of all modules can be selected.

FL:= Flow P:= Pool D:= Dispatcher PR:= Process M:= Modul CV:=Control variable (steering parameter)

Kind: The parameter is labelled if it is an interface Flow (S) or it is an internal Flow (I).

Origin : Determines from where the parameter "starts"

Destination: Determines where the parameter "ends"

Name of Flow or Pool: The names of the parameters are listed according to the use nomenclature

Supplier: Here is listed who has the responsibility for the value. This means e.g. that an flow which belongs to AGRO (column A) and is here listed with ENERGY is an so called pulled parameter as the value of it is delivered be ENERGY

Unit: Shows the Unit of the parameter.

Comments: This column gives further details to the parameters. (in German)

Link to or from Module: Shows the connected module.

1990 to 2020: Shows the year to which the value belong

×	×				4		-1								1																																			۰l	•		l	
6 1	6				т		1330		-		-			-	-	-	0,965	0,925	0,800	0,441	0,406	0,340	0,432	0,398	0,333	0.078	0,072	0,060	0,659	0,607	0,508	0'350	0'820	0,700	0,150	0,730	006'0	0'150	0'100	0,880	0'950	002'0	0.950	0,027	0'020						-			
					5		Secondary Effect on	AA_feedtrom qrarrlandext Share and mixture of afforertation.rpc	AA_foodfrom grazilandint	AP_rau materials coroals and food AP_buman and pots motabalism	AA_biomarr for heating	AA_roo from roll ruface	AA_manure from hurbandry	AA_manure from hurbandry	AA_manure from hurbandry	AL blomar AF kinner																																			DF_DP_List / 4			NF
			≫ ≪ ₹ = •	-	•		Primary Effect on	(Af_land we change: Area) (Af_land we change: C_Cantent)	AA_harvort from grazelint	AA. harvert from corook AA. harvert from hourooorden	AA_harvest from others	AA_roriduor of plants	AA herverteiar	AA_harvort poultry	AA_harvart athers	AR biomarron heating dd hingarfram manuro	E. blart furnace/cake plant	Erofinory	E hydroplant F ek sonnelsek	E. th. pour plant	E_th.pouerplant	E_th.pouerplant	E CHP plant	E_CHP plant	E_CHP plant	E CHP slant	E_CHP plant	E_CHP plant F_trationalant	E. heating plant	E_heatingplant	E_heatingplant F_modesical costs	E_mechanical unik	E_mechanical uark	E_procear heat	E_process heat	E_process heat	E_procerrheat	Creachast	Erpaceheat	E reaceheat	Eupacoheat	E_vohicler	E vohiclor	Eliqht	E light	E_indurtry, E_roridontual, E_transportation	E_indurtry, E_roridontual, E_transportation	E_indurtry,E_roridontual,E_transportation F_indurtro F_roridontual F_transportation	E_roridontual	E_transportation	lance of ATMO 🔏 IPCC Flows			
		1 🔮 📢 53% 🔸 🖗	E 🖅 - 🗞 • 🛆 •	-	ω		Driving Parameter Unit per year	imenrianlerr limenrianlerr	daf tatal grazzlintarea	Caftatal coroalr aroa Caftatal huuroaardon aroa	Cuf tatal coroals area	limenrianl <i>err</i> e	imentionless	limentiunlerr	limentianless	imoninaler imoninaler	an and a second of a second second in the second	cail autputfail input	c he at output/coal input esta esticies autout de afine de	coloctricity autout/ailinput	colo etricity autput/qurinput	coloctricity autput/biomarrinput	s electricity autoutroad input s electricity autoutfail input	coloctricity autput/gar input	Coloctricity autout/biamarr input	s neas ouspussicaal inpus s heat outeut fail input	cheat nutput/gar input	c heat output biomarr input chost output biomaricants	cheat autputfail input	cheat nutput/gar input	c hoat output fbiomarz input e accelerations automated it incut	r mechanical unik autourfaur input r mechanical unik autoutfaur input	(mechanical unrk output/electricity input	(process heat output/coal input	s process heat outputfaur input (process heat outputfaur input	C process heat output/biomass input	(process heat autput/electricity input	Crpace heat autoutfail input	Crpace heat autput/gar input	Crpace heat output foiomarr input Creace heat outbutfelectricity input	Crpace heat output/biomarrinput	stransport output/oil input	stransport output folgement input stransport output folgestricity input	cliqht autputfail input	d light output/ale atricity input - rease reas	(1995-100)	(1995-100)	((1995-100) - (1995-100)	(1995-100)	(1995-100)	ASTE_OUT 🗸 ATMO_OUT 🗸 Ba		_	
	Eenster 2	🔒 😴 🚣 差 🛃 🛍	E 😵 % 000 % 🔅	-	٩	-	Driving Parameter 🛛 🔻 🛛	LUC kyata	extensio agriculture_grazz	oxtonriv agriculturo_cor oxtonriv agriculturo_houro	extensiv agriculture_athers	externiv agriculture_rer	piament control on per capita	poultry meat conrume per capita	ather meat conrume per capita	Production of biomar for heating	DPE_Efficiency blart furnacefeake plant	DPE_Efficiency refinery	DPE_Efficiency hydra plant 2	DPE. Efficiency thermal parter plant ail	DPE_Efficiency thermal pauer plant qur	DPE_Efficiency thermal pauer plant biamar. 2	DPE_Efficiency electricity CHP plant coal 2 DPE_Efficiency electricity CHP plant uil 2	DPE_Efficiency electricity CHP plant qur	DPE_Efficiency electricity CHP plant biama 2	DPE Efficiency thermal CHP plant coal DPE Efficiency thermal CHP plant oil 2	DPE_Efficiency thermal CHP plant gar	DPE_Efficiency thermal CHP plant biomary DPE_Efficiency to address and the DPE_Efficience to address and the	DPE_Efficiency heating plant ail	DPE_Efficiency heating plant gar	DPE_Efficiency heating plant biomarr 2 DPE_Efficience machine ball work with 2	DPE_Efficiency mechanical units and	DPE_Efficiency mechanical uark electricity 2	DPE_Efficiency process heat coal	DPE_Efficiency process heat out	DPE_Efficiency process heat biomars	DPE_Efficiency preserving a statisticity 2	DPE_Efficiency.rpace.heat.ail	DPE_Efficiencyrpace heat qur	DPE_Efficiency/pace/heat blomary	DPE_Efficiency.rpace.heat.heat	DPE_Efficiency vehicler ail	DPE_Efficiency vehicler biamar	DPE_Efficiency light ail	DPE_Efficiency light electricity 2	DFE_Fraductivity mechanical Lark	DPE_Productivity space heat	DPE Productivity vehicler	DPE_Flaerspace	DPE_Individual km	REST_OUT 🗸 PROD_OUT 🗸 W			
	i Forma <u>t</u> E <u>x</u> tras Date <u>n</u>	2 · 5 · 8 · 9 · 5 · 5 · 5 · 5 · 5 · 5 · 5 · 5 · 5		ule	0	-	Driving Force 🔻	Land Uro Domand Kyata pratacal: C-rink ortablirhmont	Conrumption Development	Canrumptian Development Conrumption Development	Canrumptian Development	Conrumption Development	Nutrition Pattern	Nutrition Patterne	Nutrition Patternr	a Neu energy/gurser a Neu energy/gurser	af Energy officiency	a' Energy efficiency	al Energy officiency of Energy officiency	at Energy officiency	al Energy efficiency	al Energy officiency r	a Energy erriciency at Energy officiency	al Enorgy officionsy	al Energy officiency r	a Energy erricioncy al Energy officiency	al Energy officiency	al Energy officiency al Energy officiency	at Energy officiency	al Energy officiency	al Energy officiency al Energy officiency	al Energy officiency at Energy officiency	al Energy officiency	al Energy efficiency r	a Energy erriciency at Energy officiency	al Energy efficiency	al Energy officiency	at Energy officiency	al Enorgy officioncy	al Energy efficiency al Energy efficiency	al Energy officiency	al Enorgy officioncy	al Energy efficiency al Energy efficiency	al Energy officiency	al Energy efficiency 	al Energy productivity al Energy productivity	al Energy productivity	al Energy productivity al Energy conductivity	Urbanization w. Suburbanization	Urbanization w. Suburbanization	K Energy_OUT_PJ K FOF			
xcel - ACBM_MODEL	irbeiten <u>A</u> nsicht Einfügen		+ 12 → F	- Modu		Get the DP's	Driving Bag	ocanamic develapment quvernmental requiation	economicztructural change	oconomicutructural change oconomicutructural change	oconomicstructural change	e conomicatructural change 1 to south	Lifertyle	Lifertyle	Lifertyle	Technical Development and Implement Tackaical Development and Implement	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implement	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implement	Technical development and implement Technical development and implements	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implement	Technical development and implement. Technical development and implement:	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implements Technical developments and implements	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implement	Technical development and implement	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implement	Technical development and implement	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implement	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implement	Lechnical development and implement Technical development and implements	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implement.	Lechnical development and implement Technical development and implements	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implement	Technical development and implement	Technical development and implements	Technical development and implements Technical developments and implements	Lifertyle	Lifeartyle	SRO_OUT / ENERGY_OUT	🗞 🙆 AutoFormen 🔸 🗸		
🗙 Microsoft E	🎒 Datei Bea	1 1 1	Arial	A1	4		1 Module 🔻	2 AGRO	4 AGRO	5 AGRO	7 AGRO	* AGRO	10 AGR0	11 AGRO	12 AGR0	15 AGRO	15 ENERGY	16 ENERGY	17 ENERGY 10 ENERGY	19 ENERGY	20 ENERGY	21 ENERGY	23 ENERGY	24 ENERGY	25 ENERGY	27 ENERGY	2% ENERGY	29 ENERGY 20 ENERGY	21 ENERGY	32 ENERGY	33 ENERGY 24 ENERGY	35 ENERGY	36 ENERGY	37 ENERGY	20 ENERGY	40 ENERGY	41 ENERGY 45 ENERGY	43 ENERGY	44 ENERGY	45 ENERGY	47 ENERGY	48 ENERGY	49 ENERGY	51 ENERGY	52 ENERGY	54 ENERGY	55 ENERGY	56 ENERGY 57 ENERGY	5% ENERGY	59 ENERGY		Zeichnen 🔸 🕅	:	Bereit

Figure A 7-6: Screenshot of the Df_DP_List

A 7-4 Used Inputdata for the uncertainty analysis

The Figure shows the Uncertainty functions and the used parameters.

Figure A 7-7: Inputdata for the Uncertainty analysis

Modul	Name of flow	Unit	Distribution(SD)
PROD	FP_industrial roundwood	MtC/yr	Normal(0,2)
PROD	PP_emission process emissions	MtC/yr	Normal(0,1)
PROD	PP_emission process emissions	MtC/yr	Normal(0,1)
PROD	PP_emission process emissions	MtC/yr	Normal(0,1)
PROD	PP_emission process emissions	MtC/yr	Normal(0,1)
PROD	PP_intermediates planks and residues	MtC/yr	Normal(0,2)
PROD	PP_products cereals and feed	MtC/yr	Normal(0,1)
PROD	PP_products pulp and paper	MtC/yr	Normal(U,2)
PROD	PP_to sector internal use logs	MtC/yr	Normal(U,2)
PROD	PP_to sector internal use planks and residues	MtC/yr	Normal(0,2)
AGRO	TA nnn cereale	MtC/yr	Uniform(-0.025; +0.025)
AGRO	TA_npp Cerears TA_npn Grünland	MtC/yr	Uniform(-0,123,10,023)
AGRO	TA npp Almen	MtC/yr	Uniform $(0,1;+0,1)$
AGRO	Initial Soil carbon Content Grassland int	t C/ha	Normal(0.3)
AGRO	Initial Soil carbon Content Grassland ext	t C/ha	Normal(0,3)
AGRO	Initial Soil carbon Content farmland	t C/ha	Normal(0,3)
FOREST	Spruce Non-Woody Litter Product.	1/yr	Pert(0,033;0,09;0,16)
FOREST	Pine Non-Woody Litter Product.	1/yr	Pert(0,1;0,18;0,25)
FOREST	Initital Stock Spruce	m³/ha	Tnormal(-0,021*2; +0,021*2)
FOREST	Initial Stock Pine	m³/ha	Tnormal(-0,07*2;+0,07*2)
FOREST	Initial Stock Larch	m³/ha	Tnormal(-*0,04*2;+0,04*2)
FOREST	Initial Stock Beech	m³/ha	Tnormal(-0,04*2; +0,04*2)
FOREST	Initial Stock Oak	m%/ha	Inormal(-0,07*2;+0,07*2)
FUREST	Increment Spruce	m%ha,yr	Thormal(-0,02*2;+0,02*2)
FOREST	Increment Pine	m ^o na,yr	Thormal(-0,07*2;+0,07*2)
FOREST	Increment Larch	mi7na,yr	$T_{max}(-0,21,2,\pm0,21,2)$
FOREST	Increment Deech	m ^g /ballyr	Thormal($-0,005,2,\pm0,005,2$) Thormal($-0.07\pm2,\pm0.07\pm2$)
FOREST	Natural Losses Spruce	m ^g /ha 20 yr	Thormal(-0,07 2, +0,07 2)
FOREST	Natural Losses Opice	m³/ha 20 yr	Thormal(-0.00 2, +0.00 2)
FOREST	Natural Losses Larch	m³/ha 20 yr	Thormal(-0.08*2;+0.08*2)
FOREST	Natural Losses Beech	m³/ha.20 yr	Tnormal(-0.08*2; +0.08*2)
FOREST	Natural Losses Oak	m³/ha,20 yr	Tnormal(-0,08*2;+0,08*2)
FOREST	Incidential Use Spruce	m³/ha,20 γr	Tnormal(-0,11;+0,11)
FOREST	Incidential Use Pine	m³/ha,20 yr	Tnormal(-0,11;+0,11)
FOREST	Incidential Use Larch	m³/ha,20 yr	Tnormal(-0,11;+0,11)
FOREST	Incidential Use Beech	m³/ha,20 yr	Tnormal(-0,11;+0,11)
FOREST	Incidential Use Oak	m³/ha,20 yr	Tnormal(-0,11;+0,11)
FOREST	Foliage Fraction Spruce	%/100	Tnormal(-0,08; +0,08)
FOREST	Foliage Fraction Pine	%/100	Tnormal(-0,08;+0,08)
FOREST	Foliage Fraction Larch	%/100	Inormal(-0,11;+0,11)
FUREST	Foliage Fraction Beech	%/100	Thormal(-0,19;+0,19)
FOREST	Pullage Fraction Oak	96/100	Thormal(-0,11,+0,11)
FOREST	Bruchwood Fraction Dine	%/100	Thormal(-0,21,+0,21)
FOREST	Brushwood Fraction Larch	%/100	Thormal(-0,21, 10,21)
FOREST	Brushwood Fraction Beech	%/100	Thormal(-0,16;+0,16)
FOREST	Brushwood Fraction Oak	%/100	Tnormal(-0.17:+0.17)
FOREST	Root Fraction Spruce	%/100	Tnormal(-0,11*2;+0,11*2)
FOREST	Root Fraction Pine	%/100	Tnormal(-0,11*2;+0,11*2)
FOREST	Root Fraction Larch	%/100	Tnormal(-0,03*2;+0,03*2)
FOREST	Root Fraction Beech	%/100	Tnormal(-0,11*2;+0,11*2)
FOREST	Root Fraction Oak	%/100	Tnormal(-0,12*2;+0,12*2)
FOREST	Initial Woody Litter Pool Spruce	kgC	Tnormal(-0,16*2;+0,16*2)
FOREST	Initial Woody Litter Pool Pine	kg C	Tnormal(-0,23*2;+0,23*2)
FOREST	Initial Woody Litter Pool Larch	kgC	Thormal(-0,23*2;+0,23*2)
FOREST	Initial Woody Litter Pool Beech	kgC	Inormal(-0,13*2;+0,13*2)
FUREST	Initial Woody Litter Pool Oak	Kg C	Thormal(-0,37*2;+0,37*2)
FOREST	Initial Non Woody Litter Pool Spruce	kg C	Thormal(-0,16 2,+0,16 2)
FOREST	Initial Non Woody Litter Pool Larch	kg C	Thormal(-0,23-2, +0,23-2)
FOREST	Initial Non Woody Litter Pool Beech	ka C	Thormal(-0,23 2, 10,23 2)
FOREST	Initial Non Woody Litter Pool Oak	ka C	$T_{normal}(-0.37^{+}2) + 0.37^{+}2)$
FOREST	Initial Act. Min. Soil Pool Spruce	ka C	Tnormal(-0.05*2:+0.05*2)
FOREST	Initial Act. Min. Soil Pool Pine	ka C	Tnormal(-0,05*2:+0.05*2)
FOREST	Initial Act. Min. Soil Pool Larch	kg C	Tnormal(-0,09*2;+0,09*2)
FOREST	Initial Act. Min. Soil Pool Beech	kg C	Tnormal(-0,06*2; +0,06*2)
FOREST	Initial Act. Min. Soil Pool Oak	kg C	Tnormal(-0,06*2;+0,06*2)
FOREST	Initial Stab. Min. Soil Pool Spruce	kg C	Tnormal(-0,05*2;+0,05*2)
FOREST	Initial Stab. Min. Soil Pool Pine	kg C	Tnormal(-0,05*2;+0,05*2)
FOREST	Initial Stab. Min. Soil Pool Larch	kgC	Inormal(-0,09*2;+0,09*2)
FOREST	Initial Stab. Min. Soil Pool Beech	kgC	Inormal(-U,U6*2;+0,06*2)
FOREST	Initial Stab. Min. Soil Pool Oak	kgC	I normal(-U,U6*2; +0,06*2)

A 7-5 Definition of the used Distributions



Figure A 7-8: Definition of @Risk distributions used within the ACBM

UNIFORM(minimum, maximum)

Applications for the uniform function include quantities that vary uniformly between two values, or when only a range is known.

Density:

NORMAL(μ,σ)

f(x) = 1/(b-a)

where a = minimum, b = maximum

Distribution: F(x) = (x-a)/(b-a)

Parameters:

a<b

Domain: minimum≤x≤maximum

Mean:

(a+b)/2

Mode: no unique mode

Variance:

 $(b-a)^2$

12

Uniform Graphs:



BETA-PERT(minimum, most likely, maximum)

Used as a rough estimate in the absense of data, approximate activity time in PERT network.

The BETA-PERT distribution is only available in RISKview.

 $\begin{aligned} & \textbf{Density:} \\ & f(X) = f_{\text{s}}(X', \alpha_1, \alpha_2) \\ & \text{where} \\ & x'=(x\text{-minimum})/(maximum-minimum}) \\ & f_{\text{s}} \text{ is the density of a BETA distribution} \\ & \alpha_1 = \frac{(\mu - \min(\mu)(2 + mostlikely - minimum - maximum))}{(mostlikely - \mu)(maximum - minimum)} \\ & \alpha_2 = \alpha_1 \frac{maximum - \mu}{\mu - \min(\mu)} \\ & \mu = \frac{\min(mum + 4 + mostlikely + maximum)}{6} \end{aligned}$

Distribution:

$$\begin{split} F(X) &= F_{\mathcal{B}}(X', \alpha_1, \alpha_2) \\ \text{where } x'=(x\text{-minimum})/(maximum\text{-minimum}) \\ \text{and } F_{\mathcal{B}} \text{ is the density of a BETA distribution} \end{split}$$

Parameters:

minimum<most likely<maximum

Domain:

minimum<x<maximum

Mean:

μ

Mode: most likely

Variance:

$$\frac{\alpha_1\alpha_2}{\left(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2\right)^2 \left(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + 1\right)} \quad *(\min-\max)^2$$

TNORMAL(μ,σ,minimum,maximum)

Applications for the truncated normal function include distribution of characteristics of a population (height, weight), and size of quantities that are the sum of other quantities (because of the central limit theorem) -- constrained by truncation values.

The TNORMAL distribution is not available in BestFit.

Density: $f(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma^2}} e^{-(x-\mu)^2/2\sigma^2} \left[F_n(maximum) - F_n(minimum) \right]^{-1}$

where $F_{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{X})$ is the Distribution function for the Normal

Distribution: no closed form

Parameters: all μ, σ>0, minimum<maximum

Domain: minimum≤x≤maximum

Mean: no closed form

0.2

Mode: no closed form

Variance: no closed form

Truncated Normal Graphs:

TNORMAL(0,1,-2,2) 0.4r

0.0 5 4 3 2 1 0 1 2 3 4 5

TNORMAL(5,5,0,24) 0.101 0.05 0.00 18 6 12 18 24 30

·12 ·6 0

Annex 8

IIASA ACBM Database

Matthias Jonas

International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis Forest Resources Project jonas@iiasa.ac.at

Tabel of Contents

A 8-1 Objectives	1
A 8-2 Project History and Setting	1
A 8-3 Scientific Background and Problem	2
A 8-4 Scientific Approach	2
A 8-5 Status of Accomplishments	3
A 8-6 Preliminary Summary and Outlook	5
A 8-7 References	5
Annex 8 IIASA ACBM Database

The term *IIASA ACBM Database* refers to the project titled *Database for Assessment of the Austrian Carbon Balance* [*Austrian Carbon Database (ACDb)* Project hereafter], which is carried out by the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA). It is described in full detail in a separate IIASA Interim Report to be published in 2001.

A 8-1 Objectives

The ultimate objective of the ACDb Project is to provide support to responsible Austrian institutions in dealing with matters related to the accounting of carbon under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (FCCC), including the Kyoto Protocol to this Convention. To these ends, the ACDb Project pursues three (sub-) objectives. These include:

- 1. Support of the ACBM: In the form of a carbon consistent database
- 2. Internationalization: In the form of a framework that permits the placement of Austria's carbon (or greenhouse gas) account into an international science and policy context
- 3. Good Practice: In the form of database-to-database consistency standards, identification of uncertainties, data completion for biologiocal sources/sinks, etc.

A 8-2 Project History and Setting

The project titled *System Analytical Assessment of the Carbon Balance in Austria*, which was completed in December 1997 (*Jonas, 1997*; see also *Orthofer, 1997*), aimed – as one of the first of its kind – at modeling Austria's full carbon balance dynamically in a synoptical (interdisciplinary) rather than intra-disciplinary fashion. It provided grounds for two complementary projects, the ACBM Project and the ACDb Project. The ACBM Project directs attention to quantifying and understanding the dynamics of the entire Austrian carbon system more comprehensively and in greater depth, and to supporting Austrian decision makers in identifying optimal GHG mitigation strategies (*Orthofer et al., 1999*). By way of contrast, the ACDb Project recognizes the need to respond to another, not less important outcome of the initial project, which requires that the questions of data consistency and uncertainty are treated much more rigorously and in a more fundamental context.

It can be safely stated that the ACBM Project as well as the ACDb Project are at the forefront of carbon research. Only a few studies exist that are similar to the ACDM Project and also strive for full carbon or greenhouse gas (GHG) accounting. Among them are *Nilsson et al. (2000)* with focus on Russia and *EPA (2000)* with focus on the US. Canada and Brazil are reported to be under investigation (*A. Shvidenko, 2000; pers. comm.*).

In addition, no national-scale study other than the ACDb Project exists that attempts to identify uncertainties due to data inconsistencies under full carbon accounting (FCA).³ However, there are a number of relevant studies that do this at least in the context of partial carbon accounting (PCA)³ or partial GHG accounting (e.g., *Heath and Smith, 2000; Rypdal and Zhang, 2000;*

³ This term is ambiguous in that it is not yet used in a standardized fashion.

Weiss et al., 2000; Winiwarter and Orthofer, 2000). Moreover, it can be stated that a more rigorous methodology for handling uncertainty with respect to temporal verification, as elaborated by *Jonas et al. (1999b)* within the ACDb Project and already applied (in a simplified fashion) by *Nilsson et al. (2000)*, does not exist elsewhere. Today's discussions are, at best, only beginning to address uncertainty [in the over-simplified form of trend uncertainties; (*IPCC, 2000a, b*)], but not yet verification. This is astonishing, as the Kyoto Protocol requires, among other things, clarification of the uncertainty–verification issue before the sixth meeting of the Conference of the Parties (COP-6) in The Hague in November 2000.

A 8-3 Scientific Background and Problem

The ACDb Project focuses on the following two questions:

- 1. How great are uncertainties in Austria's carbon data under FCA?; and
- 2. What do these uncertainties mean in an international science and policy context?

Question 1 is in agreement with Objectives 1 and 3 and follows up one of the findings of Austria's first national-scale carbon research project, as mentioned above (*System Analytical Assessment of the Carbon Balance in Austria*). This finding indicated that the issues of data availability and consistency are fundamental and at least as (if not more) critical than the issues of model realization and assumptions (*Jonas, 1997, pp III, 47, 67, 94, 127, 128*).

Question 2 coincides with Objetive 2. Initially, this question was meant as a logical follow-up of Question 1, with a certain, not further specified relevance to the Kyoto Protocol. However, in the meantime it can be stated that this question alone received as much recognition and treatment by IIASA as Question 1, after it has been found going to the core of the Protocol. The Protocol requires, among other things, that emissions of specified GHG sources and sinks be assessed and verified by the time of commitment relative to the emissions in a specified base year. The relevant question that has not yet been adequately addressed will then be whether national-scale emission changes outstrip uncertainty and can be verified.

A 8-4 Scientific Approach

The calculation of uncertainties and their treatment under PCA are generally carried out using traditional mathematical statistics (e.g., *Rypdal and Zhang, 2000; Winiwarter and Orthofer, 2000)*. Biases in the data are not considered or assumed negligible. By way of contrast, the derivation of uncertainties, including biases, and their treatment under FCA, as requested under Question 1, is new; until now no instructional guide exists informing scientists how to proceed in this scientific direction.

Therefore, given this basis, the approach taken by the ACDb Project should be considered more a trial and test procedure rather than a standard technique that can be readily applied. The basic rules followed are:

 The ACDb Project assembles officially reported or available data of many years, typically over 15, 20 or even more years backwards, depending on data availability and other criteria. So far, consistency procedures and uncertainty calculations (subjected to averaging) are done for 1990 (or some symmetric time window around 1990), in agreement with the Kyoto Protocol.

- 2. The ACDb Project takes a detailed (intra-database) as well as a synoptic (inter-database) view. That is, it provides intra- as well as inter-database uncertainties underlying the various databases exsisting in Austria. The latter uncertainties become apparent when using databases in a wider (integrated) context than traditionally done and they require taking biases into account, specifically, an uncertainty concept that goes beyond standard statistical methods (e.g., *NIST, 2000*).⁴ The uncertainty concept applied by the ACDb Project is described in *Nilsson et al. (2000*; see also Figure 12 therein).
- 3. The ACDb Project reports level (or total) uncertainties in the form of $(\mu \pm \sigma)$ (μ = mean value; σ = standard deviation), the calculation of which is carried out in most cases on disaggregated (sub-national) levels. Data are assumed to be statistically independent because following a FCA approach makes it inherently more difficult to consider dependencies between data. This assumption which is crucial, however, can be overcome by combining mean values and standard deviations appropriately and returning again to aggregate (national) levels. It is these numbers which are believed to be justifiable. Experience to date shows that inter-database uncertainties (inconsistencies) are typically among the greatest, and are not negligible. This is also the reason why uncertainties are only reported as 1σ and not as 2σ (as typically done), because use of the latter entails more complex calculations due to biases that will only become justifiable after a successful completion of the entire project and a thorough synopsis of uncertainties on the national level.

The approach for handling uncertainty with respect to verification, as requested under Question 2, requires a general physical verification concept – which has not been widely perceived as a scientific issue. IIASA has begun developing a verification concept (*Jonas et al., 1999b; Gusti and Jeda, 2000*). It permits the calculation of verification time – that is, the time required to verify carbon (or GHG) emissions of a dynamic system where both carbon emission rates and their associated uncertainty are changing over time. However, the crucial question in the context of verification is how to define an emission change signal. This definition is not trivial and has not yet been discussed widely within and between scientific communities.

Specifically, the verification concept permits to grasp carbon (or GHG) accounting in a more general context that encompasses

- the issue of spatial completeness (project scale versus national versus global),
- the issue of temporal completeness (use of information at two points in time versus continuously),

and

- the issue of comprehensiveness (PCA versus FCA).

These issues can be addressed individually or jointly.

A 8-5 Status of Accomplishments

The timing of the ACBM and the ACDb Projects was not ideal. [The ACDb Project started five months later, i.e., in June 1999, and runs until November 2000, not considering a likely delay

⁴ NIST calls this uncertainty a *Type B Uncertainty*.

(see below).] This is the main reason why the collaboration between the two Projects – although mutually beneficial in principle – was more synergetic for some modules than for others. However, an additional delay became apparent during the treatment of Question 2 which, in fact, even increases the closer the COP-6 event draws. As already pointed out, Question 2 heads into a vastly under-explored research area, unfolding more follow-up questions (and surprises) than answers but, concomitantly, the potential to grasp carbon accounting in the more general context described above.

With respect to Question 1, the completion of work on the various modules can be summarized as follows:

FOREST: 100% (except for effortless amendments)

AGRO: 50%

PROD: 75%

WASTE: 50%

ENERGY: just begun

Typically, the calculation of the ACDb carbon data involves four major steps:

- 1) check in which way and to which extent available data need to be structured (permitting minor modifications, if necessary) and disaggregated to facilitate carbon calculations;
- 2) derivation of carbon consistent data from material consistent data;
- 3) aggregation of data; and
- 4) adjustment of data structure to reflect model structure.

Examples of Steps 3 and 4 are given by Figures 1 (*forest 1/2*) and 2 (*forest 1/2 acbm*). They illustrate aggregated carbon flows of roundwood, fuelwood and residual wood that go from the FOREST module to other modules of the ACBM (PROD and ENERGY). The carbon flows have been made consistent with respect to two statistics that are available in Austria, the Austrian Forest Inventory and the Austrian Wood Balance. Four numbers characterize each flow: the 1990 mean value (in 10^6 tC yr⁻¹) and its mean trend (in 10^6 tC yr⁻¹ / yr), and the lower and upper uncertainty of the 1990 mean value (in %). Rhombi represent nodes where Austria's wood supply and utilization data are balanced (see Figure A 8-1). In order to become consistent with the model structure of the ACBM, the rhombi are translocated into the modules PROD and ENERGY and some carbon flows are redirected (see Figure A 8-2). It is the numbers shown in Figure A 8-2 that are then exchanged with the responsible ACBM modeling teams.

With respect to Question 2, reference is made to *Jonas et al. (1999a, b)*. The verification concept developed by IIASA opens the door to a research area that has not been explored at all in light of the Protocol's requirements. As already mentioned above, the verification concept reveals the potential of generalizing carbon accounting in terms of comprehensiveness, spatial and temporal completeness. In addition, it permits to generalize our current understanding of uncertainty, limited to trend and level uncertainties, in physical terms (see Figure A 8-3). The IIASA Interim Report by *Jonas et al. (2000)* describing the policy implications evolving from the insights gained so far will appear in due course.

A 8-6 Preliminary Summary and Outlook

It can be safely said that both the ACBM Project and the ACDb Project are at the forefront of carbon research. With respect to Objectives 1 (Support of ACBM) and 3 (Good Practice), the two projects reveal many synergisms, some of which have been utilized better than others for a number of reasons. It is already foreseeable that the ACDb Project will leave room for many aspects of its work that require generalization or are not yet developed sufficientlyand which is believed to be of particular use to other countries, should they choose to carry out similar work.

With respect to Objective 2 (Internationalization), it is becoming increasingly clear that the ACDb Project touches upon an issue, the uncertainty-verification issue, which has not yet been perceived as a scientific issue. More questions (and surprises) than answers unfold but also the potential to grasp carbon accounting more generally than done so far.

It is this uncertainty-verification issue, which is believed to play an important role in the combination with models such as the ACBM. It is not unlikely that it will give rise to a completely new way of scenario development and testing.

A 8-7 References

- EPA (2000): Inventory of U.S. greenhouse gas emissions and sinks: 1990 1998. U.S. EPA 236-R-00-001, Environmental Protection Agency, Washington (USA), Apr 2000; available on the Internet: http://www.epa.gov/globalwarming/publications/emissions/
- Gusti M.; Jeda W. (2000): Carbon management: A new dimension of future carbon research. Interim Report, IIASA, Laxenburg, (Austria), forthcoming
- Heath L.S.; Smith J.E. (2000): An assessment of uncertainty in forest carbon budget projections. Environmental Science & Policy 3, 73-82
- IPCC (2000a): Land use, land-use change, and forestry. Special Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Watson R.T.; Noble I.R.; Bolin B.; Ravindranath N.H.; Verardo D.J.; Dokken D.J. (eds.), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (United Kingdom)
- IPCC (2000b): Good practice guidance and uncertainty management in national greenhouse gas inventories. Penman, J.; Kruger D.; Galbally I.; Hiraishi T.; Nyenzi B.; Emmanuel S.; Buendia L.; Hoppaus R.; Martinsen T.; Meijer J.; Miwa K.; Tanabe K. (eds.), IPCC National Gas Inventories Programme, Technical Support Unit, Institute for Global Environmental Strategies, Hayama, Kanagawa (Japan)
- Jonas M. (1997): Systems analytical assessment of the carbon balance in Austria: Final Report Part 2: Dynamical modeling. Research Report, OEFZS-A--4255 Rev., Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf, Seibersdorf (Austria), Dec. 1997
- Jonas, M.; Nilsson S.; Shvidenko A.; Stolbovoi V.; Gluck M.; Obersteiner M.; Öskog A. (1999a): Full carbon accounting and the Kyoto Protocol: A systems-analytical view. Interim Report, IR-99-025, IIASA, Laxenburg (Austria), July 1999; available on the Internet: http://www.iiasa.ac.at
- Jonas M.; Nilsson S.; Obersteiner M.; Gluck M.; Ermoliev Y. (1999b): Verification times underlying the Kyoto Protocol: Global benchmark calculations. Interim Report, IR-99-062, IIASA, Laxenburg (Austria), Dec 1999; available on the Internet: http://www.iiasa.ac.at.

Study also featured in: ACCCtuell, Newsletter of the Austrian Council on Climate Change 4, Feb 2000, 7

- Jonas, M.; M. Obersteiner, S.; Nilsson 2000: *How to Go From Today's Kyoto Protocol to a Post-Kyoto Future that Adheres to the Principles of Full Carbon Accounting and Global-scale Verification? A Discussion Based on Greenhouse Gas Accounting, Uncertainty and Verification.* Interim Report, IR-00-061, IIASA, Laxenburg, Austria; available on the Internet: http://www.iiasa.ac.at.
- Nilsson S.; Shvidenko A.; Stolbovoi V.; Gluck M.; Jonas M.; Obersteiner M. (2000): Full carbon account for Russia. Interim Report, IR-00-021, IIASA, Laxenburg (Austria), Aug 2000; available on the Internet: http://www.iiasa.ac.at. Study also featured in: New Scientist 2253, 26 Aug 2000, 18–19
- NIST, 2000: The NIST reference on constants, units, and uncertainty. National Institute of Standards and Technology, Physics Laboratory, Gaithersburg, MD (United States); avaialable on the Internet: http://physics.nist.gov/cuu/index.html
- Orthofer R. (1997): System analytical assessment of the carbon balance in Austria: Final Report Part 1: Carbon balance for 1990. Research Report, OEFZS-A--4195, Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf, Seibersdorf (Austria), Dec 1997
- Orthofer R.; Gebetsroither E.; Strebl F.; Gerzabek M.; Schwaiger H.; Jäkel U.; Schlamadinger B.; Jungmeier G.; Canella L.; Windsperger A.; Schidler S.; Schmidt-Stejskal H.; Schneider F. (1999): Austrian carbon balance model (ACBM). Interim Report, OEFZS-S-0048, Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf, Seibersdorf (Austria), Nov 1999
- Rypdal K.; Zhang L.-C. (2000): Uncertainties in the Norwegian greenhouse gas emission inventory. Report 2000/13, Statistics Norway, Oslo (Norway), May 2000
- Weiss P.; Schieler K.; Schadauer K.; Radunsky K.; Englisch M. (2000): Die Kohlenstoffbilanz des österreichischen Waldes und Betrachtungen zu Artikel 3.3 des Kyoto-Protokolls (*The carbon balance of the Austrian forest and reflections on Article 3.3 of the Kyoto Protocol*). Federal Environment Agency Ltd., Vienna (Austria), forthcoming
- Winiwarter W.; Orthofer R. (2000): Unsicherheit der Emissionsinventur für Treibhausgase in Österreich (Uncertainty of the emission inventory for greenhouse gases in Austria). Final Report, Austrian Research Center Seibersdorf, Seibersdorf (Austria), May 2000

<u>Figure A 8-1:</u> Carbon flows of roundwood, fuelwood and residual wood from the FOREST module to other modules of the ACBM (PROD and ENERGY): Balancing of aggregated data.



<u>Figure A 8-2:</u> Carbon flows of roundwood, fuelwood and residual wood from the FOREST module to other modules of the ACBM (PROD and ENERGY): Adjustment of ACDb data structure to reflect the structure of the ACBM.



<u>Figure A 8-3:</u> Three conceivable examples of verification over time: Verification based on trend uncertainty (Case 1) versus verification based on level uncertainty (Case 2) versus verification based on a physical uncertainty–verification concept (Case 3).



Trend Uncertainty vs Level Uncertainty vs Emission Signal

Science for Global Insight

Source: Jonas et al. (2000)